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This Form 10-K contains various “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements represent the Company’s expectations and beliefs concerning future
events, based on information available to the Company on the date of the filing of this Form 10-K, and are subject to various risks and uncertainties. Factors that
could cause actual results to differ materially from those referenced in the forward-looking statements are listed in Item 1A, Risk Factors and in Item 7,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations. The Company disclaims any intent or obligation to update or revise
any of the forward-looking statements, whether in response to new information, unforeseen events, changed circumstances or otherwise.
PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
Overview
UAL Corporation (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “UAL”), a holding company whose principal subsidiary is United Air Lines, Inc. (together
with its primary subsidiaries, “United”), was incorporated under the laws of the State of Delaware on December 30, 1968. We sometimes use the words “we,”
“our,” “us,” and the “Company” in this Form 10-K for disclosures that relate to both UAL and United. Our world headquarters is located at 77 W. Wacker Drive,
Chicago, Illinois 60601. The mailing address is P.O. Box 66919, Chicago, Illinois 60666 (telephone number (312) 997-8000).
This Annual Report on Form 10-K is a combined report of UAL and United including their respective consolidated financial statements (the “Financial
Statements”). As UAL consolidates United for financial statement purposes, disclosures that relate to activities of United also apply to UAL, unless otherwise
noted, and are included within the Combined Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements (the “Footnotes”). Most of UAL’s revenue and expenses in 2009 were
from United’s airline operations. United transports people and cargo through its Mainline operations, which utilize full-sized jet aircraft exceeding 70 seats in
size, and its regional operations, which utilize smaller aircraft not exceeding 70 seats in size that are operated under contract by United Express® carriers.
The Company’s web address is www.united.com. The information contained on or connected to the Company’s web address is not incorporated by
reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K and should not be considered part of this or any other report filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange
Commission (“SEC”). Through this website, the Company’s filings with the SEC, including annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those reports, are accessible without charge as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is
electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC.
United operates approximately 3,300 flights a day on United Mainline and United Express to more than 230 U.S. domestic and international destinations
from its hubs at Chicago O’Hare International Airport (“O’Hare”), Denver International Airport (“Denver”), Los Angeles International Airport (“LAX”), San
Francisco International Airport (“SFO”) and Washington Dulles International Airport (“Washington Dulles”), based on its annual flight schedule as of January 1,
2010. With key global air rights in the Pacific region, Europe and Latin America, United is one of the largest international carriers based in the United States.
United also is a founding member of Star Alliance, the world’s largest airline network, which provides connections for its customers to approximately 1,100
destinations in 175 countries worldwide. United offers a unique set of services to target distinct customer groups. This strategy of market and product
segmentation is intended to optimize margins and costs, and is focused on delivering an improved experience for all customers and a best-in-class experience for
premium customers. These services include:
•

United Mainline, including United First®, United Business® and Economy Plus®, the last providing three to five inches of extra legroom on all United
Mainline and explusSM United Express flights;
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•

A new international premium travel experience featuring 180-degree, lie-flat beds in first and business class. The Company has completed first and
business class equipment upgrades on 45 international aircraft that have been refitted with new premium seats, entertainment systems and other
product enhancements. The Company expects to complete the remaining aircraft upgrades between 2010 and 2012;

•

p.s.SM—a premium transcontinental service connecting New York with both Los Angeles and San Francisco; and

•

United Express, with a total fleet of 292 aircraft operated by regional airline partners, including approximately 150 aircraft that offer explusSM
service, United’s premium regional service providing both United First and Economy Plus seating.

The Company also generates revenue through its Mileage Plus® Frequent Flyer Program (“Mileage Plus”), United Cargo SM and United Services. Mileage
Plus, which helps the Company attract and retain high-value customers, contributed approximately $774 million to passenger and other revenue in 2009. United
Cargo generated $536 million in freight and mail revenue in 2009. United Services generated $134 million in revenue in 2009 by utilizing downtime of otherwise
under-utilized aircraft maintenance resources through providing third-party maintenance services.
The Company characterizes its business approach as “Focus on Five,” which refers to a comprehensive set of priorities that focuses on the fundamentals of
running a good airline: one that runs on time, with clean planes and courteous employees, delivers industry-leading revenues and competitive costs, and does so
safely. The goal of this approach is to enable United to achieve best-in-class safety performance, exceptional customer satisfaction and experience and industryleading margin and cash flow. Building on this foundation, United aims to regain its position in key metrics reported by the U.S. Department of Transportation
(“DOT”) as well as higher revenue driven by services, schedules and routes that are valued by the Company’s customers.
Operations
Segments. The Company operates its businesses through two reporting segments: Mainline and Regional Affiliates (United Express operations). The
Company manages its business as an integrated network with assets deployed across its Mainline and regional carrier networks. This focus seeks to maximize the
profitability of the overall airline network. Financial information on the Company’s reporting segments and operating revenues by geographic regions, as reported
to the DOT, can be found in Note 9, “Segment Information,” in the Footnotes.
Mainline. The Company’s Mainline operating revenues were $13.3 billion, $17.1 billion and $17.0 billion in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. As of
December 31, 2009, Mainline domestic operations served approximately 80 destinations primarily throughout the U.S. and Canada and operated hubs at O’Hare,
Denver, LAX, SFO and Washington Dulles. Mainline international operations serve the Pacific, Atlantic and Latin America regions. The Pacific region includes
non-stop service to Beijing, Hong Kong, Osaka, Seoul, Shanghai, Sydney and Tokyo and direct service to Bangkok, Beijing (seasonal), Seoul, Singapore and
Taipei via Tokyo; direct service to Ho Chi Minh City and Singapore via Hong Kong and to Melbourne via Sydney. The Atlantic region includes non-stop service
to Amsterdam, Brussels, Dubai, Frankfurt, Geneva, Kuwait City, London, Moscow, Munich, Paris, Rome and Zurich and, commencing in April 2010, direct
service to Bahrain through Kuwait City. The Latin American region offers non-stop service to Buenos Aires, Rio de Janeiro (seasonal) and Sao Paulo and direct
service to Rio de Janeiro via Sao Paulo. The Latin American region also serves various Mexico destinations including Cancun, Cozumel (seasonal), Mexico City,
Puerto Vallarta and San Jose del Cabo; various Caribbean points including Aruba and seasonal service to Montego Bay, Punta Cana, and St. Maarten; and Central
America including Liberia, Costa Rica (seasonal). United will fly to the African continent commencing in the second quarter of 2010, serving Accra, Ghana, and
plans to add service to Lagos, Nigeria, pending governmental approvals.
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UAL’s operating revenues attributed to Mainline domestic operations were $7.7 billion, $9.7 billion and $10.9 billion in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
Operating revenues attributed to Mainline international operations were $5.6 billion, $7.4 billion and $6.1 billion in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. For
purposes of the Company’s geographic revenue reporting, the Company considers destinations in Mexico and the Caribbean to be part of the Latin America
region as opposed to the Domestic region.
The Mainline segment operated 360 aircraft as of December 31, 2009, and produced 122.7 billion available seat miles (“ASMs”) and 100.5 billion revenue
passenger miles (“RPMs”) during 2009; in 2008, the Mainline segment produced 135.8 billion ASMs and 110.1 billion RPMs.
Regional Affiliates. Regional Affiliates operating revenues were approximately $3.1 billion in years 2009, 2008 and 2007. United has contractual
relationships with various regional carriers to provide regional jet and turboprop service branded as United Express. United Express is an extension of the United
Mainline network. Atlantic Southeast Airlines, Colgan Airlines, ExpressJet, GoJet Airlines, Mesa Airlines (“Mesa”), Shuttle America, SkyWest Airlines
(“SkyWest”) and Trans States Airlines are all regional carriers, most of which operate under capacity purchase agreements with United. Under these agreements,
United pays the regional carriers contractually-agreed fees (carrier-controlled costs) for operating these flights plus a variable reimbursement (incentive payment)
based on agreed performance metrics. The carrier-controlled costs are based on specific rates for various operating expenses of the regional carriers, such as crew
expenses, maintenance and aircraft ownership, some of which are multiplied by specific operating statistics (e.g., block hours, departures) while others are fixed
monthly amounts. The incentive payment is a markup applied to the carrier-controlled costs for superior operational performance. Under these capacity purchase
agreements, United is responsible for all fuel costs incurred as well as landing fees, facilities rent and deicing costs, which are passed through without any
markup. In return, the regional carriers operate this capacity on schedules determined by United. United also determines pricing, revenues and inventory levels
and assumes the inventory and distribution risk for the available seats. In January 2010, Mesa filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy reorganization. The Company does
not expect this filing to have any material effect on its Regional Affiliates flight operations, financial position or results of operations.
The capacity purchase agreements between the regional carriers and United do not include the provision of ground handling services. As a result, Regional
Affiliates obtain ground handling services from a variety of third-party providers in addition to utilizing internal United resources in some cases. Regional
Affiliates carriers operated 292 aircraft under capacity purchase agreements as of December 31, 2009, and produced 18.0 billion ASMs and 13.8 billion RPMs
during 2009, while producing 16.2 billion ASMs and 12.1 billion RPMs in 2008.
While the regional carriers operating under capacity purchase agreements comprise more than 95% of Regional Affiliates flights, the Company also has
limited prorate agreements with Colgan Airlines, SkyWest and Trans States Airlines. Under these prorate agreements, United and its prorate partners agree to
divide revenue collected from each passenger according to a formula, while both United and the prorate partners are individually responsible for their own costs
of operations. United also collects a program fee from Colgan Airlines to cover certain marketing and distribution costs such as credit card transaction fees, global
distribution systems (“GDS”) transaction fees and frequent flyer costs. Unlike capacity purchase agreements, these prorate agreements require the regional carrier
to retain the control and risk of scheduling, market selection, seat pricing and inventory for its flights.
United Cargo. United Cargo offers both domestic and international shipping through a variety of services including United Small Package Delivery,
Express and General cargo services. Freight shipments comprise approximately 88% of United Cargo’s volumes, with mail shipments comprising the remainder.
During 2009, United Cargo accounted for approximately 3% of the Company’s operating revenues by generating $536 million in freight and mail revenue, a 37%
decrease versus 2008.
United Services. United Services is a global airline support business offering customers comprehensive aircraft maintenance, repair and overhaul services
which include engine, line and global emergency maintenance
5
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services. United Services brings nearly 80 years of experience to serve over 100 airline customer contracts worldwide. During 2009 and 2008, United Services
generated approximately $134 million and $167 million, respectively, in third-party revenue.
Fuel. The price and availability of jet fuel significantly affects the Company’s results of operations. Fuel has been one of the Company’s largest operating
expenses for the last several years. The Company has a risk management strategy to hedge a portion of its price risk related to projected jet fuel requirements. The
Company’s hedging strategy currently utilizes purchased calls and swaps. If fuel prices rise above the fixed swap price, the Company’s counterparties are required
to make settlement payments to the Company, while if fuel prices fall below the fixed swap price, the Company is required to make settlement payments to its
fuel hedge counterparties. In addition, the Company has been, and may in the future be, required to provide counterparties with cash collateral prior to settlement
of the hedge positions.
Fuel prices were extremely volatile during the three year period ended December 31, 2009, as shown in the table below. In 2009, the Company benefited
from a lower average purchase price as compared to the two prior years due to lower market prices for jet fuel. The Company’s operating results in 2008 were
adversely impacted by the unprecedented increase in the price of crude oil to a peak of approximately $145 per barrel in July 2008, followed by a decrease of
more than $100 per barrel to approximately $45 per barrel in December 2008. This volatility resulted in the Company reporting total fuel hedge losses of
approximately $1.1 billion in 2008. A significant portion of these losses was unrealized as of December 31, 2008 and the related contracts were settled in 2009, as
shown in the table below. Fuel prices were somewhat less volatile in 2009 and 2007, as compared to 2008, resulting in less significant hedge impacts in these
years. Total fuel hedge gains of $135 million and $83 million were reported in 2009 and 2007, respectively. The Company’s results of operations benefit from
lower fuel prices on its unhedged fuel consumption and its liquidity is subject to fluctuations based on cash settlements and collateral that may be required.
The Company accounts for the majority of its fuel derivative contracts as economic hedges, which are marked-to-market with gains and losses classified as
fuel expense. Remaining fuel derivative contracts which do not qualify for economic hedge accounting are marked-to-market with gains and losses classified as
nonoperating expense. See Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk and Note 12, “Fair Value Measurements and Derivative
Instruments,” in the Footnotes for additional details regarding gains and losses from settled and open positions, cash settlements, unrealized amounts at the end of
the period and hedge collateral. Derivative gains and losses from contracts qualifying for economic hedge accounting are recorded in Mainline fuel expense and
are not allocated to Regional Affiliates fuel expense.

2009

$
2008

Mainline fuel purchase cost
Non-cash fuel hedge (gains) losses in Mainline fuel
Cash fuel hedge (gains) losses in Mainline fuel
Total Mainline fuel expense
Regional Affiliates fuel expense (a)
UAL system operating fuel expense

$3,509
(586)
482
3,405
799
$4,204

$ 7,114
568
40
7,722
1,257
$8,979

$5,086
(20)
(63)
5,003
915
$5,918

Non-cash fuel hedge (gains) losses in nonoperating income (expense)
Cash fuel hedge losses in nonoperating income (expense)
Mainline fuel consumption (gallons)
Regional Affiliates fuel consumption (gallons)
Total fuel consumption (gallons)

$ (279)
248
1,942
396
2,338

$ 279
249
2,182
371
2,553

$ —
—
2,292
377
2,669

(In millions, except per gallon)

(a) Regional Affiliates fuel costs are classified as part of Regional Affiliates expense.
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Average price per gallon
(in cents)
2009
2008
2007

180.7
(30.2)
24.8
175.3
201.8
179.8

326.0
26.0
1.9
353.9
338.8
351.7

221.9
(0.9)
(2.7)
218.3
242.7
221.7
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To ensure adequate supplies of fuel and to obtain a measure of control over fuel costs, the Company arranges to have fuel shipped on major pipelines and
stored close to its major hub locations. Although the Company currently does not anticipate a significant reduction in the availability of jet fuel, a number of
factors make predicting fuel prices and fuel availability uncertain, including changes in world energy demand, geopolitical uncertainties affecting energy supplies
from oil-producing nations, industrial accidents, threats of terrorism directed at oil supply infrastructure, extreme weather conditions causing temporary
shutdowns of production and refining capacity, as well as changes in relative demand for other petroleum products that may impact the quantity and price of jet
fuel produced from period to period.
Alliances. United has a number of bilateral and multilateral alliances with other airlines, which enhance travel options for customers seeking access to
markets that United does not serve directly. These marketing alliances typically include one or more of the following features: joint frequent flyer program
participation; codesharing of flight operations (whereby seats on one carrier’s selected flights can be marketed under the brand name of another carrier);
coordination of reservations, ticketing, passenger check-in, baggage handling and flight schedules; and other resource-sharing activities.
The most significant of the Company’s alliances is the Star Alliance, a global integrated airline network co-founded by United in 1997 and the most
comprehensive airline alliance in the world. As of January 1, 2010, Star Alliance carriers serve approximately 1,100 destinations in 175 countries with over
19,700 daily flights. Current Star Alliance partners, in addition to United, are Adria Airways, Air Canada, Air China, Air New Zealand, All Nippon Airways,
Asiana Airlines, the Austrian Airlines Group, Blue1, bmi, Brussels Airlines, Continental Airlines (“Continental”), Croatia Airlines, EgyptAir, LOT Polish
Airlines, Lufthansa, Scandinavian Airlines, Shanghai Airlines, Singapore Airlines, South African Airways, Spanair, Swiss International Air Lines, TAP Portugal,
THAI, Turkish Airlines and US Airways. Aegean Airlines, Air India and TAM Airlines have been announced as future Star Alliance members.
During 2009, Continental joined United and its 24 other partners in the Star Alliance. The alliance partnership between United and Continental allows the
two airlines to link their networks and services worldwide to the benefit of customers, employees and shareholders, creating new revenue opportunities, cost
savings and other efficiencies. Continental’s and United’s route networks are highly complementary, with little overlap, so they add value to each other and to
customers who are planning domestic and international travel. Under codesharing, customers benefit from a coordinated process for reservations/ticketing, checkin, flight connections and baggage transfer. Frequent flyer reciprocity allows members of Continental’s OnePass program and United’s Mileage Plus program to
earn miles in their accounts when flying on either partner airline and redeem awards on both carriers. With Continental as a partner, United has added more than
60 new destinations to its alliance network and dramatically enhanced its market presence in New York and Latin America. United and Continental are exploring
opportunities to capture important cost savings in the areas of information technology, frequent flyer programs, airport operations, lounges, procurement and sales
and marketing.
In addition, pursuant to antitrust immunity approval by the DOT, United, Air Canada, Continental and Lufthansa are implementing a joint venture covering
transatlantic routes that will deliver highly competitive flight schedules, fares and service. The European Commission is conducting a review of the anticipated
competitive impact of the joint venture operations. In December 2009, United and Continental applied jointly with All Nippon Airways to the DOT for approval
of, and immunity from U.S. antitrust laws for, a series of alliance agreements between and among the carriers, including a transpacific joint venture agreement. A
grant of antitrust immunity will enable the three carriers to integrate the services they operate between the United States and Japan, and other destinations in Asia,
to derive potentially significant benefits from coordinated scheduling, pricing, sales and inventory management. The integration of services will also allow the
three carriers to offer passengers highly competitive flight schedules, fares and services. The approval of the agreements and the DOT’s grant of antitrust
immunity, which is currently pending, is a condition precedent to Japan bringing into force the recently announced open skies agreement between Japan and the
United States. See Industry Regulation, below.
7

Table of Contents
United also has independent marketing agreements with other air carriers including Aer Lingus, Great Lakes Aviation, Gulfstream International, Hawaiian,
Island Air, Qatar Airways, TACA Group and TAM Airlines.
Mileage Plus. Mileage Plus builds customer loyalty by offering awards and services to frequent travelers. Mileage Plus members can earn mileage credit
for flights on United, United Express, members of the Star Alliance and certain other airlines that participate in the program. Miles can also be earned by
purchasing the goods and services of our non-airline partners, such as hotels, car rental companies and credit card issuers. Mileage credits can be redeemed for
free, discounted or upgraded travel and non-travel awards. There are more than 56 million members enrolled in Mileage Plus. In 2009, 2.1 million Mileage Plus
travel awards were used on United, as compared to 2.3 million and 2.2 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively. These amounts represent the number of awards for
which travel was provided and not the number of available seats that were allocated to award travel. These awards represented 8.3%, 9.1% and 8.0% of United’s
total revenue passenger miles in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. In addition, Mileage Plus members redeemed miles for approximately 885,000 non-United
travel awards in 2009 as compared to 613,000 in 2008. Non-United travel awards include Red Carpet club memberships, car and hotel awards, merchandise and
travel solely on another air carrier, among others. The increase in the number of non-United travel awards redeemed was due to the expansion of the merchandise
programs, and the launch of a new car and hotel award program in the fourth quarter of 2009. Total miles redeemed for travel on United in 2009, including classof-service upgrades, represented 86% of the total miles redeemed (for both completed and future travel). For a detailed description of the accounting treatment of
Mileage Plus program activity, see Critical Accounting Policies in Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.
Distribution Channels. The majority of United’s airline seat inventory continues to be distributed through the traditional channels of travel agencies and
GDS, such as Sabre and Galileo. The growing use of alternative distribution systems, including www.united.com and GDS new entrants, provides United with an
opportunity to lower its ticket distribution costs. To encourage customer use of lower-cost channels and capitalize on these cost-saving opportunities, the
Company will continue to expand the capabilities of its website.
Industry Conditions
Seasonality. The air travel business is subject to seasonal fluctuations. Historically, revenues are better in the second and third quarters, which reflect
higher travel demand, than the first and fourth quarter revenues, which reflect lower travel demand.
Economic Conditions. The Company’s costs and revenues are highly correlated to the economic health and growth of the United States and the global
markets it serves. The global recession experienced over the past two years has resulted in declines in industry passenger demand, accompanied by a reduction in
fare levels. The drop in demand has been higher among business and premium cabin travelers, as corporations have significantly reduced their spending on
business travel. As discussed further in Item 1A, Risk Factors, and in Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations, the current economic conditions have had, and may continue to have, negative impacts on passenger demand, revenues, the level of credit card sales
activity and our cargo operations. In response to these economic conditions, United and other carriers in the industry implemented significant reductions in
domestic and international capacity during 2008 and 2009.
Domestic Competition. The domestic airline industry is highly competitive and dynamic. In domestic markets, new and existing U.S. carriers are generally
free to initiate service between any two points within the United States. United’s competitors consist primarily of other airlines, and, to a lesser extent, other
forms of transportation and emerging technological substitutes such as videoconferencing. Competition can be direct in the form of another carrier flying the
exact non-stop route or indirect where a carrier serves the same two cities non-stop from an alternative airport in that city, or via an itinerary requiring a
connection at another airport.
8
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United’s actual and forecasted capacity increases (decreases) for 2009 and 2010, respectively, as compared to the year-ago periods, are summarized in the
following table:
Mainline

Fourth Quarter 2009
Full-year 2009
First Quarter 2010
Full-year 2010

Consolidated

Domestic

International

Regional
Affiliates

(3.4)%
(7.4)%
(2.5)% to (1.5)%
(0.5)% to 0.5%

(4.8)%
(10.4)%
(5.75)% to (4.75)%
(5.3)% to (4.3)%

(7.7)%
(8.7)%
(4.0)% to (3.0)%
3.4% to 4.4%

17.2%
11.2%
15.9% to 16.9%
6.3% to 7.3%

Carriers that operate as low cost carriers or that have lower cost structures achieved through reorganization may be more competitive with the rest of the
industry, resulting in lower fares for such carriers’ passengers with a potential negative impact on the Company’s revenues. In addition, future airline mergers or
acquisitions similar to Delta Airlines’ acquisition of Northwest Airlines in late 2008 may enable airlines to improve their revenue and cost performance relative to
peers and thus enhance their competitive position within the industry.
Domestic pricing decisions are largely affected by the need to be competitive with other U.S. airlines. Fare discounting by competitors has historically had
a negative effect on the Company’s financial results because United often finds it necessary to match competitors’ fares to maintain passenger traffic. Attempts by
United and other airlines to raise fares often fail due to a lack of competitive matching.
International Competition. In United’s international networks, the Company competes not only with U.S. airlines, but also with foreign carriers.
Competition on specified international routes is subject to varying degrees of governmental regulations. The United States and European Union (“EU”)
agreement in 2008 to reduce restrictions on flight operations between the two regions has increased competition for United’s transatlantic network from both U.S.
and European airlines. In our Pacific operations, competition is expected to increase as the governments of the United States and China recently approved
additional U.S. and Chinese airlines to fly new routes between the two countries, although the commencement of some new services to China has been postponed
due to the weak global economy. Competition in the Pacific may likely increase when the recently announced open skies agreement between the United States
and Japan becomes effective, which is currently expected to be in the fall of 2010, subject to certain conditions precedent being met. See Industry Regulation,
below. Competition in the Pacific may also increase if Japan Airlines, which filed for bankruptcy in January 2010, emerges from restructuring as a stronger
competitor in the region. Part of United’s ability to successfully compete with non-U.S. carriers on international routes is its ability to generate traffic from and to
the entire U.S. via its integrated domestic route network. Foreign carriers are currently prohibited by U.S. law from carrying local passengers between two points
in the U.S. and United experiences comparable restrictions in many foreign countries. In addition, U.S. carriers are often constrained from carrying passengers to
points beyond designated international gateway cities due to limitations in air service agreements and restrictions imposed unilaterally by foreign governments.
To compensate for these structural limitations, U.S. and foreign carriers have entered into alliances and marketing arrangements that allow these carriers to
exchange traffic between each other’s flights and route networks. See Alliances, above, for further information.
Insurance. United carries hull and liability insurance of a type customary in the air transportation industry, in amounts that the Company deems
appropriate, covering passenger liability, public liability and damage to United’s aircraft and other physical property. United also maintains other types of
insurance such as property, directors and officers, cargo, workers’ compensation, automobile and the like, with limits and deductibles that are standard within the
industry. Losses that materially exceed these limits could have a significant impact on the Company. After the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, the
Company’s insurance premiums increased significantly but have since been reduced reflecting the market’s changing perception of risk, as well as the Company’s
ongoing capacity reductions. Additionally, after September 11, 2001, commercial insurers canceled United’s liability insurance for losses resulting from war and
associated perils (terrorism, sabotage, hijacking and other similar events). The U.S. government subsequently agreed to provide commercial war-risk insurance
for
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U.S. airlines and has renewed this coverage on a periodic basis. The current war-risk policy is effective until August 31, 2010 and covers losses to employees,
passengers, third parties and aircraft. If the U.S. government does not extend this coverage beyond August 31, 2010, obtaining comparable coverage from
commercial underwriters could result in substantially higher premiums and more restrictive terms, if it is available at all. See “Increases in insurance costs or
reductions in insurance coverage may adversely impact the Company’s operations and financial results” in Item 1A, Risk Factors, below.
Industry Regulation
Domestic Regulation.
General. All carriers engaged in air transportation in the U.S. are subject to regulation by the DOT. Among its responsibilities, the DOT issues certificates
of public convenience and necessity for domestic air transportation (no air carrier, unless exempted, may provide air transportation without a DOT certificate of
public convenience and necessity), grants international route authorities, approves international codeshare agreements, regulates methods of competition and
enforces certain consumer protection regulations, such as those dealing with advertising, denied boarding compensation and baggage liability.
Airlines also are regulated by the Federal Aviation Administration (“FAA”), a division of the DOT, primarily in the areas of flight operations, maintenance
and other safety and technical matters. The FAA has authority to issue air carrier operating certificates and aircraft airworthiness certificates, prescribe
maintenance procedures and regulate pilot and other employee training, among other responsibilities. From time to time, the FAA issues rules that require air
carriers to take certain actions, such as the inspection or modification of aircraft and other equipment, that may cause the Company to incur substantial, unplanned
expenses. The airline industry is also subject to various other federal laws and regulations. The U.S. Department of Homeland Security (“DHS”) has jurisdiction
over virtually all aspects of civil aviation security. See Legislation, below. The U.S. Department of Justice (“DOJ”) has jurisdiction over certain airline
competition matters. The U.S. Postal Service has authority over certain aspects of the transportation of mail. Labor relations in the airline industry are generally
governed by the Railway Labor Act (“RLA”). The Company is also subject to inquiries by the DOT, FAA and other U.S. and international regulatory bodies.
Airport Access. Access to landing and take-off rights, or “slots,” at several major U.S. airports and many foreign airports served by United are, or recently
have been, subject to government regulation. Domestic slot restrictions currently apply at Reagan National Airport in Washington D.C. (“Washington Reagan”),
John F. Kennedy International Airport and LaGuardia Airport (“LaGuardia”), both in New York, and Newark Liberty International Airport in New Jersey.
In December 2009, the DOT issued a new rule intended to enhance air passenger protections. The new rule, which goes into effect in April 2010, creates
new areas of regulation in passenger protection, including a requirement that certain carriers, including United, adopt contingency plans for lengthy tarmac delays
at most U.S. airports. A carrier’s failure to meet certain service performance criteria under the rule could subject it to substantial civil penalties.
Legislation. The airline industry is also subject to legislative activity that may have an impact on operations and costs. Specifically, the law that authorizes
federal excise taxes and fees assessed on airline tickets expired in September 2007 but has been extended multiple times and has most recently been extended
until March 31, 2010. In addition to federal, state and local taxes and fees that the Company is currently subject to, proposed taxes and fees are currently pending
that may increase the Company’s operating costs if imposed on the Company. Congress is currently attempting to pass comprehensive reauthorization legislation
to impose a new funding structure and make other changes to FAA operations. Past aviation reauthorization bills have affected a wide range of areas of interest to
the industry, including air traffic control operations, capacity control issues, airline competition issues, aircraft and airport technology requirements, safety issues,
taxes, fees and other funding sources. Congress may also pass other legislation that could increase labor and operating costs. Climate change
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legislation, which would regulate greenhouse gas emissions, is also likely to be a significant area of legislative and regulatory focus and could adversely impact
fuel costs. See Environmental Regulation, below.
Customer service issues have remained active areas for both Congress and DOT regulators during 2009. In addition to DOT customer service regulations
discussed above, additional regulations or legislation imposing more specific customer service requirements are likely to be approved in 2010, though what those
requirements might be is unclear at this time. The DOT has also proceeded with other regulatory changes in this area, including proposals regarding treatment of
and payments to passengers involuntarily denied boarding, domestic baggage liability and airline scheduling practices. Additionally, since September 11, 2001,
aviation security has been and continues to be a subject of frequent legislative and regulatory action, requiring changes to the Company’s security processes and
frequently increasing the cost of its security procedures.
International Regulation.
General. International air transportation is subject to extensive government regulation. In connection with United’s international services, the Company is
regulated by both the U.S. government and the governments of the foreign countries United serves. In addition, the availability of international routes to U.S.
carriers is regulated by aviation agreements between the U.S. and foreign governments, and in some cases, fares and schedules require the approval of the DOT
and/or the relevant foreign governments.
Airport Access. Historically, access to foreign markets has been tightly controlled through bilateral agreements between the U.S. and each foreign country
involved. These agreements regulate the markets served, the number of carriers allowed to serve each market and the frequency of carriers’ flights. Since the early
1990s, the U.S. has pursued a policy of “open skies” (meaning all carriers have access to the destination), under which the U.S. government has negotiated a
number of bilateral agreements allowing unrestricted access between U.S. and foreign markets. Currently, there are more than 90 open skies agreements in effect.
Additionally, all of the airports that United serves in Europe and Asia maintain slot controls, and many of these are restrictive due to congestion at these airports.
London Heathrow, Frankfurt and Tokyo Narita are among the most restrictive airports due to capacity limitations. United has significant operations at these
locations.
United’s ability to serve some foreign markets and expand into certain others is limited by the absence altogether of aviation agreements between the U.S.
government and the relevant governments. Shifts in U.S. or foreign government aviation policies may lead to the alteration or termination of air service
agreements. Depending on the nature of any such change, the value of United’s international route authorities and slot rights may be materially enhanced or
diminished.
The U.S./EU open skies agreement became effective in 2008. This agreement replaced the bilateral arrangements between the U.S. government and the 27
EU member states. Based on the U.S. open skies model, it provides U.S. and EU carriers with expansive rights that have increased competition in transatlantic
markets. For example, U.S. and EU carriers now have the right to operate between any point in the United States and the EU. The agreement has no direct impact
on airport slot rights nor does it provide for a reallocation of existing slots, including those at London Heathrow. London Heathrow currently remains subject to
both slot and facility constraints. The agreement provides United with additional commercial opportunities since it triggered the effectiveness of the DOT’s grant
of anti-trust immunity to United and British carrier bmi, creating increased cooperation between the two carriers in the transatlantic market. Because of the
diverse nature of potential impacts on United’s business, however, the overall future impact of the U.S./EU agreement on United’s business cannot be predicted
with certainty.
Also in 2008, the EU adopted interpretive guidance and legislation that impacts the Company. The Commission officially sanctioned secondary slot
trading, a current practice among carriers that involves the sale, purchase or lease of slots. This action resolves disputes about the legality of slot exchanges at EU
airports including London Heathrow.
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In December 2009, the United States and Japan reached agreement on the text of an open skies agreement to replace the 1952 bilateral agreement on air
service between the United States and Japan. The open skies agreement is expected to enter into force in the fall of 2010, subject to the satisfaction of certain
conditions precedent. Pursuant to the agreement, any U.S. or Japanese carrier will be able to fly between any point in the United States and any point in Japan
and, in the case of U.S. carriers, beyond Japan to points in other countries the carrier is authorized to serve. The agreement will also eliminate the restrictions on
the number of frequencies carriers can operate, and require governments in both the United States and Japan to concur before taking action to regulate a carrier’s
fares or rates.
Also in December 2009, United and Continental applied jointly with All Nippon Airways to the DOT for approval of, and immunity from U.S. antitrust
laws for, a series of alliance agreements between and among the carriers, including a transpacific joint venture agreement. This application is currently pending.
See Alliances, above, for additional information.
Environmental Regulation.
The airline industry is subject to increasingly stringent federal, state, local and foreign environmental laws and regulations concerning emissions to the air,
discharges to surface and subsurface waters, safe drinking water and the management of hazardous substances, oils and waste materials. New regulations
surrounding the emission of greenhouse gases (such as carbon dioxide) have been adopted and are otherwise being considered for promulgation both
internationally and within the United States (which is discussed further below). United is carefully evaluating the impact of such new and proposed regulations.
Other areas of developing and/or new regulations include the State of California rule-makings regarding air emissions from ground support equipment and federal
rule-makings concerning the discharge of deicing fluid and the regulation of aircraft drinking water supplies.
Future environmental regulatory developments, such as in regard to climate change, in the United States and abroad, could adversely affect operations and
increase operating costs in the airline industry. Some climate change laws and regulations that have gone into effect apply to United, including environmental
taxes for certain international flights (including the United Kingdom’s Air Passenger Duty), limited greenhouse gas reporting requirements and land-based
planning laws which could apply to airports and could affect airlines in certain circumstances. In addition, a 2009 EU Directive required EU member countries to
enact legislation that would include aviation within the EU’s existing carbon emissions trading scheme, effective in 2012. The legality of applying such a scheme
to non-EU airlines has been widely questioned. In December 2009, the Air Transportation Association, joined by United, Continental and American Airlines,
filed a lawsuit in the United Kingdom challenging regulations that transpose into UK law the EU emissions trading scheme as applied to U.S. carriers. In
addition, non-EU countries are considering filing a formal challenge before the United Nations’ International Civil Aviation Organization with respect to the EU’s
inclusion of non-EU carriers. It is not clear whether the trading scheme will withstand such challenges. If the scheme is found to be valid, however, it could
significantly increase the cost of carriers operating in the EU (by requiring the purchase of carbon credits), although the precise cost to United is difficult to
calculate with certainty due to a number of variables and will depend, among other things, on United’s carbon emissions from flights to and from the EU and the
price of carbon credits. The precise nature of any such requirements and their applicability to United are difficult to predict, but the impact to the Company and
the aviation industry would likely be adverse and could be significant, including the potential for increased fuel costs, carbon taxes or fees, or a requirement to
purchase carbon credits.
The airline industry is also subject to other environmental laws and regulations, including those that require the Company to remediate soil or groundwater
to meet certain objectives. Compliance with all environmental laws and regulations can require significant expenditures. Under the federal Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, commonly known as “Superfund,” and similar environmental cleanup laws, generators of waste
materials and owners or operators of facilities, can be subject to liability for
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investigation and remediation costs at locations that have been identified as requiring response actions. The Company also conducts voluntary environmental
assessment and remediation actions. Environmental cleanup obligations can arise from, among other circumstances, the operation of aircraft fueling facilities and
primarily involve airport sites. Future costs associated with these activities are currently not expected to have a material adverse affect on the Company’s
business.
Employees
As of December 31, 2009, the Company and its subsidiaries had approximately 47,000 active employees, of whom approximately 82% were represented by
various U.S. labor organizations. The employee groups, number of employees and labor organization for each of United’s collective bargaining groups were as
follows:
Number of
Employees

Employee Group

Public Contact/Ramp & Stores/Food Service Employees/Security Officers/Maintenance Instructors/Fleet
Technical Instructors
Flight Attendants
Pilots
Mechanics & Related
Engineers
Dispatchers

14,811
12,892
5,632
4,678
218
164

Union (a)

IAM
AFA
ALPA
Teamsters
IFPTE
PAFCA

Contract Open
for Amendment

January 1, 2010
January 8, 2010
January 1, 2010
January 1, 2010
January 1, 2010
January 1, 2010

(a) International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers, Association of Flight Attendants—Communication Workers of America, Air Line Pilots
Association, International Brotherhood of Teamsters, International Federation of Professional and Technical Engineers and Professional Airline Flight
Control Association.
Collective bargaining agreements are negotiated under the RLA, which governs labor relations in the air transportation industry, and such agreements
typically do not contain an expiration date. Instead, they specify an amendable date, upon which the contract is considered “open for amendment.” Contracts
remain in effect while new agreements are negotiated. During the negotiation period, both the Company and the negotiating union are required to maintain the
status quo.
During the second quarter of 2009, the Company began negotiations with its labor unions as all of United’s domestic labor contracts became amendable
during January 2010. Consistent with its contractual commitments, United served “Section 6” notices to all six of its labor unions in April 2009 to commence the
collective bargaining process. In August 2009, United filed for mediation assistance in conjunction with three of its six unions–the Air Line Pilots Association
(“ALPA”), Association of Flight Attendants–Communication Workers of America (“AFA”) and the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace
Workers (“IAM”). In January 2010, the Company also filed for mediation assistance in conjunction with another of its unions, Professional Airline Flight Control
Association (“PAFCA”). These filings were consistent with commitments contained in current labor contracts which provided that the parties would jointly
invoke the mediation services of the National Mediation Board (“NMB”) in the event agreements had not been reached by August 1, 2009. While the labor
contract with the International Brotherhood of Teamsters (the “Teamsters”) also contemplates filing for mediation, the parties have agreed to continue in direct
negotiations. The current contract with the International Federation of Professional and Technical Engineers (“IFPTE”) does not contemplate filing for mediation.
The outcome of these negotiations may materially impact the Company’s future financial results. However, it is too early in the process to assess the timing or
magnitude of the impact, if any.
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ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS.

The following risk factors should be read carefully when evaluating the Company’s business and the forward-looking statements contained in this report
and other statements the Company or its representatives make from time to time. Any of the following risks could materially adversely affect the Company’s
business, operating results, financial condition and the actual outcome of matters as to which forward-looking statements are made in this report.
Risks Related to the Company’s Business
The Amended Credit Facility and the indentures governing the Senior Notes impose certain operating and financial restrictions on the Company and its
subsidiaries. The Company may be unable to continue to comply with the covenants in these and other agreements, which, if not complied with, could
accelerate repayment under the Amended Credit Facility or the indentures governing the Senior Notes, as applicable, thereby materially and adversely
affecting the Company’s liquidity.
The Company’s Amended and Restated Revolving Credit, Term Loan and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of February 2, 2007 (the “Amended Credit
Facility”), and the Company’s indentures governing the 9.875% Senior Secured Notes due 2013 and 12.0% Senior Second Lien Notes due 2013 (together, the
“Senior Notes”) impose certain operating and financial covenants on the Company and its subsidiaries.
Among other covenants, the terms of the Amended Credit Facility require the Company to maintain:
•

a minimum unrestricted cash balance (as defined in the Amended Credit Facility) of $1.0 billion at any time;

•

a minimum ratio of collateral value to debt obligations, as of certain reference periods, subject to certain exceptions; and

•

a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, as determined below.
Number of
Preceding
Months
Covered

Nine
Twelve
Twelve
Twelve

Period Ending

December 31, 2009
March 31, 2010
June 30, 2010
September 30, 2010 and each quarter ending thereafter.

Required
Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio

1.2 to 1.0
1.3 to 1.0
1.4 to 1.0
1.5 to 1.0

The Amended Credit Facility fixed charge coverage ratio is calculated as EBITDAR to the sum of the following fixed charges for such period: (a) cash
interest expense and (b) cash aircraft operating rental expense. EBITDAR represents earnings before interest expense net of interest income, income taxes,
depreciation, amortization, aircraft rent and certain cash and non-cash charges as further defined by the Amended Credit Facility. The other adjustments to
EBITDAR include items such as foreign currency transaction losses, increases in our deferred revenue obligation, share-based compensation expense, nonrecurring or unusual losses, any non-cash non-recurring charge or non-cash restructuring charge, a limited amount of cash restructuring charges, certain cash
transaction costs incurred with financing activities and the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.
Among other covenants, the indentures governing the Senior Notes contain covenants related to the collateral, including covenants requiring United,
subject to certain exceptions, to maintain ownership of the collateral and to calculate the priority lien debt value ratio or secured debt value ratio, as applicable,
and to maintain a minimum priority lien debt value ratio or minimum secured debt value ratio, as applicable, as of
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certain reference periods. If the value of the Company’s collateral underlying the Senior Notes declines, the Company may be required to provide the debtholders
with additional collateral in order to avoid a default and a subsequent acceleration of the applicable debt obligations.
The Company’s ability to comply with the covenants in the Amended Credit Facility or the indentures governing the Senior Notes may be affected by
events beyond its control, including the overall industry revenue environment and the level of fuel costs, and it may be required to seek waivers or amendments of
covenants or alternative sources of financing. The Company cannot provide assurance that such waivers, amendments or alternative financing could be obtained
or, if obtained, would be on terms acceptable to the Company.
A breach of certain of the covenants or restrictions contained in the Company’s Amended Credit Facility or indentures governing the Senior Notes could
result in a default. The Amended Credit Facility and the indentures governing the Senior Notes contain a cross-default provision with respect to final judgments
that exceed $50 million and $70 million, respectively. In addition, the indentures governing the Senior Notes contain a cross-default provision where a default
resulting in the acceleration of indebtedness under the Amended Credit Facility could result in a default under the indentures. A default under the agreements
could allow the Company’s debtholders to accelerate repayment of the obligations in these agreements and/or to declare all borrowings outstanding thereunder to
be due and payable. If the Company’s debt is accelerated, its assets may not be sufficient to repay the obligations in the Amended Credit Facility and the Senior
Notes.
The Company may be unable to continue to comply with certain covenants in agreements with financial institutions that process customer credit card
transactions, which, if not complied with, could materially and adversely affect the Company’s liquidity.
The Company has agreements with financial institutions that process customer credit card transactions for the sale of air travel and other services. Under
certain of the Company’s card processing agreements, the financial institutions either require, or have the right to require, that United maintain a reserve equal to
a portion of advance ticket sales that have been processed by that financial institution, but for which the Company has not yet provided the air transportation
(referred to as “relevant advance ticket sales”). As of December 31, 2009, the Company had total advance ticket sales of approximately $1.5 billion, of which
approximately 80% related to credit card sales.
The Company’s credit card processing agreement with Paymentech and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. contains a cash reserve requirement. In addition to
certain other risk protections provided to the processor, the amount of any such cash reserve will be determined based on the amount of unrestricted cash held by
the Company as defined under the Amended Credit Facility. If the Company’s unrestricted cash balance is at or more than $2.5 billion as of any calendar monthend measurement date, its required reserve will remain at $25 million. However, if the Company’s unrestricted cash is less than $2.5 billion, its required reserve
will increase to a percentage of relevant advance ticket sales as summarized in the following table:
Required % of
Relevant Advance
Ticket Sales

Total Unrestricted Cash Balance (a)

Less than $2.5 billion
Less than $2.0 billion
Less than $1.0 billion

15%
25%
50%

(a) Includes unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at month-end, including certain cash amounts already held in reserve, as defined by
the agreement.
Based on the Company’s December 31, 2009 unrestricted cash balance, the Company was not required to provide cash collateral above the current $25
million reserve balance.
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United entered into a new agreement with American Express on March 1, 2009 with an initial five year term. Under the agreement, in addition to certain
other risk protections provided to American Express, the Company will be required to provide reserves based primarily on its unrestricted cash balance and net
current exposure as of any calendar month-end measurement date, as summarized in the following table:
Required % of
Net Current
Exposure (b)

Total Unrestricted Cash Balance (a)

Less than $2.4 billion
Less than $2.0 billion
Less than $1.35 billion
Less than $1.2 billion

15%
25%
50%
100%

(a) Includes unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at month-end, including certain cash amounts already held in reserve, as defined by
the agreement.
(b) Net current exposure equals relevant advance ticket sales less certain exclusions, and as adjusted for specified amounts payable between United and the
processor, as further defined by the agreement.
The agreement with American Express permits the Company to provide certain replacement collateral in lieu of cash collateral, as long as the Company’s
unrestricted cash is above $1.35 billion. Such replacement collateral may be pledged for any amount of the required reserve up to the full amount thereof, with the
stated value of such collateral determined according to the agreement. Replacement collateral may be comprised of aircraft, slots and routes, real estate or other
collateral as agreed between the parties. Based on the Company’s unrestricted cash balance at December 31, 2009, the Company was not required to provide any
reserves under this agreement.
An increase in the future reserve requirements as provided by the terms of either, or both, of the Company’s material card processing agreements could
materially reduce the Company’s liquidity.
The Company may not be able to maintain adequate liquidity.
While the Company’s cash flows from operations and its available capital have been sufficient to meet its current operating expenses, lease obligations and
debt service requirements to date, the Company’s future liquidity could be negatively impacted by many factors including, but not limited to, substantial volatility
in the price of fuel, declines in passenger and cargo demand associated with the global recession and deterioration of global financial systems, and any of our
future commitments for the purchase of aircraft. During 2008 and 2009, the Company experienced reduced demand for its services due to the weak global
economy. Decreases in passenger and cargo demand resulting from a weak global economy resulted in both lower passenger volumes and lower ticket fares,
which adversely impacted our liquidity and may continue to adversely impact our results of operations and liquidity in 2010. In addition, the Company’s capacity
cuts completed in 2008 and 2009 may not be sufficient to address lower demand due to the weak global economy. See the risk factor entitled “Economic and
industry conditions constantly change and continued or worsening negative economic conditions in the United States and elsewhere may have a material adverse
effect on our business and results of operations,” below, for further discussion of the adverse impacts of the weak economy on our operations.
In addition, fuel prices continue to be extremely volatile which may negatively impact the Company’s liquidity in the future. Certain of the Company’s fuel
hedges require that it post cash collateral with applicable counterparties if crude oil prices fall below certain prices. The Company provided cash collateral of $10
million to its fuel derivative counterparties as of December 31, 2009. See Note 12, “Fair Value Measurements and Derivative Instruments,” in the Footnotes.
The Company’s plans to address increased and volatile fuel prices and the weak global economy may not be successful in improving its results of
operations and liquidity. In addition, the implementation of certain of these
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plans requires the use of cash for such items as severance payments, lease termination fees and facility closure costs, among others. These cash requirements will
reduce the Company’s available cash for its ongoing operations.
As described above, the Company is required to comply with certain financial covenants under its Amended Credit Facility, the indentures governing the
Senior Notes and certain of its credit card processing agreements. The factors noted above, among other things, may impair the Company’s ability to comply with
these covenants or could allow certain of our credit card processors to increase the required reserves on our advance ticket sales, which could have an adverse
impact on the Company’s financial position and liquidity, depending on its ability to obtain a waiver of, or otherwise mitigate, the impact of the default. If a
default occurs under our Amended Credit Facility and the indentures governing the Senior Notes, the cost to cure any such default may adversely impact our
financial position and liquidity.
In addition, the Company’s indebtedness at December 31, 2009 was secured by collateral with a net carrying value of $8.0 billion. As a result, we may have
limited remaining assets available as collateral for loans or other indebtedness, which may make it difficult to raise additional capital to meet our liquidity needs.
Our level of indebtedness, non-investment grade credit rating and the current market conditions may also make it difficult for us to raise capital to meet liquidity
needs and may increase our cost of borrowing. A higher cost of capital could negatively impact our results of operations, financial position and liquidity.
See Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, for further information regarding the Company’s
liquidity.
Economic and industry conditions constantly change and continued or worsening negative economic conditions in the United States and elsewhere may have
a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.
Our business and results of operations are significantly impacted by general economic and industry conditions. Industry-wide passenger air travel varies
from year to year. Robust demand for our air transportation services depends largely on favorable general economic conditions, including the strength of the
global and local economies, low unemployment levels, strong consumer confidence levels and the availability of consumer and business credit. For leisure
travelers, air transportation is often a discretionary purchase that those consumers can eliminate from their spending in difficult economic times. In addition,
during periods of poor economic conditions, businesses usually reduce the volume of their business travel, either due to cost-savings initiatives or as a result of
decreased business activity requiring travel. The overall demand for air transportation in the United States has decreased due to adverse changes and continued
deterioration of the U.S. and global economies, which has negatively impacted our results of operations for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, and
may continue to have a significant negative impact on our future results of operations for an extended period of time. While some economic indicators like the
GDP are beginning to exhibit growth, other economic indicators that affect air travel such as unemployment have not yet begun to recover and may not do so for
an extended period of time. In addition, decreases in cargo revenues due to lower demand have a disproportionate impact on our operating results as our cargo
revenues generally have higher margins as compared to our passenger revenues. Continuation or worsening of the current global recession may lead the Company
and other carriers to further reduce domestic or international capacity and may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s revenues, results of operations
and liquidity.
Continued periods of historically high fuel costs or significant disruptions in the supply of aircraft fuel could have a material adverse impact on the
Company’s operating results.
The Company’s operating results have been, and could continue to be, significantly impacted by changes in the supply or price of aircraft fuel, both of
which are impossible to predict. The record-high fuel prices each year from 2005 through 2007 increased further in 2008 to new record highs with the crude oil
spot price reaching approximately $145 per barrel in July 2008. At times, United has not been able to increase its fares when fuel
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prices have risen due to the highly competitive nature of the airline industry. United may not be able to increase its fares if fuel prices rise in the future and any
such increases may not be sustainable in the highly competitive environment. In addition, fare increases may not totally offset the fuel price increase and may also
reduce demand for air travel. From time to time, the Company enters into hedging arrangements to protect against rising fuel costs. The Company’s hedging
programs may use significant amounts of cash due to posting of cash collateral in some circumstances, may not be successful in controlling fuel costs and may be
limited due to market conditions and other factors. See Note 12, “Fair Value Measurements and Derivative Instruments,” in the Footnotes for additional
information on the Company’s hedging programs.
Additional terrorist attacks or the fear of such attacks, even if not made directly on the airline industry, could negatively affect the Company and the airline
industry.
The terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 involving commercial aircraft severely and adversely impacted the Company’s financial condition and results
of operations, as well as prospects for the airline industry. Among the effects experienced from the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks were substantial flight
disruption costs caused by the FAA-imposed temporary grounding of the U.S. airline industry’s fleet, significantly increased security costs and associated
passenger inconvenience, increased insurance costs, substantially higher ticket refunds and significantly decreased traffic and passenger revenue per revenue
passenger mile (“yield”).
Additional terrorist attacks, even if not made directly on the airline industry, or the fear of or the precautions taken in anticipation of such attacks (including
elevated national threat warnings or selective cancellation or redirection of flights) could materially and adversely affect the Company and the airline industry.
The wars in Iraq and Afghanistan and additional international hostilities, including heightened terrorist activity, could also have a material adverse impact on the
Company’s financial condition, liquidity and results of operations. The Company’s financial resources might not be sufficient to absorb the adverse effects of any
further terrorist attacks or other international hostilities involving the United States or U.S. interests.
The airline industry is highly competitive, susceptible to price discounting and may undergo further bankruptcy restructuring or industry consolidation.
The U.S. airline industry is characterized by substantial price competition. Some of our competitors have substantially greater financial resources or lower
cost structures than United does, or both. In recent years, the market share held by low-cost carriers has increased significantly. Large network carriers, like
United, have often had a lack of pricing power within domestic markets.
In addition, a number of carriers have filed for bankruptcy protection in recent years. Other domestic and international carriers could restructure in
bankruptcy or threaten to do so to reduce their costs. Carriers operating under bankruptcy protection can operate in a manner that could be adverse to the
Company and could emerge from bankruptcy as more vigorous competitors.
During 2008, the U.S. airline industry underwent consolidation with the merger of Delta Airlines and Northwest Airlines. In 2009, regional mainline
carriers Midwest Airlines and Frontier Airlines were acquired by Republic Airways, and Frontier Airlines remains a direct competitor of United at its Denver
hub. In early 2010, foreign carrier Japan Airlines filed for bankruptcy and began restructuring its business.
There is ongoing speculation that further airline industry consolidation could occur in the future. United routinely monitors changes in the competitive
landscape and engages in analysis and discussions regarding its strategic position, including alliances, asset acquisitions and divestitures and business
combinations. The Company’s strategic alliance with Continental Airlines will not realize all of the benefits of a merger. The Company may have future
discussions with other airlines regarding mergers and/or other strategic alternatives. If other airlines participate in merger activity, and United does not, those
airlines may significantly improve their cost structures or revenue generation capabilities, thereby potentially making them stronger competitors of United.
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United and certain of its competitors implemented significant capacity reductions in 2008 and 2009. The Company’s unit revenues may not be favorably
impacted by the capacity reductions and its unit costs may be adversely impacted. Further, certain of the Company’s competitors may not reduce capacity or may
increase capacity, thereby diminishing the expected benefit to the Company from capacity reductions.
Additional security requirements may increase the Company’s costs and decrease its revenues and traffic.
Since September 11, 2001, the DHS and the Transportation Security Administration have implemented numerous security measures that affect airline
operations and costs and are likely to implement additional measures in the future. In addition, foreign governments have also instituted additional security
measures at foreign airports United serves. A substantial portion of the costs of these security measures is borne by the airlines and their passengers, increasing
the Company’s costs and/or reducing its revenue and traffic. Additional measures taken to enhance either passenger or cargo security procedures and/or to recover
associated costs in the future may result in similar adverse effects on United’s results of operations.
Extensive government regulation could increase the Company’s operating costs and restrict its ability to conduct its business.
Airlines are subject to extensive regulatory and legal compliance requirements that result in significant costs. In addition to the enactment of the Aviation
and Transportation Security Act, laws, regulations, taxes and airport rates and charges have been proposed from time to time that could significantly increase the
cost of airline operations or reduce airline revenue. The FAA from time to time also issues directives and other regulations relating to the maintenance and
operation of aircraft that require significant expenditures by United. The Company expects to continue incurring material expenses to comply with the regulations
of the FAA and other agencies.
United operates under a certificate of public convenience and necessity issued by the DOT. If the DOT altered, amended, modified, suspended or revoked
our certificate, it could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business. The FAA can also limit United’s airport access by limiting the number of
departure and arrival slots at high density traffic airports and local airport authorities may have the ability to control access to certain facilities or the cost of
access to such facilities, which could have an adverse effect on the Company’s business.
In addition, access to landing and take-off rights, or “slots,” at several major U.S. airports and many foreign airports served by United are, or recently have
been, subject to government regulation. As passenger travel has continued to increase in recent years, many U.S. and foreign airports have become increasingly
congested. Certain of United’s major hubs are among the more congested airports in the United States and have been or could be the subject of regulatory action
that might limit the number of flights and/or increase costs of operations at certain times or throughout the day.
In addition, the Company’s operations may be adversely impacted due to the existing outdated air traffic control (“ATC”) system utilized by the U.S.
government. During peak travel periods in certain markets the current ATC system’s inability to handle existing travel demand has led to short-term capacity
constraints imposed by government agencies, as discussed above, and has also resulted in delays and disruptions of air traffic. In addition, the current system will
not be able to effectively handle projected future air traffic growth. Therefore, imposition of these ATC constraints on a long-term basis may have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations. Failure to update the ATC system in a timely manner, and the substantial funding requirements of a modernized ATC
system that may be imposed on carriers like United, may have an adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.
The Company has been subject to federal, state and local taxes and fees that increase the cost of the Company’s operations. In addition to taxes and fees
that the Company is currently subject to, proposed taxes and fees are currently pending. If any of these additional taxes and fees were to be imposed on the
Company, they would increase the Company’s operating expenses.
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Many aspects of United’s operations are also subject to increasingly stringent federal, state and local laws protecting the environment. Future
environmental regulatory developments, such as in regard to climate change, in the United States and abroad could adversely affect operations and increase
operating costs in the airline industry. Some climate change laws and regulations that have gone into effect apply to United, including environmental taxes for
certain international flights (including the United Kingdom’s Air Passenger Duty), limited greenhouse gas reporting requirements and land-based planning laws
which could apply to airports and could affect airlines in certain circumstances. Other areas of developing regulations include the State of California rule-making
regarding air emissions from ground support equipment and federal rule-makings concerning the discharge of deicing fluid and the regulation of aircraft drinking
water supplies. In addition, a 2009 EU Directive required EU member countries to enact legislation that would include aviation within the EU’s existing carbon
emissions trading scheme, effective in 2012. The legality of applying such a scheme to non-EU airlines has been widely questioned. In December 2009, the Air
Transportation Association, joined by United, Continental and American Airlines, filed a lawsuit in the United Kingdom challenging regulations that transpose
into UK law the EU emissions trading scheme as applied to U.S. carriers. In addition, non-EU countries are considering filing a formal challenge before the
United Nations’ International Civil Aviation Organization with respect to the EU’s inclusion of non-EU carriers. It is not clear whether the trading scheme would
withstand such challenges. If the scheme is found to be valid, however, it could significantly increase the costs of carriers operating in the EU (by requiring the
purchase of carbon credits), although the precise cost to United is difficult to calculate with any certainty due to a number of variables, and will depend, among
other things, on United’s carbon emissions from flights to and from the EU, and the price of carbon credits. Actions also may be taken in the future by the U.S.
government, state governments within the United States, foreign governments, the International Civil Aviation Organization, or by signatory countries through a
new global climate change treaty to regulate the emission of greenhouse gases by the aviation industry. The precise nature of any such requirements and their
applicability to United are difficult to predict, but the impact to the Company and the aviation industry would likely be adverse and could be significant, including
the potential for increased fuel costs, carbon taxes or fees, or a requirement to purchase carbon credits.
The ability of U.S. carriers to operate international routes is subject to change because the applicable arrangements between the United States and foreign
governments may be amended from time to time, or because appropriate slots or facilities may not be made available. United currently operates on a number of
international routes under government arrangements that limit the number of carriers, capacity or the number of carriers allowed access to particular airports. If an
open skies policy were to be adopted for any of these routes, such an event could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial position and results
of operations and could result in the impairment of material amounts of related tangible and intangible assets. In December 2009, the United States and Japan
entered into an open skies agreement, which is currently expected to become effective in the fall of 2010, subject to certain conditions precedent being met. To the
extent the open skies agreement results in excess capacity relative to demand, it could negatively impact the value of United’s U.S.-Japan business. For example,
as competing carriers will be able to obtain open route rights from United States and Japanese government authorities under the agreement, the value of the
Company’s current routes from the United States to Japan and beyond and slots related to these routes could be impaired. In addition, the value of the Company’s
business could be negatively impacted if a Japanese air carrier enters into a revenue sharing joint venture alliance agreement with any of our principal competitors
in the U.S.-Japan market, which is possible under the open skies agreement.
The Company’s plans to enter into or expand antitrust immunized joint ventures for various international regions, involving Continental, United and other
members of the Star Alliance are subject to receipt of approvals from applicable federal authorities or otherwise satisfying applicable regulatory requirements,
and there can be no assurances that such approvals will be granted or applicable regulatory requirements will be satisfied. In December 2009, the Company and
Continental applied jointly with All Nippon Airways to the DOT for immunity from U.S. antitrust laws for a series of alliance agreements between and among the
carriers, including a transpacific joint venture, which is currently pending approval from the DOT. Other air carriers are also seeking to initiate or expand antitrust
immunity for joint ventures which, if approved, may adversely affect the Company’s financial position and results of operations.
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Further, the Company’s operations in foreign countries are subject to a variety of laws and regulations in those countries. The Company cannot provide any
assurance that current laws and regulations, or laws or regulations enacted in the future, will not adversely affect its financial condition or results of operations.
The Company’s results of operations fluctuate due to seasonality and other factors associated with the airline industry.
Due to greater demand for air travel during the spring and summer months, revenues in the airline industry in the second and third quarters of the year are
generally stronger than revenues in the first and fourth quarters of the year. The Company’s results of operations generally reflect this seasonality, but have also
been impacted by numerous other factors that are not necessarily seasonal including, among others, the imposition of excise and similar taxes, extreme or severe
weather, air traffic control congestion, changes in the competitive environment due to industry consolidation and other factors and general economic conditions.
As a result, the Company’s quarterly operating results are not necessarily indicative of operating results for an entire year and historical operating results in a
quarterly or annual period are not necessarily indicative of future operating results.
The Company may never realize the full value of its intangible assets or our long-lived assets causing it to record impairments that may negatively affect its
results of operations.
In accordance with applicable accounting standards, the Company is required to test its indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment on an annual basis
on October 1 of each year, or more frequently if conditions indicate that an impairment may have occurred. In addition, the Company is required to test certain of
its other assets for impairment if conditions indicate that an impairment may have occurred.
During the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company performed impairment tests of certain intangible assets and certain long-lived assets
(principally aircraft, related spare engines and spare parts). The interim impairment tests were due to events and changes in circumstances that indicated an
impairment might have occurred. The primary factors deemed by management to have collectively constituted a potential impairment triggering event was, in
2009, a significant decrease in actual and forecasted revenues, and in 2008, record high fuel prices, significant losses, a softening U.S. economy, analyst
downgrade of UAL common stock, rating agency changes in outlook for the Company’s debt instruments from stable to negative, the announcement of the
planned removal from UAL’s fleet of 100 aircraft and a significant decrease in the fair value of the UAL’s outstanding equity and debt securities, including a
decline in UAL’s market capitalization to significantly below book value.
As a result of the impairment testing described above, the Company recorded goodwill and tangible and intangible asset impairment charges of
approximately $243 million and $2.6 billion during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The Company determined that goodwill was
completely impaired in 2008. However, as of December 31, 2009, the Company had approximately $9.8 billion of operating property and equipment and $2.5
billion of intangible assets that could be subject to future impairment charges. The Company may be required to recognize additional impairments in the future
due to, among other factors, extreme fuel price volatility, tight credit markets, a decline in the fair value of certain tangible or intangible assets, unfavorable trends
in historical or forecasted results of operations and cash flows and the uncertain economic environment, as well as other uncertainties. The Company can provide
no assurance that a material impairment charge of tangible or intangible assets will not occur in a future period. The value of our aircraft could be impacted in
future periods by changes in supply and demand for these aircraft. Such changes in supply and demand for certain aircraft types could result from grounding of
aircraft by the Company or other carriers. An impairment charge could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s financial position and results of
operations.
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The Company’s initiatives to improve the delivery of its services to its customers, reduce costs, increase its revenues and increase shareholder value, including
the operational plans recently implemented by the Company, may not be adequate or successful.
The Company continues to identify and implement improvement programs to enhance the delivery of its services to its customers, reduce its costs and
increase its revenues. In response to the unprecedented increase in fuel prices during 2008 and the weakened U.S. and global economies, the Company has been
implementing certain operational plans in line with its “Focus on Five” operating agenda. The Company’s efforts are focused on cost savings in areas such as
telecommunications, airport services, catering, maintenance materials, aircraft ground handling and Regional Affiliates expenses, among others. In addition, the
Company significantly reduced Mainline domestic and consolidated capacity and removed 100 aircraft from its Mainline fleet, including its entire B737 fleet of
94 aircraft and six B747 aircraft. United eliminated its Ted product and reconfigured that fleet’s 56 A320s to include United First class seats. See Item 7,
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations for further information regarding the Company’s capacity reductions.
The Company will continue to review the deployment of all of our aircraft in various markets and the overall composition of our fleet to ensure that we are using
our assets appropriately to provide the best available return. In connection with the capacity reductions, the Company streamlined its operations and corporate
functions in order to match the size of its workforce to the reduced size of its operations. The Company reduced its workforce by approximately 9,000 positions
during 2008 and 2009, through a combination of furloughs and furlough-mitigation plans, such as early-out options. There can be no assurance that the
Company’s initiatives to reduce costs and increase revenues will be successful.
The Company is taking additional actions beyond the operational plans discussed above, including increased cost reductions, new revenue sources and
other actions. The Company is also reviewing strategic alternatives to maximize the value of its assets and its businesses, which may include a possible sale of all,
or part of, these assets or operations. There can be no assurance that any transactions with respect to these assets or operations will occur, nor are there any
assurances with respect to the form or timing of any such transactions or their actual effect on shareholder value. A number of the Company’s ongoing initiatives
involve significant changes to the Company’s business that it may be unable to implement successfully. In addition, revenue and other initiatives may not be
successful due to the competitive landscape of the industry and the reaction of our competitors to certain of our initiatives. The adequacy and ultimate success of
the Company’s programs and initiatives to improve the delivery of its products and services to its customers, reduce its costs and increase both its revenues and
shareholder value cannot be assured.
Union disputes, employee strikes and other labor-related disruptions may adversely affect the Company’s operations and impair its financial performance.
Approximately 82% of the employees of UAL are represented for collective bargaining purposes by U.S. labor unions. These employees are organized into
six labor groups represented by six different unions.
Relations between air carriers and labor unions in the United States are governed by the RLA. Under the RLA, a carrier must maintain the existing terms
and conditions of employment following the amendable date through a multi-stage and usually lengthy series of bargaining processes overseen by the NMB. This
process continues until either the parties have reached agreement on a new collective bargaining agreement or the parties are released to “self-help” by the NMB.
Although in most circumstances the RLA prohibits strikes, shortly after release by the NMB, carriers and unions are free to engage in self-help measures such as
strikes and lock-outs. All six of the Company’s U.S. labor agreements became amendable in January 2010 and negotiations between the Company and all labor
unions commenced in April 2009. The Company has filed for mediation assistance with respect to the negotiations with four of its six unions and all four unions
are now in active mediation. The Company anticipates that the mediation process and the other two ongoing negotiations will continue in 2010. The Company
can provide no assurance that a successful or timely resolution of labor negotiations for all amendable agreements will be achieved. There is also a risk that
dissatisfied employees, either with or without union involvement, could engage in illegal slow-downs, work stoppages, partial work stoppages, sick-outs or
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other actions short of a full strike that could individually or collectively harm the operation of the airline and materially impair its financial performance.
Increases in insurance costs or reductions in insurance coverage may adversely impact the Company’s operations and financial results.
The terrorist attacks of September 11, 2001 led to a significant increase in insurance premiums and a decrease in the insurance coverage available to
commercial airlines. Accordingly, the Company’s insurance costs increased significantly and its ability to continue to obtain certain types of insurance remains
uncertain. The Company has obtained third-party war risk (terrorism) insurance through a special program administered by the FAA, resulting in lower premiums
than if it had obtained this insurance in the commercial insurance market. Should the government discontinue this coverage, obtaining comparable coverage from
commercial underwriters could result in substantially higher premiums and more restrictive terms, if it is available at all. If the Company is unable to obtain
adequate war risk insurance, its business could be materially and adversely affected.
If any of United’s aircraft were to be involved in an accident, the Company could be exposed to significant liability. The insurance it carries to cover
damages arising from any future accidents may be inadequate. If the Company’s insurance (including, but not limited to, aviation, hull and liability insurance and
property insurance) is inadequate, it may be forced to bear substantial losses from an accident.
The Company relies heavily on automated systems to operate its business and any significant failure of these systems could harm its business.
The Company depends on automated systems to operate its business, including its computerized airline reservation systems, flight operations systems,
telecommunication systems and commercial websites, including www.united.com. United’s website and reservation systems must be able to accommodate a high
volume of traffic and deliver important flight and schedule information, as well as process critical financial transactions. Substantial or repeated website,
reservations systems or telecommunication systems failures could reduce the attractiveness of United’s services versus its competitors and materially impair its
ability to market its services and operate its flights.
The Company’s business relies extensively on third-party providers. Failure of these parties to perform as expected, or unexpected interruptions in the
Company’s relationships with these providers or their provision of services to the Company, could have an adverse effect on the Company’s financial position
and results of operations.
The Company has engaged a growing number of third-party service providers to perform a large number of functions that are integral to its business, such
as operation of United Express flights, operation of customer service call centers, provision of information technology infrastructure and services, provision of
aircraft maintenance and repairs, provision of various utilities and performance of aircraft fueling operations, among other vital functions and services. The
Company does not directly control these third-party providers, although it does enter into agreements with many of them that define expected service
performance. Any of these third-party providers, however, may materially fail to meet their service performance commitments to the Company. The failure of
these providers to adequately perform their service obligations, or other unexpected interruptions of services, may reduce the Company’s revenues and increase
its expenses or prevent United from operating its flights and providing other services to its customers. In addition, the Company’s business and financial
performance could be materially harmed if its customers believe that its services are unreliable or unsatisfactory.
The Company’s high level of fixed obligations could limit its ability to fund general corporate requirements and obtain additional financing, could limit its
flexibility in responding to competitive developments and could increase its vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions.
The Company has a significant amount of financial leverage from fixed obligations, including its Amended Credit Facility, aircraft lease and debt
financings, leases of airport property and other facilities, and other
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material cash obligations. In addition, as of December 31, 2009, the Company had pledged a substantial amount of its assets as collateral to secure its various
fixed obligations. The Company’s high level of fixed obligations, a downgrade in the Company’s credit ratings, poor credit market conditions and the Company’s
limited amount of unencumbered assets available as collateral for loans or other indebtedness could impair the Company’s ability to obtain additional financing, if
needed, and reduce its flexibility to conduct its business. Certain of the Company’s existing indebtedness also require it to meet covenants and financial tests to
maintain ongoing access to those borrowings. See Note 11, “Debt Obligations and Card Processing Agreements,” and Note 21, “Subsequent Events,” in the
Footnotes for further details related to the Company’s credit agreements and assets pledged as collateral, as well as additional debt issued during early 2010. A
failure to timely pay its debts or other material uncured breaches of its contractual obligations could result in a variety of adverse consequences, including the
acceleration of the Company’s indebtedness, the withholding of credit card sale proceeds by its credit card service providers and the exercise of other remedies by
its creditors and equipment lessors that could result in material adverse effects on the Company’s financial position and results of operations. In such a situation, it
is unlikely that the Company would be able to fulfill its obligations to repay the accelerated indebtedness, make required lease payments, or otherwise cover its
fixed costs.
The Company’s net operating loss carry forward may be limited or possibly eliminated.
As of December 31, 2009, the Company had a net operating loss (“NOL”) carry forward tax benefit of approximately $2.7 billion for federal and state
income tax purposes which will expire over a five to twenty year period. This tax benefit is mostly attributable to federal pre-tax NOL carry forwards of $7.3
billion. If the Company were to have a change of ownership within the meaning of Section 382 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), under certain conditions, its annual federal NOL utilization could be limited to an amount equal to its market capitalization at the time of the ownership
change multiplied by the federal long-term tax exempt rate, adjusted for certain built-in gains or losses. A change of ownership under Section 382 of the Code is
defined as a cumulative change of more than 50 percentage points or more in the ownership positions of certain stockholders owning 5% or more of UAL’s
common stock over a three year rolling period.
To reduce the risk of a potential adverse effect on the Company’s ability to utilize its NOL carry forwards for federal income tax purposes, UAL’s amended
and restated certificate of incorporation contains a 5% ownership limitation (the “5% Ownership Limitation”), applicable to all stockholders except the Pension
Benefit Guaranty Corporation (“PBGC”). The 5% Ownership Limitation remains effective until February 1, 2011, subject to further extension by the UAL Board
of Directors (the “Board of Directors”) and shareholders. The 5% Ownership Limitation prohibits (i) the acquisition by a single stockholder of shares representing
5% or more of the common stock of UAL and (ii) any acquisition or disposition of common stock by a stockholder that already owns 5% or more of UAL’s
common stock, unless prior written approval is granted by the Board of Directors. The percentage ownership of a single stockholder can be computed by dividing
the number of shares of common stock held by the stockholder by the sum of the shares of common stock issued and outstanding plus the number of shares of
common stock still held in reserve for payment to unsecured creditors under the Debtors’ Second Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization pursuant to Chapter 11
of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code (the “Plan of Reorganization”). For additional information regarding the 5% Ownership Limitation, please refer to UAL’s restated
certificate of incorporation available on its website.
While the purpose of these transfer restrictions is to prevent a change of ownership from occurring within the meaning of Section 382 of the Code (which
ownership change might materially and adversely affect the Company’s ability to utilize its NOL carry forward or other tax attributes), no assurance can be given
that such an ownership change will not occur, in which case the availability of the Company’s substantial NOL carry forward and other federal income tax
attributes might be significantly limited or possibly eliminated. Any transfers of common stock that are made in violation of the restrictions set forth above will be
void and, pursuant to UAL’s restated certificate of incorporation, will be treated as if such transfer never occurred. This provision may prevent a sale of common
stock by a stockholder and adversely affect the price at which a stockholder can
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sell common stock. In addition, this limitation may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control of UAL, creating a perception that a change in
control cannot occur or otherwise discouraging takeover attempts that some stockholders may consider beneficial, which could also adversely affect the
prevailing market price of the common stock. UAL cannot predict the effect that this provision in the UAL amended and restated certificate of incorporation may
have on the market price of the common stock.
In addition, under the terms of the Company’s 4.5% Senior Limited-Subordination Convertible Notes due 2021 (the “4.5% Notes”), 5% Senior Convertible
Notes due 2021 (the “5% Notes”) and 6% Senior Convertible Notes due 2029 (the “6% Senior Convertible Notes”) (collectively, the “Notes”), noteholders have
the option to require UAL to repurchase the Notes on certain dates. UAL may pay the repurchase price in cash, shares of UAL common stock, or a combination
thereof. If UAL is required to repurchase such Notes and elects to use shares of common stock rather than cash, a change in ownership within the meaning of
Section 382 of the Code could occur depending on the number of Notes repurchased and the number of shares of UAL common stock required to repurchase the
Notes. Further, under the terms of the 4.5% Notes, 5% Notes and 6% Senior Convertible Notes, noteholders have the option to convert the Notes into shares of
UAL’s common stock at a fixed conversion rate at any time prior to maturity. The conversion of a significant number of the Notes into UAL common stock could,
in combination with the shares (if any) used to repurchase the Notes or other transactions, cause a change in ownership within the meaning of Section 382 of the
Code to occur.
The Company is subject to economic and political instability and other risks of doing business globally.
The Company is a global business with operations outside of the United States from which it derives approximately one-third of its operating revenues, as
measured and reported to the DOT. The Company’s operations in Asia, Latin America, the Middle East and Europe are a vital part of its worldwide airline
network. Volatile economic, political and market conditions in these international regions may have a negative impact on the Company’s operating results and its
ability to achieve its business objectives. In addition, significant or volatile changes in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and other currencies, and the
imposition of exchange controls or other currency restrictions, may have a material adverse impact upon the Company’s liquidity, revenues, costs and operating
results.
The Company could be adversely affected by an outbreak of a disease that affects travel behavior.
An outbreak of a disease that affects travel demand or travel behavior, such as Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome, avian flu or H1N1 virus, or other
illness, could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition and results of operations.
Certain provisions of UAL’s Governance Documents could discourage or delay changes of control or changes to the Board of Directors.
Certain provisions of the restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws of UAL (together, the “Governance Documents”) may make
it difficult for stockholders to change the composition of the Board of Directors and may discourage takeover attempts that some of its stockholders may consider
beneficial.
Certain provisions of the Governance Documents may have the effect of delaying or preventing changes in control if the Board of Directors determines that
such changes in control are not in the best interests of UAL and its stockholders.
These provisions of the Governance Documents are not intended to prevent a takeover, but are intended to protect and maximize the value of UAL’s
stockholders’ interests. While these provisions have the effect of encouraging persons seeking to acquire control of UAL to negotiate with the Board of Directors,
they could enable the Board of Directors to prevent a transaction that some, or a majority, of its stockholders might believe to be in their best interests and, in that
case, may prevent or discourage attempts to remove and replace incumbent directors.
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The issuance of UAL’s contingent senior unsecured notes could adversely impact results of operations, liquidity and financial position and could cause
dilution to the interests of its existing stockholders.
In connection with the Company’s Plan of Reorganization, UAL is obligated under an indenture to issue to the PBGC 8% Contingent Senior Notes (the
“8% Notes”) with an aggregate principal amount of up to $500 million in up to eight equal tranches of $62.5 million (with no more than two tranches issued as a
result of each issuance trigger event) upon the occurrence of certain financial triggering events. An issuance trigger event occurs when, among other things, the
Company’s EBITDAR (as defined in the PBGC indenture) exceeds $3.5 billion over the prior twelve months ending June 30 or December 31 of any applicable
fiscal year, beginning with the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 and ending with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017. However, if the issuance of a
tranche would cause a default under any other securities then existing, UAL may satisfy its obligations with respect to such tranche by issuing UAL common
stock having a market value equal to $62.5 million. The issuance of the 8% Notes could adversely impact the Company’s results of operations because of
increased interest expense related to the notes and adversely impact its financial position or liquidity due to increased cash required to meet interest and principal
payments. Any common stock issued in lieu of debt will cause additional dilution to existing UAL stockholders.
Risks Related to UAL Common Stock
The issuance of additional shares of UAL common stock, including upon conversion of its convertible notes, could cause dilution to the interests of its
existing stockholders.
During 2009, UAL issued $345 million aggregate principal amount of 6% Senior Convertible Notes. Previously, UAL issued $726 million of 4.5% Notes
and $150 million of 5% Notes in connection with the Company’s Plan of Reorganization. Holders of these securities may convert them into shares of UAL’s
common stock according to their terms. See Note 11, “Debt Obligations and Card Processing Agreements,” in the Footnotes for further information regarding
these instruments.
The UAL restated certificate of incorporation authorizes up to one billion shares of common stock. In certain circumstances, UAL can issue shares of
common stock without stockholder approval. In 2008, the Board of Directors approved the issuance of $200 million of UAL common stock as part of an ongoing
equity offering by the Company. The Company completed this equity offering during 2009, which produced aggregate net proceeds of approximately $196
million after deducting related expenses. In October 2009, UAL sold an additional 19.0 million shares of UAL common stock in a separate underwritten, public
offering generating net proceeds of $132 million. In addition, the Board of Directors is authorized to issue up to 250 million shares of preferred stock without any
action on the part of UAL’s stockholders. The Board of Directors also has the power, without stockholder approval, to set the terms of any series of shares of
preferred stock that may be issued, including voting rights, conversion rights, dividend rights, preferences over UAL’s common stock with respect to dividends or
if UAL liquidates, dissolves or winds up its business and other terms. If UAL issues preferred stock in the future that has a preference over its common stock with
respect to the payment of dividends or upon its liquidation, dissolution or winding up, or if UAL issues preferred stock with voting rights that dilute the voting
power of its common stock, the rights of holders of its common stock or the market price of its common stock could be adversely affected. UAL is also
authorized to issue, without stockholder approval, other securities convertible into either preferred stock or, in certain circumstances, common stock. In the future
UAL may decide to raise additional capital through offerings of its common stock, securities convertible into its common stock, or rights to acquire these
securities or its common stock. The issuance of additional shares of common stock or securities convertible into common stock could result in dilution of existing
stockholders’ equity interests in UAL. Issuances of substantial amounts of its common stock, or the perception that such issuances could occur, may adversely
affect prevailing market prices for UAL’s common stock and UAL cannot predict the effect this dilution may have on the price of its common stock.
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The issuance of UAL common stock upon a noteholder’s exercise of its option to require UAL to repurchase convertible notes could cause dilution to the
interests of existing stockholders.
Under the terms of the Company’s 4.5% Notes, 5% Notes and 6% Senior Convertible Notes, holders of such notes may require UAL to purchase all or a
portion of such notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of such notes, plus accrued and unpaid interest, on June 30, 2011 and June 30,
2016 in the case of the 4.5% Notes, February 1, 2011 and February 1, 2016 in the case of the 5% Notes and October 15, 2014, October 15, 2019 and October 15,
2024 in the case of the 6% Senior Convertible Notes. If a noteholder exercises such option, UAL may elect to pay the repurchase price in cash, shares of its
common stock or a combination thereof. If UAL elects to pay the repurchase price in shares of its common stock, UAL is obligated to deliver a number of shares
of common stock equal to the repurchase price divided by an average price of UAL common stock for a 20-consecutive trading day period. The number of shares
issued could be significant. If UAL determines to pay the repurchase price in shares of its common stock, such an issuance could cause significant dilution to the
interests of its existing stockholders. In addition, if UAL elects to pay the repurchase price in cash, its liquidity could be adversely affected.
UAL’s certificate of incorporation limits voting rights of certain foreign persons.
UAL’s restated certificate of incorporation limits the total number of shares of equity securities held by persons who are not “citizens of the United States,”
as defined in Section 40102(a)(15) of Title 49 United States Code, to no more than 24.9% of the aggregate votes of all equity securities outstanding. This
restriction is applied pro rata among all holders of equity securities who fail to qualify as “citizens of the United States,” based on the number of votes the
underlying securities are entitled to.
ITEM

1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.

None.
ITEM

2. PROPERTIES.

Flight Equipment
As of December 31, 2009, the Company’s operational plans to significantly reduce its operating fleet and capacity were substantially complete as the
Company’s entire fleet of 94 B737 aircraft and five B747 aircraft had been removed from service. The last planned early aircraft retirement of a B747 aircraft
occurred in January 2010. See Note 2, “Company Operational Plans,” in the Footnotes for additional information.
Details of UAL and United’s Mainline operating fleet as of December 31, 2009 are provided in the following table:
Average
Number of Seats

Aircraft Type

UAL total operating fleet at December 31, 2008
A319—100
A320—200
B747—400
B757—200
B767—300
B777—200
Total operating fleet at December 31, 2009

120
146
368
172
207
267

UAL nonoperating B737s at December 31, 2009 (a)

Owned

Leased

Total

Average
Age (Years)

209

200

409

13

32
38
16
23
17
45
171

23
59
9
73
18
7
189

55
97
25
96
35
52
360

10
12
15
18
15
11
13

28

70

20

5

13

42

UAL nonoperating B747s at December 31, 2009

5

—

(a) United leases one nonoperating aircraft from UAL and therefore had one less owned B737 aircraft and one more leased aircraft as compared to UAL’s fleet.
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Details of the Regional Affiliates operating fleet that are operated under capacity purchase lease agreements as of December 31, 2009, are provided in the
following table:
Average
No. of Seats

Aircraft Type

Bombardier CRJ200
Bombardier CRJ700
De Havilland Dash 8
Embraer EMB 120
Embraer ERJ 145
Embraer EMB170
Total Operating Fleet

50
66
37
30
50
70

Total

91
108
7
12
36
38
292

All of the Bombardier CRJ700 and Embraer EMB170 aircraft are equipped with explusSM seating. For additional information on aircraft leases, see
Note 14, “Lease Obligations,” in the Footnotes.
Ground Facilities
United is a party to various leases relating to its use of airport landing areas, gates, hangar sites, terminal buildings and other airport facilities in most of the
municipalities it serves. Major terminal facility leases expire at SFO in 2011 and 2013, Washington Dulles in 2014, O’Hare in 2018, LAX in 2019 and Denver in
2025. The Company also leases approximately 250,000 square feet of office space through 2022 for its corporate headquarters in downtown Chicago.
The Company also owns a 66.5-acre complex in suburban Chicago consisting of more than 1 million square feet of office space for its operations center, a
computer operations facility and a training center (collectively the “Current Operations Center”). During 2009, the Company conducted an extensive review of
multiple sites in the Chicago area and selected the Willis Tower (formerly the Sears Tower) as the new location of the Current Operations Center, offering much
improved workspaces, technology and other resources. United expects to occupy approximately 460,000 square feet within the Willis Tower by 2011. The
Company’s rental obligations and initial possession of a portion of the premises are expected to commence in late 2010. The lease has an initial 15-year term with
renewal options. The Company plans to sell the Current Operations Center as part of the Willis Tower relocation plan.
United also owns a flight training center in Denver which accommodates 36 flight simulators and more than 90 computer-based training stations, as well as
a crew hotel in Honolulu which is mortgaged.
During 2009, the Company entered into an amendment to its O’Hare cargo building site lease with the City of Chicago. The Company agreed to vacate its
current cargo facility at O’Hare to allow the land to be used for the development of a future runway. The Company received approximately $160 million from the
City of Chicago in accordance with the terms of the lease amendment. In addition, under the lease amendment the City of Chicago will provide the Company with
another site at O’Hare upon which a replacement cargo facility could be constructed.
The Company’s maintenance operation center at SFO occupies 130 acres of land, 2.9 million square feet of floor space and nine aircraft hangar bays under
a lease expiring in 2013. The Company has options to renew the lease through 2023.
United continues to lease and operate a number of administrative, reservations, sales and other support facilities worldwide. United continuously evaluates
opportunities to reduce or modify facilities occupied at its airports and off-airport locations.
A substantial amount of the Company’s assets have been pledged as collateral as discussed in Note 11, “Debt Obligations and Card Processing
Agreements,” in the Footnotes.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.
In re: UAL Corporation, et. al.
On December 9, 2002, UAL, United and 26 direct and indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries filed voluntary petitions to reorganize their businesses under
Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. On January 20, 2006, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division (the
“Bankruptcy Court”) confirmed the Company’s Plan of Reorganization. The Plan of Reorganization became effective and the Company emerged from bankruptcy
protection on February 1, 2006. During the course of its Chapter 11 proceedings, the Company successfully reached settlements with most of its creditors and
resolved all claims pending in the bankruptcy case. On December 8, 2009, the Bankruptcy Court issued a final decree closing all bankruptcy cases against the
Company, effective as of that date.
Air Cargo/Passenger Surcharge Investigations
In February 2006, the European Commission (the “Commission”) and the DOJ commenced an international investigation into what government officials
described as a possible price fixing conspiracy relating to certain surcharges included in tariffs for carrying air cargo. The DOJ issued a grand jury subpoena to
United and the Commission conducted an inspection at the Company’s offices in Frankfurt. In June 2006, United received a second subpoena from the DOJ
requesting information related to certain passenger pricing practices and surcharges applicable to international passenger routes. We are cooperating fully. United
is considered a source of information for the DOJ investigation, not a target.
Separately, United has received information requests regarding cargo pricing matters from the competition authorities in Australia, Brazil, Japan, Korea and
Switzerland. On December 18, 2007, the Commission issued a Statement of Objections to 26 companies, including United. The Statement of Objections
presented evidence related to the utilization of fuel and security surcharges and the exchange of pricing information that the Commission views as supporting the
conclusion that an illegal price-fixing cartel had been in operation in the air cargo transportation industry. United has provided written and oral responses
vigorously disputing the Commission’s allegations against the Company. On July 31, 2008, state prosecutors in Sao Paulo, Brazil, commenced criminal
proceedings against eight individuals, including United’s cargo manager, for allegedly participating in cartel activity. The Company is actively participating in the
defense of those allegations. On January 4, 2010, the Economic Law Secretariat of Brazil issued its opinion recommending that civil penalties be assessed against
all parties being investigated, including United, to the Administrative Counsel of Economic Defense (“CADE”), which will make a determination on the matter.
United will vigorously defend itself before the CADE. On December 15, 2008, the New Zealand Commerce Commission issued Notices of Proceeding and
Statements of Claim to 13 airlines, including United. The Company is currently preparing its response to these proceedings. On October 28, 2009, the Korean
Fair Trade Commission issued an examiner’s report which omitted the Company from its investigation, thereby removing the Company as a target of its cargo
pricing investigation.
In addition to the government investigations, United and other air cargo carriers were named as defendants in over ninety class action lawsuits alleging
civil damages as a result of the purported air cargo pricing conspiracy. Those lawsuits were consolidated for pretrial activities in the United States Federal Court
for the Eastern District of New York on June 20, 2006. United entered into an agreement with the majority of the private plaintiffs to dismiss United from the
class action lawsuits in return for an agreement to cooperate with the plaintiffs’ factual investigation and United is no longer named as a defendant in the
consolidated civil lawsuit. The Company is reviewing whether its receipt of a Statement of Objections from the Commission will impact the civil litigation.
Multiple putative class actions were also filed alleging violations of the antitrust laws with respect to the passenger pricing practices which were the subject
of the DOJ subpoena. Those lawsuits were consolidated for pretrial activities in the United States Federal Court for the Northern District of California. United
was dismissed from the case on October 3, 2008.
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The Company is currently cooperating with all ongoing investigations and analyzing whether any potential liability may result from any of the
investigating bodies. Based on its evaluation of all information currently available, the Company has determined that no reserve for potential liability is required
and will continue to defend itself against all allegations that it was aware of or participated in cartel activities. However, penalties for violation of competition
laws can be substantial and an ultimate finding that the Company engaged in improper activity could have a material adverse impact on our consolidated financial
position and results of operations.
United Injunction Against ALPA and Four Individual Defendants for Unlawful Slowdown Activity under the Railway Labor Act
On July 30, 2008, United filed a lawsuit in federal court for the Northern District of Illinois (the “Court”) seeking a preliminary injunction against ALPA
and four individual pilot employees also named as defendants for unlawful concerted activity which was disrupting the Company’s operations. The Court granted
the preliminary injunction to United in November 2008 which was upheld by the Seventh Circuit. ALPA and the Company reached an agreement to discontinue
the ongoing litigation over United’s motion for a permanent injunction and, instead, the preliminary injunction will remain in effect until the conclusion of the
ongoing bargaining process for an amended collective bargaining agreement that began on April 9, 2009. By reaching this agreement, the parties are able to focus
their efforts on the negotiations for the collective bargaining agreement. Nothing in this agreement precludes either party from reopening the permanent injunction
litigation upon 30 days notice or from seeking enforcement of the preliminary injunction itself.
EEOC Claim Under the Americans with Disabilities Act
On June 5, 2009, the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”) filed a lawsuit on behalf of five named individuals and other similarly
situated employees alleging that United’s reasonable accommodation policy for employees with medical restrictions does not comply with the requirements of the
Americans with Disabilities Act. The Company is investigating this matter and cannot assess its possible exposure at this time. Although the Company intends to
vigorously defend itself in connection with this lawsuit, the law in this area is unsettled and, as a result, there can be no assurances as to the ultimate result of this
action.
Litigation Associated with September 11, 2001 Terrorism
Families of 94 victims of the September 11 terrorist attacks filed lawsuits asserting a variety of claims against the airline industry. United and American
Airlines (the “aviation defendants”), as the two carriers whose flights were hijacked, are the central focus of the litigation, but a variety of additional parties have
been sued on a number of legal theories ranging from collective responsibility for airport screening and security systems that allegedly failed to prevent the
attacks to faulty design and construction of the World Trade Center towers. In excess of 97% of the families of the deceased victims received awards from the
September 11th Victims Compensation Fund of 2001, which was established by the federal government, and consequently are now barred from making further
claims against the aviation defendants. World Trade Center Properties, Inc., as lessee, has filed claims against the aviation defendants and The Port Authority of
New York and New Jersey (the “Port Authority”), the owner of the World Trade Center. The Port Authority has also filed cross-claims against the aviation
defendants in both the wrongful death litigation and for property damage sustained in the attacks. The insurers of various tenants at the World Trade Center have
filed subrogation claims for damages as well. In the aggregate, September 11th claims are estimated to be well in excess of $10 billion. By statute, these matters
were consolidated in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of New York and the aviation defendants’ exposure was capped at the limit of the liability
coverage maintained by each carrier at the time of the attacks. In the personal injury and wrongful death matters, settlement discussions continue and the parties
have reached settlement agreements for the majority of the remaining claims. The Company anticipates that any liability it may face arising from the events of
September 11, 2001 could be significant, but by statute will be limited to the amount of its insurance coverage.
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Other Legal Proceedings
UAL and United are involved in various other claims and legal actions involving passengers, customers, suppliers, employees and government agencies
arising in the ordinary course of business. Additionally, from time to time, the Company becomes aware of potential non-compliance with applicable
environmental regulations, which have either been identified by the Company (through internal compliance programs such as its environmental compliance
audits) or through notice from a governmental entity. In some instances, these matters could potentially become the subject of an administrative or judicial
proceeding and could potentially involve monetary sanctions. After considering a number of factors, including (but not limited to) the views of legal counsel, the
nature of contingencies to which the Company is subject and prior experience, management believes that the ultimate disposition of these contingencies will not
materially affect its consolidated financial position or results of operations.
ITEM

4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.

None.
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF UAL
The executive officers of UAL are listed below, along with their ages, tenure as officer and business background for at least the last five years.
Graham W. Atkinson. Age 58. Mr. Atkinson has been Executive Vice President and President of Mileage Plus since October 2008. From September 2006
to September 2008, Mr. Atkinson served as Executive Vice President—Chief Customer Officer of UAL and United. From January 2004 to September 2006,
Mr. Atkinson served as Senior Vice President—Worldwide Sales and Alliances of United.
Peter D. McDonald. Age 58. Mr. McDonald has been Executive Vice President and Chief Administrative Officer of UAL and United since May
2008. From May 2004 to May 2008, Mr. McDonald served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of UAL and United. From September 2002
to May 2004, Mr. McDonald served as Executive Vice President—Operations of UAL and United.
Kathryn A. Mikells. Age 44. Ms. Mikells has been Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of UAL and United since July 2009. From
November 2008 to July 2009, Ms. Mikells served as Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of both companies. From August 2007 to October 2008,
Ms. Mikells served as Vice President of Investor Relations of United. From August 2006 to July 2007, she served as Vice President of Financial Planning and
Analysis of United and from January 2005 to August 2006, Ms. Mikells served as Vice President and Treasurer of United.
John P. Tague. Age 47. Mr. Tague has been President of United and Executive Vice President of UAL since July 2009. From May 2008 to July 2009,
Mr. Tague served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer of both companies. From April 2006 to May 2008, Mr. Tague served as Executive Vice
President and Chief Revenue Officer of UAL and United. From May 2004 to April 2006, he served as Executive Vice President—Marketing, Sales and Revenue
of both companies.
Glenn F. Tilton. Age 61. Mr. Tilton has been Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of UAL and Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
United since September 2002.
There are no family relationships among the executive officers or the directors of UAL. The executive officers are elected by the Board of Directors each
year and hold office until the organization meeting of the respective Board of Directors in the next subsequent year and until his or her successor is chosen or until
his or her earlier death, resignation or removal.
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PART II
ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF
EQUITY SECURITIES.

The following table sets forth the ranges of high and low sales prices per share of UAL common stock, which trades on a NASDAQ market under the
symbol “UAUA,” during the last two completed fiscal years.
2009

1st quarter
2nd quarter
3rd quarter
4th quarter

2008

High

Low

High

Low

$12.88
6.90
9.77
13.33

$3.45
3.08
3.07
6.23

$41.47
24.87
15.84
16.73

$19.71
5.22
2.80
4.55

There is no trading market for the common stock of United. UAL and United did not pay any dividends in 2009. In December 2007, UAL’s Board of
Directors approved a special distribution of $2.15 per common share, or approximately $257 million, which was paid on January 23, 2008 to holders of record of
UAL common stock as of January 9, 2008 and is characterized as a return of capital for tax purposes. Under the provisions of the Amended Credit Facility and
the terms of certain of our other debt agreements, the Company’s ability to pay distributions on or repurchase UAL common stock is restricted. However, the
Company may undertake an additional $243 million in shareholder initiatives without any additional prepayment of the Amended Credit Facility, provided that all
covenants within the Amended Credit Facility are met. In addition, the agreement provides that the Company can carry out further shareholder initiatives in an
amount equal to future term loan prepayments, provided the covenants are met. See Note 11, “Debt Obligations and Card Processing Agreements,” in the
Footnotes for more information related to dividend restrictions under the Amended Credit Facility. Any future determination regarding dividend or distribution
payments will be at the discretion of the Board of Directors, subject to applicable limitations under Delaware law.
Based on reports by the Company’s transfer agent for UAL common stock, there were approximately 1,426 record holders of its UAL common stock as of
February 15, 2010.
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The following graph shows the cumulative total shareholder return for UAL common stock during the period from February 2, 2006 to December 31, 2009.
Five year historical data is not presented since the financial results of the Successor UAL are not comparable with the results of the Predecessor UAL, as
discussed in Item 6, Selected Financial Data. The graph also shows the cumulative returns of the Standard and Poors (“S&P”) 500 Index and the AMEX Airline
Index (“AAI”) of 12 investor-owned airlines. The comparison assumes $100 was invested on February 2, 2006 (the date UAUA began trading on NASDAQ) in
UAL common stock and in each of the indices shown and assumes that all dividends paid, including UAL’s January 2008 $2.15 per share distribution, were
reinvested.

Note: The stock price performance shown in the graph above should not be considered indicative of potential future stock price performance.
The following table presents repurchases of UAL common stock made in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2009:

Period

10/01/09 – 10/31/09
11/01/09 – 11/30/09
12/01/09 – 12/31/09
Total

Total number
of shares
purchased (a)

Average price
paid
per share

2,354
2,431
—
4,785

$

6.92
6.63
—
6.77

Total number of
shares purchased
as
part of publicly
announced
plans
or programs

—
—
—
—

Maximum number of
shares (or approximate
dollar value) of shares
that may yet be
purchased under the
plans or programs

(b)
(b)
(b)
(b)

(a) Shares withheld from employees to satisfy certain tax obligations due upon the vesting of restricted stock.
(b) Withholding of shares to satisfy tax obligations due upon the vesting of restricted stock in accordance with the Company’s share-based compensation plan.
The plan does not specify a maximum number of shares that may be repurchased.
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PART II
ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

In connection with its emergence from Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection, UAL adopted fresh-start reporting, effective February 1, 2006, in accordance
with accounting principles related to reorganizations. As a result of the adoption of fresh-start reporting, the financial statements prior to February 1, 2006 are not
comparable with the financial statements after February 1, 2006. References to “Successor Company” refer to UAL on or after February 1, 2006, after giving
effect to the adoption of fresh-start reporting. References to “Predecessor Company” refer to UAL prior to February 1, 2006. Certain income statement and
balance sheet amounts presented in the table below for the 2008, 2007 and 2006 Successor periods include the impact from the Company’s 2009 retrospective
adoption of the new accounting principles related to accounting for convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion and determining
whether instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are participating securities for purposes of calculating earnings per share. See Note 1 (p),
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—New Accounting Pronouncements,” in the Footnotes for additional information.
(In millions, except rates)

Successor

Predecessor

Year Ended December 31,

Income Statement Data:
Operating revenues
Operating expenses
Mainline fuel purchase cost
Non-cash fuel hedge (gains) losses
Cash fuel hedge (gains) losses
Total Mainline fuel expense
Nonoperating non-cash fuel hedge (gains) losses
Nonoperating cash fuel hedge (gains) losses
Goodwill impairment
Other impairments and special operating items
Reorganization (income) expense
Net income (loss) (a)
Basic earnings (loss) per share
Diluted earnings (loss) per share
Cash distribution declared per common share (b)
Balance Sheet Data at period-end:
Total assets
Long-term debt and capital lease
obligations, including current portion
Liabilities subject to compromise

Period from
February 1 to
December 31,
2006

Period from
January 1 to
January 31,
2006

Year Ended
December 31,
2005

$

17,379
17,598
4,032
—
—
4,032
—
—
—
18
20,601
(21,176)
(182.29)
(182.29)
—

$

19,342

2009

2008

2007

$16,335
16,496
3,509
(586)
482
3,405
(279)
248
—
374
—
(651)
(4.32)
(4.32)
—

$20,194
24,632
7,114
568
40
7,722
279
249
2,277
339
—
(5,396)
(42.59)
(42.59)
—

$20,143
19,106
5,086
(20)
(63)
5,003
—
—
—
(44)
—
360
2.94
2.65
2.15

$

17,882
17,383
4,436
2
24
4,462
—
—
—
(36)
—
7
(0.02)
(0.02)
—

$

$18,684

$19,465

$24,223

$

25,372

$ 19,555

8,543
—

8,004
—

8,255
—

10,364
—

1,432
36,336
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1,458
1,510
362
—
—
362
—
—
—
—
(22,934)
22,851
196.61
196.61
—

1,433
35,016
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(In millions, except rates)

Successor

Predecessor

Year Ended December 31,

2009

Mainline Operating Statistics (c):
Revenue passengers
Revenue passenger miles (“RPMs”) (d)
Available seat miles (“ASMs”) (e)
Passenger load factor (f)
Yield (g)
Passenger revenue per ASM (“PRASM”) (h)
Operating revenue per ASM (“RASM”) (i)
Operating expense per ASM (“CASM”) (j)
Fuel gallons consumed
Average price per gallon of jet fuel, including tax and hedge
impact

56
100,475
122,737
81.9%
11.81¢
9.70¢
10.81¢
11.05¢
1,942
175.3¢

2008

63
110,061
135,861
81.0%
13.89¢
11.29¢
12.58¢
15.74¢
2,182
353.9¢

2007

68
117,399
141,890
82.7%
12.99¢
10.78¢
12.03¢
11.39¢
2,292
218.3¢

Period from
February 1 to
December 31,
2006

69
117,470
143,095
82.1%
12.19¢
10.04¢
11.49¢
11.23¢
2,290
210.7¢

Period from
January 1 to
January 31,
2006

(c)
(c)
(c)
(c)
(c)
(c)
(c)
(c)
(c)
(c)

Year Ended
December 31,
2005

67
114,272
140,300
81.4%
11.25¢
9.20¢
10.66¢
10.59¢
2,250
179.2¢

(a) Net income (loss) was significantly impacted in the Predecessor periods due to reorganization items related to the bankruptcy restructuring.
(b) Paid in January 2008.
(c) Mainline operations exclude the operations of independent regional carriers operating as United Express. Statistics included in the 2006 Successor period
were calculated using the combined results of the Successor period from February 1 to December 31, 2006 and the Predecessor January 2006 period.
(d) RPMs are the number of scheduled miles flown by revenue passengers.
(e) ASMs are the number of seats available for passengers multiplied by the number of miles those seats are flown.
(f) Passenger load factor is derived by dividing RPMs by ASMs.
(g) Yield is a measure of average price paid per passenger mile, which is calculated by dividing passenger revenues by RPMs.
(h) PRASM is Mainline passenger revenue per ASM.
(i) RASM is operating revenues excluding Regional Affiliates passenger revenue per ASM.
(j) CASM is operating expenses excluding Regional Affiliates operating expenses per ASM.
ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.

Overview
This Annual Report on Form 10-K is a combined report of UAL and United including their respective consolidated financial statements. As UAL
consolidates United for financial statement purposes, disclosures that relate to activities of United also apply to UAL, unless otherwise noted. United’s operating
revenues and operating expenses comprise nearly 100% of UAL’s revenues and operating expenses. In addition, United comprises approximately the entire
balance of UAL’s assets, liabilities and operating cash flows. Therefore, the following qualitative discussion is applicable to both UAL and United, unless
otherwise noted. Any significant differences between UAL and United results are separately disclosed and explained. United meets the conditions set forth in
General Instruction I(1)(a) and (b) of Form 10-K and is therefore filing this Form 10-K with the reduced disclosure format allowed under that general instruction.
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As discussed above under Item 1, Business, the Company derives virtually all of its revenues from airline related activities. The most significant source of
airline revenues is passenger revenues; however, Mileage Plus, United Cargo and United Services are also major sources of operating revenues. The airline
industry is highly competitive and is characterized by intense price competition. Fare discounting by United’s competitors has historically had a negative effect on
the Company’s financial results because United has generally been required to match competitors’ fares to maintain passenger traffic. Future competitive fare
adjustments may negatively impact the Company’s future financial results. One of the Company’s most significant operating expenses is jet fuel. Jet fuel prices
are extremely volatile and are largely uncontrollable by the Company. The Company’s historical and future earnings have been, and will continue to be,
significantly impacted by jet fuel prices.
The Company continues to implement its “Focus on Five” business approach, a comprehensive set of priorities that focuses on the fundamentals of running
a good airline: one that runs on time, with clean planes and courteous employees, delivers industry-leading revenues and competitive costs, and does so safely.
The goal of this approach is to enable United to achieve best-in-class safety performance, exceptional customer satisfaction and experience, and industry-leading
margin and cash flow. During 2009, United’s positions with respect to certain key metrics reported by the DOT improved significantly. In addition to
improvements in overall customer satisfaction scores, United ranked number one in on-time performance for domestic scheduled flights for 2009 among the five
largest global U.S. based carriers, as measured by the DOT and as published in the Air Travel Consumer Report for 2009. The Company also reduced unit costs
through cost control initiatives and successfully completed a number of financing initiatives during 2009 to strengthen its liquidity and considerably reduce its
near-term scheduled debt payments.
Recent Developments. The global recession created an extremely challenging environment for the Company. For most of 2008 and 2009, the airline
industry experienced decreased demand for air travel which put pressure on the Company’s operating cash reserves, as well as its operating revenues. Despite
challenging revenue conditions, the Company significantly reduced its year-over-year operating expenses. In addition to fuel price declines and reduced capacity,
the Company’s commitment to cost reduction was a contributing factor to this reduction in operating expenses, as presented in the table below. The following
table presents the unit cost of various components of total operating expenses and related year-over-year changes.

(In millions, except unit costs)

2009

Mainline ASMs
Mainline fuel expense
Impairments, special items and other charges (a)
Other operating expenses
Total mainline operating expense
Regional affiliate expense
Consolidated operating expense

122,737
3,405
409
9,743
13,557
2,939
$ 16,496
$

2009
expense
per ASM
(in
cents)

2.78
0.33
7.94
11.05

2008

135,861
7,722
2,807
10,855
21,384
3,248
$ 24,632
$

2008
expense
per ASM
(in
cents)

5.68
2.07
7.99
15.74

% change
per ASM

(51.1)
(84.1)
(0.6)
(29.8)

(a) Amounts are summarized in the Summary Results of Operations table in Financial Results, below.
In addition, to mitigate the negative impact of the global recession, the Company focused on implementing strategies during 2009 related to, among other
things, capacity reductions, fleet optimization, revenue generation and airline alliances as discussed below.
Some of these actions include the following:
•

The Company reduced its Mainline domestic and international capacity by 5% and 8%, respectively, during the fourth quarter of 2009, as compared
to the prior year. Mainline domestic capacity decreased 10% while international capacity decreased 9% for the full year of 2009, as compared to
2008.
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Consolidated capacity was approximately 3% and 7% lower in the fourth quarter and the full year of 2009, respectively, as compared to the prior
year;
•

The Company permanently removed 100 aircraft from its fleet, including its entire fleet of 94 B737 aircraft and six B747 aircraft in order to
eliminate unprofitable capacity and divest the Company of assets that did not provide an acceptable return. The Company also streamlined its
operations and corporate functions in order to match the size of its workforce to the size of its reduced capacity, resulting in a workforce reduction of
approximately 9,000 positions during 2008 and 2009. The workforce reduction was completed through a combination of furloughs and furloughmitigation programs, such as voluntary early-out options, to reduce the required involuntary furloughs. Of the total represented workforce reduction,
approximately 45% was accomplished through voluntary furloughs;

•

The Company reconfigured its entire Ted fleet of 56 all-economy Airbus aircraft to include United First, Economy Plus and economy seating and
continues to refit its widebody international aircraft with new first and business class premium seats, entertainment systems and other product
enhancements. During 2009, the Company completed its upgrade of all of its B767 and B747 aircraft, which are used for international flights, and
commenced the reconfiguration of its international B777 fleet in February 2010;

•

The Company created new revenue streams through unbundling its flight services and various other new service offerings. The new revenue
initiatives include fees for checked bags on domestic and international flights, express airport check-in and boarding through Premier TravelSM and
Premier Travel PlusSM, and an annual subscription for two checked bags at no additional cost for United and Regional Affiliates-operated flights
through Premier Baggage;

•

In October 2009, Continental joined United and its 24 partners in the Star Alliance linking the airlines’ networks and services worldwide and creating
new revenue opportunities, cost savings and other efficiencies;

•

In December 2009, United filed an application jointly with All Nippon Airways and Continental to the DOT for antitrust immunity for a series of
alliance agreements between and among the carriers, including a transpacific joint venture agreement; and

•

In December 2009, the Company announced its intention to place an aircraft order for 25 Boeing 787-8 Dreamliner aircraft and 25 Airbus A350
XWB aircraft, with future purchase rights for an additional 50 planes of each aircraft type. The 25 Boeing aircraft and 25 Airbus aircraft are to
replace the Company’s international Boeing 747s and 767s. The Company estimates that it will reduce its fuel costs and carbon emissions from the
25 Boeing aircraft and 25 Airbus aircraft combined by approximately 33% compared with the aircraft they will replace, lower average lifetime
maintenance costs for the 25 Boeing aircraft and 25 Airbus aircraft combined by approximately 40% per available seat mile compared with the
aircraft they will replace, and enable service to a broader range of international destinations while providing customers with state-of-the-art cabin
comfort. The Boeing aircraft order is pursuant to a purchase agreement entered into by the Company and The Boeing Company in February 2010 and
the Airbus aircraft order is subject to the execution of a definitive written agreement that is expected to be finalized in the first quarter of 2010.

The Company also took certain actions to enhance its liquidity and minimize its financing costs during this challenging economic environment. In 2009,
the Company’s liquidity initiatives generated unrestricted cash of more than $1.5 billion primarily from the issuance of UAL common stock, proceeds from new
debt issuances and aircraft asset sale-leaseback transactions. See Liquidity and Capital Resources—Financing Activities, below, for additional information related
to these transactions.
The Company also made the following significant changes to its international route network:
•

The Company commenced new daily service from Washington Dulles to Moscow and Geneva in March and April 2009, respectively;
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•

The Company will commence its first-ever service to Africa, with one daily, same-plane service from Washington Dulles to Accra, Ghana during the
second quarter of 2010. In addition, United plans to add service to Lagos, Nigeria, pending government approvals;

•

The Company will offer a new non-stop flight between O’Hare and Brussels, Belgium and will extend its existing daily Washington Dulles-Kuwait
flight to include a direct flight to Bahrain, starting in March and April 2010, respectively; and

•

The Company entered into a joint venture to offer service from Washington Dulles to Madrid beginning March 2010.

Financial Results. The air travel business is subject to seasonal fluctuations. Historically, the Company’s revenues are better in the second and third
quarters as compared to the first and fourth quarters of each year, since its first and fourth quarter results normally reflect weaker travel demand. In addition, the
Company’s results of operations may be impacted by adverse weather, air traffic control delays, fuel price volatility and other factors in any period.
The table below presents certain financial statement items to provide an overview of the Company’s financial performance for the three years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007. The most significant contributors to the Company’s net losses in 2009 and 2008 were the negative impact of the economic
recession on revenues in 2009 and increased fuel prices and asset impairments in 2008. The table below also highlights that the Company, through its past and ongoing cost reduction initiatives, was able to effectively manage costs in non-fuel and other areas, although the benefits of these cost savings initiatives were not
sufficient to offset, in 2009, lower revenues due to the global recession, and, in 2008, the dramatic increase in fuel cost.
SUMMARY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
(In millions)

UAL information
Revenues
Special revenue items (a)
Revenues due to Mileage Plus policy change (a)
Total revenues
Mainline fuel purchase cost
Operating non-cash fuel hedge (gain)/loss
Operating cash fuel hedge (gain)/loss
Regional Affiliates fuel expense (b)
Goodwill impairment (c)
Other impairments and special items (c)
Other charges (see table below)
Total impairments, special items and other charges
Other operating expenses
Nonoperating non-cash fuel hedge (gain)/loss
Nonoperating cash fuel hedge (gain)/loss
Other nonoperating expense (d)
Income tax expense (benefit)
Net income (loss)
United net income (loss)
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2009

2008

2007

$16,335
—
—
16,335
3,509
(586)
482
799
—
374
35
409
11,883
(279)
248
538
(17)
$ (651)

$20,194
—
—
20,194
7,114
568
40
1,257
2,277
339
191
2,807
12,846
279
249
455
(25)
$ (5,396)

$19,852
45
246
20,143
5,086
(20)
(63)
915
—
(44)
—
(44)
13,232
—
—
380
297
$ 360

$ (628)

$ (5,354)

$
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(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

These significant items affecting the Company’s results of operations are discussed in Results of Operations, below.
Regional Affiliates’ fuel expense is classified as part of Regional Affiliates expense in the Company’s Financial Statements.
As described in Results of Operations below, asset impairment charges were recorded as a result of interim testing performed in 2009 and 2008.
Includes non-cash interest expense of $55 million, $48 million and $43 million in 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, related to accounting for convertible
debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion. See Note 1(p), “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—New Accounting
Pronouncements,” in the Footnotes for additional information. Also includes equity in earnings of affiliates.
UAL recorded the following impairment and other charges, as further discussed below, during the year ended December 31, 2009 and 2008:
Year Ended December 31,
2009
2008

(In millions)

Goodwill impairment
Intangible asset impairments
Aircraft and related deposit impairments
Total other impairments
LAX municipal bond litigation
Lease termination and other charges
Total other impairments and special items
Severance
Employee benefit obligation adjustment
Litigation-related settlement gain
Charges related to terminated/deferred projects
Net gain on asset sales
Accelerated depreciation from early asset retirements
Total other charges
Total of impairments, special items and other charges
Operating non-cash fuel hedge (gain) loss
Nonoperating non-cash fuel hedge (gain) loss
Tax benefit on intangible asset impairments and asset sales
Total impairments and other charges

$

$

—
150
93
243
27
104
374
33
(35)
—
—
(11)
48
35
409
(586)
(279)
(21)
(477)

$

$

2,277
64
250
314
—
25
339
106
57
(29)
26
(3)
34
191
2,807
568
279
(31)
3,623

Income statement classification

Goodwill impairment

Other impairments and special items
Salaries and related costs
Salaries and related costs
Other operating expenses
Purchased services
Other operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization

Aircraft fuel
Miscellaneous, net
Income tax benefit

The income tax benefit in 2009 is related to the impairment and sale of certain indefinite-lived intangible assets, partially offset by the income tax effects of
items recorded in other comprehensive income. The income tax benefit in 2008 is related to the impairment and sale of certain indefinite-lived intangible assets,
partially offset by the impact of an increase in state tax rates.
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Liquidity. The following table provides a summary of the Company’s total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at December 31, 2009 and 2008.
As of December 31,
2009
2008

(In millions)

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

$3,042
341
$3,383

$2,039
272
$ 2,311

The increase in the Company’s cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash balances was primarily due to a $2.2 billion improvement in cash flows from
operations in 2009, as compared to 2008, and the significant liquidity initiatives described in Recent Developments, above. UAL’s variation in cash flows from
operations in the 2009 period, as compared to the prior year, was relatively consistent with its results of operations as further described below under Results of
Operations. Lower cash expenditures for fuel purchases were offset by lower cash receipts from the sale of passenger and cargo transportation in 2009, as
compared to 2008. In 2009, the Company received $160 million related to the future relocation of its O’Hare cargo operations. This cash receipt was classified as
an operating cash inflow. The Company also received $35 million from LAX as part of an agreement to vacate certain facilities. Decreases in the Company’s fuel
hedge collateral requirements also provided operating cash of approximately $955 million. This benefit was substantially offset by approximately $730 million of
net cash paid to counterparties for fuel derivative contract settlements and premiums during 2009.
The Company expects its cash flows from operations and its available capital to be sufficient to meet its future operating expenses, lease obligations and
debt service requirements in the next twelve months; however, the Company’s future liquidity could be impacted by increases or decreases in fuel prices, fuel
hedge collateral requirements, inability to adequately increase revenues to offset high fuel prices, softening revenues resulting from reduced demand, failure to
meet future debt covenants and other factors. See Liquidity and Capital Resources and Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk,
below, for a discussion of these factors and the Company’s significant operating, investing and financing cash flows.
Capital Commitments. The Company’s capital purchase commitments of $622 million are for the purchase of property and equipment, including
commitments related to its international premium cabin enhancement program. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had remaining capital commitments to
complete international enhancements on 46 aircraft. In addition, the Company has an option to purchase 42 A319 and A320 aircraft for $2.3 billion.
Contingencies. United has guaranteed $270 million of the City and County of Denver, Colorado Special Facilities Airport Revenue Bonds (United Air
Lines Project) Series 2007A (the “Denver Bonds”). This guarantee replaces our prior guarantee of $261 million of bonds issued by the City and County of
Denver, Colorado in 1992. These bonds are callable by United. The outstanding bonds and related guarantee are not recorded in the Company’s Financial
Statements. However, the related lease agreement is accounted for on a straight-line basis resulting in a ratable accrual of the final $270 million payment over the
lease term.
Bankruptcy Matters. On December 9, 2002, UAL, United and 26 direct and indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries filed voluntary petitions to reorganize its
business under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. The Company emerged from bankruptcy on February 1, 2006, under the Plan of Reorganization that was
approved by the Bankruptcy Court. During the course of its Chapter 11 proceedings, the Company successfully reached settlements with most of its creditors and
resolved all claims pending in the bankruptcy case. On December 8, 2009, the Bankruptcy Court issued a final decree closing all bankruptcy cases against the
Company, effective as of that date. See Note 13, “Commitments, Contingent Liabilities and Uncertainties,” in the Footnotes for further information regarding
bankruptcy matters.
Legal and Environmental. The Company has certain contingencies resulting from litigation and claims incident to the ordinary course of business.
Management believes, after considering a number of factors,
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including (but not limited to) the information currently available, the views of legal counsel, the nature of contingencies to which the Company is subject and
prior experience, that the ultimate disposition of the litigation and claims will not materially affect the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of
operations. When appropriate, the Company accrues for these matters based on its assessments of the likely outcomes of their eventual disposition. The amounts
of these liabilities could increase or decrease in the near term, based on revisions to estimates relating to the various claims.
The Company anticipates that if ultimately found liable, its damages from claims arising from the events of September 11, 2001, could be significant;
however, the Company believes that, under the Air Transportation Safety and System Stabilization Act of 2001, its liability will be limited to its insurance
coverage.
The Company continues to analyze whether any potential liability may result from air cargo/passenger surcharge cartel investigations following the receipt
of a Statement of Objections that the Commission issued to 26 companies on December 18, 2007. The Statement of Objections sets out evidence related to the
utilization of fuel and security surcharges and exchange of pricing information that the Commission views as supporting the conclusion that an illegal price-fixing
cartel had been in operation in the air cargo transportation industry. United has provided written and oral responses vigorously disputing the Commission’s
allegations against the Company. Nevertheless, United will continue to cooperate with the Commission’s ongoing investigation. Based on its evaluation of all
information currently available, the Company has determined that no reserve for potential liability is required and will continue to defend itself against all
allegations that it was aware of or participated in cartel activities. However, penalties for violation of European competition laws can be substantial and a finding
that the Company engaged in improper activity could have a material adverse impact on its consolidated financial position and results of operations.
Many aspects of United’s operations are subject to increasingly stringent federal, state and local laws protecting the environment. Future environmental
regulatory developments, such as in regard to climate change in the U.S. and abroad, could adversely affect operations and increase operating costs in the airline
industry. Some climate change laws and regulations that have gone into effect apply to United, including environmental taxes for certain international flights
(including the United Kingdom’s Air Passenger Duty), limited greenhouse gas reporting requirements and land-based planning laws which could apply to airports
and could affect airlines in certain circumstances. Other areas of developing regulations include the State of California rule-makings regarding air emissions from
ground support equipment and federal rule-makings concerning the discharge of deicing fluid and the regulation of aircraft drinking water supplies. In addition, a
2009 EU Directive required EU member countries to enact legislation that would include aviation within the EU’s existing carbon emissions trading scheme,
effective in 2012. The legality of applying such a scheme to non-EU airlines has been widely questioned. In December 2009, the Air Transportation Association,
joined by United, Continental and American Airlines, filed a lawsuit in the United Kingdom challenging regulations that transpose into UK law the EU emissions
trading scheme as applied to U.S. carriers. In addition, non-EU countries are considering filing a formal challenge before the United Nations’ International Civil
Aviation Organization with respect to the EU’s inclusion of non-EU carriers. It is not clear whether the emissions trading scheme will withstand such challenges.
If the scheme is found to be valid, however, it could significantly increase the costs of carriers operating in the EU (by requiring the purchase of carbon credits),
although the precise cost to United is difficult to calculate with any certainty due to a number of variables, and will depend, among other things, on United’s
carbon emissions from flights to and from the EU and the price of carbon credits. Actions may be taken in the future by the U.S. government, state governments
within the U.S., foreign governments, the International Civil Aviation Organization, or by signatory countries through a new global climate change treaty to
regulate the emission of greenhouse gases by the aviation industry. The precise nature of any such requirements and their applicability to United are difficult to
predict, but the impact to the Company and the aviation industry would likely be adverse and could be significant, including the potential for increased fuel costs,
carbon taxes or fees, or a requirement to purchase carbon credits.
See Note 13, “Commitments, Contingent Liabilities and Uncertainties,” in the Footnotes for further discussion of the above contingencies.
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Results of Operations
Operating Revenues.
2009 compared to 2008
The table below illustrates the year-over-year percentage change in UAL and United operating revenues.
Year Ended December 31,
2009
2008

(In millions)

Passenger—United Airlines
Passenger—Regional Affiliates
Cargo
Other operating revenues
UAL total
United total

$
Change

%
Change

$ 11,910
3,064
536
825
$ 16,335

$ 15,337
3,098
854
905
$ 20,194

(3,427)
(34)
(318)
(80)
$(3,859)

(22.3)
(1.1)
(37.2)
(8.8)
(19.1)

$ 16,359

$ 20,237

$(3,878)

(19.2)

The table below presents UAL and United passenger revenues and selected operating data from our Mainline segment, broken out by geographic region,
and from our Regional Affiliates segment, expressed as year-over-year changes.
Domestic

Increase (decrease) from 2008:
Passenger revenues (in millions)
Passenger revenues
Available seat miles (“ASMs”)
Revenue passenger miles (“RPMs”)
Passenger revenues per ASM (“PRASM”)
Yield (a)
Passenger load factor (points)

$(1,908)
(21.2)%
(10.4)%
(9.2)%
(12.0)%
(15.4)%
1.1pts.

Pacific

$ (916)
(28.9)%
(11.5)%
(10.6)%
(19.7)%
(17.2)%
0.8 pts.

Atlantic

$ (407)
(15.5)%
(2.6)%
(2.5)%
(13.2)%
(10.1)%
0.1 pts.

Latin

$ (196)
(36.3)%
(18.5)%
(19.2)%
(21.8)%
(16.6)%
(0.7)pts.

Mainline

$(3,427)
(22.3)%
(9.7)%
(8.7)%
(14.1)%
(15.0)%
0.9pts.

Regional
Affiliates

Consolidated

$

$

(34)
(1.1)%
11.2%
13.3%
(11.1)%
(12.7)%
1.4 pts.

(3,461)
(18.8)%
(7.4)%
(6.5)%
(12.3)%
(13.2)%
0.8pts.

(a) Yields for geographic regions exclude charter revenue, industry reduced fares, and passenger charges, and related RPMs.
Consistent with the rest of the airline industry, the Company’s decline in PRASM was driven by a precipitous decline in worldwide travel demand as a
result of the severe global recession. Two factors had a distinct impact on United’s revenue during 2009.
First, network composition played a role in overall unit revenue decline. International markets, in particular the Pacific region, experienced more
significant unit revenue declines as compared to the other regions. Given United’s strong international network and its historic relative contribution to revenues,
the Company’s revenues were disproportionately impacted by the contraction in travel demand in the Pacific.
Second, while demand declined across all geographic regions, premium and business demand declined more significantly than leisure demand. As United’s
business model is strongly aligned to serve premium and business travelers, both internationally and domestically, the decrease in travel by business travelers and
the buy-down from premium class to economy class by some business travelers caused a significant negative impact on our results of operations. However, in the
fourth quarter of 2009, the Company began to see signs of improvement, as discussed below.
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In light of the current poor economic environment, these two factors—network composition and decline of premium and business demand—have had, and
may continue to have, a negative impact on our results of operations.
In 2009, revenues for both Mainline and Regional Affiliates were negatively impacted by yield decreases of 15% and 13%, respectively, as compared to
2008. The yield decreases were a result of the weak economic environment in 2009 and the economic factors discussed above. Mainline revenues were also
negatively impacted by lower RPMs, which were largely driven by the Company’s capacity reductions and by the severe global recession. Partially offsetting
Regional Affiliates’ decrease in yield was a 13% increase in RPMs, driven by an 11% increase in capacity. Regional Affiliates capacity increased as we adjusted
the size of our aircraft and capacity across United’s total network to conform to market demand and fulfill prior contractual commitments.
Although the impact of the global recession on the Company’s international network, as well as business and premium travel, during late 2008 and 2009
was severe, the Company saw indicators of economic recovery during the fourth quarter of 2009, which accelerated as the quarter progressed. While fourth
quarter 2009 consolidated passenger unit revenues were down 5.2% year-over-year, this performance was a vast improvement from the double digit declines in
prior quarters. Most importantly, there was a much needed sequential progress during the quarter, ending with modest growth in December. Signs of recovery
were evident internationally, as well as in premium cabin booking and corporate revenues.
In 2009, Mainline and Regional Affiliate revenues benefited from an increase in ancillary revenues, which includes bag fees and other unbundled services,
of approximately $141 million, compared to 2008. For the full year of 2009, ancillary revenues totaled approximately $1.1 billion.
Mainline and Regional Affiliate revenues were favorably impacted in 2009 by an adjustment of approximately $36 million related to certain tax accruals
that were previously recorded as a reduction of revenue. This adjustment was recorded as a result of new information received by the Company related to these
tax matters.
Cargo revenues declined by $318 million, or 37%, in 2009 as compared to 2008, due to four key factors. First, United took significant steps to rationalize
its capacity, with reduced international capacity affecting a number of key cargo markets. Second, as noted by industry statistical releases during 2009, virtually
all carriers in the industry, including United, were sharply impacted by reduced air freight and mail volumes driven by lower recessionary demand, with the
resulting oversupply of cargo capacity putting pressure on industry pricing in nearly all markets. Some of the largest industry demand reductions occurred in the
Pacific cargo market, where United has a greater cargo capacity as compared to the Atlantic, Latin and Domestic air cargo markets. Third, lower fuel costs in
2009 also reduced cargo revenues through lower fuel surcharges on cargo shipments as compared to 2008 when historically high fuel prices occurred. Finally
United, historically one of the largest carriers of U.S. international mail, was impacted by lower mail volumes and pricing beginning in third quarter of 2009
arising from U.S. international mail deregulation. The deregulation moved pricing from regulated rates set by the DOT to market-based pricing as a result of a
competitive bidding process. Towards the end of 2009, the Company began to experience significant market stabilization and improvement in cargo industry
demand and yields.
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2008 compared to 2007
The table below illustrates the year-over-year percentage change in UAL and United operating revenues.
Year Ended December 31,
2008
2007

(In millions)

Passenger—United Airlines
Passenger—Regional Affiliates
Cargo
Special operating items
Other operating revenues
UAL total
United total

$
Change

%
Change

0.5
1.1
10.9
(100.0)
(10.5)
0.3

$ 15,337
3,098
854
—
905
$ 20,194

$ 15,254
3,063
770
45
1,011
$ 20,143

$

83
35
84
(45)
(106)
$ 51

$ 20,237

$ 20,131

$ 106

0.5

The 2007 special item of $45 million relates to an adjustment of the estimated obligation associated with certain bankruptcy administrative claims, of
which $37 million and $8 million relates to the Mainline and Regional Affiliates segments, respectively. The table below presents selected UAL and United
passenger revenues and selected operating data from our Mainline segment, broken out by geographic region with an associated allocation of the special revenue
item, and from our Regional Affiliates segment, expressed as year-over-year changes.

Increase (decrease) from 2007:
Passenger revenues (in millions)
Passenger revenues
Available seat miles (“ASMs”)
Revenue passenger miles (“RPMs”)
Passenger revenues per ASM
(“PRASM”)
Yield (a)
Passenger load factor (points)

Domestic

Pacific

Atlantic

$ (156)
(1.7)%
(7.8)%
(8.5)%

$ (91)
(2.8)%
(4.8)%
(9.4)%

$ 263
11.1%
11.0%
7.9%

6.7%
7.4%
(0.6) pts.

2.1%
7.2%
(3.9) pts.

0.1%
2.2%
(2.3) pts.

Latin

$ 30
6.0%
(2.8)%
(5.5)%
9.0%
12.7%
(2.2) pts.

Mainline

Regional
Affiliates

Consolidated

$

$

$

46
0.3%
(4.2)%
(6.3)%
4.7%
6.9%
(1.7) pts.

27
0.9%
(0.8)%
(3.9)%
1.8%
5.0%
(2.4) pts.

73
0.4%
(3.9)%
(6.0)%
4.5%
6.8%
(1.8) pts.

(a) Yields for geographic regions exclude charter revenue, industry reduced fares, and passenger charges, and related RPMs.
In 2008, revenues for both Mainline and Regional Affiliates benefited from yield increases of 7% and 5%, respectively, as compared to 2007. The yield
increases are due to industry capacity reductions and fare increases, including fuel surcharges plus incremental revenues derived from ancillary revenue, such as
checked bag services. However, the benefit of higher yields was partially offset by 6% and 4% decreases in traffic for the Mainline and Regional Affiliates
segments, respectively. Consolidated passenger revenues in 2008 included an unfavorable variance compared to 2007 that was partly due to the change in the
Mileage Plus expiration policy for inactive accounts from 36 months to 18 months that provided a consolidated estimated annual benefit of $246 million in 2007.
In addition, the weak economic environment negatively impacted demand and passenger revenues, particularly in the fourth quarter of 2008.
International PRASM was up 2% year-over-year with a related capacity increase of 1%. While Latin American PRASM growth was strong at 9% yearover-year, it is not a significant part of United’s international network. Atlantic performance was driven by lower than average revenue growth in our London and
Germany markets, largely due to industry capacity growth of approximately 13% in the U.S. to London Heathrow route
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and United’s 15% growth in Germany. These markets account for approximately 75% of our Atlantic capacity. The Pacific region was impacted by 7% industry
capacity growth between the U.S. and China/Hong Kong, which account for approximately 45% of United’s Pacific capacity.
Cargo revenues increased by $84 million, or 11%, in 2008 as compared to 2007, primarily due to higher fuel surcharges and improved fleet utilization. In
addition, revenues were higher due to increased volume associated with the U.S. domestic mail contract, which commenced in late April 2007, as well as filling
new capacity in international markets. A weaker dollar also benefited cargo revenues in 2008 as a significant portion of cargo services are contracted in foreign
currencies. However, the Company experienced a significant decline in cargo revenues in the fourth quarter of 2008 due to rationalization of international
capacity, falling demand for domestic and international air cargo as the global economy softened, and lower fuel costs driving lower fuel surcharges. Decreased
cargo revenues resulting from lower demand have a disproportionate impact on our operating results because cargo revenues typically generate higher margins as
compared to passenger revenues.
Other revenues decreased approximately 11% in 2008 as compared to 2007. This decrease was primarily due to lower jet fuel sales to third parties. The
decrease in third party fuel sales had a negligible impact on our operating margin because the associated cost of sales decreased by a similar amount in 2008 as
compared to 2007.
Operating Expenses.
2009 compared to 2008
As discussed in Operating Revenues, above, the Company (decreased) increased Mainline and Regional Affiliates capacity by (10%) and 11%,
respectively, in 2009 as compared to 2008. The Mainline capacity reductions had a significantly favorable impact on certain of the Company’s Mainline operating
expenses, as further described below. Other significant fluctuations in the Company’s operating expenses are also discussed below. The table below includes data
related to UAL and United operating expenses.
Year Ended December 31,
2009
2008

(In millions)

Salaries and related costs
Aircraft fuel
Regional Affiliates
Purchased services
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repairs
Landing fees and other rent
Depreciation and amortization
Distribution expenses
Aircraft rent
Cost of third party sales
Goodwill impairment
Other impairment and special items
Other operating expenses
UAL total
United total

$
Change

%
Change

$

3,773
3,405
2,939
1,167
965
905
902
534
346
230
—
374
956
$ 16,496

$

4,311
7,722
3,248
1,375
1,096
862
932
710
409
272
2,277
339
1,079
$ 24,632

$ (538)
(4,317)
(309)
(208)
(131)
43
(30)
(176)
(63)
(42)
(2,277)
35
(123)
$(8,136)

(12.5)
(55.9)
(9.5)
(15.1)
(12.0)
5.0
(3.2)
(24.8)
(15.4)
(15.4)
(100.0)
10.3
(11.4)
(33.0)

$ 16,496

$ 24,630

$(8,134)

(33.0)

Salaries and related costs decreased $538 million, or 13%, in 2009 as compared to 2008. The decrease was primarily due to the Company’s reduced
workforce in 2009 compared to 2008. The Company had approximately 43,700 average full-time equivalent employees for the year ended December 31, 2009 as
compared to 49,600 in the prior year. A $73 million decrease in severance expense related to the Company’s operational plans and a $92 million year-over-year
benefit due to changes in employee benefits expenses also contributed to the decrease
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in Salaries and related costs. Salaries and related costs also decreased by $46 million due to the Company’s Success Sharing Program. The Company did not
record any expense for this plan in 2009. Partially offsetting these benefits were the impacts of average wage and benefit cost increases and a $38 million increase
related to on-time performance bonuses paid to operations employee groups during 2009, which were not paid in 2008.
The decrease in jet fuel expense and Regional Affiliates expense was primarily attributable to decreased market prices for jet fuel, as shown in the table
below which presents the significant changes in Mainline and Regional Affiliate jet fuel cost per gallon in 2009 as compared to 2008. Lower Mainline fuel
consumption due to the capacity reductions also benefited Mainline fuel expense in 2009 as compared to the prior year. See Note 12, “Fair Value Measurements
and Derivative Instruments,” in the Footnotes for additional details regarding gains/losses from settled positions and unrealized gains and losses at the end of the
period. Derivative gains/losses are not allocated to Regional Affiliate fuel expense.

(In millions, except per gallon)

Mainline fuel purchase cost
Non-cash fuel hedge (gains) losses in Mainline fuel
Cash fuel hedge (gains) losses in Mainline fuel
Total Mainline fuel expense
Regional Affiliates fuel expense (a)
UAL system operating fuel expense

Average price per gallon (in cents)
Year Ended December 31,
%
%
Change
2009
2008
Change

2009

2008

$3,509
(586)
482
3,405
799
$4,204

$ 7,114
568
40
7,722
1,257
$8,979

(50.7)
—
NM
(55.9)
(36.4)
(53.2)

(279)
248
1,942
396
2,338

$ 279
249
2,182
371
2,553

—
(0.4)
(11.0)
6.7
(8.4)

Non-cash fuel hedge (gains) losses in nonoperating income (loss)
Cash fuel hedge (gains) losses in nonoperating income (loss)
Mainline fuel consumption (gallons)
Regional Affiliates fuel consumption (gallons)
Total fuel consumption (gallons)

180.7
(30.2)
24.8
175.3
201.8
179.8

326.0
26.0
1.9
353.9
338.8
351.7

(44.6)
—
NM
(50.5)
(40.4)
(48.9)

(a) Regional Affiliates fuel costs are classified as part of Regional Affiliates expense.
NM Not meaningful.
Regional Affiliates expense decreased $309 million, or 10%, during 2009 as compared to 2008 primarily due to a $458 million decrease in Regional
Affiliates fuel cost. The decrease in Regional Affiliates fuel cost was primarily due to a lower average price per gallon of Regional Affiliates jet fuel in 2009, as
presented in the table above, and was partially offset by increased fuel consumption as a result of the increase in Regional Affiliates capacity. Increased capacity
agreement payments to Regional Affiliates as a result of increased capacity, partially offset the net fuel benefit. The Regional Affiliates operating income was
$125 million in the 2009 period, as compared to a loss of $150 million in the 2008 period. Regional Affiliates operating results improved significantly on a yearover-year basis as the benefits of increased traffic and lower fuel cost offset the yield decrease.
Purchased services decreased $208 million, or 15%, in 2009 as compared to 2008 primarily due to the Company’s operating cost savings programs and
lower variable costs associated with lower Mainline capacity.
During 2009, aircraft maintenance materials and outside repairs decreased by $131 million, or 12%, as compared to the prior year primarily due to a lower
volume of engine and airframe maintenance expense as a result of the Company’s early retirement of 100 aircraft from its operating fleet and the timing of
maintenance on other fleet types.
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Landing fees and other rent increased $43 million, or 5%, in 2009 as compared to 2008 primarily due to higher rates.
Distribution expenses decreased $176 million, or 25%, in 2009 primarily due to lower passenger revenues on lower traffic and yields driving reductions in
commissions, credit card fees and GDS fees as compared to 2008. The Company has also implemented several operating cost savings programs for both
commissions and GDS fees which produced realized savings in the current year.
Aircraft rent expense decreased by $63 million, or 15%, primarily as a result of the Company’s operational plans to retire its entire fleet of B737 aircraft,
some of which were financed through operating leases.
Cost of third party sales decreased by $42 million, or 15%, primarily due to reduced sales of engine maintenance services.
Asset Impairments and Special Items.
In 2009, the Company recorded special charges of $27 million related to the final settlement of the LAX municipal bond litigation, $104 million primarily
related to B737 aircraft lease terminations and $93 million related to the impairment of regional aircraft and nonoperating B737 and B747 aircraft. In addition, the
Company recorded a $150 million intangible asset impairment to decrease the value of United tradenames. A significant factor resulting in the lower fair value of
the tradenames was a decrease in estimated future revenues due to the weak economic environment and the Company’s capacity reductions, among other factors.
In 2008, the Company incurred asset impairment charges of $2.6 billion, as shown in the table below. All special charges and impairments relate to the Mainline
segment and the non-goodwill impairment charges are classified within “Other impairments and special items” in the Company’s Financial Statements. See Note
3, “Asset Impairments and Intangible Assets” and Note 12, “Fair Value Measurements and Derivative Instruments,” and in the Footnotes for additional
information.
(In millions)

2009

Goodwill impairment
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Codeshare agreements
Tradenames
Intangible asset impairments

$—

Tangible assets:
Pre-delivery advance deposits including related capitalized interest
Nonoperating aircraft, spare engines and parts and other
Tangible asset impairments
Total impairments
LAX municipal bond litigation
Lease termination and other charges
Total impairments and special items

2008

$2,277

—
150
150

44
20
64

—
93
93
243
27
104
$374

105
145
250
2,591
—
25
$2,616

In 2009, other operating expenses decreased by $123 million, or 11%, as compared to 2008 due to the Company’s cost savings initiatives and lower
variable expenses due to reduced capacity in the 2009 period as compared to 2008. UAL recorded a gain of $29 million for a litigation settlement resulting in a
reduction of other operating expenses during 2008.
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2008 compared to 2007
The table below includes data related to UAL and United operating expenses. Significant fluctuations are discussed below.
Year Ended December 31,
2008
2007

(In millions)

Aircraft fuel
Salaries and related costs
Regional Affiliates
Purchased services
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repairs
Depreciation and amortization
Landing fees and other rent
Distribution expenses
Aircraft rent
Cost of third party sales
Goodwill impairment
Other impairment and special items
Other operating expenses
UAL total
United total

$
Change

%
Change

$

7,722
4,311
3,248
1,375
1,096
932
862
710
409
272
2,277
339
1,079
$ 24,632

$

5,003
4,261
2,941
1,346
1,166
925
876
779
406
316
—
(44)
1,131
$ 19,106

$2,719
50
307
29
(70)
7
(14)
(69)
3
(44)
2,277
383
(52)
$5,526

54.3
1.2
10.4
2.2
(6.0)
0.8
(1.6)
(8.9)
0.7
(13.9)
—
—
(4.6)
28.9

$ 24,630

$ 19,099

$5,531

29.0

The increase in aircraft fuel expense and Regional Affiliates expense was primarily attributable to increased market prices for crude oil and related fuel
products as shown in table below, which presents several key variances for Mainline and Regional Affiliate aircraft fuel expense in 2008 as compared to 2007.

(In millions, except per gallon)

Average price per gallon (in cents)
Year Ended December 31,
%
%
Change
2008
2007
Change

2008

2007

Mainline fuel purchase cost
Non-cash fuel hedge (gains) losses in mainline fuel
Cash fuel hedge (gains) losses in mainline fuel
Total Mainline fuel expense
Regional Affiliates fuel expense (a)
UAL system operating fuel expense

$ 7,114
568
40
7,722
1,257
$8,979

$5,086
(20)
(63)
5,003
915
$5,918

39.9
—
—
54.3
37.4
51.7

Non-cash fuel hedge (gains) losses in nonoperating income (loss)
Cash fuel hedge (gains) losses in nonoperating income (loss)
Mainline fuel consumption (gallons)
Regional Affiliates fuel consumption (gallons)
Total fuel consumption (gallons)

$ 279
249
2,182
371
2,553

$ —
—
2,292
377
2,669

—
—
(4.8)
(1.6)
(4.3)

326.0
26.0
1.9
353.9
338.8
351.7

221.9
(0.9)
(2.7)
218.3
242.7
221.7

46.9
—
—
62.1
39.6
58.6

(a) Regional Affiliates fuel costs are classified as part of Regional Affiliates expense.
Salaries and related costs increased $50 million in 2008. The Company’s costs in 2008 include increases in average wages and benefits expense, as well as
severance expense of $106 million due to the implementation of
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the Company’s operating plans, as more fully described in Note 2, “Company Operational Plans,” in the Footnotes. In addition, the Company recorded
$87 million of expense in 2008 from certain benefit obligation adjustments, which were primarily due to discount rate changes. These negative impacts were
partially offset by lower combined profit and success sharing expense in the 2008 period as compared to the year-ago period due to the unfavorable financial
results in 2008 as compared to 2007. In addition, 2008 salaries and related costs benefited from the workforce reductions completed during the year.
Regional Affiliates expense increased $307 million, or 10%, in 2008 as compared to 2007. Regional Affiliates expense increased primarily due to a $342
million, or 37%, increase in Regional Affiliates fuel that was driven by an increase in market price for fuel as highlighted in the fuel table above. The Regional
Affiliates operating loss was $150 million in 2008 period, as compared to income of $122 million in 2007, due to the aforementioned fuel impacts, which could
not be fully offset by higher ticket prices, as Regional Affiliates revenues were only 1% higher in 2008.
The Company’s purchased services increased $29 million, or 2%, in 2008 as compared to 2007. In 2008, purchased services included a charge of $26
million related to certain projects and transactions being terminated or indefinitely postponed. In 2008, other areas of purchased services did not change
significantly as compared to 2007.
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repairs decreased 6% in 2008 as compared to 2007, primarily due to a decrease in engine and airframe
maintenance associated with the retirement of the Company’s B737 fleet and more favorable engine maintenance contract rates.
Depreciation expense in 2008 was adversely impacted by $34 million of accelerated depreciation primarily related to the retirement of certain B737 and
B747 aircraft and related parts and a $20 million charge to increase the inventory obsolescence reserve. This adverse impact was partially offset by reduced
amortization expense in 2008 related to certain intangible assets that were fully amortized in 2007.
UAL landing fees and other rent decreased 2% in 2008 due to a reduction in the amount of facilities rented associated with ongoing efforts to optimize our
rented facilities consistent with our operational needs.
Distribution expenses decreased 9% in 2008 as compared to 2007 largely due to the Company’s reduction of some of its travel agency commission
programs in 2008, resulting in an average commission rate reduction. In addition, the Company’s lower passenger revenues, due to its capacity reductions in
2008, contributed to the decrease in related distribution expenses.
Cost of third party sales decreased 14% year-over-year primarily due to a reduction in the cost of jet fuel sales as a result of a reduction in sales to third
parties.
Other operating expenses decreased 5% in 2008 as compared to 2007. This decrease was partly due to a $29 million litigation-settlement gain, which was
recorded in other operating expenses, and decreases in several other expense categories which resulted from the Company’s cost reduction program.
Asset Impairments and Special Items.
As described in the Footnotes, as of May 31, 2008, the Company performed an interim impairment test of its goodwill, all intangible assets and certain of
its long-lived assets (principally aircraft pre-delivery deposits, aircraft and related spare engines and spare parts) due to events and changes in circumstances
during the first five months of 2008 that indicated an impairment might have occurred. In addition, the Company also performed an impairment test of certain
aircraft fleet types as of December 31, 2008, because unfavorable market conditions for aircraft indicated potential impairment of value. The Company also
performed annual indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment testing at October 1, 2008. As a result of all of its 2008 impairment testing, the
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Company recorded asset impairment charges of $2.6 billion as presented in the table above under 2009 compared to 2008. See Critical Accounting Policies and
Note 3, “Asset Impairments and Intangible Assets,” in the Footnotes for additional information, including factors considered by management in concluding that
triggering events, which indicated potential impairment, had occurred and additional details of assets impaired.
In addition, lease termination and other charges of $25 million were recorded during 2008 which primarily relate to the accrual of future rents for the B737
leased aircraft that were removed from service and charges associated with the return of certain of these aircraft to their lessors.
The Company recorded special operating expense credits of $44 million in 2007. These items have been classified as special because they are directly
related to the resolution of bankruptcy administrative claims and are not indicative of the Company’s ongoing financial performance. Special items in the year
ended December 31, 2007 included a $30 million benefit due to the reduction in recorded accruals for bankruptcy litigation related to our SFO and LAX
municipal bond obligations and a $14 million benefit due to the Company’s ongoing efforts to resolve certain other bankruptcy pre-confirmation contingencies.
The 2007 special items resulted from revised estimates of the probable amount to be settled by the Bankruptcy Court. See Note 13, “Commitments, Contingent
Liabilities and Uncertainties” and Note 18, “Special Items,” in the Footnotes for further information on these special items and bankruptcy matters.
Other Income (Expense).
2009 compared to 2008
The following table illustrates the year-over-year dollar and percentage changes in UAL and United other income (expense).

Year Ended December 31,
2009
2008

(In millions)

Interest expense
Interest income
Interest capitalized
Miscellaneous, net:
Non-cash fuel hedge gains (losses)
Cash fuel hedge gains (losses)
Other miscellaneous, net
UAL total

$

United total

(577)
19
10

$

Favorable/
(Unfavorable)
Change
$

%

(571)
112
20

$ (6)
(93)
(10)

(1.1)
(83.0)
(50.0)

558
1
28
$478

—
0.4
—
48.3

$478

48.3

$

279
(248)
6
(511)

$

(279)
(249)
(22)
(989)

$

(511)

$

(989)

UAL interest expense increased $6 million, or 1%, in 2009 as compared to 2008 primarily due to increased borrowing, partially offset by lower interest
rates on the Company’s variable-rate borrowings. The decrease in interest expense was more than offset by a $93 million decrease in interest income primarily
due to reduced investment yields resulting from lower market rates.
The hedge losses included in Miscellaneous, net in the 2008 period were due to significant fuel price declines below the contractual prices in the
Company’s fuel hedge portfolio that existed during and at the end of 2008. The Company’s fuel derivative gain in 2009 was less significant because the Company
did not have any significant derivative activity for hedges that are classified in Miscellaneous, net, in 2009, other than settlement of contracts that existed at
December 31, 2008. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had no unsettled fuel derivative trades that are classified within Miscellaneous, net. See Note 12,
“Fair Value Measurements and Derivative Instruments,” in the Footnotes for further information related to fuel hedges.
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2008 compared to 2007
The following table illustrates the year-over-year dollar and percentage changes in UAL and United other income (expense).
Favorable/
(Unfavorable)
Change

Year Ended December 31,
2008
2007

(In millions)

Interest expense
Interest income
Interest capitalized
Gain on sale of investment
Miscellaneous, net:
Non-cash fuel hedge gains (losses)
Cash fuel hedge gains (losses)
Other miscellaneous, net
UAL total

$

United total

(571)
112
20
—

$

$

(704)
257
19
41

$

—
—

%

133
(145)
1
(41)

18.9
(56.4)
5.3
(100.0)
—
—
—
(156.9)
(158.9)

$

(279)
(249)
(22)
(989)

$

2
(385)

$

(279)
(249)
(24)
(604)

$

(989)

$

(382)

$

(607)

UAL interest expense decreased $133 million, or 19%, in 2008 as compared to 2007. The 2008 period was favorably impacted by $1.5 billion of total
credit facility prepayments and the February 2007 credit facility amendment, which lowered United’s interest rate on these obligations. Scheduled debt obligation
repayments throughout 2008 and 2007 also reduced interest expense in 2008 as compared to 2007. Lower benchmark interest rates on the Company’s variablerate borrowings also reduced the Company’s interest expense in 2008 as compared to 2007. Interest expense in 2007 included the write-off of $17 million of
previously capitalized debt issuance costs associated with the February 2007 Amended Credit Facility partial prepayment, $6 million of financing costs associated
with the February 2007 amendment and a gain of $22 million from a debt extinguishment. The benefit of lower interest expense in 2008 was offset by a $145
million decrease in interest income due to lower average cash and short-term investment balances and lower investment yields. Interest expense for the years
ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 includes $48 million and $43 million, respectively, of non-cash interest expense related to the Company’s retrospective
adoption of new accounting principles related to convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion. See Liquidity and Capital Resources
below, for further details related to financing activities.
Nonoperating fuel hedge gains/losses relate to hedging instruments that are not classified as economic hedges. These net hedge gains/losses are presented
separately in the table above for purposes of additional analysis. These hedging gains/losses are due to favorable/unfavorable movements in crude oil prices
relative to the fuel hedge instrument terms. See Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk and Note 12, “Fair Value Measurements
and Derivative Instruments,” in the Footnotes for further discussion of these hedges.
There were no significant investment gains or losses in 2008 as compared to 2007 during which the Company recorded a $41 million gain on sale of an
investment. This gain resulted from the Company’s sale of its 21.1% interest in Aeronautical Radio, Inc. during 2007.
The $24 million variance in Miscellaneous, net is primarily due to unfavorable foreign exchange rate fluctuations in 2008.
Income Taxes.
In 2009, UAL and United recorded a tax benefit of $17 million and $16 million, respectively, primarily due to the impairment of indefinite-lived intangible
assets, partially offset by income tax effects of items recorded in
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other comprehensive income. The tax benefit recorded in 2008 is related to the impairment and sale of certain indefinite-lived intangible assets, partially offset by
the impact of an increase in state tax rates. UAL recorded income tax expense of $297 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 (an effective tax rate of
45.5%). See Note 7, “Income Taxes,” in the Footnotes for additional information.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of the date of this Form 10-K, the Company believes it has sufficient liquidity to fund its operations for the next twelve months, including liquidity for
scheduled repayments of debt and capital lease obligations, capital expenditures, cash deposits required under fuel hedge contracts and other contractual
obligations. We expect to meet our liquidity needs in 2010 primarily from cash flows from operations, cash and cash equivalents on hand and proceeds from the
2010 financing arrangements described below. In addition, the Company may be able to generate a limited amount of liquidity from other sources, including
proceeds from aircraft sales and sales of other assets, and potentially, new financing arrangements. While the Company expects to meet its future cash
requirements in 2010, our ability to do so could be impacted by many factors including, but not limited to, the following:
•

The global recession has had, and may in the future continue to have, a significant adverse impact on travel demand which has resulted in decreased
revenues and may adversely affect revenues in future periods. In addition, the Company’s current operational plans to address the weak global
economy may not be successful in improving its results of operations and liquidity. Further, certain of the Company’s competitors may increase
capacity, thereby potentially negatively impacting the Company’s unit revenue. The Company may also not achieve expected revenue improvements
from merchandising and fee enhancement initiatives;

•

Higher jet fuel prices, and the cost and effectiveness of hedging jet fuel prices, may require the use of significant liquidity in future periods. Crude oil
prices have been extremely volatile and unpredictable in recent years and likely will remain volatile in future periods. As of December 31, 2009, the
Company was hedged using purchased call options and swaps. The Company has been, and may in the future be, required to make significant
payments at the settlement dates of the hedge contracts if the settlement price is below the fixed swap price. Additionally, the Company has been, and
may in the future be, required to provide counterparties with additional cash collateral prior to derivative settlement dates. While the Company’s
results of operations benefit from lower fuel prices on its unhedged fuel consumption, the Company may not realize the full benefit of lower fuel
prices due to unfavorable fuel hedge cash settlements. In addition, the Company may not be able to increase its revenues in response to higher fuel
prices. See Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk, and Note 12, “Fair Value Measurements and Derivative
Instruments” in the Footnotes for further information regarding the Company’s fuel derivative instruments;

•

The Company has limited remaining assets available as collateral for loans and other indebtedness, which may make it difficult to raise capital to
meet its liquidity needs. Our level of indebtedness, non-investment grade credit rating, and credit market conditions may also make it difficult for us
to raise capital to meet liquidity needs and may increase our cost of borrowing. A higher cost of capital could negatively impact our results of
operations, financial position and liquidity;

•

Due to the factors above, and other factors, the Company may be unable to comply with its Amended Credit Facility covenants that currently require
the Company to maintain an unrestricted cash balance of $1.0 billion and a minimum ratio of EBITDAR to fixed charges. If the Company does not
comply with these covenants, the lenders may accelerate repayment of these debt obligations, which would have a material adverse impact on the
Company’s financial position and liquidity; and

•

If a default occurs under our Amended Credit Facility or other debt obligations, the cost to cure any such default may materially and adversely
impact our financial position and liquidity, and no assurance can be provided that such a default will be mitigated or cured.
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Although the factors described above may adversely impact the Company’s liquidity, the Company believes it has an adequate available cash position,
together with other sources of cash, to fund current operations. UAL’s unrestricted and restricted cash balances were $3.0 billion and $341 million, respectively, at
December 31, 2009. In addition, the Company has recently taken actions to improve its liquidity and reduce near-term obligations and believes it may access
additional capital in the future, as described below.
•

During 2009, the Company’s liquidity initiatives generated unrestricted cash of more than $1.5 billion primarily from the issuance of UAL common
stock, proceeds from debt obligations and aircraft asset sale-leasebacks. Additional proceeds of approximately $900 million from financings have
either been, or will be, received in 2010 as discussed below. Certain of these initiatives were used to refinance existing debt obligations, significantly
reducing the Company’s 2010 and 2011 debt obligations;

•

The Company has a limited amount of unencumbered aircraft and other assets may be sold or otherwise used as collateral to obtain additional
financing. In addition, in 2010 and 2011, additional aircraft will become unencumbered as various debt and lease obligations mature. These aircraft
may be used to obtain new financings; and

•

During 2009 and 2008, the Company took aggressive actions to right-size its business including significant capacity reductions, disposition of
underperforming assets and a workforce reduction, among others.

Cash Position and Liquidity. As of December 31, 2009, approximately 25% of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents were invested in money market
funds that primarily invest in U.S. treasury securities and the remainder was invested in AAA-rated money market funds. There are no withdrawal restrictions at
the present time on any of the money market funds in which the Company has invested. We believe credit risk is limited with respect to our money market fund
investments. The following table provides a summary of UAL’s net cash provided (used) by operating, investing and financing activities for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 and total cash position as of December 31, 2009 and 2008.
(In millions)

2009

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities
Net cash provided (used) by investing activities
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities

Year Ended December 31,
2008
2007

$966
(80)
117

$(1,239)
2,721
(702)

$ 2,134
(2,560)
(2,147)

As of December 31,
2009
2008

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Total cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash

$ 3,042
341
$ 3,383

$ 2,039
272
$ 2,311

The Company’s cash position represents an important source of liquidity. The change in cash from 2007 to 2009 is explained below. Restricted cash
primarily represents cash collateral to secure workers’ compensation obligations, cash collateral received from fuel derivative counterparties to secure their
obligations, security deposits for airport leases and reserves with institutions that process our credit card ticket sales. We may be required to post significant
additional cash collateral to meet such obligations in the future. The Company has a $255 million revolving commitment under its Amended Credit Facility, of
which $254 million had been used for letters of credit as of both December 31, 2009 and 2008. In addition, under a separate agreement, the Company had $20
million of letters of credit issued as of December 31, 2009.
Cash Flows from Operating Activities.
2009 compared to 2008
UAL’s cash from operations increased by $2.2 billion in 2009 as compared to the prior year. This improvement was partly due to decreased cash required
for aircraft fuel purchases as consolidated fuel purchase
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costs decreased by $4.1 billion in 2009, as compared to 2008. Decreases in the Company’s fuel hedge collateral requirements also provided operating cash of
approximately $955 million in 2009, as compared to a use of cash of $965 million in 2008. In addition, the Company received $160 million during 2009 related to
the future relocation of its O’Hare cargo facility as further discussed in Note 14, “Lease Obligations,” in the Footnotes.
These operating cash flow benefits were partially offset by a decrease in operating cash flow due to lower sales, which decreased by $3.9 billion in 2009, as
discussed in Results of Operations, above, and approximately $730 million of payments to counterparties for fuel derivative contract settlements and premiums.
In addition, the Company did not have a significant advance sale of miles in 2009 resulting in an unfavorable variance as compared to 2008, during which the
Company received $600 million from the Company’s advanced sale of miles and license agreement with its co-branded credit card partner, as discussed below.
In 2009, the Company contributed approximately $245 million and $18 million to its defined contribution plans and non-U.S. pension plans, respectively,
as compared to contributions of $240 million and $22 million, respectively, in 2008.
2008 compared to 2007
UAL’s cash from operations decreased by $3.4 billion in 2008 as compared to 2007. This decrease was primarily due to the increased cash required for fuel
purchases and operating and nonoperating cash fuel hedge losses. Mainline and Regional Affiliates fuel costs increased $3.1 billion in 2008, over 2007, and
nonoperating expenses also increased over the same period largely due to cash and non-cash fuel hedge losses. In addition, certain counterparties to our fuel
hedge instruments required the Company to provide cash collateral deposits of approximately $965 million in 2008, which negatively impacted our cash flows
during 2008 as compared to 2007, when no similar deposits were required. A decrease in advance ticket sales also negatively impacted operating cash flow in
2008. Partially offsetting the negative impacts were $500 million of proceeds from the advanced purchase of miles by our co-branded credit card partner as part
of the amendment of our marketing agreement and $100 million of proceeds from the extension of the license previously granted to our co-branded credit card
partner to be the exclusive issuer of Mileage Plus Visa cards through 2017. In 2008, the Company contributed approximately $240 million and $22 million to its
defined contribution plans and non-U.S. pension plans, respectively, as compared to contributions of $236 million and $14 million, respectively, in 2007 for these
plans.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities.
2009 compared to 2008
The sale of $2.3 billion of short-term investments throughout 2008 generated significant investing cash flows in 2008 as compared to 2009. As discussed
below, these investments were sold as part of the Company’s shift to invest available cash into money market funds. UAL’s capital expenditures, which included
capitalized interest, were $317 million and $475 million in 2009 and 2008, respectively. Capital expenditures decreased significantly in the 2009 period as
compared to 2008 because the Company only acquired one aircraft in 2009, as compared to ten aircraft acquired during 2008. In addition, the Company limited
its spending in 2009 by focusing its capital resources only on its highest-value projects. The 2009 and 2008 aircraft acquisitions were completed pursuant to
existing lease terms using pre-funded lease deposits, as described below in Cash Flows from Financing Activities.
In 2009, the Company received $175 million from three sale-leaseback agreements. These transactions were accounted for as capital leases, resulting in an
increase to capital lease assets and capital lease obligations during 2009. The 2008 period included proceeds of $274 million from one sale-leaseback transaction.
Other asset sales, including airport slot sales, generated proceeds of $78 million and $94 million during 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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2008 compared to 2007
Net sales of short-term investments provided cash of $2.3 billion for UAL in 2008, as compared to cash used for net purchases of short-term investments of
$2.0 billion in 2007. In 2008, the Company invested most of its excess cash in money market funds, whereas in 2007, excess cash was largely invested in shortterm investments such as commercial paper. During 2008, the Company also received $357 million of cash that was previously restricted cash held by the
Company’s largest credit card processor and was released as a part of an amendment to the Company’s agreement with this processor. See Credit Card Processing
Agreements, below, for further discussion of the amended agreement and future cash reserve requirements.
In 2008, cash expenditures for property, equipment and software totaled approximately $475 million. Additions to property in 2008 included $20 million of
capitalized interest. In 2007, cash expenditures for property and equipment, software and capitalized interest were $639 million, $65 million and $19 million,
respectively. This year-over-year decrease is primarily due to the Company’s efforts to optimize its available cash and a reduction in cash used to acquire aircraft
as the 2007 capital expenditures included cash used to acquire six aircraft that were previously financed as operating leases.
During 2008, the Company generated $94 million from various asset sales including the sale of five B737 aircraft, spare parts, engines and slots. Investing
cash of $274 million was generated from aircraft sold under sale-leaseback financing agreements. In 2008, United entered into a $125 million sale-leaseback
involving nine previously unencumbered aircraft and a $149 million sale-leaseback involving 15 aircraft. See Note 14, “Lease Obligations” and Note 15,
“Statement of Consolidated Cash Flows—Supplemental Disclosures,” in the Footnotes for additional information related to these transactions. In addition, the
Company’s investing cash flows benefited from $41 million of cash proceeds from a litigation settlement that resulted in the recognition of a $29 million gain
during 2008. The litigation settlement related to pre-delivery advance aircraft deposits.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities.
2009 Activity
In 2009, the Company generated gross proceeds of approximately $900 million from the following debt issuances:
•

$158 million from the issuance of $175 million aggregate principal amount of 12.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2012 secured by certain aircraft
spare parts;

•

$134 million from a mortgage financing secured by certain of the Company’s spare engines;

•

$30 million from an aircraft mortgage financing secured by one B777 aircraft;

•

$345 million from the issuance of 6% Senior Convertible Notes due 2029 (the “6% Senior Convertible Notes”);

•

$129 million from a financing with one of the Company’s regional flying partners, consisting of an $80 million secured note and a $49 million
deferral of future obligations under an amendment to the Company’s capacity agreement;

•

$47 million from the issuance of equipment notes relating to the issuance of $659 million aggregate face amount of enhanced equipment trust
certificates (“EETCs”), Series 2009-1; and

•

$114 million from the issuance of equipment notes relating to the issuance of $810 million aggregate face amount of EETCs, Series 2009-2. See
EETC Financing, below, for further information related to the Series 2009-1 and 2009-2 financings.

In addition, in 2009, the Company generated net proceeds of $222 million from the following equity issuances:
•

$90 million from the completion of the Company’s equity offering program that began in 2008, resulting in aggregate gross proceeds under the
program of approximately $200 million; and
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•

$132 million, net of fees, from the issuance of 19.0 million shares of UAL common stock in an underwritten, public offering for a price of $7.24 per
share.

The proceeds from these transactions were partially offset by $984 million used for scheduled long-term debt and capital lease payments during 2009, as
well as $49 million used for payment of various costs associated with the financing activities discussed above.
2008 Activity
UAL used $253 million for its special distribution to common stockholders (United issued a $257 million dividend to UAL for this distribution) and $919
million for scheduled long-term debt and capital lease payments. United used cash of $109 million in connection with an amendment to its Amended Credit
Facility, as further discussed below. In 2008, the Company acquired ten aircraft that were being operated under existing leases. These aircraft were acquired
pursuant to existing lease terms. Aircraft lease deposits of $155 million provided financing cash that was primarily utilized by the Company to make the final
payments due under these lease obligations.
United completed a $241 million credit agreement secured by 26 of the Company’s currently owned and mortgaged A319 and A320 aircraft. Borrowings
under the agreement were at a variable interest rate based on LIBOR plus a margin. The agreement requires periodic principal and interest payments through its
final maturity in June 2019. The Company may not prepay the loan prior to July 2012. This agreement did not change the number of the Company’s
unencumbered aircraft as the Company used available equity in these previously owned and mortgaged aircraft as collateral for this financing.
United also entered into an $84 million loan agreement secured by three aircraft, including two Airbus A320 and one Boeing B777. Borrowings under the
agreement were at a variable interest rate based on LIBOR plus a margin. The loan requires principal and interest payments every three months and has a final
maturity in June 2015.
The Company issued 11.2 million shares of UAL common stock as part of a $200 million equity offering during 2008. As of December 31, 2008, the
Company had generated net proceeds of $107 million from this offering.
See Cash Flows from Investing Activities, above, for a discussion of the Company’s 2008 sale-leaseback transactions.
2007 Activity
In 2007, the Company made a $1.0 billion prepayment on its Amended Credit Facility and made $1.1 billion of additional debt payments, which included
$590 million related to the early retirement of debt. The Company prepaid an additional $500 million of the Amended Credit Facility in December 2007. In
addition, the Company completed a $694 million debt issuance, which effectively refinanced the aforementioned early debt retirement and refinanced three
aircraft that had been previously financed through operating lease agreements.
In 2007, the Company completed financing transactions totaling approximately $964 million which included $694 million related to the EETC secured
financing and $270 million of Denver Bonds. A portion of the proceeds of the $694 million EETC transaction was used to repay $590 million of debt obligations
that were secured by ten previously mortgaged, owned aircraft and to finance three previously unencumbered owned aircraft. The proceeds from the Denver
Bonds were used to refinance the former $261 million of Denver Series 1992A bonds.
In 2007, cash from aircraft lease deposits increased $80 million primarily due to the use of the deposits to purchase the three previously leased assets
described above in Cash Flows from Investing Activities. This was reported as a financing cash inflow as the prepayment of the initial deposits were recorded as a
financing cash outflow.
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Other Financing Matters
Secured Notes Offering. In January 2010, the Company issued $500 million aggregate principal amount of 9.875% Senior Secured Notes due 2013 (the
“Senior Secured Notes”) and $200 million aggregate principal amount of 12.0% Senior Second Lien Notes due 2013 (the “Senior Second Lien Notes”). The
Senior Secured Notes and Senior Second Lien Notes are secured by United’s route authority to operate between the United States and Japan and beyond Japan to
points in other countries, certain airport takeoff and landing slots and airport gate leaseholds utilized in connection with these routes. Among other covenants, the
indentures governing the Senior Secured Notes and the Senior Second Lien Notes contain covenants related to the collateral, including covenants requiring
United, subject to certain exceptions, to maintain ownership of the collateral and to calculate the priority lien debt value ratio or secured debt value ratio, as
applicable, and to maintain a minimum priority lien debt value ratio or minimum secured debt value ratio, as applicable, as of certain reference periods.
EETC Financing. In January 2010, the Company issued the remaining principal amount of the equipment notes relating to the Series 2009-1 and 2009-2
EETCs, as discussed in 2009 Activity, above. Issuance proceeds of approximately $1.1 billion were used to repay the Series 2000-2 and 2000-1 EETCs and for
general corporate purposes. The issuance of the 2009 EETCs resulted in a reduction in the Company’s 2010 and 2011 debt obligations of approximately $440
million and $275 million, respectively. These financing activities resulted in approximately $250 million of incremental liquidity in 2010.
Encumbered Assets. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, a substantial portion of the Company’s assets, principally aircraft, spare engines, aircraft spare
parts, route authorities and Mileage Plus intangible assets were pledged under various loan and other agreements. In January 2010, the Company completed a debt
offering secured by United’s route authorities to operate between the United States and Japan and beyond Japan to points in other countries, certain airport takeoff
and landing slots and airport gate leaseholds utilized in connection with these routes. As a part of the offering, United requested that these assets, currently
encumbered under the Amended Credit Facility, be released and substituted by replacement collateral consisting of aircraft, spare engines, primary slots at
LaGuardia and Washington Reagan and flight simulators with an appraised value of approximately $830 million. After the assets are released from the Amended
Credit Facility in April 2010, a balance of approximately $200 million in unencumbered assets will remain. In addition, the Amended Credit Facility will include
approximately $300 million of excess collateral that can be used for financing if needed, subject to approval from the Amended Credit Facility lenders. See Note
11, “Debt Obligations and Card Processing Agreements,” in the Footnotes for additional information on assets provided as collateral by the Company.
Future Financing. Subject to the restrictions of its Amended Credit Facility and the Notes, the Company could raise additional capital by issuing unsecured
debt, equity or equity-like securities, monetizing or borrowing against certain assets or refinancing existing obligations to generate net cash proceeds. However,
the availability and capacity of these funding sources cannot be assured or predicted. General economic conditions, poor credit market conditions, the limited
amount of unencumbered assets available as collateral for loans or other indebtedness and any adverse changes in the Company’s credit ratings could adversely
impact the Company’s ability to raise capital, if needed, and could increase the Company’s cost of capital.
Credit Ratings. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had a corporate credit rating of B- (outlook negative) from S&P and a corporate family rating of
“Caa1” from Moody’s Investor Services. During 2009, Fitch lowered UAL’s issuer default rating to “CCC” from “B-.” These credit ratings are below investment
grade levels. Downgrades from these rating levels, among other things, could restrict the availability and/or increase the cost of future financing for the Company.
Other Matters. The Company may, from time to time, make open market purchases of certain of its debt securities or other financing instruments
depending on, among other factors, favorable market conditions and the Company’s liquidity position.
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Amended Credit Facility Covenants. The Company’s Amended Credit Facility requires compliance with certain covenants. The Company was in
compliance with all of its Amended Credit Facility covenants as of December 31, 2009 and 2008. In May 2008, the Company amended the terms of certain
financial covenants of the Amended Credit Facility. A summary of financial covenants, after the May amendment, is included below.
The Company must maintain a specified minimum ratio of EBITDAR to the sum of the following fixed charges for all applicable periods: (a) cash interest
expense and (b) cash aircraft operating rental expense. EBITDAR represents earnings before interest expense net of interest income, income taxes, depreciation,
amortization, aircraft rent and certain other cash and non-cash credits and charges as further defined by the Amended Credit Facility. The other adjustments to
EBITDAR include items such as foreign currency transaction losses, increases in our deferred revenue obligation, share-based compensation expense, nonrecurring or unusual losses, any non-cash non-recurring charge or non-cash restructuring charge, a limited amount of cash restructuring charges, certain cash
transaction costs incurred with financing activities and the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.
The Amended Credit Facility also requires compliance with the following financial covenants: (i) a minimum unrestricted cash balance (as defined by the
Amended Credit Facility) of $1.0 billion, and (ii) a minimum collateral ratio of 150% at any time, or 200% at any time following the release of the Pacific
(Narita, China and Hong Kong) and Atlantic (London Heathrow) routes (together, the “Primary Routes”) having an appraised value in excess of $1 billion on the
aggregate, unless the Primary Routes are the only collateral then pledged, in which case a minimum collateral ratio of 150% is required. The minimum collateral
ratio is calculated as the market value of collateral to the sum of (a) the aggregate outstanding amount of the loans, plus (b) the undrawn amount of outstanding
letters of credit, plus (c) the unreimbursed amount of drawings under such letters of credit and (d) the termination value of certain interest rate protection and
hedging agreements with the Amended Credit Facility lenders and their affiliates.
As discussed above, in connection with the issuance of the Senior Secured Notes and the Senior Second Lien Notes in January 2010, certain assets
currently encumbered under the Amended Credit Facility are expected to be released and substituted by replacement collateral consisting of aircraft, spare
engines, primary slots at LaGuardia and Washington Reagan and flight simulators with an appraised value of approximately $830 million. The assets expected to
be released consist of route authorities to operate between the United States and Japan, and beyond Japan to points in other countries, certain airport takeoff and
landing slots and airport gate leaseholds utilized in connection with these routes, and were used as collateral for the January 2010 offering.
The Company’s requirement to meet the fixed charge coverage ratio is determined as set forth below:
Number of
Preceding
Months
Covered

Nine
Twelve
Twelve
Twelve

Period Ending

December 31, 2009
March 31, 2010
June 30, 2010
September 30, 2010 and each quarter ending thereafter

Required
Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio

1.2 to 1.0
1.3 to 1.0
1.4 to 1.0
1.5 to 1.0

The Amended Credit Facility contains a cross default provision with respect to final judgments that exceed $50 million. Although the Company was in
compliance with all required financial covenants as of December 31, 2009, continued compliance depends on many factors, some of which are beyond the
Company’s control, including the overall industry revenue environment and the level of fuel costs. There are no assurances that the Company will continue to
comply with its debt covenants. Failure to comply with applicable covenants in any reporting period would result in a default under the Amended Credit Facility,
which could have a material adverse impact on the Company depending on the Company’s ability to obtain a waiver or amendment of such covenants, or
otherwise mitigate the impact of the default.
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Credit Card Processing Agreements. The Company has agreements with financial institutions that process customer credit card transactions for the sale of
air travel and other services. Under certain of the Company’s card processing agreements, the financial institutions either require, or have the right to require, that
United maintain a reserve equal to a portion of advance ticket sales that have been processed by that financial institution, but for which the Company has not yet
provided the air transportation (referred to as “relevant advance ticket sales”). As of December 31, 2009, the Company had total advance ticket sales of
approximately $1.5 billion of which approximately 80% related to credit card sales.
The Company’s credit card processing agreement with Paymentech and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. contains a cash reserve requirement. In addition to
certain other risk protections provided to the processor, the amount of cash collateral reserve will be determined based on the amount of unrestricted cash held by
the Company as defined under the Amended Credit Facility. If the Company’s unrestricted cash balance is at or more than $2.5 billion as of any calendar monthend measurement date, its required reserve will remain at $25 million. However, if the Company’s unrestricted cash is less than $2.5 billion, its required reserve
will increase to a percentage of relevant advance ticket sales as summarized in the following table:
Required % of
Relevant Advance Ticket Sales

Total Unrestricted Cash Balance (a)

Less than $2.5 billion
Less than $2.0 billion
Less than $1.0 billion

15%
25%
50%

(a) Includes unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at month-end, including certain cash amounts already held in reserve, as defined by
the agreement.
Based on the Company’s December 31, 2009 unrestricted cash balance, the Company was not required to provide cash collateral above the current $25
million reserve balance.
United entered into a new agreement with American Express on March 1, 2009 which has an initial five year term. Under the agreement, in addition to
certain other risk protections provided to American Express, the Company will be required to provide reserves based primarily on its unrestricted cash balance
and net current exposure as of any calendar month-end measurement date, as summarized in the following table:
Required % of
Net Current Exposure (b)

Total Unrestricted Cash Balance(a)

Less than $2.4 billion
Less than $2.0 billion
Less than $1.35 billion
Less than $1.2 billion

15%
25%
50%
100%

(a) Includes unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at month-end, including certain cash amounts already held in reserve, as defined by
the agreement.
(b) Net current exposure equals relevant advance ticket sales less certain exclusions, and as adjusted for specified amounts payable between United and the
processor, as further defined by the agreement.
The agreement with American Express permits the Company to provide certain replacement collateral in lieu of cash collateral, as long as the Company’s
unrestricted cash is above $1.35 billion. Such replacement collateral may be pledged for any amount of the required reserve up to the full amount thereof, with the
stated value of such collateral determined according to the agreement. Replacement collateral may be comprised of aircraft, slots and routes, real estate or other
collateral as agreed between the parties. Based on the Company’s unrestricted cash balance at December 31, 2009, the Company was not required to provide any
reserves under this agreement.
An increase in the future reserve requirements as provided by the terms of either, or both, of the Company’s material credit card processing agreements,
could materially reduce the Company’s liquidity.
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Capital Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. The Company’s business is very capital intensive, requiring significant amounts of capital to
fund the acquisition of assets, particularly aircraft. In the past, the Company has funded the acquisition of aircraft through outright purchase, by issuing debt, by
entering into capital or operating leases, or through vendor financings. The Company also often enters into long-term lease commitments with airports to ensure
access to terminal, cargo, maintenance and other required facilities.
The table below provides a summary of UAL’s material contractual obligations as of December 31, 2009.
(In millions)

Long-term debt, including current portion (a)
Capital lease obligations—principal portion
Mainline (b)
Regional Affiliates aircraft (b)
Total debt and capital lease obligations
Interest on debt and capital lease obligations (c)
Aircraft operating lease obligations
Mainline
Regional Affiliates (d)
Other operating lease obligations
Postretirement obligations (e)
Capital purchase obligations (f)
Total contractual obligations
Less: lease deposits—principal portion (g)
Less: lease deposits—interest portion (g)
Less: non-cash debt obligations (h)
Total contractual obligations, net
Total debt and capital leases, net of deposits and non-cash debt (summarized
from table above)
Pro-forma debt and capital leases, net (after giving effect to January 2010
financings) (i)

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

After
2014

Total

$ 994

$ 915

$ 637

$ 315

$1,547

$2,862

$ 7,270

409
17
1,420
537

298
19
1,232
415

106
19
762
343

99
21
435
303

101
15
1,663
217

336
180
3,378
1,283

1,349
271
8,890
3,098

330
410
623
142
200
3,662
(246)
(47)
(8)
$3,361

331
416
557
142
201
3,294
(17)
(8)
(9)
$3,260

321
396
503
139
99
2,563
—
—
(9)
$2,554

293
374
465
137
43
2,050
(1)
—
(9)
$2,040

291
331
417
139
40
3,098
(1)
—
(9)
$3,088

363
878
2,798
733
39
9,472
(6)
—
(65)
$9,401

1,929
2,805
5,363
1,432
622
24,139
(271)
(55)
(109)
$23,704

$1,166

$1,206

$ 753

$ 425

$1,653

$3,307

$ 8,510

717

918

811

1,317

1,830

3,865

9,458

(a) Long-term debt presented in the Company’s Financial Statements is net of a $347 million debt discount which is being amortized over the debt terms.
Contractual payments are not net of the debt discount. United’s contractual principal payments are approximately $345 million lower than UAL’s due to the
UAL 6% Senior Convertible Notes.
(b) Mainline includes non-aircraft capital lease payments aggregating approximately $22 million in years 2010 through 2013.
(c) Includes interest portion of Mainline and Regional Affiliates capital lease obligations of $178 million in 2010, $106 million in 2011, $86 million in 2012,
$80 million in 2013, $70 million in 2014 and $155 million thereafter. Future interest payments on variable rate debt are estimated using estimated future
variable rates based on a yield curve.
(d) Amounts represent operating lease payments that are made by United under capacity purchase agreements with the regional carriers who operate these
aircraft on United’s behalf.
(e) Amounts represent postretirement benefit payments, net of subsidy receipts, through 2019. Benefit payments approximate plan contributions as plans are
substantially unfunded. Not included in the table above are contributions related to the Company’s foreign pension plans. The Company does not have any
significant contributions required by government regulations. The Company’s expected foreign pension plan contributions for 2010 are $12 million.
(f) Amounts exclude aircraft orders of $2.3 billion for the purchase of, in the aggregate, 42 A319 and A320 aircraft. Amounts are excluded because these orders
are not legally binding purchase orders. The Company may cancel its orders, which would result in forfeiture of its deposits. Amounts in the table include
commitments to upgrade international aircraft with our premium cabin product.
(g) Lease deposits of $326 million are recorded in the Company’s Financial Statements and will be applied to future aircraft lease obligations. See Item 7A,
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk, for additional information.
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(h) Contractual long-term debt includes $109 million of non-cash obligations as these debt payments are made directly to the creditor by a company that leases
three aircraft from United. The creditor’s only recourse to United is repossession of the aircraft.
(i) The Company’s current and long-term portions of debt presented in its December 31, 2009 Financial Statements reflects the reclassification of $449 million
of current obligations, which were refinanced in 2010, to long-term obligations. See Note 11, “Debt Obligations and Card Processing Agreements,” for proforma adjustments from contractual maturities at December 31, 2009 to the pro-forma amounts, which reflect the aforementioned reclassification and
incremental debt issued.
See Note 1(i), “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—Regional Affiliates,” Note 8, “Retirement and Postretirement Plans,” Note 11, “Debt
Obligations and Card Processing Agreements” and Note 14, “Lease Obligations,” in the Footnotes for additional discussion of the items included in the table
above.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. An off-balance sheet arrangement is any transaction, agreement or other contractual arrangement involving an
unconsolidated entity under which a company has (1) made guarantees, (2) a retained or a contingent interest in transferred assets, (3) an obligation under
derivative instruments classified as equity or (4) any obligation arising out of a material variable interest in an unconsolidated entity that provides financing,
liquidity, market risk or credit risk support to the company, or that engages in leasing, hedging or research and development arrangements with the company. The
Company’s off-balance sheet arrangements include operating leases, which are summarized in the contractual obligations table above, and certain municipal bond
obligations, as discussed below, and letters of credit, of which $274 million were outstanding at December 31, 2009.
Certain municipalities have issued municipal bonds on behalf of United to finance the construction of improvements at airport-related facilities. The
Company also leases facilities at airports where municipal bonds funded at least some of the construction of airport-related projects. At December 31, 2009, the
Company guaranteed interest and principal payments on $270 million in principal of Denver Bonds that were originally issued in 1992, subsequently refinanced
in 2007, and are due in 2032 unless the Company elects not to extend its lease in which case the bonds are due in 2023. The outstanding bonds and related
guarantee are not recorded in the Company’s Financial Statements because the related lease agreement is accounted for as an operating lease with the associated
rent expense recorded on a straight-line basis over the expected lease term through 2032. The annual lease payments through 2023 and the final payment for the
principal amount of the Denver Bonds are included in the operating lease payments in the contractual obligations table above. For further details, see Note 13,
“Commitments, Contingent Liabilities and Uncertainties—Guarantees and Off-Balance Sheet Financing,” in the Footnotes.
Fuel Consortia. The Company participates in numerous fuel consortia with other carriers at major airports to reduce the costs of fuel distribution and
storage. Interline agreements govern the rights and responsibilities of the consortia members and provide for the allocation of the overall costs to operate the
consortia based on usage. The consortia (and in limited cases, the participating carriers) have entered into long-term agreements to lease certain airport fuel
storage and distribution facilities that are typically financed through tax-exempt bonds (either special facilities lease revenue bonds or general airport revenue
bonds), issued by various local municipalities. In general, each consortium lease agreement requires the consortium to make lease payments in amounts sufficient
to pay the maturing principal and interest payments on the bonds. As of December 31, 2009, approximately $1.2 billion principal amount of such bonds were
secured by significant fuel facility leases in which United participates, as to which United and each of the signatory airlines have provided indirect guarantees of
the debt. United’s exposure is approximately $214 million principal amount of such bonds based on its recent consortia participation. The Company’s exposure
could increase if the participation of other carriers decreases. The guarantees will expire when the tax-exempt bonds are paid in full, which ranges from 2010 to
2040. The Company did not record a liability at the time these indirect guarantees were made.
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Other Information
Foreign Operations. The Company’s Financial Statements reflect material amounts of intangible assets related to the Company’s Pacific and Latin
American route authorities and its operations at London Heathrow. Because operating authorities in international markets are governed by bilateral aviation
agreements between the U.S. and foreign countries, changes in U.S. or foreign government aviation policies can lead to the alteration or termination of existing
air service agreements that could adversely impact, and significantly impair, the value of our international route authorities and other assets. Significant changes
in such policies could also have a material impact on the Company’s operating revenues and expenses and results of operations. For further information, see
Item 1, Business—International Regulation, Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk and Note 3, “Asset Impairments and Intangible
Assets” in the Footnotes, for further information on the Company’s foreign currency risks associated with its foreign operations.
Critical Accounting Policies
Critical accounting policies are defined as those that are affected by significant judgments and uncertainties which potentially could result in materially
different accounting under different assumptions and conditions. The Company has prepared the Financial Statements in conformity with GAAP, which requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the Financial Statements and the Footnotes. Actual results could differ from
those estimates under different assumptions or conditions. The Company has identified the following critical accounting policies that impact the preparation of
the Financial Statements.
Passenger Revenue Recognition. The value of unused passenger tickets and miscellaneous charge orders (“MCOs”) is included in current liabilities as
advance ticket sales. United records passenger ticket sales and tickets sold by other airlines for use on United as operating revenues when the transportation is
provided or when the ticket expires. Tickets sold by other airlines are recorded at the estimated values to be billed to the other airlines. Non-refundable tickets
generally expire on the date of the intended flight, unless the date is extended by notification from the customer on or before the intended flight date. Fees charged
in association with changes or extensions to non-refundable tickets are recorded as passenger revenue at the time the fee is collected. Change fees related to nonrefundable tickets are considered a separate transaction from the air transportation because they represent a charge for the Company’s additional service to modify
a previous reservation. Therefore, the pricing of the change fee and the initial customer reservation are separately determined and represent distinct earnings
processes. Refundable tickets expire after one year. MCOs can be either exchanged for a passenger ticket or refunded after issuance. United records an estimate of
tickets that have been used, but not recorded as revenue due to system processing errors, as revenue in the month of sale based on historical results. United also
records an estimate of MCOs that will not be exchanged or refunded as revenue ratably over the redemption period based on historical results. Due to complex
industry pricing structures, refund and exchange policies and interline agreements with other airlines, certain amounts are recognized as revenue using estimates
both as to the timing of recognition and the amount of revenue to be recognized. These estimates are based on the evaluation of actual historical results.
Accounting for Frequent Flyer Program Miles Sold to Third Parties and the Advanced Purchase of Miles. The Company has an agreement with its cobranded credit card partner that requires its partner to purchase miles in advance of when miles will be awarded to the co-branded partner’s cardholders (referred
to as “pre-purchased miles”). The pre-purchased miles are deferred when received by United in our Financial Statements as “Advanced purchase of miles.” The
Company amended its agreement with its co-branded credit card partner in 2008. See Note 16, “Advanced Purchase of Miles,” in the Footnotes for a description
of this agreement and its 2008 amendment. Subsequently, when the Company’s credit card partner awards pre-purchased miles to its cardholders, the Company
transfers the related air transportation element for the awarded miles from “Advanced purchase of miles” to “Mileage Plus deferred revenue” at estimated fair
value and records the residual marketing element as “Other operating revenue.” The deferred revenue portion is then subsequently recognized as passenger
revenue when transportation is provided in exchange for the miles awarded.
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Other Frequent Flyer Accounting Policies.
The Company has adopted a deferred revenue measurement method to record the fair value of its frequent flyer obligation. This method allocates an
equivalent weighted-average ticket value to each outstanding mile, based upon projected redemption patterns for available award choices when such miles are
consumed. For miles sold to third parties, the Company recognizes revenue related to the air transportation and marketing-related elements as follows:
Air Transportation Element. The Company defers the portion of the sales proceeds that represents estimated fair value of the air transportation and
recognizes that amount as revenue when transportation is provided. The fair value of the air transportation component is determined based upon the equivalent
ticket value of similar fares on United and amounts paid to other airlines for miles. The initial revenue deferral is presented as “Mileage Plus deferred revenue” in
the Financial Statements. When recognized, the revenue related to the air transportation component is classified as “Passenger revenues” in the Financial
Statements.
Marketing-related Element. The amount of revenue from the marketing-related element is determined by subtracting the fair value of the air transportation
from the total sales proceeds. The residual portion of the sales proceeds related to marketing activities is recognized when miles are awarded. This portion is
recognized as “Other operating revenues” in the Financial Statements.
The value of the deferred revenue is estimated assuming redemptions on both United and other participating carriers in the Mileage Plus program and by
estimating the relative proportions of awards to be redeemed by class of service within broad geographic regions of the Company’s operations, including
Domestic, Atlantic, Pacific and Latin America. The estimation of the fair value of each award mile requires the use of several significant assumptions, for which
significant management judgment is required. For example, management must estimate how many miles are projected to be redeemed on United, versus on other
airline partners. Since the equivalent ticket value of miles redeemed on United and on other carriers can vary greatly, this assumption can materially affect the
calculation of the weighted-average ticket value from period to period.
Management must also estimate the expected redemption patterns of Mileage Plus customers, who have a number of different award choices when
redeeming their miles, each of which can have materially different estimated fair values. Such choices include different classes of service (first, business and
several coach award levels), as well as different flight itineraries, such as domestic and international routings and varied itineraries within domestic and
international regions of United’s and other participating carriers’ route networks. Customer redemption patterns may also be influenced by program changes,
which occur from time to time and introduce new award choices, or make material changes to the terms of existing award choices. Management must often
estimate the probable impact of such program changes on future customer behavior. Management uses historical customer redemption patterns as the best single
indicator of future redemption behavior in making its estimates, but changes in customer mileage redemption behavior to patterns which are not consistent with
historical behavior can result in material changes to deferred revenue balances and to recognized revenue.
The Company measures its deferred revenue obligation using all awarded and outstanding miles, regardless of whether or not the customer has
accumulated enough miles to redeem an award. Eventually these customers accumulate enough miles to redeem awards, or their accounts deactivate after a period
of inactivity, in which case the Company recognizes the related revenue through its revenue recognition policy for expired miles.
The Company recognizes revenue related to expected expired miles over the estimated redemption period. Based on analysis of mileage redemption and
expiration patterns, the Company estimates that 24% of earned miles will expire or go unredeemed. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company’s
outstanding number of miles was approximately 457.6 billion and 478.2 billion, respectively. The Company estimates that approximately 349.1 billion of the
outstanding miles at December 31, 2009 will ultimately be redeemed based on assumptions as of December 31, 2009. At December 31, 2009, a hypothetical 1%
change in the Company’s outstanding number of miles or the weighted-average ticket value has approximately a $41 million effect on the
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liability. The Company’s estimate of the expected expiration of miles requires significant management judgment. Current and future changes to expiration
assumptions or to the expiration policy, or to program rules and program redemption opportunities, may result in material changes to the deferred revenue
balance, as well as recognized revenues from the program.
Asset Impairments.
The Company recorded impairment charges during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, as presented in the table below. All of these impairment
charges are within the Mainline segment. All of the impairments, other than the goodwill impairment which is separately identified, are classified within “Other
impairments and special items” in the Financial Statements.
Year Ended December 31,
2009
2008

(In millions)

Goodwill impairment

$

—

$

2,277

Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Codeshare agreements
Tradenames
Intangible asset impairments

—
150
150

44
20
64

Tangible assets:
Pre-delivery advance deposits including related capitalized interest
Nonoperating aircraft, spare engines and parts and other
Tangible asset impairments
Total impairments

—
93
93
243

105
145
250
2,591

$

$

During 2009, the Company performed interim and annual impairment tests of its intangible assets and certain of its long-lived assets, principally aircraft
and related spare engines and spare parts, due to events and changes in circumstances that indicated an impairment might have occurred. The primary factors
deemed by management to have constituted a potential impairment triggering event were a significant decline in unit revenues experienced in early 2009 and
decreases in forecasted revenues. The Company performed a second interim impairment test of certain aircraft fleet types in 2009 due to an additional decrease in
market prices, as further discussed below.
Similarly during 2008, the Company performed an interim impairment test of its goodwill, all intangible assets and certain of its long-lived assets,
principally aircraft and related spare engines and spare parts, as of May 31, 2008 due to events and changes in circumstances during the first and second quarters
of 2008 that indicated an impairment might have occurred. Factors deemed by management to have collectively constituted an impairment triggering event
included record high fuel prices, significant losses in the first and second quarters of 2008, a softening U.S. economy, analyst downgrade of UAL common stock,
rating agency changes in outlook for the Company’s debt instruments from stable to negative, the planned removal from UAL’s fleet of 100 aircraft and a
significant decrease in the fair value of the Company’s outstanding equity and debt securities, including a decline in UAL’s market capitalization to significantly
below book value.
Discussed below is the methodology used for each type of asset impairment shown in the table above.
Aircraft and Definite-lived Intangible Asset Impairments
2009 Impairment Testing
The Company tested certain of its definite-lived intangible assets at February 28, 2009 and determined that the carrying value of its definite-lived intangible
assets was fully recoverable because their carrying amount
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exceeded the sum of the undiscounted cash flows attributable to their use. As of February 28, 2009, the Company also tested its aircraft for impairment. For all
but two fleet types, the Company determined that the fleet types were not impaired as estimated cash flows exceeded carrying value. For the two fleet types which
had estimated undiscounted cash flows less than carrying value, the Company estimated the fair value of these fleet types and determined that the aircraft were
not impaired as the estimated fair value exceeded the carrying value. For purposes of testing impairment of aircraft, the estimated undiscounted cash flows were
dependent on a number of critical management assumptions including estimates of future capacity, passenger yield, traffic, operating costs (including fuel prices)
and other relevant assumptions. If estimates of fair value were required, fair value was estimated using the market approach. Asset appraisals, published aircraft
pricing guides and recent transactions for similar aircraft were considered by the Company in its market value determination.
In the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company tested five of its owned regional jets, which are leased to a third party, for impairment due to a weak market for
these aircraft and a remaining lease term of approximately one year. As a result of this testing, the Company recorded impairment charges of $19 million to record
the regional aircraft at estimated fair value as of December 31, 2009.
On a quarterly basis in 2009, the Company reviewed the carrying values of its nonoperating B737 and five B747 aircraft, which are being marketed for
sale, to assess whether the carrying values were recoverable. As a result of this testing, the carrying value of the nonoperating B737s and five nonoperating B747
aircraft was reduced to a lower estimated fair value resulting in charges of $19 million and $55 million in the third and fourth quarters of 2009, respectively.
2008 Impairment Testing
The Company tested all aircraft for impairment as of May 31, 2008 for the reasons discussed above. Based on the results of these tests, the Company
determined that an impairment of $38 million existed which was attributable to the Company’s fleet of owned B737 aircraft and related spare parts. In addition, as
of December 31, 2008, the Company performed an impairment test of its B737 aircraft. Based on this analysis, the Company recorded an additional charge of
$107 million to reduce the carrying value of the B737 aircraft. As described in Note 2, “Company Operational Plans,” in the Footnotes, the Company retired its
entire B737 fleet earlier than originally planned.
Due to the unfavorable economic and industry factors described above, the Company also determined in the second quarter of 2008 that it was required to
perform an impairment test of its $105 million of pre-delivery aircraft deposits and related capitalized interest. The Company determined that these aircraft
deposits were completely impaired and wrote off their full carrying value. The Company believes that it is highly unlikely that it will take these future aircraft
deliveries and, therefore, the Company will be required to forfeit the deposits, which are not transferable based on existing contract terms.
As a result of the 2008 impairment testing described above, the Company’s goodwill and certain of its indefinite-lived intangible assets and tangible assets
were recorded at fair value. The Company was not required to apply certain new fair value accounting principles to the determination of the fair value of these
assets in 2008 as the new principles were not effective for nonfinancial assets and liabilities. However, the provisions of this standard were applied to the
determination of the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities that were part of the Step Two goodwill fair value determination.
Due to extreme fuel price volatility, tight credit markets, the uncertain economic environment, as well as other uncertainties, the Company can provide no
assurance that a material impairment charge will not occur in a future period. The Company will continue to monitor circumstances and events in future periods
to determine whether additional asset impairment testing is warranted.
65

Table of Contents
Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets
2009 Interim Impairment Test
As of February 28, 2009, the Company performed an interim impairment test of all indefinite-lived intangible assets due to events and changes in
circumstances during the first quarter of 2009 that indicated an impairment might have occurred, as discussed above.
Indefinite-lived intangible assets tested for impairment included tradenames, international route authorities, London Heathrow slots and codesharing
agreements. The Company utilized appropriate valuation techniques to separately estimate the fair values of all of its indefinite-lived intangible assets as of
February 28, 2009, and compared those estimates to related carrying values. The methods used to test these assets were primarily income methodologies, which
were based on estimated future cash flows, except for the valuation of the London Heathrow slots, for which fair value was estimated using the market approach.
As of February 28, 2009, the only impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets was related to the carrying value of United’s tradenames in the amount $40
million. In addition, the Company performed a second interim impairment test of only tradenames as of May 31, 2009, which resulted in an additional impairment
of $110 million. As a result of both of the impairment tests, the Company recorded impairment charges of $150 million to decrease the carrying value of the
tradenames to estimated fair value as of May 31, 2009.
2008 Interim Impairment Test
The Company utilized appropriate valuation techniques to separately estimate the fair values of all of its indefinite-lived intangible assets as of May 31,
2008 and compared those estimates to related carrying values. Tested assets included tradenames, international route authorities, London Heathrow slots and
codesharing agreements. The Company used a market or income valuation approach, as described above, to estimate fair values. Based on the results of this
testing, the Company recorded a $64 million impairment charge to indefinite-lived intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2008.
Annual Impairment Tests
United performed annual impairment reviews of its indefinite-lived intangible assets as of October 1, 2009 and 2008 and determined that no impairment
was indicated.
Goodwill.
For purposes of testing goodwill in 2008, the Company estimated the fair value of the Mainline reporting unit (to which all goodwill is allocated) utilizing
several fair value measurement techniques, including two market estimates and one income estimate and using relevant data available through, and as of, May 31,
2008. The market approach is a valuation technique in which fair value is estimated based on observed prices in actual transactions and on asking prices for
similar assets. The valuation process is essentially that of comparison and correlation between the subject asset and other similar assets. The income approach is a
technique in which fair value is estimated based on the cash flows that an asset could be expected to generate over its useful life, including residual value cash
flows. These cash flows are discounted to their present value equivalents using a rate of return that accounts for the relative risk of not realizing the estimated
annual cash flows and for the time value of money.
Under the market approaches, the fair value of the Mainline reporting unit was estimated based upon the fair value of invested capital for UAL, as well as a
separate comparison to revenue and EBITDAR multiples for similar publicly traded companies in the airline industry. The fair value estimates using both market
approaches included a control premium similar to those observed for historical airline and transportation company market transactions.
66

Table of Contents
Under the income approach, the fair value of the Mainline reporting unit was estimated based upon the present value of estimated future cash flows for
UAL. The income approach is dependent on a number of critical management assumptions including estimates of future capacity, passenger yield, traffic,
operating costs (including fuel prices), appropriate discount rates and other relevant assumptions. The Company estimated its future fuel-related cash flows for
the income approach based on the five-year forward curve for crude oil as of May 31, 2008. The impacts of the Company’s aircraft and other tangible and
intangible asset impairments were considered in the fair value estimation of the Mainline reporting unit.
Taking into consideration an equal weighting of the two market estimates and the income estimate, which has been the Company’s practice when
performing annual goodwill impairment tests, the indicated fair value of the Mainline reporting unit was less than its carrying value, and therefore, the Company
was required to perform additional goodwill impairment testing. For this testing, the Company determined the implied fair value of goodwill of the Mainline
reporting unit by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit to all the assets and liabilities of the Mainline reporting unit, including any recognized and
unrecognized intangible assets, as if the Mainline reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination and the fair value of the Mainline reporting unit was
the acquisition price. As a result of this testing, the Company determined that goodwill was completely impaired and therefore recorded an impairment charge
during the second quarter of 2008 to write-off the full value of goodwill.
Accounting for Long-Lived Assets. The net book value of operating property and equipment for UAL was $9.8 billion and $10.3 billion at December 31,
2009 and 2008, respectively. In addition to the original cost of these assets, as adjusted by fresh-start reporting as of February 1, 2006, their recorded value is
impacted by a number of accounting policy elections, including the estimation of useful lives and residual values and, when necessary, the recognition of asset
impairment charges.
The Company records assets acquired, including aircraft, at acquisition cost. Depreciable life is determined through economic analysis, such as reviewing
existing fleet plans, obtaining appraisals and comparing estimated lives to other airlines that operate similar fleets. Older generation aircraft are assigned lives that
are generally consistent with the experience of United and the practice of other airlines. As aircraft technology has improved, useful life has increased and the
Company has generally estimated the lives of those aircraft to be 30 years. Residual values are estimated based on historical experience with regard to the sale of
both aircraft and spare parts and are established in conjunction with the estimated useful lives of the related fleets. Residual values are based on current dollars
when the aircraft are acquired and typically reflect asset values that have not reached the end of their physical life. Both depreciable lives and residual values are
revised periodically to recognize changes in the Company’s fleet plan and other relevant information. A one year increase in the average depreciable life of our
flight equipment would reduce annual depreciation expense on flight equipment by approximately $17 million.
Other Postretirement Benefit Accounting. The Company accounts for other postretirement benefits by recognizing the difference between plan assets and
obligations, or the plan’s funded status, in its Financial Statements. Under GAAP, other postretirement benefit expense is recognized on an accrual basis over
employees’ approximate service periods and is generally calculated independently of funding decisions or requirements. The Company has not been required to
pre-fund its current and future plan obligations, which has resulted in a significant net obligation, as discussed below.
The fair value of plan assets at December 31, 2009 and 2008 was $58 million and $57 million, respectively, for the other postretirement benefit plans. The
benefit obligation was $2.0 billion for the other postretirement benefit plans at both December 31, 2009 and 2008. The difference between the plan assets and
obligations has been recorded in the Financial Statements. Detailed information regarding the Company’s other postretirement plans, including key assumptions,
is included in Note 8, “Retirement and Postretirement Plans,” in the Footnotes.
The following provides a summary of the methodology used to determine the assumptions disclosed in Note 8, “Retirement and Postretirement Plans,” in
the Footnotes. The calculation of other postretirement benefit
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expense and obligations requires the use of a number of assumptions, including the assumed discount rate for measuring future payment obligations and the
expected return on plan assets. The discount rates were based on the construction of theoretical corporate bond portfolios, adjusted according to the timing of
expected cash flows for the payment of the Company’s future postretirement obligations. A yield curve was developed based on a subset of these bonds (those
with yields between the 10th and 90th percentiles). The projected cash flows were matched to this yield curve and a present value developed, which was then
calibrated to develop a single equivalent risk-adjusted discount rate.
Actuarial gains or losses are triggered by changes in assumptions or experience that differ from the original assumptions. Under the applicable accounting
standards, those gains and losses are not required to be recognized currently as other postretirement expense, but instead may be deferred as part of accumulated
other comprehensive income and amortized into expense over the average remaining service life of the covered active employees. The Company’s accounting
policy is to not apply the corridor approach available under applicable GAAP with respect to amortization of amounts included in accumulated other
comprehensive income. Under the corridor approach, amortization of any gain or loss in accumulated other comprehensive income is only required if, at the
beginning of the year, the accumulated gain or loss exceeds 10% of the greater of the benefit obligation or the fair value of assets. If amortization is required, the
minimum amount outside the corridor divided by the average remaining service period of active employees is recognized as expense. The corridor approach is
intended to reduce volatility of amounts recorded in pension expense each year. Since the Company has elected not to apply the corridor approach, all gains and
losses in accumulated other comprehensive income are amortized to expense over the remaining years of service. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company
had unrecognized actuarial gains of $155 million and $286 million, respectively, recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income for its other
postretirement benefit plans.
Valuation Allowance for Deferred Tax Assets. At December 31, 2009, UAL and United had valuation allowances applied to its deferred tax assets of
approximately $3.1 billion and $3.0 billion, respectively. In accordance with accounting principles related to income taxes, a valuation allowance is required to be
recorded when it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets will not be realized. Future realization depends on the existence of sufficient taxable income
within the carry forward period available under the tax law. Sources of future taxable income include future reversals of taxable temporary differences, future
taxable income exclusive of reversing taxable differences, taxable income in carry back years and tax planning strategies. These sources of positive evidence of
realizability must be weighed against negative evidence, such as cumulative losses in recent years. A recent history of losses would make difficult a determination
that a valuation allowance is not needed.
In forming a judgment about the future realization of our deferred tax assets, management considered both the positive and negative evidence of
realizability and gave significant weight to the negative evidence from our cumulative losses for recent years. Management will continue to assess the valuation
allowance and make appropriate adjustments based on the positive and negative evidence existing at that time. The Company is currently unable to forecast when
there will be sufficient positive evidence for it to reverse the remainder of the valuation allowances that are recorded. Any reversals of valuation allowance would
reduce income tax expense. See Note 7, “Income Taxes,” in the Footnotes for additional information.
Forward-Looking Information
Certain statements throughout Item 7, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and elsewhere in this
report are forward-looking and thus reflect the Company’s current expectations and beliefs with respect to certain current and future events and financial
performance. Such forward-looking statements are and will be subject to many risks and uncertainties relating to United’s operations and business environment
that may cause actual results to differ materially from any future results expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements. Words such as “expects,”
“will,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “indicates,” “believes,” “forecast,” “guidance,” “outlook” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements.
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Additionally, forward-looking statements include statements which do not relate solely to historical facts, such as statements which identify uncertainties or
trends, discuss the possible future effects of current known trends or uncertainties, or which indicate that the future effects of known trends or uncertainties cannot
be predicted, guaranteed or assured. All forward-looking statements in this report are based upon information available to the Company on the date of this report.
The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events,
changed circumstances or otherwise.
The Company’s actual results could differ materially from these forward-looking statements due to numerous factors including, without limitation, the
following: its ability to comply with the terms of its Amended Credit Facility and other financing arrangements; the costs and availability of financing; its ability
to maintain adequate liquidity; its ability to execute its operational plans; its ability to control its costs, including realizing benefits from its resource optimization
efforts, cost reduction initiatives and fleet replacement programs; its ability to utilize its net operating losses; its ability to attract and retain customers; demand for
transportation in the markets in which it operates; an outbreak of a disease that affects travel demand or travel behavior; demand for travel and the impact the
economic recession has on customer travel patterns; the increasing reliance on enhanced video-conferencing and other technology as a means of conducting
virtual meetings; general economic conditions (including interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, investment or credit market conditions, crude oil prices,
costs of aviation fuel and energy refining capacity in relevant markets); its ability to cost-effectively hedge against increases in the price of aviation fuel; any
potential realized or unrealized gains or losses related to fuel or currency hedging programs; the effects of any hostilities, act of war or terrorist attack; the ability
of other air carriers with whom the Company has alliances or partnerships to provide the services contemplated by the respective arrangements with such carriers;
the costs and availability of aircraft insurance; the costs associated with security measures and practices; industry consolidation; competitive pressures on pricing
and on demand; capacity decisions of United and/or its competitors; U.S. or foreign governmental legislation, regulation and other actions (including open skies
agreements); labor costs; its ability to maintain satisfactory labor relations and the results of the collective bargaining agreement process with our union groups;
any disruptions to operations due to any potential actions by its labor groups; weather conditions; and other risks and uncertainties set forth under Item 1A, Risk
Factors of this Form 10-K, as well as other risks and uncertainties set forth from time to time in the reports the Company files with the SEC. Consequently,
forward-looking statements should not be regarded as representations or warranties by the Company that such matters will be realized.
ITEM 7A.

QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Interest Rate and Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risks. United’s exposure to market risk associated with changes in interest rates relates primarily to
its debt obligations. The Company does not use derivative financial instruments in its investment portfolio. United’s policy is to manage interest rate risk through
a combination of fixed and variable rate debt and by entering into swap agreements, depending upon market conditions. A portion of United’s aircraft lease
obligations and related accrued interest ($295 million in equivalent U.S. dollars at December 31, 2009) is denominated in foreign currencies that expose the
Company to risks associated with changes in foreign exchange rates. To hedge against this risk, United has placed foreign currency deposits ($295 million in
equivalent U.S. dollars at December 31, 2009), primarily for euros, to meet foreign currency lease obligations denominated in that respective currency. Since
unrealized mark-to-market gains or losses on the foreign currency deposits are offset by the losses or gains on the foreign currency obligations, United has hedged
its overall exposure to foreign currency exchange rate volatility with respect to its foreign lease deposits and obligations. The fair value of these deposits is
determined based on the present value of future cash flows using an appropriate foreign currency swap rate. The fair value of long-term debt is predominantly
based on the present value of future cash flows using a U.S. treasury rate that matches the remaining life of the instrument, adjusted by a credit spread and, to a
lesser extent, on the quoted market prices for the same or similar instruments. The table below presents information as of December 31, 2009 about certain of the
Company’s financial instruments that are sensitive to changes in interest and exchange rates. Amounts shown below are the same for both UAL and United,
except as noted.
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(Dollars in millions)
2010
UAL ASSETS
Cash equivalents
Fixed rate (a)
Avg. interest rate
Lease deposits
Fixed rate—EUR deposits
Accrued interest
Avg. interest rate
Fixed rate—USD deposits
Accrued interest
Avg. interest rate
UAL LONG—TERM DEBT (a)
U. S. Dollar denominated
Variable rate debt
Avg. interest rate
Fixed rate debt
Avg. interest rate

2011

Expected Maturity Date
2012
2013
2014

Thereafter

Total

2009
Fair Value

Total

2008
Fair Value

$3,042
0.07%

$—
—

$—
—

$—
—

$ —
—

$

—
—

$3,042
0.07%

$

3,042

$2,039
1.02%

$

2,039

$ 235
37
6.86%
$ 11
10
6.49%

$ 15
8
4.41%
$ 2
—
—

$—
—
—
$—
—
—

$—
—
—
$ 1
—
—

$ —
—
—
$
1
—
—

$

—
—
—

$

309

330

$

31

$ 264
42
6.45%
$ 11
9
6.49%

$

—
—

$ 250
45
6.45%
$ 21
10
6.49%

$

21

$ 282
2.04%
$ 712
7.04%

$ 205
2.42%
$ 710
7.09%

$ 204
2.42%
$ 433
9.65%

$ 222
2.33%
$ 93
8.97%

$1,386
2.72%
$ 161
7.37%

$

286
2.19%
2,576
5.93%

$2,585
2.51%
$4,685
6.73%

$

2,236

1,524

4,062

$2,640
3.24%
$4,388
6.09%

$

$

$

2,668

$

$

6

(a) Amounts also represent United except that in 2009, United’s carrying value and fair value of its cash equivalents are approximately $6 million lower than the
reported UAL amounts, and in 2009, its carrying value and fair value of total long-term debt are approximately $346 million and $553 million lower than the
reported UAL amounts. In 2008, United’s carrying value and fair value of its cash equivalents and debt obligations are approximately $6 million and $2
million, respectively, lower than the reported UAL amounts. The difference in 2009 debt obligations is attributable to the UAL $345 million principal
amount of 6% Senior Convertible Notes issued in October 2009, which is not a United debt obligation.
In addition to the cash equivalents included in the table above, both UAL and United have $128 million of short-term restricted cash and $213 million and
$212 million, respectively, of long-term restricted cash. As discussed in Note 1(d), “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—Cash and Cash Equivalents
and Restricted Cash,” in the Footnotes, restricted cash primarily includes cash collateral to secure workers’ compensation obligations, reserves for institutions that
process credit card ticket sales and, in 2009, cash collateral received from fuel hedge counterparties. Due to the short term nature of these cash balances, their
carrying values approximate their fair values. The Company’s interest income is exposed to changes in interest rates on these cash balances. During 2007, the
Company also repurchased certain of its own debt instruments, which remain outstanding and have a fair value and carrying value of $51 million at December 31,
2009. The Company recognizes changes in fair value of these securities through other comprehensive income; however, on a net basis, the Company is not
exposed to market risk due to the existence of offsetting changes in the fair value of the Company’s related debt obligations.
The material changes in the amounts reported in the table above for 2009 as compared to 2008 include the following: (1) cash and short-term investments
increased by approximately $1.0 billion primarily due to cash provided by operating and financing activities, as discussed in Liquidity above; and (2) debt
obligations increased by $242 million primarily due to new debt issuances in 2009, partially offset by scheduled debt repayments in 2009. The interest rate on the
Company’s cash and variable rate debt decreased in 2009, as compared to 2008, primarily due to a decrease in market interest rates.
Commodity Price Risk (Jet Fuel). Our results of operations and liquidity have been, and may continue to be, materially impacted by changes in the price
of aircraft fuel and other oil-related commodities and related derivative instruments. United may use swaps, purchased call options or other derivative instruments
to reduce its price risk exposure to jet fuel. The Company’s derivative positions are typically comprised of crude oil, heating oil and jet fuel derivatives. The
derivative instruments are designed to provide protection against increases in the price of aircraft fuel. Some derivative instruments may result in hedging losses if
the underlying commodity prices drop below specified floors or swap prices; however, the negative impact of these losses may
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be offset by the benefit of lower jet fuel acquisition cost since the Company typically does not hedge all of its fuel consumption, and only uses swaps or sold puts
on a portion of the fuel volumes that it does hedge. United may adjust its hedging program based on changes in market conditions. At December 31, 2009, the fair
value of United’s fuel-related derivatives was a payable of $5 million and a receivable of $138 million, as compared to a payable of $727 million at December 31,
2008. The primary reasons for this change were the dramatic decrease in fuel prices in the latter part of 2008, subsequent fuel price increases in 2009 and turnover
of the Company’s hedge portfolio to instruments with a lower average strike price. At December 31, 2009, the Company also had $15 million of additional fuel
derivative payables related to pending settlements for purchased call options and expired contracts.
As of December 31, 2009, the Company had hedged approximately 36% of its 2010 consolidated fuel consumption primarily with a combination of swaps
and purchased call options. The Company’s hedge position at December 31, 2009 consists of a notional amount of 9.7 million barrels with purchased call options
at a weighted-average crude oil equivalent strike price of $76 per barrel and 9.9 million barrels with swaps at an average price of $77 per barrel. All of these
derivative instruments mature within 12 months of December 31, 2009. As of December 31, 2008, the Company had hedged 34% of its 2009 consolidated fuel
consumption, primarily with collar structures. The Company had significant losses on its 2008 hedge position as certain of the collar structures required payments
by United to its counterparties for decreases in the price of crude oil below approximately $100 per barrel.
The above derivative positions are subject to potential counterparty cash collateral requirements in some circumstances. The Company provided
counterparties with cash collateral of $10 million as of December 31, 2009.
Foreign Currency. United generates revenues and incurs expenses in numerous foreign currencies. Such expenses include fuel, aircraft leases,
commissions, catering, personnel expense, advertising and distribution costs, customer service expenses and aircraft maintenance. Changes in foreign currency
exchange rates impact the Company’s results of operations through changes in the dollar value of foreign currency-denominated operating revenues and expenses.
Despite the adverse effects a strengthening foreign currency may have on demand for U.S.-originating traffic, a strengthening of foreign currencies tends to
increase reported revenue and operating income because the Company’s foreign currency-denominated operating revenue generally exceeds its foreign currencydenominated operating expense for each currency. Likewise, despite the favorable effects a weakening foreign currency may have on demand for U.S.-originating
traffic, a weakening of foreign currencies tends to decrease reported revenue and operating income.
The Company’s most significant net foreign currency exposures in 2009, based on exchange rates in effect at December 31, 2009, are presented in the table
below:
(In millions)
Currency

Operating revenue net of operating expense
Foreign Currency Value
USD Value

Canadian dollar
Chinese renminbi
European euro
South Korean Won
Australian dollar

284
1,686
60
70,725
57

$

269
247
86
61
51

The Company may use foreign currency forward contracts to hedge a portion of its exposure to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. As of
December 31, 2009, the Company did not have any derivative positions to hedge foreign currency cash flows. As of December 31, 2008, the Company hedged a
portion of its expected foreign currency cash flows in the Australian dollar, Canadian dollar and European euro. As of December 31, 2008, the notional amount of
these foreign currencies hedged with the forward contracts in U.S. dollars terms was approximately $62 million, based on contractual forward rates. These
contracts had a fair value of $10 million at December 31, 2008.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
UAL Corporation
Chicago, Illinois
We have audited the accompanying statements of consolidated financial position of UAL Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2009
and 2008, and the related statements of consolidated operations, consolidated stockholders’ equity (deficit), and consolidated cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2009. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These consolidated
financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of UAL Corporation and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, on January 1, 2009, the Company changed its accounting for convertible debt and participating
securities.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on the criteria established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework” issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 25, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chicago, Illinois
February 25, 2010
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholder of
United Air Lines, Inc.
Chicago, Illinois
We have audited the accompanying statements of consolidated financial position of United Air Lines, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31,
2009 and 2008, and the related statements of consolidated operations, consolidated stockholder’s equity (deficit), and consolidated cash flows for each of the
three years in the period ended December 31, 2009. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15. These consolidated
financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining,
on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of United Air Lines, Inc. and subsidiaries as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2009, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedule, when
considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, on January 1, 2009, the Company changed its accounting for convertible debt.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chicago, Illinois
February 25, 2010
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UAL Corporation and Subsidiary Companies
Statements of Consolidated Operations
(In millions, except per share amounts)
2009

Operating revenues:
Passenger—United Airlines
Passenger—Regional Affiliates
Cargo
Special operating items (Note 18)
Other operating revenues

Year Ended December 31,
2008

$11,910
3,064
536
—
825
16,335

Operating expenses:
Salaries and related costs
Aircraft fuel
Regional Affiliates
Purchased services
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repairs
Landing fees and other rent
Depreciation and amortization
Distribution expenses
Aircraft rent
Cost of third party sales
Goodwill impairment (Note 3)
Other impairments and special items (Notes 3 and 18)
Other operating expenses

$15,337
3,098
854
—
905
20,194

2007

$15,254
3,063
770
45
1,011
20,143

3,773
3,405
2,939
1,167
965
905
902
534
346
230
—
374
956
16,496
(161)

4,311
7,722
3,248
1,375
1,096
862
932
710
409
272
2,277
339
1,079
24,632
(4,438)

4,261
5,003
2,941
1,346
1,166
876
925
779
406
316
—
(44)
1,131
19,106
1,037

(577)
19
10
—
37
(511)
(672)
(17)
(655)
4
$ (651)

(571)
112
20
—
(550)
(989)
(5,427)
(25)
(5,402)
6
$ (5,396)

(704)
257
19
41
2
(385)
652
297
355
5
$ 360

Earnings (loss) per share, basic

$ (4.32)

$ (42.59)

$

2.94

Earnings (loss) per share, diluted

$ (4.32)

$ (42.59)

$

2.65

Earnings (loss) from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Interest income
Interest capitalized
Gain on sale of investment (Note 19)
Miscellaneous, net (Note 12)
Earnings (loss) before income taxes and equity in earnings of affiliates
Income tax expense (benefit)
Earnings (loss) before equity in earnings of affiliates
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of tax
Net income (loss)

See accompanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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UAL Corporation and Subsidiary Companies
Statements of Consolidated Financial Position
(In millions, except shares)
At December 31,
2009
2008

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts (2009—$14; 2008—$24)
Aircraft lease deposits maturing within one year
Prepaid fuel
Aircraft fuel, spare parts and supplies, less obsolescence allowance (2009—$61; 2008—$48)
Deferred income taxes
Fuel hedge collateral deposits
Prepaid expenses and other
Operating property and equipment:
Owned—
Flight equipment
Other property and equipment
Less—Accumulated depreciation and amortization
Capital leases—
Flight equipment
Other property and equipment
Less—Accumulated amortization

Other assets:
Intangibles, less accumulated amortization (Note 3) (2009—$408; 2008—$339)
Restricted cash
Investments (Note 12)
Aircraft lease deposits (Note 14)
Other, net (Note 1(f))

See accompanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$ 3,042
128
743
293
275
197
63
10
354
5,105

$ 2,039
54
714
28
219
237
268
953
354
4,866

8,303
1,745
10,048
(2,010)
8,038

8,766
1,751
10,517
(1,598)
8,919

2,096
51
2,147
(345)
1,802
9,840

1,578
39
1,617
(224)
1,393
10,312

2,455
213
88
33
950
3,739
$18,684

2,693
218
81
297
998
4,287
$19,465
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UAL Corporation and Subsidiary Companies
Statements of Consolidated Financial Position
(In millions, except shares)
At December 31,
2009
2008

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit
Current liabilities:
Mileage Plus deferred revenue
Advance ticket sales
Accounts payable
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits
Long-term debt maturing within one year (Note 11)
Current obligations under capital leases (Note 14)
Fuel purchase commitments
Fuel derivative instruments (Note 12)
Other
Long-term debt (Note 11)
Long-term obligations under capital leases (Note 14)
Other liabilities and deferred credits:
Mileage Plus deferred revenue
Postretirement benefit liability (Note 8)
Advanced purchase of miles (Note 16)
Deferred income taxes
Other
Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 13)
Stockholders’ deficit:
Preferred stock (Note 4)
Common stock at par, $0.01 par value; authorized 1,000,000,000 shares; outstanding 167,610,620 and 140,037,928 shares at
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively (Note 4)
Additional capital invested
Retained deficit
Stock held in treasury, at cost (Note 4)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (Note 10)

See accompanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$ 1,515
1,492
803
701
545
426
275
5
711
6,473
6,378
1,194

$ 1,414
1,530
829
756
782
168
219
718
865
7,281
5,862
1,192

2,720
1,928
1,157
551
1,094
7,450

2,768
1,812
1,087
804
980
7,451

—

—

2
3,136
(5,956)
(28)
35
(2,811)
$18,684

1
2,919
(5,308)
(26)
93
(2,321)
$19,465
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UAL Corporation and Subsidiary Companies
Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows
(In millions)
Year Ended December 31,
2009
2008
2007

Cash flows provided (used) by operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided (used) by operating activities Depreciation and amortization
Goodwill impairment
Other impairments and special items
Proceeds from lease amendment
Mileage Plus deferred revenue and advanced purchase of miles
Debt and lease discount amortization
Deferred income taxes
Share-based compensation
Gain on sale of investments
Other operating activities
Changes in assets and liabilities Net change in fuel derivative instruments and related pending settlements
Decrease (increase) in fuel hedge collateral
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities
Decrease (increase) in receivables
Increase (decrease) in advance ticket sales
Decrease (increase) in other current assets
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Cash flows provided (used) by investing activities:
Additions to property, equipment and deferred software
Proceeds from asset sale-leasebacks
Proceeds on disposition of property and equipment
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash
Sales (purchases) of EETC investments
Proceeds on litigation of advanced deposits
Proceeds on sale of investments
Net (purchases) sales of short-term investments
Other, net
Cash flows provided (used) by financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Repayment of Credit Facility
Repayment of other long-term debt
Proceeds from sale of common stock
Principal payments under capital leases
Payment of deferred financing costs
Decrease in aircraft lease deposits
Purchases of treasury stock
Special distribution to common shareholders
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Other, net
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
See accompanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$ (651)

$(5,396)

$

360

902
—
374
160
123
97
(16)
21
—
89

932
2,277
339
—
738
97
(26)
31
—
15

925
—
(89)
—
170
84
310
49
(41)
56

(1,007)
955
(217)
105
(38)
(25)
94
966

858
(965)
(155)
195
(388)
257
(48)
(1,239)

—
—
189
(59)
249
(269)
200
2,134

(317)
175
77
(19)
10
—
—
—
(6)
(80)

(475)
274
94
484
—
41
—
2,295
8
2,721

(723)
—
19
91
(96)
—
128
(1,983)
4
(2,560)

907
(18)
(776)
222
(190)
(49)
23
(2)
—
—
—
117
1,003
2,039
$ 3,042

337
(18)
(666)
107
(235)
(120)
155
(11)
(253)
—
2
(702)
780
1,259
$ 2,039

694
(1,495)
(1,257)
—
(177)
(18)
80
(11)
—
35
2
(2,147)
(2,573)
3,832
$ 1,259
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UAL Corporation and Subsidiary Companies
Statements of Consolidated Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)
(In millions)

Balance at December 31, 2006
Net income
Other comprehensive income, net:
Unrealized gains on financial instruments, net
Pension and other postretirement plans (Note 8)
Net gain arising during period, net $63 of tax
Less: amortization of prior period gains, net
Total pension and other postretirement plans
Total comprehensive income, net
Common stock distribution declared
Preferred stock dividends
Tax adjustment on ASC 715 update (Note 10)
Share-based compensation
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Adoption of ASC 740 update
Treasury stock acquisitions
Balance at December 31, 2007
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized losses on financial instruments
Pension and other postretirement plans (Note 8)
Net gain arising during period
Less: amortization of prior period gains
Total pension and other postretirement plans
Total comprehensive loss, net
Preferred stock dividends
Conversion of preferred stock
Sale of common stock
Share-based compensation
Treasury stock acquisitions
Balance at December 31, 2008
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gains on financial instruments
Pension and other postretirement plans (Note 8)
Net loss arising during period
Less: amortization of prior period gains
Total pension and other postretirement plans
Total comprehensive loss, net
Sale of common stock
Share-based compensation
Other
Treasury stock acquisitions
Balance at December 31, 2009

Common
Stock
$
1
—

Additional
Capital
Invested
$
2,306
—

—

—

—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
49
35
2
—
2,392
—

—
—
—
360
(257)
(10)
—
—
—
—
—
91
(5,396)

—

—

—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
374
122
31
—
2,919
—

—
—
—
(5,396)
(3)
—
—
—
—
(5,308)
(651)

—

—

—

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
206
11
—
—
3,136

1

1

1

—
—
—
$

Retained
Earnings
(Deficit)
$
(2)
360

2

$

—
—
—
(651)
—
—
3
—
$ (5,956)

See accompanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Treasury
Stock
$
(4)
—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income
(Loss)
$
82
—

—

5

5

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(11)
(15)
—

102
(8)
94
99
—
—
(40)
—
—
—
—
141
—

102
(8)
94
459
(257)
(10)
(40)
49
35
2
(11)
2,610
(5,396)

—

(37)

(37)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(11)
(26)
—

8
(19)
(11)
(48)
—
—
—
—
—
93
—

8
(19)
(11)
(5,444)
(3)
374
122
31
(11)
(2,321)
(651)

—

$

Total
$ 2,383
360

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(2)
(28)

15

$

(64)
(9)
(73)
(58)
—
—
—
—
35

15
(64)
(9)
(73)
(709)
207
11
3
(2)
$(2,811)
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United Air Lines, Inc. and Subsidiary Companies
Statements of Consolidated Operations
(In millions)
2009

Operating revenues:
Passenger—United Airlines
Passenger—Regional Affiliates
Cargo
Special operating items (Note 18)
Other operating revenues

Year Ended December 31,
2008

$11,910
3,064
536
—
849
16,359

Operating expenses:
Salaries and related costs
Aircraft fuel
Regional Affiliates
Purchased services
Aircraft maintenance materials and outside repairs
Landing fees and other rent
Depreciation and amortization
Distribution expenses
Aircraft rent
Cost of third party sales
Goodwill impairment (Note 3)
Other impairments and special items (Notes 3 and 18)
Other operating expenses
Earnings (loss) from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest expense
Interest income
Interest capitalized
Gain on sale of investment (Note 19)
Miscellaneous, net (Note 12)
Earnings (loss) before income taxes and equity in earnings of affiliates
Income tax expense (benefit)
Earnings (loss) before equity in earnings of affiliates
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of tax
Net income (loss)

See accompanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$15,337
3,098
854
—
948
20,237

2007

$15,254
3,063
770
45
999
20,131

3,773
3,405
2,939
1,167
965
905
902
534
349
228
—
374
955
16,496
(137)

4,312
7,722
3,248
1,375
1,096
862
932
710
411
269
2,277
339
1,077
24,630
(4,393)

4,257
5,003
2,941
1,346
1,166
876
925
779
409
312
—
(44)
1,129
19,099
1,032

(577)
19
10
—
37
(511)
(648)
(16)
(632)
4
$ (628)

(571)
112
20
—
(550)
(989)
(5,382)
(22)
(5,360)
6
$ (5,354)

(703)
260
19
41
1
(382)
650
296
354
5
$ 359
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United Air Lines, Inc. and Subsidiary Companies
Statements of Consolidated Financial Position
(In millions, except shares)
At December 31,
2009
2008

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Receivables, less allowance for doubtful accounts (2009—$14; 2008—$24)
Aircraft lease deposits maturing within one year
Prepaid fuel
Aircraft fuel, spare parts and supplies, less obsolescence allowance (2009—$61; 2008—$48)
Receivables from related parties
Deferred income taxes
Fuel hedge collateral deposits
Prepaid expenses and other
Operating property and equipment:
Owned—
Flight equipment
Other property and equipment
Less—accumulated depreciation and amortization
Capital leases—
Flight equipment
Other property and equipment
Less—accumulated amortization

Other assets:
Intangibles, less accumulated amortization (Note 3) (2009—$408; 2008—$339)
Restricted cash
Investments (Note 12)
Aircraft lease deposits (Note 14)
Other, net (Note 1(f))

See accompanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$ 3,036
128
743
293
275
197
73
57
10
342
5,154

$ 2,033
50
704
28
219
237
214
265
953
348
5,051

8,303
1,745
10,048
(2,010)
8,038

8,766
1,751
10,517
(1,598)
8,919

2,096
51
2,147
(345)
1,802
9,840

1,578
39
1,617
(224)
1,393
10,312

2,455
212
88
33
943
3,731
$18,725

2,693
217
81
297
984
4,272
$19,635
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United Air Lines, Inc. and Subsidiary Companies
Statements of Consolidated Financial Position
(In millions, except shares)
At December 31,
2009
2008

Liabilities and Stockholder’s Deficit
Current liabilities:
Mileage Plus deferred revenue
Advance ticket sales
Accounts payable
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits
Long-term debt maturing within one year (Note 11)
Current obligations under capital leases (Note 14)
Fuel purchase commitments
Fuel derivative instruments (Note 12)
Other
Long-term debt (Note 11)
Long-term obligations under capital leases (Note 14)
Other liabilities and deferred credits:
Mileage Plus deferred revenue
Postretirement benefit liability (Note 8)
Advanced purchase of miles (Note 16)
Deferred income taxes
Other
Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 13)
Stockholder’s deficit:
Common stock at par, $5 par value; authorized 1,000 shares; issued 205 shares at December 31, 2009 and 2008
Additional capital invested
Retained deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income

See accompanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$ 1,515
1,492
806
701
544
426
275
5
816
6,580
6,033
1,194

$ 1,414
1,530
833
756
780
168
219
718
1,128
7,546
5,861
1,192

2,720
1,928
1,157
469
1,096
7,370

2,768
1,812
1,087
724
981
7,372

—
3,401
(5,888)
35
(2,452)
$18,725

—
2,831
(5,260)
93
(2,336)
$19,635
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United Air Lines, Inc. and Subsidiary Companies
Statements of Consolidated Cash Flows
(In millions)
2009

Cash flows provided (used) by operating activities:
Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile to net cash provided (used) by operating activities—
Depreciation and amortization
Goodwill impairment
Other impairments and special items
Proceeds from lease amendment
Mileage Plus deferred revenue and advanced purchase of miles
Debt and lease discount amortization
Deferred income taxes
Share-based compensation
Gain on sale of investment
Other operating activities
Changes in assets and liabilities Net change in fuel derivative instruments and related pending settlements
Decrease (increase) in fuel hedge collateral
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities
Decrease (increase) in receivables
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (decrease) in advance ticket sales
Decrease (increase) in other current assets
Cash flows provided (used) by investing activities:
Additions to property, equipment and deferred software
Proceeds from asset sale-leasebacks
Proceeds on disposition of property and equipment
(Increase) decrease in restricted cash
Sales (purchases) of EETC investments
Net (purchases) sales of short-term investments
Proceeds from litigation on advanced deposits
Proceeds on sale of investments
Other, net
Cash flows provided (used) by financing activities:
Repayment of Credit Facility
Repayment of other long-term debt
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Capital contributions from parent
Principal payments under capital leases
Payment of deferred financing costs
Decrease in aircraft lease deposits
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Dividend to parent
Other, net
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
See accompanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Year Ended December 31,
2008
2007

$ (628)

$(5,354)

$

359

902
—
374
160
123
97
(16)
21
—
63

932
2,277
339
—
738
97
(26)
31
—
(39)

925
—
(89)
—
170
84
318
49
(41)
48

(1,007)
955
(213)
110
94
(38)
(19)
978

858
(965)
(128)
197
(49)
(388)
257
(1,223)

—
—
172
(58)
210
249
(269)
2,127

(317)
175
77
(24)
10
—
—
—
(7)
(86)

(475)
274
93
455
—
2,259
41
—
9
2,656

(723)
—
18
87
(96)
(1,951)
—
128
4
(2,533)

(18)
(775)
562
559
(190)
(49)
23
—
—
(1)
111
1,003
2,033
$ 3,036

(18)
(664)
337
163
(235)
(120)
155
—
(257)
—
(639)
794
1,239
$ 2,033

(1,495)
(1,255)
694
—
(177)
(18)
80
35
—
2
(2,134)
(2,540)
3,779
$ 1,239
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United Air Lines, Inc. and Subsidiary Companies
Statements of Consolidated Stockholder’s Equity (Deficit)
(In millions)

Balance at December 31, 2006
Net income
Other comprehensive income, net:
Unrealized gains on financial instruments, net
Pension and other postretirement plans (Note 8)
Net gain arising during period, net $63 of tax
Less: amortization of prior period gains, net
Total pension and other postretirement plans
Total comprehensive income, net
Preferred stock dividends (Note 4)
Adoption of ASC 740 update
Tax adjustment on ASC 715 update (Note 10)
MPI Note forgiveness (Note 17)
Share-based compensation
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Balance at December 31, 2007
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized losses on financial instruments
Pension and other postretirement plans (Note 8)
Net gain (loss) arising during period
Less: amortization of prior period gains
Total pension and other postretirement plans
Total comprehensive loss, net
Dividend to parent
Preferred stock dividends (Note 4)
Conversion of preferred stock
Capital contributions from parent (Note 17)
Share-based compensation
Balance at December 31, 2008
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Unrealized gains on financial instruments
Pension and other postretirement plans (Note 8)
Net gain (loss) arising during period
Less: amortization of prior period gains
Total pension and other postretirement plans
Total comprehensive loss, net
Capital contributions from parent (Note 17)
Share-based compensation
Balance at December 31, 2009

Common
Stock

Additional
Capital
Invested

Retained
Earnings
(Deficit)

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

$

$ 2,380

$

$

$

—

5

—

359

—

—

—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
2
—
(213)
49
35
2,253
—

—
—
—
359
(10)
—
—
—
—
—
354
(5,354)

102
(8)
94
99
—
—
(40)
—
—
—
141
—

102
(8)
94
458
(10)
2
(40)
(213)
49
35
2,748
(5,354)

—

—

—

(37)

(37)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
374
173
31
2,831

—
—
—
(5,354)
(257)
(3)
—
—
—
(5,260)
(628)

8
(19)
(11)
(48)
—
—
—
—
—
93
—

8
(19)
(11)
(5,402)
(257)
(3)
374
173
31
(2,336)
(628)

—

—

—

15

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
559
11
$ 3,401

—
—
—
(628)
—
—
$(5,888)

—

Total

$ 2,467

—

See accompanying Combined Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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359
5

$

(64)
(9)
(73)
(58)
—
—
35

5

15
(64)
(9)
(73)
(686)
559
11
$(2,452)
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UAL Corporation and Subsidiary Companies
United Air Lines, Inc. and Subsidiary Companies
Combined Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
The Company
UAL Corporation (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “UAL”) is a holding company whose principal, wholly-owned subsidiary is United Air
Lines, Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, “United”). We sometimes use the words “we,” “our,” “us” and the “Company” in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for disclosures that relate to both UAL and United.
This Annual Report on Form 10-K is a combined report of UAL and United. Therefore, these Combined Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements apply
to both UAL and United, unless otherwise noted. As UAL consolidates United for financial statement purposes, disclosures that relate to activities of United also
apply to UAL.
(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a)

Basis of Presentation—UAL is a holding company whose principal subsidiary is United. The Company’s consolidated financial statements (the “Financial
Statements”) include the accounts of its majority-owned affiliates. All significant intercompany transactions are eliminated. Certain prior year amounts
have been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

(b)

Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Financial Statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.
The Company estimates fair value of its financial instruments and indefinite-lived intangible assets for testing impairment of indefinite-lived intangible
assets. These estimates and assumptions are inherently subject to significant uncertainties and contingencies beyond the control of the Company.
Accordingly, the Company cannot provide assurance that the estimates, assumptions and values reflected in the valuations will be realized, and actual
results could vary materially.

(c)

Airline Revenues—The value of unused passenger tickets and miscellaneous charge orders (“MCOs”) are included in current liabilities as advance ticket
sales. United records passenger ticket sales and tickets sold by other airlines for use on United as operating revenues when the transportation is provided or
when the ticket expires. Tickets sold by other airlines are recorded at the estimated values to be billed to the other airlines. Non-refundable tickets generally
expire on the date of the intended flight, unless the date is extended by notification from the customer on or before the intended flight date. Fees charged in
association with changes or extensions to non-refundable tickets are recorded as passenger revenue at the time the fee is incurred. Change fees related to
non-refundable tickets are considered a separate transaction from the air transportation because they represent a charge for the Company’s additional
service to modify a previous sale. Therefore, the pricing of the change fee and the initial customer order are separately determined and represent distinct
earnings processes. Refundable tickets expire after one year.
MCOs can be exchanged for a passenger ticket or refunded after issuance. United estimates the amount of MCOs that will not be exchanged or refunded
and recognizes revenue for these MCOs ratably over the redemption period, based on historical experience.
United records an estimate of tickets that have been used, but not recorded as revenue due to system processing errors, as revenue in the month of sale
based on historical results. Due to complex industry pricing structures, refund and exchange policies and interline agreements with other airlines, certain
amounts are recognized as revenue using estimates both as to the timing of recognition and the amount of revenue to be recognized. These estimates are
based on the evaluation of actual historical results. United recognizes cargo and mail revenue as service is provided.
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(d)

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash—Cash in excess of operating requirements is invested in short-term, highly liquid investments.
Investments with a maturity of three months or less on their acquisition date are classified as cash and cash equivalents. Investments in debt securities
classified as available-for-sale are stated at fair value. The gains or losses from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale securities are included in other
comprehensive income.
As of December 31, 2009, approximately 25% of the Company’s cash and cash equivalents consisted of money market funds that primarily invest in U.S.
treasury securities and 75% consisted of AAA-rated money market funds. There are no withdrawal restrictions at the present time on any of the money
market funds in which the Company has invested.
Restricted cash primarily includes cash collateral to secure workers’ compensation obligations, reserves for institutions that process credit card ticket sales
and, in 2009, cash collateral received from fuel hedge counterparties. The Company classifies changes in restricted cash balances as an investing activity in
its Financial Statements, because it considers restricted cash similar to an investment. Certain other companies within our industry also classify certain of
their restricted cash transactions as investing activities in their statement of cash flows, while others classify certain of their restricted cash transactions as
operating activities. The pro-forma impact of UAL classifying all changes in its restricted cash balances as operating activities in the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 is shown in the table below:
(In millions)

2009

Year Ended December 31,
2008

2007

Cash flows provided (used) from operating activities
Adjustment for (increase) decrease in restricted cash
Pro-forma cash flows provided (used) from operating activities

$966
(19)
$947

$(1,239)
484
$ (755)

$ 2,134
91
$ 2,225

Cash flows provided (used) from investing activities
Adjustment for increase (decrease) in restricted cash
Pro-forma cash flows provided (used) from investing activities

$ (80)
19
$ (61)

$ 2,721
(484)
$ 2,237

$(2,560)
(91)
$(2,651)

(e)

Aircraft Fuel, Spare Parts and Supplies—The Company records fuel, maintenance, operating supplies and aircraft spare parts at cost when acquired and
provides an obsolescence allowance for aircraft spare parts.

(f)

Property and Equipment—The Company records additions to owned operating property and equipment at cost when acquired. Property under capital
leases and the related obligation for future lease payments are recorded at an amount equal to the initial present value of those lease payments.
Depreciation and amortization of owned depreciable assets is based on the straight-line method over the assets’ estimated service lives. Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the remaining term of the lease, including estimated facility renewal options when renewal is reasonably assured at key
airports, or the estimated service life of the related asset, whichever is less. Properties under capital leases are amortized on the straight-line method over
the life of the lease or, in the case of certain aircraft, over their estimated service lives. Amortization of capital lease assets is included in depreciation and
amortization expense. The estimated useful lives of our property and equipment are as follows:
Estimated Useful Life (in years)

Aircraft
Buildings
Other property and equipment
Software
Building improvements

27 to 30
25 to 45
4 to 15
5
1 to 40
85

Table of Contents
Maintenance and repairs, including the cost of minor replacements, are charged to maintenance expense as incurred, except for costs incurred under our
power-by-the-hour engine maintenance agreements, which are expensed based upon the number of hours flown. Costs of additions to and renewals of units
of property are capitalized as property and equipment additions.
As of December 31, 2009, the “Other noncurrent assets” included the following significant items: nonoperating B737 and B747 aircraft, including related
spare parts and engines, and aircraft leased to third parties of $417 million and internal in-development and in-use software totaling $174 million.
(g)

Mileage Plus Awards—The Company has an agreement with its co-branded credit card partner that requires its partner to purchase miles in advance of
when miles are awarded to the co-branded partner’s cardholders (referred to as “pre-purchased miles”). These sales are deferred when received by United
and disclosed in the Financial Statements as “Advanced purchase of miles.” Subsequently, when the Company’s credit card partner awards pre-purchased
miles to its cardholders, the Company transfers the related air transportation element for the awarded miles from “Advanced purchase of miles” to “Mileage
Plus deferred revenue” at estimated fair value and records the residual marketing element as “Other operating revenue.”
The Company has adopted a deferred revenue measurement method to record fair value of the frequent flyer obligation using a weighted-average ticket
value of each outstanding mile, based upon projected redemption patterns for available award choices when such miles are consumed. The Company defers
a portion of revenue from the sale of air services to record the fair value obligation of the miles earned. Miles sold to third parties have two revenue
elements: air transportation and marketing, as described below.
Air Transportation Element. The Company defers the portion of the sales proceeds that represents estimated fair value of the air transportation and
recognizes that amount as revenue when transportation is provided. The fair value of the air transportation component is determined based upon the
equivalent ticket value of similar fares on United and amounts paid to other airlines for miles. The initial revenue deferral is presented as “Mileage Plus
deferred revenue” in our Financial Statements. When recognized, the revenue related to the air transportation component is classified as “passenger
revenues” in our Financial Statements.
Marketing-related element. The amount of revenue from the marketing-related element is determined by subtracting the fair value of the air transportation
from the total sales proceeds. The residual portion of the sales proceeds related to marketing activities is recognized when miles are awarded. This portion
is recognized as “Other operating revenues” in our Financial Statements.
The value of miles is estimated assuming redemptions on both United and other participating carriers in the Mileage Plus program and by estimating the
relative proportions of awards to be redeemed by class of service within broad geographic regions of the Company’s operations, including Domestic,
Atlantic, Pacific and Latin America. The estimation of the fair value of each award mile requires the use of several significant assumptions, for which
significant management judgment is required. For example, management must estimate how many miles are projected to be redeemed on United, versus on
other airline partners. Since the equivalent ticket value of miles redeemed on United and on other carriers can vary greatly, this assumption can materially
affect the calculation of the weighted-average ticket value from period to period.
Management must also estimate the expected redemption patterns of Mileage Plus customers, who have a number of different award choices when
redeeming their miles, each of which can have materially different estimated fair values. Such choices include different classes of service (first, business
and several coach award levels), as well as different flight itineraries, such as domestic and international routings and different itineraries within domestic
and international regions of United’s and other participating carriers’ route networks. Customer redemption patterns may also be influenced by program
changes, which occur from time to time and introduce new award choices, or make material changes to the terms of existing award choices. Management
must often estimate the probable impact of such program changes on future customer behavior, which requires the use of significant judgment.
Management uses historical customer redemption patterns as the best single indicator of future redemption behavior in making its estimates, but changes in
customer mileage redemption behavior to patterns which are not consistent with historical behavior can result in material changes to deferred revenue
balances, and to recognized revenue.
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The Company measures its deferred revenue obligation using all awarded and outstanding miles, regardless of whether or not the customer has
accumulated enough miles to redeem an award. Eventually these customers will accumulate enough miles to redeem awards, or their accounts will
deactivate after a period of inactivity, in which case the Company will recognize the related revenue through its revenue recognition policy for expired
miles.
The Company recognizes revenue related to expected expired miles over the estimated redemption period. Management’s estimate of the expected
expiration of miles requires significant management judgment. In early 2007, the Company announced that it was reducing the expiration period for
inactive accounts from 36 months to 18 months effective December 31, 2007. The change in the expiration period increased revenues by $246 million in
2007. Current and future changes to expiration assumptions or to the expiration policy, or to program rules and program redemption opportunities, may
result in material changes to the deferred revenue balance, as well as recognized revenues from the program. In 2008, the Company updated certain of its
assumptions related to the recognition of revenue for expiration of miles. Based on additional analysis of mileage redemption and expiration patterns, the
Company revised the estimated number of miles that are expected to expire from 15% to 24% of earned miles, including miles that will expire or go
unredeemed for reasons other than account deactivation. In 2008, the Company also extended the total time period over which revenue from the expiration
of miles is recognized based upon the estimated period of miles redemption. This change did not materially impact the Company’s Mileage Plus revenue
recognition in 2009 or 2008.
See Note 16, “Advanced Purchase of Miles,” for additional information related to the Mileage Plus program.
(h)

Deferred Gains (Losses)—Gains and losses on aircraft sale and leaseback transactions are deferred and amortized in future periods.

(i)

Regional Affiliates—United has agreements under which independent regional carriers, flying under the United Express name, connect passengers to other
Regional Affiliates and/or United flights (the latter of which we refer to as “Mainline” operations, to distinguish them from Regional Affiliates operations).
The vast majority of Regional Affiliates flights are operated under capacity purchase agreements, while a relatively smaller number are operated under
prorate agreements.
Regional Affiliates operating revenues and expenses are classified as “Passenger—Regional Affiliates” and “Regional Affiliates,” respectively, in the
Financial Statements. Regional Affiliates expense includes both allocated and direct costs. Direct costs represent expenses that are specifically and
exclusively related to Regional Affiliates flying activities, such as capacity agreement payments, commissions, booking fees, fuel expenses and dedicated
staffing. The capacity agreement payments are based on specific rates for various operating expenses of the Regional Affiliates carriers, such as crew
expenses, maintenance and aircraft ownership, some of which are multiplied by specific operating statistics (e.g., block hours, departures) while others are
fixed per month. Allocated costs represent Regional Affiliates’ portion of shared expenses and include charges for items such as airport operating costs,
reservation-related costs, credit card discount fees and facility rents. For each of these expense categories, the Company estimates Regional Affiliates’
portion of total expense and allocates the applicable portion of expense to the regional carrier.
United has the right to exclusively operate and direct the operations of these aircraft and accordingly the minimum future lease payments for these aircraft
are included in the Company’s lease obligations. See Note 9, “Segment Information” and Note 14, “Lease Obligations,” for additional information related
to Regional Affiliates.
The Company recognizes revenue on a net basis for flights on Regional Affiliates covered by prorate agreements. The Company’s revenue from prorate
agreements is generally based on its proportional share of miles flown.
As of December 31, 2009, United has call options on 176 regional jet aircraft currently being operated by certain Regional Affiliates carriers. At
December 31, 2009, none of the call options were exercisable because none of the required conditions to make an option exercisable by the Company were
met.
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(j)

Advertising—Advertising costs, which are included in other operating expenses, are expensed as incurred.

(k)

Intangibles—Indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or circumstances
indicate that the asset may be impaired. The Mileage Plus customer database is amortized on an accelerated basis utilizing cash flows correlating to the
expected attrition rate of the Mileage Plus database. The other customer relationships, which are included in “Contracts,” are amortized in a manner
consistent with the timing and amount of revenues that the Company expects to generate from these customer relationships. All other definite-lived
intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated lives of the related assets.
The Company applies a fair value-based impairment test to the net book value of goodwill, which was determined to be completely impaired in 2008, and
indefinite-lived intangible assets on an annual basis as of October 1, or on an interim basis whenever a triggering event occurs.
See Note 3, “Asset Impairments and Intangible Assets,” for additional information related to intangibles, including impairments recognized in 2009 and
2008.

(l)

Measurement of Impairments—The Company evaluates the carrying value of long-lived assets and intangible assets subject to amortization whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that an impairment may exist. For purposes of this testing, the Company has identified the aircraft fleet type as
the lowest level of identifiable cash flows for purposes of testing aircraft for impairment. An impairment charge is recognized when the asset’s carrying
value exceeds its net undiscounted future cash flows and its fair market value. The amount of the charge is the difference between the asset’s carrying value
and fair market value. See Note 3, “Asset Impairments and Intangible Assets,” for information related to asset impairments recognized in 2009 and 2008.

(m)

Share-Based Compensation—The Company measures the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on
the grant-date fair value of the award. The resulting cost is recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange
for the award, usually the vesting period. Obligations for restricted stock units (“RSUs”) are remeasured throughout the requisite service period based on
the market share price as of the last day of the reporting period. A cumulative adjustment is recorded to adjust compensation expense based on the current
value of the awards. See Note 6, “Share-Based Compensation Plans,” for additional information.

(n)

Ticket Taxes—Certain governmental taxes are imposed on United’s ticket sales through a fee included in ticket prices. United collects these fees and
remits them to the appropriate government agency. These fees are recorded on a net basis (excluded from operating revenues).

(o)

Early Retirement of Leased Aircraft—The Company accrues for the present value of future minimum lease payments, net of estimated sublease rentals
(if any) in the period aircraft are removed from service. When reasonably estimable and probable, the Company estimates maintenance lease return
condition obligations for items such as minimum aircraft and engine conditions specified in leases and accrues these amounts over the lease term while the
aircraft are operating, and any remaining unrecognized estimated obligations are accrued in the period an aircraft is removed from service.

(p)

New Accounting Pronouncements—In December 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2009-17, Improvements to
Financial Reporting by Enterprises Involved with Variable Interest Entities, which amends certain concepts related to consolidation of variable interest
entities. Among other accounting and disclosure requirements, this guidance replaces the quantitative-based risks and rewards calculation for determining
which enterprise has a controlling financial interest in a variable interest entity with an approach focused on identifying which enterprise has the power to
direct the activities of a variable interest entity and the obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity. The Company
will adopt this guidance in its first annual and interim reporting periods beginning after November 15, 2009. The Company has not determined the impact
that this guidance may have on its financial statements.
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In December 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-16, Accounting for Transfers of Financial Assets. This guidance improves the information that a
reporting entity provides in its financial reports about a transfer of financial assets; the effects of a transfer on its financial position, financial performance
and cash flows; and a continuing interest in transferred financial assets. In addition, this guidance amends various accounting principles with respect to
accounting for transfers and servicing of financial assets and extinguishments of liabilities, including removing the concept of qualified special purpose
entities. This guidance must be applied to transfers occurring on or after the effective date. The Company will adopt this guidance in its first annual and
interim reporting periods beginning after November 15, 2009. The Company has not determined the impact that this guidance may have on its financial
statements.
In October 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-13, Multiple Deliverable Revenue Arrangements—A Consensus of the FASB Emerging Issues Task Force.
This update provides application guidance on whether multiple deliverables exist, how the deliverables should be separated and how the consideration
should be allocated to one or more units of accounting. This update establishes a selling price hierarchy for determining the selling price of a deliverable.
The selling price used for each deliverable will be based on vendor-specific objective evidence, if available, third-party evidence if vendor-specific
objective evidence is not available, or estimated selling price if neither vendor-specific or third-party evidence is available. The Company will be required
to apply this guidance prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into or materially modified after January 1, 2011; however, earlier application is
permitted. The Company has not determined the impact that this update may have on its financial statements.
Retrospective Adoption of ASC 470 Update and ASC 260 Update
The Company adopted new accounting guidance related to accounting for convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash (or other assets) on
conversion (“ASC 470 Update”) and new accounting guidance related to determining whether instruments granted in share-based payment transactions are
participating securities (“ASC 260 Update”) effective January 1, 2009, both of which required retrospective application. ASC 470 Update requires the
issuer of certain convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash (or other assets) on conversion to separately account for the liability (debt) and
equity (conversion option) components of the instrument in a manner that reflects the issuer’s non-convertible debt borrowing rate. The Company’s 4.5%
Senior Limited-Subordination Convertible Notes due 2021 (“4.5% Notes”) and 5% Senior Convertible Notes due 2021 (“5% Notes”), see below, are within
the scope of the ASC 470 Update. Upon the original issuance of these two debt instruments in 2006, the Company recorded the net debt obligation as longterm debt in accordance with applicable accounting standards at that time. To adopt this standard, effective January 1, 2009, the Company estimated the fair
value, as of the date of issuance, of its two applicable convertible debt instruments as if the instruments were issued without the conversion options. The
difference between the fair value and the principal amounts of the instruments was $254 million. This amount was retrospectively applied to the Financial
Statements from the issuance date of the debt instruments in 2006, and was retrospectively recorded as a debt discount and as a component of equity. The
discount is being amortized over the expected five-year life of the notes resulting in non-cash increase to interest expense in historical and future periods.
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The following tables reflect UAL and United’s previously reported amounts, along with the adjusted amounts as required by the ASC 470 Update.

(In millions, except per share)

Statement of Consolidated Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2008
Interest expense
Net loss
Loss per share, basic and diluted
Total comprehensive loss
Statement of Consolidated Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2007
Interest expense
Net income
Earnings per share, basic (a)
Earnings per share, diluted
Total comprehensive income

As
Reported

UAL
As
Adjusted

$ (523)
(5,348)
(42.21)
(5,396)

$ (571)
(5,396)
(42.59)
(5,444)

(661)
403
3.34
2.79
502

(704)
360
2.94
2.65
459

Effect
of Change

As
Reported

United
As
Adjusted

$

(48)
(48)
(0.38)
(48)

$ (523)
(5,306)
N/A
(5,354)

$ (571)
(5,354)
N/A
(5,402)

(43)
(43)
(0.40)
(0.14)
(43)

(660)
402
N/A
N/A
501

(703)
359
N/A
N/A
458

Effect
of Change

$

(48)
(48)
N/A
(48)

(43)
(43)
N/A
N/A
(43)

(a) Basic earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2007 includes the combined impact of the ASC 470 Update and the ASC 260 Update. See
additional discussion of the ASC 260 Update below.

Statement of Consolidated Financial Position (a)
As of December 31, 2008
Long-term debt
Additional capital invested
Retained deficit

As
Reported

UAL
As
Adjusted

$ 6,007
2,666
(5,199)

$ 5,862
2,919
(5,308)

Effect
of Change

As
Reported

United
As
Adjusted

$

$ 6,007
2,578
(5,151)

$ 5,861
2,831
(5,260)

(145)
253
(109)

Effect
of Change

$

(146)
253
(109)

(a) The adoption of the ASC 470 Update also had minor impacts on “Other assets” and “Deferred income taxes” as reported in the Company’s Financial
Statements. The adoption required an increase to the Company’s deferred tax liability and a decrease to its additional paid in capital. However, these impacts
were substantially offset by a corresponding decrease in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets and increase to additional paid in capital in
accordance with ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes.
The following table provides additional information about UAL’s convertible debt instruments that are subject to the ASC 470 Update:
As of
December 31, 2009
4.5% Notes
5% Notes

($ and shares in millions, except conversion prices)

Carrying amount of the equity component
Principal amount of the liability component
Unamortized discount of liability component
Net carrying amount of liability component
Remaining amortization period of discount
Conversion price
Number of shares to be issued upon conversion

$

216
726
80
646
18 months
$
32.64
22.2
90

$

38
150
11
139
13 months
$
43.90
3.4

As of
December 31, 2008
4.5% Notes
5% Notes

$

216
726
126
600

$

38
150
20
130
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For the Year Ended December 31,
2009
4.5% Notes

Effective interest rate on liability component
Non-cash interest cost recognized (a)
Cash interest cost recognized

12.8%
46
33

2008
5% Notes

12.1%
9
7

4.5% Notes

12.8%
40
33

5% Notes

12.1%
8
7

(a) Amounts represent the adoption of the ASC 470 Update on interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008. The related negative impact
on loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2009 is $0.36.
ASC 260 Update clarifies that instruments granted in share-based payment transactions that are considered to be participating securities prior to vesting
should be included in the earnings allocation under the two-class method of calculating earnings per share. The Company determined that its restricted
shares granted under UAL’s share-based compensation plans are participating securities because the restricted shares participate in dividends. The impact of
the ASC 260 Update on 2007 basic and diluted earnings per share, calculated after the ASC 470 Update adoption impact, was a $0.04 per share and $0.03
per share, respectively, reduction in earnings per share. Nonvested restricted stock was not included in the common shareholder basic loss per share
computation for the year ended December 31, 2008 because of a loss in that period. There were 1.4 million nonvested restricted shares for the year ended
December 31, 2008 that would have been included in the common shareholder basic earnings per share computation had there been income in that period.
(q)

Uncertain Income Tax Positions—The Company has recorded reserves for income taxes and associated interest that may become payable in future years.
Although management believes that its positions taken on income tax matters are reasonable, the Company nevertheless has established tax and interest
reserves in recognition that various taxing authorities may challenge certain of the positions taken by the Company, potentially resulting in additional
liabilities for taxes and interest. The Company’s uncertain tax position reserves are reviewed periodically and are adjusted as events occur that affect its
estimates, such as the availability of new information, the lapsing of applicable statutes of limitations, the conclusion of tax audits, the measurement of
additional estimated liability, the identification of new tax matters, the release of administrative tax guidance affecting its estimates of tax liabilities, or the
rendering of relevant court decisions. See Note 7, “Income Taxes,” for further information related to uncertain income tax positions.

(2) Company Operational Plans
During 2009 and 2008, the Company implemented plans to address volatility in crude oil prices, industry over-capacity and the severe global recession.
The Company reduced capacity and permanently removed 99 aircraft from its Mainline fleet by December 31, 2009, including its entire B737 fleet and five B747
aircraft. The Company completed its fleet reduction plan in January 2010 with the removal of one additional B747 aircraft. In connection with the capacity
reductions, the Company streamlined its operations and corporate functions and cumulatively reduced the size of its workforce by approximately 9,000 positions.
The Company’s workforce reductions occurred through furloughs and furlough-mitigation programs, such as voluntary early-out options. Workforce reductions
included salaried and management positions and certain of the Company’s unionized workforce. The Company’s standard severance policies provide the affected
employees with salary continuation, as well as certain insurance benefits for a specified period of time.
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The following is a discussion of expenses associated with implementing the Company’s plans. In addition, see Note 3, “Asset Impairments and Intangible
Assets,” for a discussion of the impairment charges recorded during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008. The tables below summarize the accrual
activity and expense related to the Company’s implementation of its operational plans.
(In millions)
Severance

Leased Aircraft
2009
2008

Reserve Activity

2009

2008

Balance at December 31, 2008
Accruals
Payments
Balance at December 31, 2009

$ 81
33
(69)
$ 45

$—
106
(25)
$ 81

$ 16
87
(20)
$ 83

$—
20
(4)
$ 16

Expense recognized

$ 33

$106

$ 96

$ 24

All of these charges are within the Mainline segment where the fleet reductions occurred. Severance expense and leased aircraft expense are classified
within “Salaries and related costs” and “Other impairments and special items,” respectively, in the Company’s Financial Statements. The total expected future
payments for leased aircraft that were removed from service at December 31, 2009 are $89 million, payable through 2013. Actual lease payments may be less if
the Company is able to negotiate early termination of any of its leases.
The following table provides additional information regarding UAL and United aircraft including the impacts of the fleet reductions discussed above.
B737s (Mainline)
Owned

Leased

All Other Mainline
Total

Operating:
Aircraft at December 31, 2008
Added (removed) from operating fleet
Converted from owned to leased (a)
Converted from leased to owned (b)
Aircraft at December 31, 2009

18
(18)
—
—
—

28
(28)
—
—
—

46
(46)
—
—
—

Nonoperating at December 31, 2008
Removed from operating fleet in 2009
Sold/returned to lessor during 2009
Nonoperating at December 31, 2009

24
18
—
42

12
28
(12)
28

36
46
(12)
70

Owned

191
(2)
(19)
1
171
3
2
—
5

Leased

172
(1)
19
(1)
189
—
1
(1)
—

Total

Total
Mainline

Regional
Affiliates

363
(3)
—
—
360

409
(49)
—
—
360

280
12
—
—
292

689
(37)
—
—
652

3
3
(1)
5

39
49
(13)
75

—
—
—
—

39
49
(13)
75

(a) During 2009, the Company sold 19 aircraft and leased them back. See Note 14, “Lease Obligations,” for additional information related to these saleleaseback transactions.
(b) During 2009, the Company acquired one aircraft under existing lease terms.
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(3) Asset Impairments and Intangible Assets
The Company recorded impairment charges during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, as presented in the table below. All of these impairment
charges are within the Mainline segment. All of the impairments other than the goodwill impairment, which is separately identified, are classified within “Other
impairments and special items” in the Company’s Financial Statements.
Year Ended
December 31,
2009
2008

(In millions)

Goodwill impairment

$—

Indefinite-lived intangible assets:
Codeshare agreements
Tradenames
Intangible asset impairments
Tangible assets:
Pre-delivery advance deposits including related capitalized interest
Nonoperating aircraft, spare engines and parts and other
Tangible asset impairments
Total impairments

$2,277

—
150
150

44
20
64

—
93
93
$243

105
145
250
$2,591

Due to extreme fuel price volatility, tight credit markets, the uncertain economic environment, as well as other uncertainties, the Company can provide no
assurance that a material impairment charge will not occur in a future period. The Company will continue to monitor circumstances and events in future periods
to determine whether additional asset impairment testing is warranted.
The following is a discussion of impairment testing. See Note 12, “Fair Value Measurements and Derivative Instruments,” for additional information
related to the use of fair values in impairment testing.
Triggering Events Requiring Testing
During 2009, the Company performed interim and annual impairment tests of its intangible assets and certain of its long-lived assets (principally aircraft
and related spare engines and spare parts) due to events and changes in circumstances that indicated an impairment might have occurred. The primary factors
deemed by management to have constituted a potential impairment triggering event were a significant decline in unit revenues experienced in early 2009 and
decreases in forecasted revenues and cash flows.
Similarly during 2008, the Company performed an interim impairment test of its goodwill, all intangible assets and certain of its long-lived assets
(principally aircraft and related spare engines and spare parts) as of May 31, 2008 due to events and changes in circumstances during the first and second quarters
of 2008 that indicated an impairment might have occurred. Factors deemed by management to have collectively constituted an impairment triggering event
included record high fuel prices, significant losses in the first and second quarters of 2008, a softening U.S. economy, analyst downgrade of UAL common stock,
rating agency changes in outlook for the Company’s debt instruments from stable to negative, the announcement of the planned removal from UAL’s fleet of 100
aircraft and a significant decrease in the fair value of the Company’s outstanding equity and debt securities, including a decline in UAL’s market capitalization to
significantly below book value.
Aircraft and definite-lived intangible assets
2009 Impairment Testing
The Company tested certain of its definite-lived intangible assets at February 28, 2009 and determined that the carrying value of its definite-lived intangible
assets was fully recoverable because their carrying amount
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exceeded the sum of the undiscounted cash flows attributable to their use. As of February 28, 2009, the Company also tested its aircraft for impairment. For all
but two fleet types, the Company determined that the fleet types were not impaired as estimated cash flows exceeded carrying value. For the two fleet types which
had estimated undiscounted cash flows less than carrying value, the Company estimated the fair value of these fleet types and determined that the aircraft were
not impaired as the estimated fair value exceeded the carrying value.
In the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company tested five of its owned regional jets which are leased to a third party for impairment due to a weak market for
these aircraft and a remaining lease term of approximately one year. As a result of this testing, the Company recorded impairment charges of $19 million to record
the regional aircraft at estimated fair value.
On a quarterly basis in 2009, the Company reviewed the carrying values of its nonoperating B737 and five B747 aircraft, which are being marketed for
sale, to assess whether the carrying values were recoverable. As a result of this testing, the carrying value of the nonoperating B737s and five nonoperating B747
aircraft were reduced to a lower estimated fair value resulting in a charge of $19 million and $55 million in the third and fourth quarters of 2009, respectively.
2008 Impairment Testing
The Company tested all aircraft for impairment as of May 31, 2008. Based on the results of these tests, the Company determined that an impairment of
$38 million existed which was attributable to the Company’s fleet of owned B737 aircraft and related spare parts. In addition, as of December 31, 2008, the
Company performed an impairment test of its B737 aircraft. Based on this analysis, the Company recorded an additional charge of $107 million to reduce the
carrying value of the B737 aircraft.
Due to the unfavorable economic and industry factors described above, the Company also determined in the second quarter of 2008 that it was required to
perform an impairment test of its $105 million of pre-delivery aircraft deposits and related capitalized interest. The Company determined that these aircraft
deposits were completely impaired and wrote off their full carrying value. The Company believes that it is highly unlikely that it will take these future aircraft
deliveries and, therefore, the Company will be required to forfeit the deposits, which are not transferable based on existing contract terms.
Indefinite-lived intangible assets
2009 Interim Impairment Test
Indefinite-lived intangible assets tested for impairment included tradenames, international route authorities, London Heathrow slots and codesharing
agreements. The Company utilized appropriate valuation techniques to separately estimate the fair values of all of its indefinite-lived intangible assets as of
February 28, 2009, and compared those estimates to related carrying values. The methods used to test these assets were primarily income methodologies, which
were based on estimated future cash flows, except for the valuation of the London Heathrow slots, for which fair value was estimated using the market approach.
The only impairment of indefinite-lived intangible assets was related to a $110 million impairment of United’s tradenames. In addition, the Company performed a
second interim impairment test of only tradenames as of May 31, 2009. As a result of both of the impairment tests, the Company recorded an impairment charge
of $150 million to decrease the carrying value of the tradenames to estimated fair value as of May 31, 2009.
2008 Interim Impairment Test
The Company utilized appropriate valuation techniques to separately estimate the fair values of all of its indefinite-lived intangible assets as of May 31,
2008 and compared those estimates to related carrying values. Tested assets included tradenames, international route authorities, London Heathrow slots and
codesharing agreements. The Company used a market or income valuation approach, as described below, to estimate fair values. Based on the results of this
testing, the Company recorded a $64 million impairment charge to indefinite-lived intangible assets for the year ended December 31, 2008.
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Annual Impairment Tests
United performed annual impairment reviews of its indefinite-lived intangible assets as of October 1, 2009 and 2008 and determined that no impairment
was indicated.
Goodwill
For purposes of testing goodwill in 2008, the Company estimated the fair value of the Mainline reporting unit (to which all goodwill is allocated) utilizing
several fair value measurement techniques, including two market estimates and one income estimate and using relevant data available through and as of May 31,
2008. The market approach is a valuation technique in which fair value is estimated based on observed prices in actual transactions and on asking prices for
similar assets. The income approach is a technique in which fair value is estimated based on the cash flows that an asset could be expected to generate over its
useful life, including residual value cash flows. These cash flows are discounted to their present value equivalents using a rate of return that accounts for the
relative risk of not realizing the estimated annual cash flows and for the time value of money.
Taking into consideration an equal weighting of the two market estimates and the income estimate, which has been the Company’s practice when
performing annual goodwill impairment tests, the indicated fair value of the Mainline reporting unit was less than its carrying value, and therefore, the Company
was required to perform additional goodwill impairment testing. For this testing, the Company determined the implied fair value of goodwill of the Mainline
reporting unit by allocating the fair value of the reporting unit to all the assets and liabilities of the Mainline reporting unit, including any recognized and
unrecognized intangible assets, as if the Mainline reporting unit had been acquired in a business combination and the fair value of the Mainline reporting unit was
the acquisition price. As a result of this testing, the Company determined that goodwill was completely impaired and therefore recorded an impairment charge
during the second quarter of 2008 to write-off the full value of goodwill.
Intangibles
The following table presents information about the Company’s intangible assets at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively:

(Dollars in millions)

Amortized intangible assets
Airport slots and gates
Hubs
Patents
Mileage Plus database
Contracts
Other
Total

Weighted
Average Life of
Assets
(in years)

2009

9
20
3
7
13
7
10

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

$

$

$

$

$

Unamortized intangible assets
Airport slots and gates
Route authorities
Tradenames
Total

$

$
95

2008

Gross Carrying
Amount

72
145
70
521
140
12
960
219
1,146
538
1,903

$

37
29
70
221
44
7
408

$
$

$

72
145
70
521
140
13
961
237
1,146
688
2,071

$

30
22
68
179
35
5
339
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During the year ended December 31, 2009, the Company’s unamortized intangible assets decreased by $168 million consisting of $150 million impairment
of its tradenames and $18 million due to the sale of certain airport slot assets. Unamortized intangible assets, other than goodwill, decreased by $82 million during
2008 as a result of a $64 million impairment of codeshare agreements and tradenames, and an $18 million decrease in airport slots and gates related to the sale of
assets.
Total amortization expense recognized was $69 million, $92 million and $155 million for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
The Company expects to record amortization expense of $42 million, $39 million, $38 million, $36 million and $31 million for 2010, 2011, 2012, 2013 and 2014,
respectively.
(4) Common Stockholders’ Deficit and Preferred Securities
Changes in the number of shares of UAL common stock outstanding during the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 were as follows:
UAL

2009

Shares outstanding at beginning of year
Issuance of UAL stock under equity offering
Issuance of UAL stock upon conversion of preferred stock
Issuance of UAL stock to creditors
Issuance of UAL stock to employees
Forfeiture of non-vested UAL stock
Shares acquired for treasury
Shares outstanding at end of year

140,037,928
26,111,183
—
1,648,989
82,450
(62,761)
(207,169)
167,610,620

Treasury shares at beginning of year
Shares acquired for treasury
Treasury shares at end of year

707,484
207,169
914,653

Year Ended December 31,
2008

116,921,049
11,208,438
11,145,812
765,780
418,664
(110,926)
(310,889)
140,037,928
396,595
310,889
707,484

2007

112,280,629
—
—
3,849,389
1,155,582
(104,733)
(259,818)
116,921,049
136,777
259,818
396,595

All treasury shares were acquired for tax withholding obligations related to UAL’s share-based compensation plan. See Note 6, “Share-Based
Compensation Plans,” for additional information related to the remaining grants available to be awarded under UAL’s share-based compensation plans and
outstanding option awards, neither of which are included in outstanding shares above.
During 2009 and 2008, the Company sold 7.1 million and 11.2 million shares of common stock, respectively, as part of a $200 million equity offering
program generating net proceeds of $75 million and $122 million, respectively. Of the 2008 sales, $107 million was received in 2008 and $15 million was
received in January 2009 upon settlement of shares sold during the last three days of 2008. This equity offering program was completed in 2009.
In addition, UAL sold 19.0 million shares of UAL common stock in an underwritten, public offering for a price of $7.24 per share in October 2009. The
Company received approximately $132 million of net proceeds from this issuance. UAL contributed the proceeds from both its equity offering program and its
19.0 million common stock issuance to United, as further discussed in Note 17, “Related Party Transactions.”
In 2008, 11.1 million shares of UAL common stock were issued upon preferred stockholders’ elections to exercise their conversion option of all 5 million
shares of 2% mandatorily convertible preferred stock. This class of stock was retired in October 2008. The Company increased additional paid in capital by
$374 million and decreased the mandatorily convertible preferred stock by the same amount to record the impact of these conversions.
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In December 2007, the UAL Corporation Board of Directors approved a special distribution of $2.15 per share to holders of UAL common stock. The
distribution, of approximately $257 million, was paid on January 23, 2008 to the holders of record of UAL common stock on January 9, 2008. See Note 17,
“Related Party Transactions,” for additional information regarding this distribution.
UAL is authorized to issue 250 million shares of preferred stock (without par value). UAL was also authorized to issue two shares of junior preferred stock
(par value $0.01 per share) which were issued in 2006 and remained outstanding at December 31, 2009.
(5) UAL Per Share Amounts
As discussed in Note 1(p), “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—New Accounting Pronouncements,” the Company retrospectively adopted the
ASC 260 Update, effective January 1, 2009.
Basic per share amounts were computed by dividing earnings (loss) available to common stockholders by the weighted-average number of shares of UAL
common stock outstanding. Approximately 0.4 million, 2.0 million and 2.8 million UAL shares remaining to be issued to unsecured creditors and employees
under the bankruptcy plan of reorganization are included in outstanding basic shares for 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, as the necessary conditions for
issuance have been satisfied. UAL’s 6% Senior Notes due 2031 (the “6% Senior Notes”), are callable at any time at 100% of par value, and can be redeemed with
either cash or UAL common stock at UAL’s option. These notes are not included in the diluted earnings per share calculation, as it is UAL’s intent to redeem
these notes with cash. The table below represents the reconciliation of the basic earnings (loss) per share to diluted earnings (loss) per share.
(In millions, except per share)
UAL

Basic earnings (loss) per share:
Net income (loss)
Preferred stock dividend requirements
Earnings (loss) available to participating and common stockholders (a)
Earnings allocated to participating shareholders
Earnings (loss) available to common stockholders
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding
Earnings (loss) per share, basic
Diluted earnings (loss) per share:
Earnings (loss) available to common stockholders
Effect of 2% preferred securities
Effect of 4.5% Notes
Earnings (loss) available to common stockholders including the effect of dilutive securities
Basic weighted-average shares outstanding
Effect of non-vested stock options
Effect of non-vested restricted shares
Effect of 2% preferred securities
Effect of 4.5% Notes
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding
Earnings (loss) per share, diluted
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2009

Year Ended December 31,
2008

2007

$ (651)
—
$ (651)
—
$ (651)

$(5,396)
(3)
$(5,399)
—
$(5,399)

$ 360
(10)
$ 350
(5)
$ 345

150.7

126.8

117.4

$ (4.32)

$(42.59)

$ 2.94

$ (651)
—
—
$ (651)

$(5,399)
—
—
$(5,399)

$ 345
10
44
$ 399

150.7
—
—
—
—
150.7

126.8
—
—
—
—
126.8

117.4
0.2
1.1
11.0
20.8
150.5

$ (4.32)

$(42.59)

$ 2.65
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(In millions, except per share)
UAL

2009

Potentially dilutive shares excluded from diluted per share amounts:
Stock options
Restricted shares (b)
2% preferred securities
4.5% Senior Limited-Subordination Convertible Notes due 2021
5% Senior Convertible Notes due 2021
6% Senior Convertible Notes due 2029

Year Ended December 31,
2008
2007

6.4
0.8
—
22.2
3.4
39.7
72.5

4.4
1.4
3.1
22.2
3.4
—
34.5

4.0
0.9
—
—
3.2
—
8.1

(a) As discussed in Note 1(p), “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—New Accounting Pronouncements,” nonvested restricted shares are considered
participating securities securities under the ASC 260 Update.
(b) These shares will also impact the computation of basic earnings per share in periods with income, because the shares are considered participating securities
under the ASC 260 Update.
(6) Share-Based Compensation Plans
Compensation expense associated with the UAL share-based compensation plans has been pushed down to United.
The following table summarizes the number of awards authorized, issued and available for future grants under the Company’s share-based compensation
plans for management employees and directors as of December 31, 2009:
Authorized
Granted
Canceled awards available for reissuance
Available for future grants

Employees

Directors

8,339,284
(6,017,100)
1,004,221
3,326,405

175,000
(131,327)
—
43,673

Total

8,514,284
(6,148,427)
1,004,221
3,370,078

The following table provides information related to our share-based compensation plans.

(In millions)

Year Ended
December 31,
2009
2008
2007

Compensation cost:
Restricted stock units
Restricted stock
Stock options
Total compensation cost

$10
6
5
$21

$—
18
13
$ 31

$—
25
24
$ 49

The unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested awards at December 31, 2009 was $22 million. The unrecognized cost of the Company’s RSUs is
expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.2 years and the unrecognized cost of its stock options and restricted stock are expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.6 and 1.0 years, respectively.
2008 Incentive Compensation Plan (“ICP”). In 2008, UAL’s Board of Directors and stockholders approved the ICP. The ICP is an incentive compensation
plan that allows the Company to use different forms of
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compensation awards to attract, retain and reward eligible participants. This approval by stockholders also allows for the issuance of up to 8,000,000 additional
shares pursuant to awards granted under the ICP. The ICP replaced the UAL Corporation 2006 Management Equity Incentive Plan (“MEIP”), which was
automatically terminated with respect to future grants and otherwise replaced and superseded by the ICP. Any awards granted under the MEIP remain in effect
pursuant to their terms.
Any officer or employee of UAL or its affiliates is eligible to participate in the ICP. The ICP allows for the grant of options intended to qualify as incentive
stock options (“ISOs”) under Section 422 of the Code, non-qualified stock options (“NSOs”), stock appreciation rights (“SARs”), restricted share awards, RSUs,
performance compensation awards, performance units, cash incentive awards and other equity-based and equity-related awards. Any shares of our common stock
issued under the ICP will consist, in whole or in part, of authorized and unissued shares or of treasury shares.
The ICP provides that, unless otherwise provided in an award agreement, in the event of a change of control of the Company (as defined in the ICP):
•

any options and SARs outstanding as of the date the change of control is determined to have occurred become fully exercisable and vested, as of
immediately prior to the change of control;

•

all performance units, cash incentive awards and other awards designated as performance compensation awards will be paid out at the “target”
performance level on a prorated basis based on the number of days elapsed from the beginning of the performance period up to and including the
change of control; and

•

all other outstanding awards are automatically deemed exercisable or vested and all restrictions and forfeiture provisions related thereto lapse as of
immediately prior to such change of control.

The table below summarizes stock option activity pursuant to the ICP and the MEIP:

Options

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted
Exercised (a)
Canceled
Expired
Outstanding at end of year

4,353,672
2,535,300
(15,250)
(259,334)
(208,524)
6,405,864

Vested and expected to vest at end of period
Exercisable at end of period (b)

5,868,942
2,826,381

WeightedAverage
Exercise Price

$

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Life (in years)

32.80
4.93
3.43
15.96
35.91
22.42

7.38

23.28
34.38

7.27
5.97

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in millions)

$

18
—

(a) The aggregate intrinsic value of shares exercised in 2009, 2008 and 2007 was less than $1 million, less than $1 million and $11 million, respectively.
(b) Options represent the number of vested options at December 31, 2009. Aggregate intrinsic value is based only on vested options that have an exercise price
less than the UAL stock price at December 31, 2009.
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The following table provides additional information for options granted in each period:
Weighted-average fair value assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,
2008

2009

Risk-free interest rate
Dividend yield
Expected market price volatility of UAL common stock
Expected life of options (years)
Weighted-average fair value

1.9 – 3.1%
0%
92.5%
6.0
$
3.72

1.9 – 3.6%
0%
55%
5.0 – 6.3
$
7.86

2007

3.4 – 5.0%
0%
55%
5.8 – 6.2
$ 25.13

The fair value of options was determined at the grant date using a Black Scholes option pricing model, which requires the Company to make several
assumptions. The risk-free interest rate is based on the U.S. treasury yield curve in effect for the expected term of the option at the time of grant. The dividend
yield on UAL’s common stock was assumed to be zero since UAL did not have any plans to pay dividends at the time of the option grants.
The volatility assumptions were based upon historical volatilities of comparable airlines whose shares are traded using daily stock price returns equivalent
to the contractual term of the option. In addition, implied volatility data for both UAL and comparable airlines, using current exchange-traded options, was
utilized.
The expected life of the options was determined based upon a simplified assumption that the option will be exercised evenly from vesting to expiration.
Options have a contractual term of ten years. Stock options granted in 2009 typically vest over a three year period and options granted prior to 2009, typically
vest over a four year period. The terms of the 2009 awards do not provide for the acceleration of vesting upon retirement. Under the MEIP, awards to employees
that are retirement eligible either at the grant date or within the vesting period are considered vested at the respective retirement eligibility date.
The fair value of the restricted stock awards was primarily based upon the share price on the date of grant. Restricted stock vesting is similar to the stock
option vesting described above. Approximately 2.2 million of the 2.5 million non-vested RSUs and restricted stock awards at December 31, 2009 are expected to
vest. The RSUs may be settled in cash or stock at the discretion of the Human Resources Subcommittee of the UAL Board of Directors. UAL’s intent is to settle
the RSUs in cash; therefore, the obligations related to these RSUs has been recognized in these Financial Statements.
The table below summarizes UAL’s RSU and restricted stock activity for the twelve months ended December 31, 2009:

Restricted Stock Units

Non-vested at beginning of year
Granted
Vested
Canceled
Non-vested at end of year

—
1,831,500
—
(112,100)
1,719,400

WeightedAverage
Grant Price

$

—
4.90
—
4.86
4.90

Restricted Stock

1,430,675
67,200
(624,544)
(62,761)
810,570

WeightedAverage
Grant Price

$

35.32
6.99
33.94
36.05
27.82

The fair value of restricted shares vested in 2009, 2008 and 2007 was $21 million, $30 million and $28 million, respectively. The weighted-average grant
date price of restricted shares granted in 2008 and 2007 was $15.76 and $43.61, respectively.
(7) Income Taxes
In 2009, UAL and United recorded a tax benefit of $17 million and $16 million, respectively, primarily due to the impairment of indefinite lived intangibles
partially offset by the income tax effects of items recorded in
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other comprehensive income. In 2008, UAL and United recorded tax benefits of $25 million and $22 million, respectively, primarily due to the impairment and
sale of select indefinite-lived intangibles and the impact of an increase in state tax rates. This tax benefit is small relative to the Company’s losses; consequently,
the Company’s effective tax rate is insignificant, when compared to the 35% U.S. federal statutory rate. In 2007, the Company’s regular taxable income was
completely absorbed by utilization of its net operating loss (“NOL”) carry forward; however, the Company did incur an alternative minimum tax (“AMT”)
liability of $6 million.
The significant components of the income tax expense (benefit) are as follows:
(In millions)
UAL

2009

Current tax expense (benefit)
Deferred tax expense (benefit)

$
$

Year Ended December 31,
2008

(1)
(16)
(17)

$

—
(16)
(16)

$

$

2007

1
(26)
(25)

$

4
(26)
(22)

$

$

6
291
297

United

Current tax expense
Deferred tax expense (benefit)

$
$

$

$

6
290
296

The income tax provision differed from amounts computed at the statutory federal income tax rate, as follows:
(In millions)
UAL

2009

Income tax provision at statutory rate
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit
Goodwill
Nondeductible employee meals
Nondeductible interest expense
Medicare Part D Subsidy
Valuation allowance
Share-based compensation
Rate change beginning deferreds
Other, net

Year Ended December 31,
2008

$(234)
5
—
6
12
(7)
190
7
—
4
$ (17)

(In millions)
United

2009

Income tax provision at statutory rate
State income taxes, net of federal income tax benefit
Goodwill
Nondeductible employee meals
Nondeductible interest expense
Medicare Part D Subsidy
Valuation allowance
Share-based compensation
Rate change beginning deferreds
Other, net

Year Ended December 31,
2008

$(225)
6
—
6
12
(7)
182
7
—
3
$ (16)
101

$(1,896)
(68)
798
7
10
(12)
1,117
—
14
5
$ (25)

$(1,882)
(67)
798
7
10
(12)
1,101
—
14
9
$ (22)

2007

$229
12
—
10
21
(2)
15
2
—
10
$297

2007

$229
12
—
10
21
(2)
15
2
—
9
$296
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Temporary differences and carry forwards that give rise to a significant portion of deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2009 and 2008 were as
follows:
UAL
December 31,
(In millions)

United
December 31,

2009

2008

2009

2008

Deferred income tax asset (liability):
Employee benefits, including postretirement and
medical
Federal and state net operating loss carry forwards
Mileage Plus deferred revenue
AMT credit carry forwards
Fuel hedge unrealized losses
Restructuring charges
Other asset
Less: Valuation allowance
Total deferred tax assets

$ 1,328
2,707
1,644
287
—
104
291
(3,060)
$ 3,301

$ 1,345
2,622
1,541
298
294
139
337
(2,886)
$ 3,690

$ 1,358
2,697
1,647
287
—
99
284
(2,977)
$ 3,395

$ 1,374
2,622
1,545
298
294
134
329
(2,812)
$ 3,784

Depreciation, capitalized interest and other
Intangibles
Fuel hedge unrealized gains
Other liability
Total deferred tax liabilities

$(2,686)
(787)
(14)
(303)
$(3,790)

$(2,961)
(864)
—
(401)
$(4,226)

$(2,682)
(834)
(14)
(277)
$(3,807)

$(2,958)
(910)
(375)
$(4,243)

Net deferred tax liability

$ (489)

$ (536)

$ (412)

$ (459)

The federal and state NOL carry forwards relate to prior years’ NOLs, which may be used to reduce tax liabilities in future years. This tax benefit is mostly
attributable to federal pre-tax NOL carry forwards of $7.3 billion. If not utilized, the federal tax benefits will expire as follows: $1.0 billion in 2022, $0.4 billion
in 2023, $0.5 billion in 2024, $0.4 billion in 2025, and a total of $0.2 billion between 2026 and 2029. In addition, the majority of the state tax benefit of
$157 million, if not utilized, expires over a five to twenty year period.
At this time, the Company does not believe that the limitations imposed by the Internal Revenue Code on the usage of the NOL carry forward and other tax
attributes following an ownership change will have an effect on the Company. Therefore, the Company does not believe its exit from bankruptcy has had any
material impact on the utilization of its remaining NOL carry forward and other tax attributes.
The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income (including the reversals of deferred tax liabilities)
during the periods in which those temporary differences will become deductible. The Company’s management assesses the realizability of its deferred tax assets,
and records a valuation allowance for the deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a portion, or all of the deferred tax assets, will not be realized. As
a result, the Company has a valuation allowance against its deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, to reflect management’s assessment regarding
the realizability of those assets. The Company expects to continue to maintain a valuation allowance on deferred tax assets until there is sufficient positive
evidence of future realization. The current valuation allowance of $3,060 million and $2,977 million for UAL and United, respectively, if reversed in future years
will reduce income tax expense. The current valuation allowance reflects an increase from December 31, 2008 of $174 million and $165 million for UAL and
United, respectively.
In addition to the deferred tax assets listed above, the Company has an $803 million unrecorded tax benefit at December 31, 2009 attributable to the
difference between the amount of the financial statement expense and the allowable tax deduction for UAL common stock issued to certain unsecured creditors
and employees
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pursuant to the Company’s bankruptcy reorganization. The Company is accounting for this unrecorded tax benefit by analogy to ASC Topic 718 which requires
recognition of the tax benefit to be deferred until it is realized as a reduction of taxes payable. If not utilized, unrecognized tax benefits of $159 million will expire
in 2025, $484 million in 2026 and $160 million over a period from 2027 through 2050.
Our liability for uncertain tax positions was $16 million, $20 million and $35 million at December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Included in the
ending balance are unrecognized tax benefits of $16 million that would affect our effective tax rate if recognized. During 2009, there were no uncertain tax
positions that were effectively settled. Excluding these items and amounts related to tax positions for which the ultimate deductibility is highly certain, there were
no other significant changes in the components of the liability during the year ended December 31, 2009. Any change in the amount of unrecognized tax benefits
within the next twelve months is not expected to significantly impact the Company’s results of operations or financial position.
There are no amounts included in the balance at December 31, 2009 for tax positions for which the ultimate deductibility is highly certain but for which
there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility.
The Company records penalties and interest relating to uncertain tax positions in “Other operating expenses” and “Interest expense,” respectively, within its
Financial Statements. There are no significant accrued interest or penalties or interest or penalty expense recorded in the Financial Statements.
The following is a reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits related to uncertain tax positions:
(In millions)

Balance at January 1,
Increase in unrecognized tax benefits as a result of tax positions taken during the current period
Decrease in unrecognized tax benefits as a result of tax positions taken during a prior period
Decrease in unrecognized tax benefits relating to settlements with taxing authorities
Balance at December 31,

2009

2008

2007

$ 20
1
(5)
—
$ 16

$ 35
1
(11)
(5)
$ 20

$ 48
1
(14)
—
$ 35

Our income tax returns for tax years after 2002 remain subject to examination by the Internal Revenue Service and state taxing jurisdictions.
United and its domestic consolidated subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return with UAL. Under an intercompany tax allocation policy,
United and its subsidiaries compute, record and pay UAL for their own tax liability as if they were separate companies filing separate returns. In determining their
own tax liabilities, United and each of its subsidiaries take into account all tax credits or benefits generated and utilized as separate companies and they are
compensated for the aforementioned tax benefits only if they would be able to use those benefits on a separate company basis.
(8) Retirement and Postretirement Plans
The Company maintains various retirement plans, both defined benefit, which primarily cover certain international employees, and defined contribution,
which cover substantially all U.S. employees. The Company also provides certain health care benefits, primarily in the U.S., to retirees and eligible dependents,
as well as certain life insurance benefits to certain retirees reflected as “Other Benefits” in the tables below. The Company has reserved the right, subject to
collective bargaining agreements, to modify or terminate the health care and life insurance benefits for both current and future retirees.
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The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of the benefit obligation and plan assets, the funded status and the
amounts recognized in the Financial Statements for the defined benefit and other postretirement plans (“Other Benefits”):
Pension Benefits
Year Ended
December 31,
2009
2008

(In millions)

Other Benefits
Year Ended
December 31,
2009
2008

Change in Benefit Obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Plan participants’ contributions
Actuarial (gain) loss
Curtailments
Foreign currency exchange rate changes
Federal subsidy
Gross benefits paid
Benefit obligation at end of year

$221
6
9
1
3
(1)
8
—
(19)
$228

$ 236
6
8
1
(9)
—
(8)
—
(13)
$ 221

$ 1,958
28
114
70
109
(9)
—
11
(212)
$ 2,069

$ 1,987
32
122
69
(46)
(1)
—
12
(217)
$ 1,958

Change in Plan Assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Employer contributions
Plan participants’ contributions
Foreign currency exchange rate changes
Expected transfer out
Benefits paid
Fair value of plan assets at end of year

$124
26
18
1
7
(1)
(19)
$156

$ 167
(39)
22
1
(14)
—
(13)
$ 124

$

57
2
141
70
—
—
(212)
$
58

$

Funded status—Net amount recognized

$ (72)

$ (97)

$ (2,011)

$(1,901)

Year Ended
December 31,
2009
2008

56
3
146
69
—
—
(217)
$
57

Year Ended
December 31,
2009
2008

Amounts recognized in the Financial Statements consist of:
Noncurrent asset
Current liability
Noncurrent liability
Net amount recognized

$ 24
(3)
(93)
$ (72)

$

19
(4)
(112)
$ (97)

$

—
(83)
(1,928)
$ (2,011)

$

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income consist of:
Net actuarial gain (loss)
Prior service credit
Net amount recognized

$ (1)
18
$ 17

$ —
—
$ —

$

$

$

155
—
155

—
(89)
(1,812)
$(1,901)

$

286
—
286

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $228 million and $221 million at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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The following information relates to all pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation and a projected benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:
December 31,
2009
2008

(In millions)

Projected benefit obligation
Accumulated benefit obligation
Fair value of plan assets

$ 211
176
104

$ 211
175
94

Year Ended December 31,
Pension Benefits
Other Benefits

(In millions)
2009

2008

2009

2008

2007

$

8
9
(9)
—
(1)
$ 7

$ 28
114
(4)
(9)
(20)
$109

$ 32
122
(4)
(1)
(17)
$132

$ 39
121
(3)
—
(11)
$ 146

$ 37
(2)
$ 35

$ (32)
1
$ (31)

$ 111
20
$131

$ (49)
17
$ (32)

$(145)
11
$(134)

$ 37

$ (24)

$240

$100

$ 12

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost and Other Amounts Recognized in Other
Comprehensive Income
Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Curtailment gain
Recognized actuarial (gain) loss
Net periodic benefit cost

$ 6
8
(7)
(1)
2
$ 8

$

6
8
(10)
—
(2)
$ 2

Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit Obligations Recognized in Other Comprehensive
Income
Current year actuarial (gain) loss and prior service (credit)
Amortization of actuarial gain (loss)
Total recognized in other comprehensive income

$(15)
(2)
$(17)

Total recognized in net periodic benefit cost and other comprehensive income

$ (9)

2007

The estimated amounts that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost in 2010 for actuarial gains
(losses) are less than $(1) million for pension plans and $11 million for other postretirement plans.
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The assumptions below are based on country-specific bond yields and other economic data. The weighted-average assumptions used for the benefit plans
were as follows:
Pension Benefits

Other Benefits

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations

At December 31,
2009
2008

At December 31,
2009
2008

Discount rate
Rate of compensation increase

3.87%
3.27%

5.69%
—

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net expense

Year Ended
December 31,
2009
2008

Year Ended
December 31,
2009
2008

Discount rate
Expected return on plan assets
Rate of compensation increase

3.72%
5.01%
3.02%

5.97%
6.50%
—

3.59%
2.94%

4.16%
6.31%
3.22%

5.97%
—

6.27%
6.50%
—

The expected return on plan assets is based on an evaluation of the historical behavior of the broad financial markets and the Company’s investment
portfolio.
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (ultimate trend rate in 2015)

2009

2008

8.50%
5.00%

8.00%
5.00%

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the Other Benefits plan. A 1% change in the assumed health care
trend rate for the Successor Company would have the following additional effects:
(In millions)

1% Increase

1% Decrease

Effect on total service and interest cost for the year ended December 31,
2009
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation at December 31, 2009

$
$

$
$

22
241

(16)
(199)

The Company believes that the long-term asset allocations on average will approximate the targeted allocations and regularly reviews the actual asset
allocations to periodically rebalance the investments to the targeted allocations when appropriate. Target asset allocations are established with the objective of
achieving the plans’ expected return on assets without undue investment risk. The target allocation for the defined benefit pension plan assets is 60% in equity
securities and 40% in fixed income securities, while 100% of other postretirement plan assets are invested in a deposit administration fund, described below.
106

Table of Contents
The fair values of the Company’s pension plan and other benefit plan assets at December 31, 2009, by asset category, are as follows:

(In millions)

Pension Plan Assets:
Fixed income funds
Equity funds
Annuity insurance contract
Other investments
Total
Other Benefit Plan Assets:
Deposit administration fund

December 31,
2009

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting
Date Using
Quoted Prices in
Significant
Active Markets
Other
Significant
for
Observable
Unobservable
Identical Assets
Inputs
Inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)

$

$

$

25
81
41
9
156

$

58

$

$

—
—
—
—
—

$

$

25
81
—
9
115

$

—
—
41
—
41

$

—

$

—

$

58

Level 3 Financial Assets and Liabilities—All
(In millions)

Balance at January 1, 2009
Purchases
Sales
Return on plan assets
Balance at December 31, 2009

$103
10
(16)
2
$ 99

Fixed income and equity funds. The fair market value reflects the combined market value of the underlying stock and/or market value of the underlying
debt securities. The market value of the common stock portion, if any, of the fund is based on the primary-exchange closing prices of the stocks of the fund.
Insurance contract and deposit administration fund. Both of these investments are stable investment vehicles structured to provide investment income.
Generally, the deposit administration fund assets are not subject to market volatilities as the fund earns a stated return, determined at the beginning of each year.
Similarly, the insurance contract is not subject to market volatility. Due to the conservative nature of the underlying assets, the cost of these investments
approximates their fair value.
Expected 2010 employer contributions are $12 million for the pension plans and $153 million for the other postretirement benefit plans. The following
benefit payments are expected to be made by the Company in future years for the Company’s retirement plans:

(In millions)

Pension

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
Years 2015 – 2019

$

107

10
11
11
12
12
58

Other
Benefits

$ 155
157
156
156
160
864

Other Benefits
—
subsidy
receipts

$

13
15
17
19
21
131
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Defined Contribution Plans
Depending upon the employee group, contributions consist of matching contributions and/or non-elective employer contributions. The Company’s
contribution percentages vary from 1 to 16% of eligible earnings depending on the terms of each plan.
Effective March 1, 2006, an International Association of Machinists (“IAM”) replacement plan was implemented. The IAM replacement plan is a multiemployer plan whereby the assets contributed by the Company (based on hours worked) may be used to provide benefits to employees of other participating
companies, since assets contributed by all participating companies are not segregated or restricted to provide benefits specifically to employees of one
participating company. In accordance with the applicable accounting for multi-employer plans, the Company would only recognize a withdrawal obligation if it
becomes probable it would withdraw from the plan. The Company recognized $244 million, $248 million and $232 million of expense for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, for all of the Company’s defined contribution employee retirement plans, of which $34 million, $34 million and
$28 million, respectively, related to the IAM multi-employer plan.
(9) Segment Information
Segments. The Company manages its business by two reporting segments: Mainline and Regional Affiliates (United Express operations). The Company
manages its business as an integrated network with assets deployed across various regions. See Note 1(i), “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—
Regional Affiliates,” for additional information related to Regional Affiliates expenses.
The accounting policies for each of these reporting segments are the same as those described in Note 1, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,”
except that segment financial information has been prepared using a management approach which is consistent with how the Company internally disperses
financial information for the purpose of making internal operating decisions. The Company evaluates segment financial performance based on earnings before
income taxes, special items and gain on sale of investments. As discussed in the notes to the tables below, the Company does not allocate corporate overhead to
its Regional Affiliates segment; although certain selling and operational costs are allocated to Regional Affiliates.
The following table presents UAL segment information for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007:
(In millions)
UAL

2009

Revenue:
Mainline
Regional Affiliates
Special revenue items
Total
Depreciation and amortization:
Mainline
Regional Affiliates (a)
Segment earnings (loss) and reconciliation to Financial Statements:
Mainline
Regional Affiliates
Special revenue items (Note 18)
Goodwill impairment
Other impairments and special items (Note 18)
Gain on sale of investment (Note 19)
Less: Equity earnings in affiliates (b)
Consolidated earnings (loss) before income taxes and equity earnings in affiliates)
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Year Ended December 31,
2008

2007

$13,271
3,064
—
$16,335

$17,096
3,098
—
$20,194

$17,035
3,063
45
$20,143

$

$

$

925
9

$

405
122
45
—
44
41
(5)
652

902
8

$ (419)
125
—
—
(374)
—
(4)
$ (672)

932
6

$ (2,655)
(150)
—
(2,277)
(339)
—
(6)
$ (5,427)

$
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(a) Regional Affiliates depreciation expense relates to aircraft used in Regional Affiliates operations. This depreciation is included in Regional Affiliates
expense in the Company’s Financial Statements.
(b) Equity earnings are part of the Mainline segment.
The following table presents United segment information for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007:
(In millions)
United

2009

Revenue:
Mainline
Regional Affiliates
Special revenue items
Total
Depreciation and amortization:
Mainline
Regional Affiliates
Segment earnings (loss) and reconciliation to Financial Statements:
Mainline
Regional Affiliates
Special revenue items (Note 18)
Goodwill impairment
Other impairments and special items (Note 18)
Gain on sale of investment (Note 19)
Less: Equity earnings in affiliates
Consolidated earnings (loss) before income taxes and equity earnings in affiliates)

Year Ended December 31,
2008
2007

$13,295
3,064
—
$16,359

$17,139
3,098
—
$20,237

$17,023
3,063
45
$20,131

$

$

$

925
9

$

403
122
45
—
44
41
(5)
650

902
8

$ (395)
125
—
—
(374)
—
(4)
$ (648)

932
6

$ (2,610)
(150)
—
(2,277)
(339)
—
(6)
$ (5,382)

$

The Company does not allocate interest income or interest expense to the Regional Affiliates segment in reports used to evaluate segment performance.
Therefore, all amounts classified as interest income and interest expense in the Financial Statements relate to the Mainline segment.
At December 31, 2009 and 2008, UAL’s and United’s net carrying values of Mainline and Regional Affiliates segment assets were as follows:
UAL
(In millions)

Mainline segment
Regional Affiliates segment
Total assets

United

2009

2008

2009

2008

$18,400
284
$18,684

$19,419
46
$19,465

$18,441
284
$18,725

$19,589
46
$19,635

Regional Affiliates assets include only those assets directly associated with its operations. The Company does not allocate corporate assets to the Regional
Affiliates segment. The Company’s capital expenditures are reported in the Company’s Financial Statements and are related to its Mainline operations.
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UAL and United’s operating revenue by principal geographic region (as defined by the U.S. Department of Transportation) for the years ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 is presented in the table below.
(In millions)
UAL

2009

Domestic (U.S. and Canada)
Pacific
Atlantic
Latin America
Total UAL
Add (Less): UAL other domestic
Total United

Year Ended December 31,
2008
2007

$10,775
2,628
2,538
394
$16,335
24
$16,359

$12,819
3,712
3,055
608
$20,194
43
$20,237

$14,006
3,262
2,365
510
$20,143
(12)
$20,131

The Company attributes revenue among the geographic areas based upon the origin and destination of each flight segment. United’s operations involve an
insignificant level of dedicated revenue-producing assets in geographic regions as the overwhelming majority of the Company’s revenue producing assets
(primarily U.S. registered aircraft) generally can be deployed in any of its geographic regions, as any given aircraft may be used in multiple geographic regions on
any given day.
(10) Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
The table below presents the components of the Company’s accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax. See Note 8, “Retirement and
Postretirement Plans” and Note 12, “Fair Value Measurements and Financial Instruments,” for further information on these items.
(In millions)

2009

Pension and other postretirement gains, net of tax
Financial instrument losses, net of tax
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax

$ 57
(22)
$ 35

As of December 31,
2008
2007

$130
(37)
$ 93

$141
—
$141

During the 2006 adoption of a new accounting policy related to the impact of the Medicare Part D subsidy on postretirement plans, the Company recorded
deferred taxes on the portion of other comprehensive income. In 2007, the Company recomputed deferred taxes on the portion of the initial other comprehensive
balance at the adoption date excluding the amount of comprehensive income attributable to the Medicare Part D subsidiary. This adjustment of $40 million is
excluded from 2007 comprehensive income and is reported separately in the Company’s Financial Statements.
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(11) Debt Obligations and Card Processing Agreements
At December 31,
2009
2008

(In millions)

Secured notes, 0.43% to 11.6%, due 2010 to 2019
Enhanced Equipment Trust Certificates, 2.7% to 12%, due 2011 to 2022 (a)
Amended Credit Facility, 2.3%, due 2014
4.5% Senior Limited Subordination Convertible Notes due 2021 (b)
6% Senior Notes due 2031 (b)
12.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2012
5% Senior Convertible Notes due 2021 (b)
Other unsecured debt
Total debt
Less: unamortized debt discount (c)
Less: current portion of long-term debt—United (d)
Long-term debt, net—United (e)
UAL 6% Senior Convertible Notes due 2029 (e)
Other UAL debt
Long-term debt, net—UAL

$1,767
2,193
1,255
726
580
175
150
78
6,924
(347)
(544)
6,033
345
—
$6,378

$2,391
1,940
1,273
726
546
—
150
—
7,026
(385)
(780)
$5,861
—
1
$5,862

(a) EETCs consist of current year series 2009-1 and 2009-2 issuances as well as any outstanding issuances from series 2007, 2001 and 2000.
(b) Instruments were issued by UAL and pushed down to United as discussed below.
(c) Includes discount related to the Company’s adoption of ASC 470 Update. See Note 1(p), “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—New Accounting
Pronouncements,” for additional information.
(d) UAL’s current portion of long-term debt was $1 million and $2 million higher than United’s current debt as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively,
due to debt at a direct subsidiary of UAL.
(e) In 2009, UAL issued $345 million of 6% Senior Convertible Notes. This debt is only an obligation of UAL, not United.
The Company has a $255 million revolving loan commitment available under Tranche A of its credit facility. As of both December 31, 2009 and 2008, the
Company used $254 million of the Tranche A commitment capacity for letters of credit. In addition, under a separate agreement, the Company had $20 million of
letters of credit issued as of December 31, 2009.
The table below presents UAL’s contractual principal payments at December 31, 2009 under then-outstanding long-term debt agreements in each of the
next five calendar years. Actual amounts are adjusted for remaining Series 2009-1 and 2009-2 EETCs issued in January 2010 and the Company’s Senior Secured
Notes and Senior Second Lien Notes offering, as discussed below in 2010 Financings and in Note 21, “Subsequent Events,” are also presented. In accordance
with applicable accounting standards the Company’s December 31, 2009 financial statement classification of its current and long-term portions of debt
obligations reflect the reclassification of $449 million of current obligations to long-term obligations for the EETCs that were repaid in January 2010.
(In millions)
Year

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
After 2014

Contractual Maturities
at December 31, 2009

Net effect
of January 2010
EETC transactions

Effect of
January 2010
Secured Notes

Pro-forma
Contractual
Maturities

$

$

$

$

$

994
915
637
315
1,547
2,862
7,270
111

$

(449)
(288)
58
192
177
558
248

$

—
—
—
700
—
—
700

$

545
627
695
1,207
1,724
3,420
8,218
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As of December 31, 2009, assets with a net carrying value of $8.0 billion, principally aircraft and related spare parts, route authorities and Mileage Plus
intangible assets were pledged under various loan and other agreements. After giving effect to the January 2010 debt transactions, assets with a carrying value of
$8.9 billion were pledged under various loan and other agreements.
2010 Financings
See Note 21, “Subsequent Events,” for additional information related to 2010 financing activities. In January 2010, the Company completed the planned
issuance of its remaining equipment notes relating to the Series 2009-1 and 2009-2 EETCs and used the proceeds to redeem all its existing equipment notes
issued in connection with the Series 2000-2 and 2001-1 EETCs, as discussed under 2009 Financings, below. As of December 31, 2009, most of the proceeds from
the issuance of the certificates were held in escrow pending completion of the refinancing activity that occurred in January 2010.
In January 2010, the Company issued $500 million aggregate principal amount of 9.875% Senior Secured Notes due 2013 (the “Senior Secured Notes”)
and $200 million aggregate principal amount of 12.0% Senior Second Lien Notes due 2013 (the “Senior Second Lien Notes”), guaranteed on a senior unsecured
basis by UAL and UAL’s subsidiaries that are guarantors or direct obligors under its Amended Credit Facility. The Senior Secured Notes and Senior Second Lien
Notes are secured by United’s route authority to operate between the United States and Japan and beyond Japan to points in other countries, certain airport takeoff
and landing slots and airport gate leaseholds utilized in connection with these routes. The notes contain a covenant, among others, that requires the Company to
maintain a minimum ratio of collateral value to debt obligations, which if not met may result in the acceleration of payments under the Senior Secured Notes and
Senior Second Lien Notes. The Company may meet this obligation by providing certain non-cash collateral and/or by redeeming, repaying, prepaying,
repurchasing or otherwise retiring its indebtedness, including by redeeming the Senior Secured Notes and Senior Second Lien Notes pursuant to any available
optional redemption provisions of the indentures governing the Senior Secured Notes and Senior Second Lien Notes. The interest on both the Senior Secured
Notes and Senior Second Lien Notes is payable semi-annually. The Company will contribute additional assets, primarily aircraft and engines, flight simulators
and certain domestic slots, to the Amended Credit Facility to allow the release of the collateral under the Senior Secured Notes and the Senior Second Lien Notes
from the Amended Credit Facility at a later date.
2009 Financings
In November 2009, United created two pass-through trusts which issued approximately $810 million aggregate face amount of Series 2009-2A and 20092B EETCs. The EETCs represent fractional undivided interests in the respective pass-through trusts and are not obligations of United. The proceeds of the
issuance of the EETCs were used to purchase equipment notes issued by United, of which $114 million were issued during 2009 with the remainder issued in
January 2010. The payment obligations of United under the equipment notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by UAL. The equipment notes have a
stated interest rate of 9.75% for the Series A equipment notes and 12.0% for the Series B equipment notes, payable semi-annually. The net proceeds from the
issuance of these equipment notes were used to repay, at par, the entire $493 million aggregate face amount of the equipment notes related to its outstanding
Series 2000-2 EETCs, as well as for general corporate purposes. The equipment notes issued in connection with the Series 2009-2 EETCs are secured by a total
of 37 aircraft, four of which were previously unencumbered.
In October 2009, United created a pass-through trust which issued approximately $659 million aggregate face amount of Series 2009-1 EETCs. The EETCs
represent fractional undivided interests in the pass-through trust and are not obligations of United. The proceeds of the issuance of the EETCs were used to
purchase equipment notes issued by United, of which $47 million were issued during 2009 with the remainder issued in January 2010. The payment obligations
of United under the equipment notes are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by UAL. The equipment notes have a stated interest rate of 10.4%, payable semiannually. The net proceeds from the issuance of these equipment notes were used to repay, at par, the entire $568 million aggregate
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face amount of the equipment notes related to its outstanding Series 2001-1 EETCs, as well as for general corporate purposes. The transaction refinanced 29
aircraft covered under an existing EETC facility and financed two previously unencumbered aircraft.
In October 2009, UAL issued $345 million aggregate principal amount of 6% Senior Convertible Notes due 2029 (the “6% Senior Convertible Notes”),
generating approximately $336 million of net proceeds. The 6% Senior Convertible Notes are unsecured and may be converted by holders into shares of UAL’s
common stock at an initial conversion rate of 115.1013 shares of UAL common stock per $1,000 principal amount of notes, equivalent to an initial conversion
price of approximately $8.69 per share. Interest is payable semi-annually. UAL may redeem for cash all or part of the 6% Senior Convertible Notes on or after
October 15, 2014, and the 6% Senior Convertible Notes are subject to mandatory redemption in certain circumstances. In addition, holders of the 6% Senior
Convertible Notes have the right to require UAL to purchase all or a portion of their Notes on each of October 15, 2014, October 15, 2019 and October 15, 2024,
payable by UAL in cash, shares of UAL common stock or a combination thereof, at its option.
In October 2009, the Company completed total financings of $129 million with one of its regional flying partners. These financings consist of an $80
million secured note financing from its regional flying partner and an amendment to the Company’s capacity agreement with the regional flying partner that
allows a $49 million deferral of future obligations under that agreement. Interest obligations due under the secured note are at a fixed interest rate; principal and
interest payments are due monthly over the ten-year secured note term but may be repaid at any time partially or in full without penalty. The Company’s
obligations under the note are secured by certain of the Company’s ground equipment and slots. If a specified collateral ratio is not maintained, the Company
must either provide additional collateral or prepay the note to increase the collateral coverage ratio to the required minimum. Interest due on the deferral of future
obligations are at a fixed rate and the principal amount must be repaid within ten years. The Company also has the ability to repay the deferred obligations at any
time partially or in full without penalty. Also, the regional carrier can require the Company to repay the deferred obligations if the Company’s unrestricted liquid
assets drop below a specified dollar amount.
In August 2009, the Company completed a $30 million aircraft mortgage financing secured by one B777 aircraft. The financing agreement requires
monthly principal and interest payments and a balloon payment upon final maturity in March 2016. Interest is based on a variable interest rate plus a margin. The
Company has the right of prepayment with no penalty in certain circumstances.
In July 2009, United issued $175 million aggregate principal amount of 12.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2012 (the “12.75% Notes”). The 12.75% Notes
were issued at a discount of approximately $17 million from their principal amount at maturity. Interest on the principal of the 12.75% Notes is payable quarterly.
The 12.75% Notes are secured by a lien on certain aircraft spare parts owned by United and are guaranteed by UAL. United is required to maintain certain
collateral ratios, including a ratio of the outstanding principal to each of the following: total collateral, Section 1110 collateral and rotables/repairables collateral.
If any of these ratios fall below the required minimum, United would be required to provide additional collateral or redeem some or all of the 12.75% Notes to
comply with the minimum collateral ratio. In addition, the 12.75% Notes have a mandatory pro-rata redemption requirement if certain of United’s in-service fleet
falls below certain specified amounts. The Company has the right to redeem the 12.75% Notes at any time at par, plus accrued interest, plus a potential makewhole amount. In addition, holders of the 12.75% Notes may require immediate repayment of the 12.75% Notes at par, plus accrued interest, in the event of
default.
In March 2009, the Company entered into a $134 million term loan agreement. This agreement requires quarterly interest and principal payments with the
remaining principal balance due at the end of the five year term. The applicable interest rate is variable. The loan is callable 42 months after its issuance and is
secured by certain of the Company’s spare engines. The agreement also cross-collateralizes the Company’s other obligations with this lender.
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Variable Interest Entities
The Company evaluated whether the trusts formed for its EETC financings are variable interest entities (“VIEs”) required to be consolidated by the
Company under ASC Topic 810, Consolidations, and determined that the trusts are VIEs. The Company evaluated whether there is an implicit or explicit
arrangement that absorbs variability from the trusts. Based on the Company’s analysis as described below, the Company determined that it does not absorb
variability of the trusts and that it does not have a variable interest in the trusts.
The Company evaluated the design of the trusts, including (1) the nature of the risk in the trusts and (2) the purpose for which the trusts were created and
the variability that the trusts are designed to create and pass along to their variable interest holders. The primary risk of the trusts is credit risk (i.e. the risk that
United, the issuer of the equipment notes, may be unable to make its principal and interest payments). The purpose of the trusts is to enhance the credit worthiness
of United’s debt obligation through certain bankruptcy protection provisions, a liquidity facility (in certain of the EETC structures) and improved loan-to-value
ratios for more senior debt classes. These credit enhancements lower United’s total borrowing cost. The other purpose of the trust is to receive principal and
interest payments on the equipment notes purchased by the trusts from United and remit these proceeds to the trusts’ certificate holders.
United did not invest in or obtain a financial interest in the trusts. Rather United has an obligation to make its interest and principal payments on its
equipment notes held by the trusts. By design, United was not intended to have any voting or non-voting equity interest in the trusts or to absorb variability from
the trusts. Based on this analysis, the Company determined that it is not required to consolidate the trusts under ASC Topic 810, Consolidations.
2008 Financings
In June 2008, United entered into an $84 million credit agreement secured by three aircraft, including two Airbus A320s and one Boeing B777. Borrowings
under the agreement are at a variable interest rate based on LIBOR plus a margin. The loan has a final maturity in June 2015.
In July 2008, United completed a $241 million credit agreement secured by 26 of the Company’s owned A319 and A320 aircraft. Borrowings under the
agreement were at a variable interest rate based on LIBOR plus a margin. Periodic principal and interest payments are required until the final maturity in June
2019. The Company may not prepay the loan prior to July 2012. This agreement did not change the number of the Company’s unencumbered aircraft as the
Company used available equity in these previously mortgaged aircraft as collateral for this financing.
See Note 13, “Commitments, Contingent Liabilities and Uncertainties,” for a discussion of the Company’s municipal bond guarantees.
Other Debt
Push Down of UAL Securities. The following instruments issued by UAL have been pushed down to United and are reflected as debt of United.
4.5% Senior Limited-Subordination Convertible Notes due 2021 (the “4.5% Notes”). The 4.5% Notes are unsecured, mature on June 30, 2021 and do not
require any payment of principal prior to maturity. Interest is payable semi-annually, in arrears. The 4.5% Notes may be converted, at the noteholders’ option, into
shares of UAL common stock. The conversion price, which was initially $34.84 per share, is subject to adjustment for certain dilutive items and events. Effective
January 10, 2008, the conversion price was adjusted to $32.64 per share due to UAL’s January 23, 2008 special distribution to holders of UAL common stock.
The 4.5% Notes are junior, in right of payment upon liquidation, to the Company’s obligations under the 5% Notes (as defined
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below) and 6% Senior Notes (as defined below) discussed below. The 4.5% Notes are callable, at UAL’s option, at any time at par, plus accrued and unpaid
interest, and can be redeemed with cash, shares of UAL common stock or a combination thereof, beginning in 2011, except that UAL may elect to pay the
redemption price in shares of UAL common stock only if the common stock has traded at no less than 125% of the conversion price for the 60 consecutive
trading days immediately prior to the redemption date. In addition, on each of June 30, 2011 and June 30, 2016, noteholders have the option to require UAL to
repurchase the 4.5% Notes. UAL may elect to pay the repurchase price in cash, shares of UAL common stock or a combination thereof. The 4.5% Notes are
guaranteed by United.
5% Senior Convertible Notes due 2021 (the “5% Notes”). The 5% Notes are unsecured and do not require any payment of principal prior to maturity.
Interest is payable semi-annually, in arrears. The 5% Notes may be converted, at the noteholders’ option, into shares of UAL common stock at any time at an
initial conversion price of $46.86 per share. Effective January 10, 2008, the conversion price was adjusted to $43.90 per share due to UAL’s January 23, 2008
special distribution to holders of UAL common stock. This conversion price is subject to adjustment for certain dilutive items and events. The 5% Notes are
callable, at UAL’s option, at any time at par, plus accrued and unpaid interest, and can be redeemed with cash, shares of UAL common stock or a combination
thereof, beginning in 2011. In the case of any such redemption, the Company may only redeem these notes with shares of common stock if UAL common stock
has traded at no less than 125% of the conversion price for the 60 consecutive trading days immediately prior to the redemption date. The noteholders have the
option to require UAL to repurchase the 5% Notes on February 1, 2011 and February 1, 2016. UAL may elect to pay the repurchase price in cash, shares of UAL
common stock or a combination thereof. The 5% Notes are guaranteed by United.
6% Senior Notes due 2031 (the “6% Senior Notes”). The 6% Senior Notes are unsecured and do not require any payment of principal prior to maturity.
Interest is payable semi-annually, in arrears. UAL may pay interest in cash, or, on or prior to December 31, 2011, UAL may pay interest by issuing UAL common
stock with a market value as of the close of business immediately preceding the relevant interest payment date equal to the amount of interest due or by issuing
additional 6% Senior Notes. The 6% Senior Notes are callable, at UAL’s option, at any time at par, plus accrued and unpaid interest, and can be redeemed with
cash, shares of UAL common stock or a combination thereof. Upon a change in control or other event as defined in the indenture governing the 6% Senior Notes,
UAL has an obligation to redeem the 6% Senior Notes. In the case of such mandatory redemption, UAL may elect to redeem the notes in cash, shares of UAL
common stock or a combination thereof. UAL paid interest in-kind of approximately $33 million and $31 million on the 6% Senior Notes during the years ended
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively. The 6% Senior Notes are guaranteed by United.
Contingent Senior Unsecured Notes. In addition to the debt issued as noted above, UAL is obligated to issue to or for the benefit of the PBGC
8% Contingent Senior Notes (the “8% Notes”) with an aggregate $500 million principal amount in up to eight equal tranches of $62.5 million (with no more than
two tranches issued as a result of each issuance trigger event) upon the occurrence of certain financial triggering events. An issuance trigger event occurs when,
among other things, the Company’s EBITDAR exceeds $3.5 billion over the prior twelve months ending June 30 or December 31 of any applicable fiscal year,
beginning with the fiscal year ended December 31, 2009 and ending with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2017. However, if the issuance of a tranche would
cause a default under any other securities then existing, UAL may satisfy its obligations with respect to such tranche by issuing UAL common stock having a
market value equal to $62.5 million. Each issued tranche will mature 15 years from its respective issuance date, with interest payable in cash in semi-annual
installments, and will be callable, at UAL’s option, at any time at par, plus accrued and unpaid interest.
Amended Credit Facility
The Amended Credit Facility is comprised of two separate tranches: (i) a Tranche A consisting of $255 million revolving commitment available for
Tranche A loans and standby letters of credit and (ii) a Tranche B consisting of a term loan which had a balance of $1,255 million as of December 31, 2009. The
Tranche A loans mature on February 1, 2012 and the Tranche B loans mature on February 1, 2014.
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Borrowings under the Amended Credit Facility bear interest at a floating rate, which, at the Company’s option, can be either a base rate or a LIBOR rate,
plus an applicable margin of 1.0% in the case of base rate loans and 2.0% in the case of LIBOR loans. The Tranche B term loan requires regularly scheduled
semi-annual payments of principal equal to $9 million. Interest is payable at least every three months. The Company may prepay some or all of the Tranche B
loans from time to time, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount prepaid plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of prepayment, but without
penalty or premium.
Amended Credit Facility Collateral. United’s obligations under the Amended Credit Facility are unconditionally guaranteed by UAL Corporation and
certain of its direct and indirect domestic subsidiaries, other than certain immaterial subsidiaries (the “Guarantors”). As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the
Amended Credit Facility was secured by certain of United’s international route authorities, international slots, related gate interests and associated rights. The
international routes include the Pacific (Narita, China and Hong Kong) and Atlantic (London Heathrow) routes (the “Primary Routes”) that United had as of
February 2, 2007.
In connection with the issuance of the Senior Secured Notes and the Senior Second Lien Notes in January 2010, certain assets currently encumbered under
the Amended Credit Facility are expected to be released and substituted by replacement collateral consisting of aircraft, spare engines, primary slots at LaGuardia
Airport and Reagan National Airport in Washington D.C. and flight simulators with an appraised value of approximately $830 million. The assets expected to be
released consist of route authorities to operate between the United States and Japan, and beyond Japan to points in other countries, certain airport takeoff and
landing slots and airport gate leaseholds utilized in connection with these routes, and were used as collateral for the January 2010 offering. See Note 21,
“Subsequent Events,” for further information related to this transaction.
Amended Credit Facility Covenants. The Amended Credit Facility contains covenants that in certain circumstances may limit the ability of United and the
Guarantors to, among other things, incur or guarantee additional indebtedness, create liens, pay dividends on or repurchase stock, make certain types of
investments, enter into transactions with affiliates, sell assets or merge with other companies, modify corporate documents or change lines of business. The
Company was in compliance with all of its Amended Credit Facility covenants as of December 31, 2009 and 2008. In May 2008, the Company amended the
terms of certain financial covenants of the Amended Credit Facility. The Company paid $109 million to amend the credit facility. These costs are being deferred
and amortized over the remaining life of the agreement. The following is a summary of the financial covenants after the May amendment.
The Company must maintain a specified minimum ratio of EBITDAR to the sum of the following fixed charges for all applicable periods: (a) cash interest
expense and (b) cash aircraft operating rental expense. EBITDAR represents earnings before interest expense net of interest income, income taxes, depreciation,
amortization, aircraft rent and certain other cash and non-cash credits and charges as further defined by the Amended Credit Facility. The other adjustments to
EBITDAR include items such as foreign currency transaction losses, increases in our deferred revenue obligation, share-based compensation expense, nonrecurring or unusual losses, any non-cash non-recurring charge or non-cash restructuring charge, a limited amount of cash restructuring charges, certain cash
transaction costs incurred with financing activities and the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.
The Amended Credit Facility also requires compliance with the following financial covenants: (i) a minimum unrestricted cash balance (as defined by the
Amended Credit Facility) of $1.0 billion, and (ii) a minimum collateral ratio of 150% at any time, or 200% at any time following the release of the Pacific
(Narita, China and Hong Kong) and Atlantic (London Heathrow) routes (together, the “Primary Routes”) having an appraised value in excess of $1 billion on the
aggregate, unless the Primary Routes are the only collateral then pledged, in which case a minimum collateral ratio of 150% is required. The minimum collateral
ratio is calculated as the market value of collateral to the sum of (a) the aggregate outstanding amount of the loans, plus (b) the undrawn amount of outstanding
letters of credit, plus (c) the unreimbursed amount of drawings under such letters of credit and (d) the termination value of certain interest rate protection and
hedging agreements with the Amended Credit Facility lenders and their affiliates.
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The Company’s requirement to meet the fixed charge coverage ratio is determined as set forth below:
Number of
Preceding Months Covered

Nine
Twelve
Twelve
Twelve

Period Ending

December 31, 2009
March 31, 2010
June 30, 2010
September 30, 2010 and each quarter ending thereafter

Required
Fixed Charge
Coverage Ratio

1.2 to 1.0
1.3 to 1.0
1.4 to 1.0
1.5 to 1.0

Failure to comply with any applicable covenants in effect for any reporting period could result in a default under the Amended Credit Facility unless the
Company obtains a waiver of or amendment of such covenants, or otherwise mitigates or cures, any such default. A default could result in a termination of the
Amended Credit Facility and a requirement to accelerate repayment of all outstanding facility borrowings. Additionally, the Amended Credit Facility contains a
cross default provision with respect to final judgments that exceed $50 million. Although the Company was in compliance with all required financial covenants as
of December 31, 2009 continued compliance depends on many factors, some of which are beyond the Company’s control, including the overall industry revenue
environment and the level of fuel costs.
Credit Card Processing Agreements. The Company has agreements with financial institutions that process customer credit card transactions for the sale of
air travel and other services. Under certain of the Company’s card processing agreements, the financial institutions either require, or have the right to require, that
United maintain a reserve equal to a portion of advance ticket sales that have been processed by that financial institution, but for which the Company has not yet
provided the air transportation (referred to as “relevant advance ticket sales”).
During November 2008, United entered into the aforementioned collateral substitution agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank (“Chase”) that suspended
until January 20, 2010 the requirement for United to maintain additional cash reserves with this processor of bank cards if United’s month-end balance of
unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments falls below $2.5 billion. In exchange for this benefit, United granted the processor a security
interest in certain of United’s owned aircraft. In October 2009, the Company notified Chase of its intention to terminate the collateral substitution agreement
which unencumbered collateral with a book value of approximately $0.7 billion.
Under the reinstated Chase credit card processing reserve arrangements, in addition to certain other risk protections provided to the processor, the amount
of cash collateral reserve will be determined based on the amount of unrestricted cash held by the Company as defined under the Amended Credit Facility. If the
Company’s unrestricted cash balance is at or more than $2.5 billion as of any calendar month-end measurement date, its required reserve will remain at
$25 million. However, if the Company’s unrestricted cash is less than $2.5 billion, its required reserve will increase to a percentage of relevant advance ticket
sales as summarized in the following table:
Required % of
Relevant Advance Ticket Sales

Total Unrestricted Cash Balance (a)

Less than $2.5 billion
Less than $2.0 billion
Less than $1.0 billion

15%
25%
50%

(a) Includes unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at month-end, including certain cash amounts already held in reserve, as defined by
the agreement.
Based on the Company’s December 31, 2009 unrestricted cash balance, the Company was not required to provide Chase with cash collateral above the
current $25 million reserve balance.
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United entered into a new agreement with American Express on March 1, 2009 which has an initial five year term. Under the agreement, in addition to
certain other risk protections provided to American Express, the Company will be required to provide reserves based primarily on its unrestricted cash balance
and net current exposure as of any calendar month-end measurement date, as summarized in the following table:
Required % of
Net Current Exposure(b)

Total Unrestricted Cash Balance (a)

Less than $2.4 billion
Less than $2.0 billion
Less than $1.35 billion
Less than $1.2 billion

15%
25%
50%
100%

(a) Includes unrestricted cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments at month-end, including certain cash amounts already held in reserve, as defined by
the agreement.
(b) Net current exposure equals relevant advance ticket sales less certain exclusions, and as adjusted for specified amounts payable between United and the
processor, as further defined by the agreement.
The agreement permits the Company to provide certain replacement collateral in lieu of cash collateral, as long as the Company’s unrestricted cash is above
$1.35 billion. Such replacement collateral may be pledged for any amount of the required reserve up to the full amount thereof, with the stated value of such
collateral determined according to the agreement. Replacement collateral may be comprised of aircraft, slots and routes, real estate or other collateral as agreed
between the parties.
An increase in the future reserve requirements as provided by the terms of either, or both, of the Company’s material card processing agreements could
materially reduce the Company’s liquidity.
(12) Fair Value Measurements and Derivative Instruments
Fair Value Information. A fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value has been established by GAAP. The hierarchy gives
the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority to unobservable
inputs (Level 3 measurement). This hierarchy requires entities to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. The three
levels of inputs used to measure fair value are as follows:
Level 1
Level 2

Level 3

Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted assets or
liabilities.
Observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in
active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active; or other inputs
that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.
Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets
or liabilities.
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The table below presents disclosures about the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recognized in the Company’s Financial Statements.

(In millions)

Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring
Basis:
Financial assets:
Noncurrent EETC available-for-sale securities
Current fuel derivative instruments
Fuel derivative instrument receivables (a)
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities:
Current fuel derivative instruments
Fuel derivative instrument payables (a)
Total financial liabilities

December 31,
2009

Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date Using
Quoted Prices in
Active Markets
Significant Other
Significant
for
Observable
Unobservable
Identical Assets
Inputs
Inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)

$

51
138
22
211

$

5
15
20

$

$
$
$

$

$

—
—
—
—

$

—
—
—

$

—
—
—

$

—
—
—

$

—
138
22
160

$

$

$

51
—
—
51

5
15
20

$

December 31,
2008

Financial assets:
Noncurrent EETC available-for-sale securities
Foreign currency receivables
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities:
Fuel derivative instrument payables (a)
Fuel derivative instruments (b)
Total financial liabilities

$
$
$
$

46
10
56

$

(140)
(727)
(867)

$

$

$

—
10
10

$

$
$

46
—
46

(140)
(727)
(867)

$

(a) Fuel derivative instrument receivables and payables represent pending settlements of contract premiums and expired contracts. See below for further
discussion of fuel derivative gains and losses.
(b) As of December 31, 2008, $9 million of the total fuel derivative payable was classified as a noncurrent liability. See below for further discussion of fuel
derivative gains and losses.
Level 3 Financial Assets and Liabilities
Available-for-Sale
Securities
(In millions)

2009

Balance at January 1,
Unrealized gains (losses) relating to instruments held at reporting date
Sales, return of principal and other
Balance at December 31,

$

$

46
15
(10)
51

2008

$

$

91
(37)
(8)
46

As of December 31, 2009, the Company’s EETC securities have an amortized cost basis of $73 million and unrealized losses of $22 million and represent a
portion of the Company’s previously issued and outstanding EETC securities which were repurchased in open market transactions in 2007. As of December 31,
2009, these
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investments have been in an unrealized loss position for a period of over twelve months. However, United has not recognized an impairment loss in earnings
related to these securities because United does not intend or expect to be required to sell the securities and expects to recover its entire amortized cost basis.
United expects to collect the full principal balance and all related interest payments. All changes in the fair value of these investments have been classified within
Accumulated other comprehensive income in the Financial Statements.
The Company records derivative instruments as a derivative asset or liability (on a gross basis) in its Financial Statements, and accordingly records any
related collateral on a gross basis. The table below presents the fair value amounts of derivative assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2009. In 2009, the
Company adopted new ASC derivative disclosure requirements prospectively; therefore, the December 31, 2008 amounts are not presented in the following table.
Asset Derivatives
Balance Sheet
December 31,
Location
2009

(In millions)

Derivatives not receiving hedge accounting treatment:
Fuel contracts due within one year
Total derivatives

Receivables

$
$

138
138

Liability Derivatives
Balance Sheet
Location

Derivative instruments

December 31,
2009

$
$

5
5

Derivative instruments and investments presented in the tables above have the same fair value as their carrying value. The table below presents the carrying
values and estimated fair values of the Company’s financial instruments not presented in the tables above:
2009

2008

(In millions)

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

UAL long-tem debt (including current portion)
United long-tem debt (including current portion)
Lease deposits

$ 6,923
6,577
326

$6,298
5,745
340

$ 6,644
6,641
326

$4,192
4,189
351

Fair value of the above financial instruments was determined as follows.
Fair Value Methodology

Description

Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash,
Trade Receivables, Fuel Hedge
Collateral Deposits, Accounts Payable
and Other Accrued Liabilities

The carrying amounts approximate fair value because of the short-term maturity of these assets and liabilities.

Enhanced Equipment Trust Certificates

The EETCs are not actively traded on an exchange. Fair value is based on the trading prices of United’s EETCs or
similar EETC instruments issued by other airlines. The Company uses internal models and observable and
unobservable inputs to corroborate third party quotes. Because certain inputs are unobservable, the Company
categorized inputs to the EETC fair value valuation as Level 3. Significant inputs to the valuation models include
contractual terms, risk-free interest rates and credit spreads.

Fuel Derivative Instruments

Derivative contracts are privately negotiated contracts and are not exchange traded. Fair value measurements are
estimated with option pricing models that employ observable and unobservable inputs. Inputs to the valuation
models include contractual terms, market prices, yield curves, fuel price curves and measures of volatility, among
others.
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Fair Value Methodology

Description

Foreign Currency Derivative Instruments

Fair value is determined with a formula utilizing observable inputs. Significant inputs to the valuation models
include contractual terms, risk-free interest rates and forward exchange rates.

Long-Term Debt

The fair value is based on the quoted market prices for the same or similar issues, discounted cash flow models
using appropriate market rates and a pricing model to value conversion rights in UAL’s convertible debt instruments.
The Company’s credit risk was considered in estimating fair value.

Derivative Credit Risk and Fair Value
The Company is exposed to credit losses in the event of nonperformance by counterparties to its derivative instruments. The Company enters into master
netting agreements with its derivative counterparties. While the Company records derivative instruments on a gross basis, the Company monitors its net
derivative position with each counterparty to monitor credit risk. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had a net derivative asset of $135 million with certain
of its fuel derivative counterparties; therefore, this amount represents the potential credit-risk loss if these counterparties fail to perform. The Company had a net
derivative payable of $2 million with its remaining fuel counterparties at December 31, 2009.
Based on the fair value of the Company’s fuel derivative instruments, our counterparties may require the Company to post collateral when the price of the
underlying commodity decreases and we may require our counterparties to provide us with collateral when the price of the underlying commodity increases. The
Company was required to post $10 million of cash collateral with certain of its fuel derivative counterparties at December 31, 2009. The Company routinely
reviews the credit risk associated with its counterparties and believes its collateral is fully recoverable from its counterparties as of December 31, 2009. The
collateral is classified as Fuel hedge collateral deposits in the accompanying Financial Statements.
The Company reviews the credit risk associated with its derivative counterparties and may require collateral from its counterparties in the event the
Company has a significant net derivative asset with the counterparties. As of December 31, 2009, the Company’s counterparties had posted cash collateral of $49
million into escrow accounts, which the Company has classified as restricted cash.
The Company considered counterparty credit risk in determining the fair value of its financial instruments. The Company considered credit risk to have a
minimal impact on fair value because varying amounts of collateral are either provided by or received from United’s hedging counterparties based on current
market exposure and the credit-worthiness of the counterparties.
Derivative Instruments
Instruments classified as economic hedges were not designated as cash flow or fair value hedges under accounting principles related to hedge accounting.
All changes in the fair value of these economic hedges are recorded currently in income, with the offset to either current assets or liabilities each reporting period.
Economic fuel hedge gains and losses are classified as part of aircraft fuel expense and fuel hedge gains and losses from instruments that are not deemed
economic hedges are classified as part of nonoperating income. Foreign currency hedge gains and losses are classified as part of nonoperating income.
Aircraft Fuel Hedges
The Company has a risk management strategy to hedge a portion of its price risk related to projected jet fuel requirements. As of December 31, 2009, the
Company’s hedge portfolio consisted of swaps and purchased call options. The swaps utilized by the Company generally provide that the counterparty will pay to
(receive from)
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United when the price of the underlying commodity is above (below) the price specified in the swap agreement. Generally, the Company’s hedge instruments are
based on crude oil, heating oil or jet fuel. As of December 31, 2009, the Company’s hedge positions were primarily based on either heating oil or jet fuel.
The following table presents the fuel hedge (gains) losses recognized during the periods presented and their classification in the Financial Statements. Fuel
hedge gains (losses) are not allocated to Regional Affiliates expense.

(In millions)

Cash fuel hedge (gains) losses
Non-cash fuel hedge (gains) losses
Total fuel hedge (gains) losses

Mainline Fuel

Nonoperating Income
(Expense)

Total

Year Ended December 31,
2009
2008
2007

Year Ended December 31,
2009
2008
2007

Year Ended December 31,
2009
2008
2007

$ 482
(586)
$(104)

$ 40
568
$ 608

$ (63)
(20)
$ (83)

$ 248
(279)
$ (31)

$ 249
279
$ 528

$ —
—
$ —

$ 730
(865)
$(135)

$ 289
847
$ 1,136

$ (63)
(20)
$ (83)

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had hedged approximately 36% of its 2010 consolidated fuel consumption primarily with a combination of swaps
and purchased call options. The Company’s hedge position at December 31, 2009 consisted of a notional amount of 9.7 million barrels with purchased call
options at a weighted-average crude oil equivalent strike price of $76 per barrel and 9.9 million barrels with swaps at a crude oil equivalent average price of $77
per barrel.
Foreign Currency Derivatives
The Company generates revenues and incurs expenses in numerous foreign currencies. Such expenses include fuel, aircraft leases, commissions, catering,
personnel expense, advertising and distribution costs, customer service expense and aircraft maintenance. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates impact the
Company’s results of operations and cash flows through changes in the dollar value of foreign currency-denominated operating revenues and expenses. When
management believes risk reduction can be effectively achieved, the Company may use foreign currency forward contracts to hedge a portion of its exposure to
changes in foreign currency exchange rates. The Company does not enter into foreign currency derivative contracts for purposes other than risk management. As
of December 31, 2009, the Company did not have any foreign currency derivatives. Hedge gains (losses) were not significant in any of the periods presented in
these Financial Statements. Foreign currency derivative gains and losses are classified in nonoperating expense in the Company’s Financial Statements.
Fair Value of Nonfinancial Assets
The table below presents disclosures about fair value measurements of nonfinancial assets that were performed during 2009. The fair values as of the
measurement dates are as follows:

(In millions)

Nonfinancial Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis:
Nonoperating aircraft and spare engines
Tradenames

Significant
Unobservable
Inputs
(Level 3)

Total
Gains/(Losses)
(Level 3)

$

$

310
420

(93)
(150)

See Note 3, “Asset Impairments and Intangible Assets,” for a discussion of the factors warranting fair value assessment of the above assets. The Company
utilized a market approach to estimate the fair value of the aircraft.
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The market approach used by the Company included prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving comparable assets, as well
as pricing guides and other sources. The Company considered the current market for the aircraft, the condition of the aircraft and the expected proceeds from the
sale of the assets, among other factors. The Company considers the fair value of these aircraft to be a Level 3 measurement because significant unobservable
inputs, such as aircraft conditions, were considered in the fair value measurement.
As of February 28, 2009 and June 30, 2009, the Company estimated the fair value of its tradenames using a discounted cash flow model. The key inputs to
the discounted cash flow model were the Company’s historical and estimated future revenues, an assumed royalty rate and discount rate among others. While
certain of these inputs are observable, significant judgment was required to select certain inputs from observable and unobservable market data. This fair value
measurement was considered a Level 3 measurement. The decrease in fair value of the tradename was due to lower estimated revenues resulting from the weak
economic environment and the Company’s capacity reductions, among other factors. Certain of the Company’s tradenames with a carrying amount of $570
million were written down to their fair value of $420 million as of June 30, 2009, resulting in an impairment charge of $150 million, which was included in
earnings for year ended December 31, 2009. See Note 3, “Asset Impairments and Intangible Assets,” for additional information related to these asset
impairments.
(13) Commitments, Contingent Liabilities and Uncertainties
General Guarantees and Indemnifications. In the normal course of business, the Company enters into numerous real estate leasing and aircraft financing
arrangements that have various guarantees included in the contracts. These guarantees are primarily in the form of indemnities. In both leasing and financing
transactions, the Company typically indemnifies the lessors and any tax/financing parties, against tort liabilities that arise out of the use, occupancy, operation or
maintenance of the leased premises or financed aircraft. Currently, the Company believes that any future payments required under these guarantees or indemnities
would be immaterial, as most tort liabilities and related indemnities are covered by insurance (subject to deductibles). Additionally, certain leased premises such
as fueling stations or storage facilities include indemnities of such parties for any environmental liability that may arise out of or relate to the use of the leased
premises.
Bankruptcy Considerations. The Company emerged from bankruptcy protection in 2006 pursuant to a plan of reorganization confirmed by the United
States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Illinois, Eastern Division (the “Bankruptcy Court”). During the course of its Chapter 11 proceedings, the
Company successfully reached settlements with most of its creditors and resolved all claims pending in the bankruptcy case. On December 8, 2009, the
Bankruptcy Court issued a final decree closing all bankruptcy cases against the Company, effective as of that date.
The Company litigated regarding the extent to which the Los Angeles International Airport (“LAX”) municipal bond debt was entitled to secured status
under Section 506(a) of the Bankruptcy Code. In 2007, the Bankruptcy Court issued its written opinion holding that the value of the security interest was
approximately $33 million, which was affirmed by the District Court and had been accrued by the Company at December 31, 2008. On May 5, 2009, the United
States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit reversed the lower courts and held that LAX bondholders were entitled to a full recovery of the principal amount
due on the bonds, approximately $60 million. In the second quarter of 2009, United recorded a charge of $27 million to increase its obligation for this matter to
$60 million. In October 2009, the Company entered into a settlement agreement with the LAX bondholders and the City of Los Angeles (“LA”) to settle the
obligation for an amount that represents the principal amount of the bonds plus some accrued interest. The settlement agreement was approved by the Bankruptcy
Court and is now considered final. In 2009, the Company also amended terms of its lease agreement with LA. The lease agreement provides that LA will pay part
of the settlement obligation on behalf of the Company and, in return, the Company’s future rent obligations were increased. As a result of this settlement
agreement and the amended lease agreement with LA, the Company reclassified a portion of the bankruptcy reserve to a rent liability which will be recognized
over the term of the revised lease agreement.
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Claims Resolution Process. At the time United emerged from bankruptcy, several matters were unresolved. United recorded its best estimate of the cash
obligations that would be required to settle these matters. The table below includes activity related to the administrative and priority claims and other bankruptcyrelated claim reserves including reserves related to legal, professional and tax matters, among others, for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007,
respectively. These reserves are primarily classified in other current liabilities in the Financial Statements. Certain of the accrual adjustments identified below are
a direct result of the Company’s ongoing efforts to resolve certain bankruptcy pre-confirmation contingencies and do not relate directly to the Company’s ongoing
performance; therefore, the Company considers these adjustments to be special.
(In millions)

2009

2008

Balance at January 1,
Payments
Accruals reclassified
Adjustments impacting income:
Accrual adjustments classified as special revenue credits
Other changes in contingent liabilities classified as revenues
Accrual adjustments classified as special expense (credit)
Accrual adjustments classified as other operating expense (credit)
Total adjustments impacting income
Balance at December 31,

$ 96
(58)
(67)

$ 98
(7)
—

$ 325
(83)
(31)(a)

—
—
27
2
29
$—

—
—
—

(45)(b)
(26)(c)
(30)(d)
(12)(e)
(113)
$ 98

Total charge (credit) to operating income during period from above items
Additional special operating expense credit
Total operating income charge (benefit)

$ 29
—
$ 29

5
5
$ 96
$

5
—

$

5

2007

$(113)
(14)(f)
$(127)

(a) In 2007, these accruals were deemed to be no longer directly related to bankruptcy proceedings; therefore, the accruals were reclassified to non-bankruptcy
accruals. In 2009, the reclassification primarily relates to the LAX lease settlement discussed above.
(b) In the third quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a change in estimate for certain liabilities relating to bankruptcy administrative claims. This adjustment
resulted directly from the progression of the Company’s ongoing efforts to resolve certain bankruptcy pre-confirmation contingencies; therefore, it was
classified as a special operating revenue credit of $45 million that relates to both Mainline passenger revenues ($37 million) and Regional affiliates revenues
($8 million).
(c) The Company separately recorded a $26 million benefit from a change in estimate to certain other contingent liabilities based largely on changes in
underlying facts and circumstances occurring during the third quarter of 2007. This benefit was recorded as a credit to Mainline passenger revenues of
$22 million and to Regional Affiliates revenues of $4 million.
(d) The 2007 amount relates to special operating expense credits of $30 million relating to litigation for San Francisco and LAX municipal bond secured
litigation. The 2009 amount relates to the LAX municipal bond secured litigation matter.
(e) This amount relates to accrual adjustments impacting various operating expense line items that the Company recorded due to a change in estimate for certain
liabilities relating to bankruptcy administrative claims. These adjustments resulted directly from the progression of the Company’s ongoing efforts to resolve
certain bankruptcy pre-confirmation contingencies.
(f) This amount relates to an accrual adjustment that the Company recorded due to a change in estimate for certain liabilities relating to bankruptcy
administrative claims. This adjustment, which was recorded as a credit to other operating expense, resulted directly from the progression of the Company’s
ongoing efforts to resolve certain bankruptcy pre-confirmation contingencies.
Legal and Environmental Contingencies. The Company has certain contingencies resulting from litigation and claims (including environmental issues)
incident to the ordinary course of business. Management believes, after considering a number of factors, including (but not limited to) the information currently
available, the views
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of legal counsel, the nature of contingencies to which the Company is subject and prior experience, that the ultimate disposition of these contingencies will not
materially affect the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations.
The Company records liabilities for legal and environmental claims when a loss is probable and reasonably estimable. These amounts are recorded based
on the Company’s assessments of the likelihood of their eventual disposition. The amounts of these liabilities could increase or decrease in the near term, based
on revisions to estimates relating to the various claims.
Given the Air Transportation Safety and System Stabilization Act of 2001, the resolution of the majority of the wrongful death and personal injury cases by
settlement and the withdrawal of all related proofs of claim from the Company’s Chapter 11 reorganization, and that claimants’ recoveries are limited to insurance
proceeds, the Company believes that it will have no financial exposure for claims arising out of the events of September 11, 2001.
The Company continues to analyze whether any potential liability may result from air cargo/passenger surcharge cartel investigations following the receipt
of a Statement of Objections that the European Commission (the “Commission”) issued to 26 companies on December 18, 2007. The Statement of Objections
sets out evidence related to the utilization of fuel and security surcharges and exchange of pricing information that the Commission views as supporting the
conclusion that an illegal price-fixing cartel had been in operation in the air cargo transportation industry. United received a copy of the Statement of Objections
and has provided written and oral responses vigorously disputing the Commission’s allegations against the Company. Nevertheless, United will continue to
cooperate with the Commission’s ongoing investigation. Based on its evaluation of all information currently available, the Company has determined that no
reserve for potential liability is required and will continue to defend itself against all allegations that it was aware of or participated in cartel activities. However,
penalties for violation of European competition laws can be substantial and a finding that the Company engaged in improper activity could have a material
adverse impact on our consolidated financial position and results of operations.
Contingent Senior Unsecured Notes. UAL is obligated to issue up to $500 million of the 8% Contingent Senior Notes to the PBGC in up to eight equal
tranches of $62.5 million upon the occurrence of certain financial triggering events. An issuance trigger event occurs when, among other things, the Company’s
EBITDAR exceeds $3.5 billion over the prior twelve months ending June 30 or December 31 of any applicable fiscal year, beginning with the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2009 and ending with the fiscal year ended December 31, 2017. In certain circumstances, UAL common stock may be issued in lieu of issuance of
the 8% Notes. See Note 11, “Debt Obligations and Card Processing Agreements,” for further information.
Commitments. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had commitments of $622 million that would require the payment of an estimated $200 million in
2010, $201 million in 2011, $99 million in 2012, $43 million in 2013 and $40 million in 2014 and $39 million thereafter. These purchase commitments are for the
acquisition of property and equipment, including aircraft enhancements, information technology assets and the relocation of the Company’s operations center. In
addition, the Company has cancellable orders to purchase 42 A319 and A320 aircraft for $2.3 billion in years 2011 to 2015.
Guarantees and Off-Balance Sheet Financing.
Fuel Consortia. The Company participates in numerous fuel consortia with other carriers at major airports to reduce the costs of fuel distribution and
storage. Interline agreements govern the rights and responsibilities of the consortia members and provide for the allocation of the overall costs to operate the
consortia based on usage. The consortium (and in limited cases, the participating carriers) have entered into long-term agreements to lease certain airport fuel
storage and distribution facilities that are typically financed through tax-exempt bonds (either special facilities lease revenue bonds or general airport revenue
bonds), issued by various local municipalities. In
125

Table of Contents
general, each consortium lease agreement requires the consortium to make lease payments in amounts sufficient to pay the maturing principal and interest
payments on the bonds. As of December 31, 2009, approximately $1.2 billion principal amount of such bonds were secured by significant fuel facility leases in
which United participates, as to which United and each of the signatory airlines has provided indirect guarantees of the debt. As of December 31, 2009, United’s
contingent exposure was approximately $214 million principal amount of such bonds based on its recent consortia participation. The Company’s contingent
exposure could increase if the participation of other carriers decreases. The guarantees will expire when the tax-exempt bonds are paid in full, which ranges from
2010 to 2040. The Company did not record a liability at the time these indirect guarantees were made.
Municipal Bond Guarantees. The Company has guaranteed interest and principal payments on $270 million of the Denver International Airport bonds,
which were originally issued in 1992, but were subsequently redeemed and reissued in 2007 and are due in 2032 unless the Company elects not to extend its lease
in which case the bonds are due in 2023. The bonds were issued in two tranches—approximately $170 million aggregate principal amount of 5.25% discount
bonds and $100 million aggregate principal amount of 5.75% premium bonds. The outstanding bonds and related guarantee are not recorded in the Company’s
Financial Statements at December 31, 2009 or 2008. The related lease agreement is recorded on a straight-line basis resulting in ratable accrual of the final
$270 million lease obligation over the expected lease term through 2032.
Labor Negotiations. Approximately 82% of United’s employees are represented by various U.S. labor organizations. During the second quarter of 2009,
the Company began negotiations with its labor groups as all of United’s domestic labor contracts became amendable during January 2010. Consistent with its
contractual commitments, United served “Section 6” notices to all six of its labor unions during April 2009 to commence the collective bargaining process. In
August 2009, United filed for mediation assistance in conjunction with three of its six unions–the Air Line Pilots Association, the Association of Flight
Attendants–Communication Workers of America and the International Association of Machinists and Aerospace Workers. In January 2010, the Company also
filed for mediation assistance in conjunction with another of its unions, the Professional Airline Flight Control Association. These filings were consistent with
commitments contained in current labor contracts which provided that the parties would jointly invoke the mediation services of the National Mediation Board in
the event agreements had not been reached by August 1, 2009. While the labor contract with the International Brotherhood of Teamsters also contemplates filing
for mediation, the parties have agreed to continue in direct negotiations. The current contract with the International Federation of Professional and Technical
Engineers does not contemplate filing for mediation. The outcome of these negotiations may materially impact the Company’s future financial results. However,
it is too early in the process to assess the timing or magnitude of the impact, if any.
(14) Lease Obligations
The Company leases aircraft, airport passenger terminal space, aircraft hangars and related maintenance facilities, cargo terminals, other airport facilities,
other commercial real estate, office and computer equipment and vehicles.
In connection with fresh-start reporting requirements, aircraft operating leases were adjusted to fair value and a net deferred asset of $263 million was
recorded in the Financial Statements on the Effective Date, representing the net present value of the differences between stated lease rates in agreed term sheets
and the fair market lease rates for similar aircraft. As of December 31, 2009, the balance of the net deferred asset was $124 million. These deferred amounts are
amortized on a straight-line basis as an adjustment to aircraft rent expense over the individual applicable remaining lease terms, generally from one to 15 years.
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At December 31, 2009, the Company’s leased aircraft, scheduled future minimum lease payments under capital leases (substantially all of which are for
aircraft) and operating leases having initial or remaining noncancelable lease terms of more than one year were as follows:

Mainline
Aircraft

Operating Leases
Regional Affiliates
Aircraft

113

252

Number of Leased Aircraft in Operating Fleet
United and UAL

Nonaircraft

`

Capital
Leases (b)

—

116

(In millions)

Payable during (a)
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
After 2014
UAL minimum lease payments

$

330
331
321
293
291
363
$ 1,929

Imputed interest (at rates of 2.1% to 20.0%)
Present value of minimum lease payments
Current portion
Long-term obligations under capital leases

$

$

410
416
396
374
331
878
2,805

$ 623
557
503
465
417
2,798
$5,363

$

604
423
211
200
186
671
2,295

(675)
1,620
(426)
$ 1,194

(a) The operating lease payments presented above include future payments for 28 nonoperating aircraft as of December 31, 2009.
(b) Aircraft capital lease obligations are for 76 Mainline and 40 Regional Affiliates aircraft. Includes non-aircraft capital lease payments aggregating $22 million
in years 2010 through 2013 and Regional Affiliates capital lease obligations of $44 million in both 2010 and 2011, $42 million in both 2012 and 2013, $34
million in 2014 and $259 million thereafter.
A portion of United’s aircraft lease obligations and related accrued interest ($295 million in equivalent U.S. dollars at December 31, 2009) is denominated
in foreign currencies that expose the Company to risks associated with changes in foreign exchange rates. To hedge against this risk, United has placed foreign
currency deposits ($295 million in equivalent U.S. dollars at December 31, 2009), primarily for euros, to meet foreign currency lease obligations denominated in
that respective currency. Since unrealized mark-to-market gains or losses on the foreign currency deposits are offset by the losses or gains on the foreign currency
obligations, United has hedged its overall exposure to foreign currency exchange rate volatility with respect to its foreign lease deposits and obligations. In
addition, the Company has $31 million of U.S. dollar denominated deposits to meet U.S. dollar denominated lease obligations. These deposits will be used to
repay an equivalent amount of recorded capital lease obligations.
Aircraft operating leases have initial terms of one to 26 years, with expiration dates ranging from 2010 through 2024. The Company has facility operating
leases that extend to 2032. Under the terms of most leases, the Company has the right to purchase the aircraft at the end of the lease term, in some cases at fair
market value and in others, at fair market value or a percentage of cost. See Note 1(i), “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies—Regional Affiliates,” for
additional information related to Regional Affiliates contracts and Note 2, “Company Operational Plans,” for information related to accrued rent related to the
Company’s fleet reductions.
Certain of the Company’s aircraft lease transactions contain provisions such as put options giving the lessor the right to require us to purchase the aircraft at
lease termination for a certain amount resulting in residual value guarantees. Leases containing this or similar provisions are recorded as capital leases on the
balance sheet and, accordingly, all residual value guarantee amounts contained in the Company’s aircraft leases are fully reflected as capital lease obligations in
the Financial Statements.
127

Table of Contents
The Company has various operating leases for 103 aircraft in which the lessors are trusts established specifically to purchase, finance and lease aircraft to
United. These leasing entities related to 92 of these aircraft meet the criteria for VIEs; however, the Company does not hold a significant variable interest in and is
not considered the primary beneficiary of the leasing entities since the lease terms are consistent with market terms at the inception of the lease and do not include
a residual value guarantee, fixed-price purchase option or similar feature that obligates us to absorb decreases in value, or entitles the Company to participate in
increases in the value of the financed aircraft. In addition, of the Company’s total aircraft operating leases only 11 of these aircraft leases have leasing entities that
meet the criteria for VIEs and allow the Company to purchase the aircraft at other than fair market value. These leases have fixed price purchase options specified
in the lease agreements which at the inception of the lease approximated the aircraft’s expected fair market value at the option date.
In December 2009, United entered into a $40 million sale-leaseback involving five previously unencumbered aircraft. The final maturities of the leases
under this agreement have terms of approximately five years. All of the leased aircraft were classified as capital leases resulting in an increase to capital lease
assets and capital lease obligations. An $11 million deferred loss on sale will be recognized in future periods.
In October 2009, the Company amended a capacity agreement with one of its regional flying partners. The amendment extended the lease terms on 40
existing aircraft and added 14 new aircraft to the amended agreement. As a result of this amendment, capital lease assets and obligations increased by $250
million.
In August 2009, the Company completed a $41 million sale-leaseback for five aircraft. The aircraft are being leased back over an average period of 6.5
years. These leases are considered to be capital leases resulting in an increase to capital lease assets and capital lease obligations. A $13 million deferred loss on
sale will be recognized in future periods.
In January 2009, the Company completed a $94 million sale-leaseback agreement for nine aircraft. The leaseback agreement, which has a one-year term, a
single one-year renewal option, and a bargain purchase option, was accounted for as a capital lease. This transaction resulted in a $94 million increase to the
Company’s capital lease assets and capital lease obligations. An $84 million deferred loss on the sale will be recognized in future periods.
In January 2009, the Company amended its lease of the Chicago O’Hare International Airport cargo facility. This amendment resulted in proceeds to the
Company of approximately $160 million in return for the Company’s agreement to vacate its currently leased cargo facility earlier than the lease expiration date
in order for the airport authority to continue with its long-term airport modernization plan. The Company currently has not determined its future cargo plans, as
the Company is not required to vacate its current facility until approximately mid-2011. The Company has recorded a noncurrent deferred credit of $160 million
as of December 31, 2009. As of December 31, 2009, the Company had leasehold improvements in its current cargo facility of approximately $23 million. The
Company will ratably accelerate the amortization of these assets so that they are fully amortized by the Company’s required relocation date in mid-2011.
In December 2008, United entered into a $149 million sale-leaseback involving 15 previously unencumbered aircraft. The final maturities of the leases
under this agreement vary and have an average term of seven years. Two of the leased aircraft are being accounted for as operating leases, with the remaining
13 accounted for as capital leases.
In October 2008, United entered into a $125 million sale-leaseback involving nine previously unencumbered aircraft. This financing agreement terminates
in 2010; however, United has the option to extend the financing agreement for one year provided it meets the minimum loan to asset value requirement. Interest
payments are based on LIBOR plus a margin. The lease is considered a capital lease resulting in increases to capital lease assets and capital lease obligations.
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Amounts charged to rent expense, net of minor amounts of sublease rentals, were $885 million, $926 million and $928 million; and $887 million,
$934 million and $936 million for UAL and United, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively. Included in Regional
affiliates expense in the Financial Statements were operating rents for Regional Affiliates aircraft of $443 million, $413 million and $425 million for the years
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
(15) Statement of Consolidated Cash Flows—Supplemental Disclosures
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information and non-cash investing and financing activities for both UAL and United, except as noted, are as
follows:
(In millions)

2009

Year Ended December 31,
2008
2007

Cash paid (refunded) during the period for:
Interest (net of amounts capitalized)
Income taxes

$ 411
(11)

$ 412
3

$ 614
10

Non-cash transactions:
Capital lease obligations incurred to acquire assets
Capital lease assets and obligations recorded due to lease amendment
Pension and other postretirement changes recorded in other comprehensive income (loss)
Restricted cash received as collateral on derivative contracts
Interest paid in kind on 6% Senior Notes
Net unrealized gain (loss) on financial instruments recorded in other comprehensive income (loss)
Accrued special distribution on UAL common stock (UAL only)
Receivable from unsettled stock sales as of December 31, 2008
Current operating payables reclassified to long-term debt due to supplier agreement

$ 183
250
73
49
33
15
—
—
49

$ 281
—
(11)
—
31
(37)
—
15
—

$—
—
—
—
15
5
257
—
—

In addition to the above non-cash transactions, see Note 4, “Common Stockholders’ Deficit and Preferred Securities,” Note 11, “Debt Obligations and Card
Processing Agreements” and Note 14, “Lease Obligations.”
(16) Advanced Purchase of Miles
In September 2008, the Company amended certain terms of its agreement with its co-branded credit card partner (the “Amendment”). In connection with
the Amendment, the Company sold an additional $500 million of pre-purchased miles to its co-branded credit card partner and extended the term of the
agreement to December 31, 2017. Prior to the Amendment, our Advanced purchase of miles obligation to our co-branded credit card partner was approximately
$600 million, which represented pre-purchased miles purchased by our co-branded credit card partner. As part of the Amendment, our co-branded credit card
partner cannot use certain of the pre-purchased miles for issuance to its cardholders prior to 2011; accordingly, the portion of miles that cannot be redeemed
within one year is classified as “Advanced purchase of miles” in the non-current liabilities section of the Company’s Financial Statements. The Amendment
specifies the maximum amount of the pre-purchased miles that our co-branded credit card partner can award to its cardholders each year from 2011 to 2017.
United has the right, but is not required, to repurchase the pre-purchased miles from its co-branded credit card partner during the term of the agreement.
The Amendment contains termination penalties that may require United to make certain payments and repurchase outstanding pre-purchased miles in cases such
as the Company’s insolvency, bankruptcy false representations or other material breaches.
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The Amendment requires that our co-branded credit card partner make annual guaranteed payments to United between 2008 and 2017. Between 2008 and
2012, our co-branded credit card partner’s annual guaranteed payment is satisfied through the purchase of a specified minimum amount of miles. Afterwards, our
co-branded credit card partner’s annual guaranteed payment is satisfied through awarding pre-purchased miles, purchasing miles and through other contractual
payments. Between 2008 and 2012, our co-branded credit card partner is allowed to carry forward those miles purchased subject to the annual guarantee that have
not been awarded to its cardholders. Any miles carried forward subject to this provision will result in a net increase to our “Advance purchase of miles”
obligation in our Financial Statements.
In connection with the Amendment, the Company received a payment of $100 million in exchange for the extension of the license previously granted to its
co-branded credit card partner to be the exclusive issuer of Mileage Plus Visa cards through 2017. This amount is reflected as Mileage Plus deferred revenue in
our Financial Statements and is being recognized as revenue over the period the fees are earned.
As part of the Amendment, the Company granted its co-branded credit card partner a first lien in specified Mileage Plus assets and a second lien on those
assets that are provided as collateral under our Amended Credit Facility. See Note 11, “Debt Obligations and Card Processing Agreements,” for additional
information regarding these assets. The Amendment may be terminated by either party upon the occurrence of certain events as defined, including but not limited
to a change in law that has a material adverse impact, insolvency of one of the parties, or failure of the parties to perform their obligations. The security interest is
released if the Company repurchases the full balance of the pre-purchased miles or the Company achieves a certain fixed charge coverage ratio.
(17) Related Party Transactions
During 2009, UAL contributed cash of $559 million to United consisting of the net proceeds that UAL generated from 2009 UAL stock and debt issuances.
In 2008, United contributed cash of $257 million to UAL for use in UAL’s payment of its January 2008 special distribution to its common shareholders. In
addition, UAL contributed cash and other assets totaling $173 million to United during 2008.
At December 31, 2006, United, through one of its wholly-owned subsidiaries, MPI, had a $200 million note receivable from UAL. During 2007, UAL,
United and MPI executed a note payment agreement to pay and thereby cancel this note payable (plus accrued interest). This transaction had no effect in the UAL
consolidated financial statements and was treated as a forgiveness of debt in United’s financial statements, resulting in a decrease in paid in capital equal to the
total decrease in notes and interest receivable.
(18) Special Items
2009 and 2008
Special charges primarily relate to the Company’s operational plans as discussed in Note 2, “Company Operational Plans,” and assets impairment charges
as discussed in Note 3, “Asset Impairments and Intangible Assets.” Also, see Note 20, “UAL Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited),” for a discussion of
special items and asset impairments and other charges.
2007
SFO Municipal Bonds Security Interest. In the first quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a $3 million benefit to operating income as a special item to
reduce the Company’s recorded obligation for the SFO municipal bonds to the amount considered probable of being allowed by the Bankruptcy Court.
LAX Municipal Bonds Security Interest. In the first and third quarters of 2007, the Company recorded special items of $19 million and $8 million,
respectively, as favorable adjustments to operating income to adjust
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the Company’s recorded obligation for the LAX municipal bonds to the amount considered probable of being allowed by the Bankruptcy Court. See Note 13,
“Commitments, Contingent Liabilities and Uncertainties,” for further information related to the LAX litigation.
Change in Estimate. In the third quarter of 2007, the Company recorded a change in estimate of $59 million for certain liabilities relating to bankruptcy
administrative claims. This adjustment resulted directly from the progression of the Company’s ongoing efforts to resolve certain bankruptcy pre-confirmation
contingencies. Therefore, the Company recorded a special operating revenue credit of $45 million and a special operating expense credit of $14 million for these
changes in estimate.
(19) Other Investments
In the fourth quarter of 2007, United, along with certain other major air carriers, sold its interests in Aeronautical Radio, Inc. (“ARINC”) to Radio
Acquisition Corp., an affiliate of The Carlyle Group. ARINC is a provider of transportation communications and systems engineering. The transaction generated
proceeds of $128 million and resulted in a pre-tax gain of $41 million.
(20) UAL Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Quarter Ended
September 30

(In millions, except per share amounts)

March 31

June 30

2009:
Operating revenues
Earnings (loss) from operations
Net income (loss)
Basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share

$ 3,691
(282)
(382)
$ (2.64)

$ 4,018
107
28
$ 0.19

$

2008:
Operating revenues
Loss from operations
Net loss (a)
Basic and diluted loss per share (a)

$ 4,711
(441)
(549)
$ (4.55)

$ 5,371
(2,694)
(2,740)
$(21.57)

$

$

$

December 31

4,433
88
(57)
(0.39)

$

5,565
(491)
(792)
(6.22)

$

$

$

4,193
(74)
(240)
(1.44)

4,547
(812)
(1,315)
(10.00)

(a) Amounts have been adjusted to include the impact of the Company’s retrospective adoption of ASC 470 Update related to accounting for certain types of
convertible debt instruments which were required to be adopted by the Company effective January 1, 2009 as discussed in Note 1 (p), “Summary of
Significant Accounting Policies — New Accounting Pronouncements.”
UAL’s quarterly financial data is subject to seasonal fluctuations and historically, its results in the second and third quarters are better as compared to the
first and fourth quarters of each year since the latter quarters normally reflect weaker demand. UAL’s quarterly results were impacted by the following significant
items:
2009
•

During the first quarter, the Company recorded $110 million of impairment charges to reduce the value of its tradenames as a result of its interim
impairment testing, $22 million of accelerated depreciation related to aircraft groundings and $9 million of lease termination and other special
charges. Offsetting these items, was a $32 million reduction in employee benefit accruals and a $5 million decrease in the Company’s severance
accrual.

•

The second quarter was negatively impacted by additional tradename impairment charges of $40 million, $27 million of charges related to the LAX
bankruptcy issue, which was subsequently resolved, $21 million of lease termination and other special charges, $10 million of accelerated
depreciation related to aircraft groundings and $6 million of severance charges.
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•

The third quarter included $24 million of lease termination and other special charges, $22 million of severance charges, $19 million of aircraft
impairment charges to reduce the carrying value of five nonoperating B747 aircraft to their net realizable value and $6 million of accelerated
depreciation related to aircraft groundings. These items were offset by an $11 million gain on asset sales.

•

During the fourth quarter, the Company recorded an additional $74 million of aircraft impairment charges, $50 million of lease termination and other
special charges, $10 million of severance charges and $10 million accelerated depreciation related to aircraft groundings.

•

The second quarter was negatively impacted by impairment charges of $2.5 billion related to the Company’s interim impairment testing of its
intangible assets. In addition, the Company incurred $110 million of severance and employee benefit charges, as well as $26 million of purchased
services charges. Offsetting these impacts was a $29 million gain from a litigation-related settlement gain.

•

The third quarter included reversals of $16 million of intangible asset impairments recorded during the second quarter. The Company also recorded
an additional $6 million of severance charges, as well as $8 million of losses on the sale of assets and $7 million of lease termination and other
charges.

•

During the fourth quarter, the Company recorded $107 million of impairment charges, $18 million of severance, $53 million of employee benefit
charges, $34 million of accelerated depreciation related to aircraft groundings and $18 million of lease termination and other special charges. In
addition, an $11 million net gain on asset sales partially offset these unfavorable expenses.

2008

See Note 2, “Company Operational Plans” and Note 3, “Asset Impairments and Intangible Assets,” for further discussion of these items.
(21) Subsequent Events
The Company has evaluated its subsequent events for disclosure and has identified the following events.
In January 2010, United issued the remaining $612 million of equipment notes relating to the Series 2009-1 EETCs of which $568 million was used to
complete the pre-payment of the remaining principal of the equipment notes issued in connection with the Series 2001-1 EETCs and the remaining $44 million,
before expenses and accrued interest due on the equipment notes related to the Series 2001-1 EETCs, provided the Company with incremental liquidity. The
Company also received $21 million of proceeds from the distribution of the Series 2001-1 EETC trust assets upon repayment of the note obligations.
In January 2010, United also issued the remaining $696 million of equipment notes relating to the Series 2009-2 EETCs of which $493 million was used to
pre-pay the remaining principal of the equipment notes issued in connection with the Series 2000-2 EETCs and the remaining proceeds of $203 million, before
expenses and accrued interest due on equipment notes related to the Series 2000-2 EETCs, provided the Company with incremental liquidity.
In January 2010, United issued $700 million aggregate principal amount of Senior Secured Notes and Senior Second Lien Notes. The Company expects to
receive proceeds from the issuance in April 2010, upon release of the collateral from the Amended Credit Facility.
The EETC repayments, discussed above, significantly reduced the future near term debt requirements. See Note 11, “Debt Obligations and Card Processing
Agreements,” for additional information related to these financings including the Company’s future debt maturities after giving effect to these transactions.
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In December 2009, the Company announced its intention to place a widebody aircraft order for 25 Boeing 787-8 Dreamliner aircraft and 25 Airbus A350
XWB aircraft, with future purchase rights for an additional 50 planes of each aircraft type, subject to the availability of such aircraft at the time of exercise of the
future purchase rights. On February 19, 2010, the Company entered into a purchase agreement with The Boeing Company for the 25 Boeing 787-8 Dreamliner
aircraft. The Company’s order for the 25 Airbus A350 XWB aircraft is subject to the completion of a definitive written agreement that is expected to be finalized
in the first quarter of 2010.
ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

None.
ITEM 9A.

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

UAL and United each maintain controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports filed or
submitted by UAL and United to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods
specified by the SEC’s rules and forms, and is accumulated and communicated to management including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. The management of UAL and United, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, performed an evaluation to conclude with reasonable assurance that UAL’s and United’s disclosure controls and procedures were designed and
operating effectively to report the information each company is required to disclose in the reports they file with the SEC on a timely basis. Based on that
evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer of UAL and United have concluded that as of December 31, 2009, disclosure controls and
procedures were effective.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting during the Quarter Ended December 31, 2009
There were no changes in UAL’s or United’s internal control over financial reporting during their most recent fiscal quarter that materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, their internal control over financial reporting.
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UAL Corporation Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
February 25, 2010
To the Stockholders of UAL Corporation
Chicago, Illinois
The management of UAL Corporation and subsidiaries (“UAL”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the design and operating effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009. In making this assessment,
management used the framework set forth in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of the Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our internal controls over financial reporting were
effective as of December 31, 2009.
Our independent registered public accounting firm, Deloitte & Touche LLP, who audited UAL’s consolidated financial statements included in this Form 10K, has issued a report on UAL’s internal control over financial reporting, which is included herein.
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United Air Lines, Inc. Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
February 25, 2010
To the Stockholder of United Air Lines, Inc.
Chicago, Illinois
The management of United Air Lines, Inc. (“United”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as
such term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f). Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the design and operating effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009. In making this assessment,
management used the framework set forth in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of the Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our internal controls over financial reporting were
effective as of December 31, 2009.
This annual report does not include an attestation report of United’s registered public accounting firm regarding internal control over financial reporting.
Management’s report was not subject to attestation by United’s registered public accounting firm pursuant to temporary rules of the Securities and Exchange
Commission that permit United to provide only management’s report in this annual report.
135

Table of Contents
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
UAL Corporation
Chicago, Illinois
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of UAL Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2009, based on
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The
Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting in Item 9A. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive and principal
financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of
records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.
Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness
of the internal control over financial reporting to future periods are subject to the risk that the controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions,
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on the
criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated financial
statements and financial statement schedule as of and for the year ended December 31, 2009 of the Company and our report dated February 25, 2010 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements and financial statement schedule and included an explanatory paragraph regarding a change in accounting for
convertible debt and participating securities.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Chicago, Illinois
February 25, 2010
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ITEM 9B.

OTHER INFORMATION.

None.
PART III
ITEM 10.

DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

Certain information required by this item with respect to UAL is incorporated by reference from UAL’s definitive proxy statement for its 2010 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders. Information regarding the executive officers of UAL is included in Part I of this Form 10-K under the caption “Executive Officers of
UAL.”
Information required by this item with respect to United is omitted pursuant to General Instruction I(2)(c) of Form 10-K.
ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

Information required by this item with respect to UAL is incorporated by reference from UAL’s definitive proxy statement for its 2010 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.
Information required by this item with respect to United is omitted pursuant to General Instruction I(2)(c) of Form 10-K.
ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS.

Information required by this item with respect to UAL is incorporated by reference from UAL’s definitive proxy statement for its 2010 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.
Information required by this item with respect to United is omitted pursuant to General Instruction I(2)(c) of Form 10-K.
ITEM 13.

CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

Information required by this item with respect to UAL is incorporated by reference from UAL’s definitive proxy statement for its 2010 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.
Information required by this item with respect to United is omitted pursuant to General Instruction I(2)(c) of Form 10-K.
ITEM 14.

PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.

The Audit Committee of the UAL Board of Directors adopted a policy on pre-approval of services of independent accountants in October 2002. The policy
provides that the Audit Committee shall pre-approve all audit and non-audit services to be provided to the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates by its
auditors. The process by which this is carried out is as follows:
For recurring services, the Audit Committee reviews and pre-approves Deloitte & Touche LLP’s annual audit services and employee benefit plan audits in
conjunction with the Committee’s annual appointment of the outside auditors. The materials include a description of the services along with related fees. The
Committee also reviews and pre-approves other classes of recurring services along with fee thresholds for pre-approved services. In the event that the preapproval fee thresholds are met and additional services are required prior to the next scheduled Committee meeting, pre-approvals of additional services follow
the process described below.
137

Table of Contents
Any requests for audit, audit-related, tax and other services not contemplated with the recurring services approval described above must be submitted to the
Audit Committee for specific pre-approval and cannot commence until such approval has been granted. Normally, pre-approval is provided at regularly scheduled
meetings. However, the authority to grant specific pre-approval between meetings, as necessary, has been delegated to the Chairman of the Audit Committee. The
Chairman must update the Committee at the next regularly scheduled meeting of any services that were granted specific pre-approval.
On a periodic basis, the Audit Committee reviews the status of services and fees incurred year-to-date and a list of newly pre-approved services since its
last regularly scheduled meeting. Our Audit Committee has considered whether the 2009 non-audit services provided by Deloitte & Touche LLP are compatible
with maintaining auditor independence.
The aggregate fees billed for professional services rendered by Deloitte & Touche LLP in 2009 and 2008 are as follows:
Service

Audit Fees
Audit-Related Fees
Tax Fees
All Other Fees
Total

2009

2008

$ 3,050,800
492,200
244,200
34,050
$ 3,821,250

$ 3,807,300
2,065,479
384,850
165,800
$ 6,423,429

AUDIT FEES
Fees for audit services related to 2009 and 2008 consist of audits of the Company’s consolidated financial statements, limited reviews of the Company’s
consolidated quarterly financial statements, statutory audits of the Schedule of Passenger Facility Charges and statutory audits of certain subsidiaries’ financial
statements. The 2009 and 2008 audit fees also include the impact of the attestation work performed by Deloitte & Touche related to Sarbanes-Oxley.
AUDIT RELATED FEES
Fees for audit-related services billed in 2009 were for audits of employee benefit plans. Fees for audit-related services billed in 2008 consisted of audits for
employee benefit plans, United Airlines Foundation and carve-out audits.
TAX FEES
Fees for tax services in 2009 and 2008 consisted of assistance with tax issues in certain foreign jurisdictions, tax consultation and bankruptcy tax
assistance.
ALL OTHER FEES
Fees for all other services billed in 2009 and 2008 consisted of the preparation of employee payroll tax filings.
All of the services in 2009 and 2008 under the Audit Related, Tax and All Other Fees categories above have been approved by the Audit Committee
pursuant to paragraph (c)(7)(i)(c) of Rule 2-01 of Regulation S-X of the Exchange Act.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES.
(a)(1)

Financial Statements. The financial statements required by this item are listed in Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary Data herein.

(2)

Financial Statement Schedules. The financial statement schedule required by this item is listed below and included in this report after the signature
page hereto.
Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.
All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable, not required or the required information is shown in the consolidated financial
statements or notes thereto.

(b)

Exhibits. The exhibits required by this item are listed in the Exhibit Index which immediately precedes the exhibits filed with this Form 10-K and is
incorporated herein by this reference. Each management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement is denoted with a “†” in the Exhibit Index.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each registrant has duly caused this Form 10-K to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
UAL CORPORATION
UNITED AIR LINES, INC.
(Registrants)
/s/

Glenn F. Tilton

Glenn F. Tilton
Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer of UAL Corporation and Chief Executive Officer of United Air
Lines, Inc.

Date: February 25, 2010

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Form 10-K has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of UAL
Corporation and in the capacities and on the date indicated.
/s/

Glenn F. Tilton

Glenn F. Tilton
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

/s/

Kathryn A. Mikells

Kathryn A. Mikells
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial and accounting officer)

/s/

Richard J. Almeida

/s/

Robert D. Krebs

Richard J. Almeida
Director

Robert D. Krebs
Director

/s/

/s/

Mary K. Bush

Robert S. Miller, Jr.

Mary K. Bush
Director

Robert S. Miller, Jr.
Director

/s/

/s/ Wendy J. Morse

Stephen R. Canale

Stephen R. Canale
Director

Wendy J. Morse
Director

/s/ W. James Farrell

/s/

W. James Farrell
Director

James J. O’Connor
Director

/s/

/s/

Jane C. Garvey

James J. O’Connor

David J. Vitale

Jane C. Garvey
Director

David J. Vitale
Director

/s/ Walter Isaacson

/s/

Walter Isaacson
Director

John H. Walker
Director

Date: February 25, 2010
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Form 10-K has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of United
Air Lines, Inc. and in the capacities and on the date indicated.
/s/

Glenn F. Tilton

Glenn F. Tilton
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Director of United Air Lines, Inc.
(principal executive officer)

/s/

Kathryn A. Mikells

Kathryn A. Mikells
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

/s/

David M. Wing

David M. Wing
Vice President and Controller
(principal accounting officer)

/s/

Peter D. McDonald

Peter D. McDonald
Director

/s/

John P. Tague

John P. Tague
Director

Date: February 25, 2010
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Schedule II
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
For the Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007
(In millions)
Description

Balance at
Beginning of
Period

Additions
Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

Deductions (a)

Balance at
End of
Period

$

24
27
27

$

31
25
21

$

41
28
21

$

14
24
27

$

48
25
6

$

55
26
19

$

42
3
—

$

61
48
25

$

2,886
1,743
2,161

$

190
1,143
15

$

16
—
433

$ 3,060
2,886
1,743

$

2,812
1,685
2,103

$

182
1,127
15

$

17
—
433

$ 2,977
2,812
1,685

Reserves deducted from assets to which they apply:
Allowance for doubtful accounts (UAL and United):
2009
2008
2007
Obsolescence allowance—spare parts (UAL and United):
2009
2008
2007
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (UAL):
2009
2008
2007
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets (United):
2009
2008
2007
(a) Deduction from reserve for purpose for which reserve was created.
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EXHIBIT INDEX
*3.1

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of UAL Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to United’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008,
Commission file number 1-11355, and incorporated herein by reference)

*3.2

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of United Air Lines, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to United’s Form 8-K filed February 1, 2006, Commission file
number 1-11355, and incorporated herein by reference)

*3.3

Amended and Restated Bylaws of UAL Corporation (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed February 1, 2006, Commission file number 16033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*3.4

Amended and Restated Bylaws of United Air Lines, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to United’s Form 8-K filed February 1, 2006, Commission file number
1-11355, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.1

Amended and Restated Revolving Credit, Term Loan and Guaranty Agreement, dated as of February 2, 2007 by and among United Air Lines, Inc.,
UAL Corporation, certain subsidiaries of United Air Lines, Inc. and UAL Corporation, as named therein, the Lenders named therein, JPMorgan
Chase Bank, et al. (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed February 5, 2007, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by
reference)

*4.2

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit, Term Loan and Guaranty Agreement, dated December 5, 2007, by and among United
Air Lines, Inc., UAL Corporation and certain subsidiaries of United Air Lines, Inc. and UAL Corporation as named therein, the Lenders named
therein, JP Morgan Chase Bank, et al. (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed December 7, 2007, Commission file number 1-6033, and
incorporated herein by reference)

*4.3

Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit, Term Loan and Guaranty Agreement, dated May 5, 2008 by and among United
Air Lines, Inc., UAL Corporation and certain subsidiaries of United Air Lines, Inc. and UAL Corporation as named therein, the Lenders named
therein, JP Morgan Chase Bank, et al. (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed May 7, 2008, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated
herein by reference)

*4.4

Indenture dated as of February 1, 2006 by and among UAL Corporation as Issuer, United Air Lines, Inc. as Guarantor and the Bank of New York
Trust Company, N.A. as Trustee, providing for issuance of 6% Senior Notes due 2031 and 8% Contingent Senior Notes (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to
UAL’s Form 8-K filed February 1, 2006, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.5

ORD Indenture dated as of February 1, 2006 by and among UAL Corporation as Issuer, United Air Lines, Inc. as Guarantor and the Bank of New
York Trust Company, N.A. as Trustee, providing for issuance of 5% Senior Convertible notes due 2021 (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed
February 1, 2006, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.6

First Supplement to ORD Indenture dated February 16, 2006 by and among UAL Corporation, United Air Lines, Inc. as Guarantor and the Bank of
New York Trust Company, N.A. as Trustee (filed as Exhibit 99.1 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed February 21, 2006, Commission file number 1-6033, and
incorporated herein by reference)

*4.7

Indenture dated as of July 25, 2006 by and among UAL Corporation as Issuer, United Air Lines, Inc. as Guarantor and The Bank of New York Trust
Company, N.A., as Trustee, providing for issuance of 4.50% Senior Limited-Subordination Convertible Notes due 2021 (filed as Exhibit 4.1 to
UAL’s Form 8-K filed July 27, 2006, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.8

Indenture dated as of July 2, 2009 by and among United Air Lines, Inc., as Issuer, Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, N.A., as Trustee, and Wells Fargo
Bank Northwest, N.A., as Collateral Agent, providing for issuance of 12.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2012 (filed as Exhibit 4.15 to UAL’s Form
8-K dated July 2, 2009, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)
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*4.9

A Mortgage and Security Agreement dated July 2, 2009 between United Air Lines, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, N.A., the Collateral
Agent (filed as Exhibit 4.16 to UAL’s Form 8-K dated July 2, 2009, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.10

B Mortgage and Security Agreement dated July 2, 2009 between United Air Lines, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, N.A., the Collateral
Agent (filed as Exhibit 4.17 to UAL’s Form 8-K dated July 2, 2009, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.11

C Mortgage and Security Agreement dated July 2, 2009 between United Air Lines, Inc. and Wells Fargo Bank Northwest, N.A., the Collateral
Agent (filed as Exhibit 4.18 to UAL’s Form 8-K dated July 2, 2009, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.12

Form of Note representing all 12.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2012 (filed as Exhibit 4.19 to UAL’s Form 8-K dated July 2, 2009, Commission
file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.13

Guarantee dated as of July 2, 2009 from UAL Corporation of 12.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2012 (filed as Exhibit 4.8 to UAL’s Form 8-K
dated July 2, 2009, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.14

Indenture dated as of October 7, 2009 between UAL Corporation, as Issuer, and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee,
providing for issuance of 6% Senior Convertible Notes due 2029 (filed as exhibit 4.1 to UAL’s Form 8-K dated October 7, 2009, Commission file
number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.15

Form of Note representing all 6.0% Senior Convertible Notes due 2029 (filed as exhibit 4.2 to UAL’s Form 8-K dated October 7, 2009,
Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.16

Indenture dated as of January 15, 2010 by and among United Air Lines Inc., each of the Guarantors party thereto, The Bank of New York Mellon,
N.A., as Trustee, and Wilmington Trust FSB, as Collateral Trustee, providing for the issuance of 9.875% Senior Secured Notes due 2013 (filed as
Exhibit 4.1 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed January 15, 2009, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.17

Form of Note representing all 9.875% Senior Secured Notes due 2013 (filed as Exhibit 4.2 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed January 15, 2009,
Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.18

Form of Guarantee of 9.875% Senior Secured Notes due 2013 (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed January 15, 2009, Commission file
number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.19

Indenture dated as of January 15, 2010 by and among United Air Lines Inc., each of the Guarantors party thereto, The Bank of New York Mellon,
N.A., as Trustee, and Wilmington Trust FSB, as Collateral Trustee, providing for the issuance of 12.0% Senior Second Lien Notes due 2013 (filed
as Exhibit 4.4 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed January 15, 2009, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.20

Form of Note representing all 12.0% Senior Second Lien Notes due 2013 (filed as Exhibit 4.5 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed January 15, 2009,
Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*4.21

Form of Guarantee of 12.0% Senior Second Lien Notes due 2013 (filed as Exhibit 4.6 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed January 15, 2009, Commission file
number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)
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*†10.1

UAL Corporation 2009 Annual Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to United’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008, Commission
file number 1-11355, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.2

UAL Corporation Success Sharing Program—Profit Sharing Plan effective January 1, 2006 (filed as Exhibit 99.2.to UAL’s Form 8-K filed
March 26, 2007, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.3

UAL Corporation Executive Severance Plan dated April 1, 2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed March 26, 2007, Commission
file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.4

UAL Corporation Executive Severance Plan Amendment No.1 dated January 1, 2008 (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to UAL’s Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2007, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.5

Employment Agreement dated September 5, 2002 by and among United Air Lines, Inc., UAL Corporation and Glenn F. Tilton (filed as
Exhibit 10.3 to UAL’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2002, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by
reference)

*†10.6

Amendment No. 1 dated December 8, 2002 to the Employment Agreement dated September 5, 2002 by and among United Air Lines, Inc., UAL
Corporation and Glenn F. Tilton (filed as Exhibit 10.44 to UAL’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, Commission file number 16033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.7

Amendment No. 2 dated February 17, 2003 to the Employment Agreement dated September 5, 2002 by and among United Air Lines, Inc., UAL
Corporation and Glenn F. Tilton (filed as Exhibit 10.45 to UAL’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002, Commission file number 16033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.8

Amendment No. 3 dated September 29, 2006 to the Employment Agreement dated September 5, 2002, among UAL Corporation, United Air
Lines, Inc. and Glenn F. Tilton (filed as Exhibit 99.2 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed on September 29, 2006, Commission file number 1-6033, and
incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.9

Amendment No. 4 dated September 25, 2008 to the Employment Agreement dated September 5, 2002 by and among United Air Lines, Inc.,
UAL Corporation and Glenn F. Tilton (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to UAL’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008, Commission file
no. 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.10

Employment Agreement dated September 29, 2006, among UAL Corporation, United Air Lines, Inc. and Peter D. McDonald (filed as
Exhibit 99.3 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed on September 29, 2006, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.11

Amendment No. 1 dated May 15, 2008 to the Employment Agreement dated September 29, 2006 by and among UAL Corporation, United Air
Lines, Inc. and Peter D. McDonald (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to UAL’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008, Commission file number 16033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.12

Peter D. McDonald Secular Trust Agreement dated September 29, 2006, by and among UAL Corporation, United Air Lines, Inc. and Peter D.
McDonald (filed as Exhibit A to Exhibit 99.3 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed on September 29, 2006, Commission file number 1-6033, and
incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.13

Amendment No. 1 dated March 12, 2007 to the Peter D. McDonald Secular Trust Agreement dated September 29, 2006 by and among UAL
Corporation, United Air Lines, Inc. and Peter D. McDonald (filed as Exhibit 10.48 to UAL’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006,
Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)
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*†10.14

Amendment No. 2 dated June 4, 2007 to the Peter D. McDonald Secular Trust Agreement dated September 29, 2006 by and among UAL
Corporation, United Air Lines, Inc. and Peter D. McDonald (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to UAL’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2007,
Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.15

Amendment No. 3 dated May 15, 2008 to the Peter D. McDonald Secular Trust Agreement dated September 29, 2006 by and among UAL
Corporation, United Air Lines, Inc. and Peter D. McDonald (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to UAL’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008,
Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.16

Amendment No. 4 dated December 18, 2008 to the Peter D. McDonald Secular Trust Agreement dated September 29, 2006 by and among UAL
Corporation, United Air Lines, Inc. and Peter D. McDonald (filed as Exhibit 10.14 to UAL’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008,
Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

†10.17

Separation Agreement dated December 2, 2009 by and among UAL Corporation, United Air Lines, Inc. and Paul R. Lovejoy

†10.18

Description of Officer Benefits

*†10.19

UAL Corporation 2006 Management Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to UAL’s Form 8-K filed February 1, 2006, Commission file
number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.20

UAL Corporation 2008 Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Appendix A to UAL’s Definitive Proxy filed on April 25, 2008, Commission file
number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.21

Form of Stock Option Award Notice pursuant to the UAL Corporation 2008 Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.25 to United’s
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.22

Form of Restricted Share Award Notice pursuant to the UAL Corporation 2008 Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.24 to United’s
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2008, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.23

Form of Cash Incentive Award Notice pursuant to the UAL Corporation 2008 Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to UAL’s
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.24

Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Notice pursuant to the UAL Corporation 2008 Incentive Compensation Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to
UAL’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2009, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

†10.25

Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Notice pursuant to the UAL Corporation 2008 Incentive Compensation Plan

†10.26

Description of Benefits for UAL Corporation Directors

*†10.27

UAL Corporation 2006 Directors Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to UAL’s Form 8-K dated February 1, 2006, Commission file
number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.28

Amendment No. 1 to the UAL Corporation 2006 Directors Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to UAL’s Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2008, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.29

Amendment No. 2 to the UAL Corporation 2006 Directors Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to UAL’s Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended September 30, 2009, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)
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*
†

*†10.30

Form of Share Unit Award Notice pursuant to the UAL Corporation 2006 Director Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to UAL’s
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2009, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

*†10.31

Letter Agreement dated April 28, 1994 between UAL Corporation and James J. O’Connor (filed as Exhibit 10.44 to UAL’s Form 10-K for year
ended December 31, 2005, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

12.1

UAL Corporation Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividend
Requirements

12.2

United Air Lines, Inc. Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock
Dividend Requirements

*16.1

Letter from Deloitte & Touche LLP, dated July 28, 2009, regarding the change in certifying accountant (filed as Exhibit 16.1 to UAL’s Form 8K dated July 28, 2009, Commission file number 1-6033, and incorporated herein by reference)

21

List of UAL Corporation and United Air Lines, Inc. Subsidiaries

23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for UAL Corporation

23.2

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm for United Air Lines, Inc.

31.1

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer of UAL Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d) Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002)

31.2

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer of UAL Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d) Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)

31.3

Certification of the Principal Executive Officer of United Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d) Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002)

31.4

Certification of the Principal Financial Officer of United Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d) Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002)

32.1

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of UAL Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 (Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002)

32.2

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of United Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350 (Section 906 of the SarbanesOxley Act of 2002)

Previously filed
Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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Exhibit 10.17
Paul R. Lovejoy
SEPARATION AGREEMENT
This Separation Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into by and between Paul R. Lovejoy (“you”), and UAL Corporation plus United Air Lines, Inc.
(UAL Corporation and United Air Lines, Inc. are referred to collectively as the “Company”) and arises out of your separation from employment with the
Company on October 31, 2009 (“Separation Date”). In consideration of the promises contained in this document, the parties agree as follows:
1. Payments and Benefits. Following your Separation Date, the Company will provide you with the payments and benefits set forth in Attachment A.
Applicable federal, state, and local payroll taxes will be deducted as required by law. The payments and benefits covered in this Section 1 do not include any
accrued rights summarized in Attachment A which you may have and which are payable according to the terms of any applicable agreements, benefit plans,
practices, policies, arrangements, or programs; and, therefore, this Agreement shall not release the Company of any obligation to make any payments or provide
any benefits or privileges required to satisfy such accrued rights.
2. General Release. In exchange for the payments and benefits covered in Section 1, you release and discharge the Company, its parents, subsidiaries,
agents, directors, officers, employees, and representatives, and all persons acting by, through, under or in concert with the Company, its parent or subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Released Parties”), from any and all causes of action, claims, liabilities, obligations, promises, agreements, controversies,
damages, and expenses, known or unknown, which you ever had, or now have, against the Released Parties to the date of this Agreement. The claims you release
include, but are not limited to, any (a) claims for benefits under the UAL Corporation and United Air Lines, Inc. Executive Severance Plan and (b) claims that the
Released Parties:
•

discriminated against you on the basis of your race, color, sex (including claims of sexual harassment), national origin, ancestry, disability, religion,
sexual orientation, marital status, parental status, veteran status, source of income, entitlement to benefits, union activities, or any other status
protected by local, state or federal laws, constitutions, regulations, ordinances or executive orders; or

•

failed to give proper notice of this employment termination under the Workers Adjustment and Retraining Notification Act (“WARN”), or any
similar state or local statute or ordinance; or

•

violated any other federal, state, or local employment statute, such as ERISA, which, among other things, protects employee benefits; the Fair Labor
Standards Act, which regulates wage and hour matters; the Family and Medical Leave Act, which requires employers to provide leaves of absence
under certain circumstances; Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964; the Americans With Disabilities Act; the Rehabilitation Act; OSHA; and any
other laws relating to employment; or

Paul R. Lovejoy
•

violated the Released Parties’ personnel policies, handbooks, any covenant of good faith and fair dealing, or any contract of employment between
you and any of the Released Parties; or

•

violated public policy or common law, including claims for: personal injury, invasion of privacy, retaliatory discharge, negligent hiring, retention or
supervision, defamation, intentional or negligent infliction of emotional distress and/or mental anguish, intentional interference with contract,
negligence, detrimental reliance, loss of consortium to you or any member of your family, and/or promissory estoppel; or

•

are in any way obligated for any reason to pay your damages, expenses, litigation costs (including attorneys’ fees), bonuses, commissions, disability
benefits, compensatory damages, punitive damages, and/or interest.

For the purpose of giving a full and complete release, you understand and agree that this Agreement includes all claims that you may now have but do not
know or suspect to exist in your favor against the Released Parties, and that this Agreement extinguishes those claims.
3. Protected Rights. You are not prohibited from making or asserting (a) any claim or right under state workers’ compensation or unemployment laws, or
(b) any claim or right which by law cannot be waived, including your rights to file a charge with an administrative agency or to participate in an agency
investigation, including but not limited to the right to file a charge or participate in an investigation or proceeding conducted by the Equal Employment
Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”). You waive, however, the right to recover money if any federal, state or local government agency, including but not limited
to the EEOC, pursues a claim on your behalf or on behalf of a class to which you may belong that arises out of or relates to your employment or separation from
employment.
4. Covenant Not to Sue. You affirm that you have not filed, have not caused to be filed, and are not presently party to, any lawsuit or arbitration against
any Released Party in any forum. You agree not to sue any of the Released Parties or become a party to a lawsuit on the basis of any claims of any type to date
that arise out of any aspect of your employment or separation from employment. You understand that this is an affirmative promise by you not to sue any of the
Released Parties, which is in addition to your general release of claims in Section 2 above. If you breach this Agreement by suing any of the Released Parties in
violation of this Covenant Not to Sue, you understand that (i) the Released Parties will be entitled to apply for and receive an injunction to restrain any violation
of this Section, and (ii) you will be required to pay the Released Parties’ legal costs and expenses, including reasonable attorney fees, associated with defending
against the lawsuit and enforcing the terms of this Agreement.
5. Acknowledgments. You affirm that you have fully reviewed the terms of this Agreement, affirm that you understand its terms, and state that you are
entering into this Agreement knowingly, voluntarily, and in full settlement of all claims which existed in the past or which currently exist, that arise out of your
employment with the Company or your separation from employment. You acknowledge that you have been specifically advised to consult with an attorney, if you
wish, before you sign below.
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6. Indemnification and Insurance. You shall continue to be indemnified for your actions taken while employed by the Company to the same extent as
other former employees of the Company at your job level under the Company’s Corporate Charter as in effect on the date hereof, and you shall continue to be
covered by the Company’s directors and officers liability insurance policy as in effect from time to time to the same extent as other former employees of the
Company at your job level, each subject to the requirements of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.
7. Your Future Cooperation. You further agree that during the Separation Pay Period (as defined in Attachment A), you will cooperate with the Company
and its attorneys with respect to any matter (including litigation, investigation, or governmental proceeding) that relates to matters with which you were involved
while you were employed by the Company. Your required cooperation may include appearing from time to time at the Company’s offices or its attorneys’ offices
for conferences and interviews, and in general providing the Company and its attorneys with the full benefit of your knowledge with respect to any such matter.
You agree to cooperate in a timely fashion and at times that are agreeable to both parties. During the Separation Pay Period, you will be reimbursed by the
Company for reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in cooperating with respect to the above matters. Following the Separation Pay Period, your
further cooperation with respect to such matters shall be subject to agreement between you and the Company.
8. Noncompetition. You agree that during the Separation Pay Period you will not, without the prior written consent of the Company, take a Competitive
Position with any of the following air carriers (including their parents, subsidiaries, affiliates, and successors): Alaska, American, Continental, Delta, Frontier,
Hawaiian, JetBlue, Northwest, Southwest, US Airways, or Virgin America. The term “Competitive Position” means: (i) any position as a management-level
employee; (ii) membership on the board of directors; or (iii) providing services similar to a management-level employee as a consultant, independent contractor,
or otherwise. The Company agrees that it will consider any such request by you in good faith. You acknowledge that there are sufficient opportunities for
employment with non-airline employers as well as airlines other than those named above (such as regional, cargo and international airlines) that this
noncompetition provision will not significantly impair your ability to find employment. This noncompetition provision is effective and binding to the extent
permissible under Rule 5.6 of the Illinois Rules of Professional Conduct.
9. Nonsolicitation. You agree that you will not, during the Separation Pay Period, directly or indirectly, for the benefit of yourself, another airline or air
carrier: (i) raid, hire, or solicit any employee of the Company; (ii) attempt to persuade any employee of the Company to leave the employ of the Company; or
(iii) hire or solicit any person who was employed by the Company during the 6 months preceding the Separation Date who possesses Confidential Information (as
defined in Section 11 below). This nonsolicitation provision is effective and binding to the extent permissible under Rule 5.6 of the Illinois Rules of Professional
Conduct.
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10. Non-Disparagement. You agree not to make, or cause to be made, any statement, observation or opinion, or communicate any information (whether
oral or written, directly or indirectly) that (i) accuses or implies that any Released Party engaged in any wrongful, unlawful or improper conduct, whether relating
to your employment (or your separation from employment), the business or operations of the Company, or otherwise; or (ii) otherwise disparages or impugns the
business or reputation of any Released Party. In the event the Company receives a formal request (whether oral or written) from another employer for information
regarding your employment with the Company, the Company agrees not to make, or cause to be made, to any such employer any statement, observation or
opinion, or communicate any information (whether oral or written, directly or indirectly) that (i) accuses or implies that you engaged in any wrongful, unlawful or
improper conduct, whether relating to your employment (or your separation from employment), the business or operations of the Company, or otherwise; or
(ii) disparages or impugns your reputation. Nothing herein will be deemed to preclude either party from providing truthful testimony or information pursuant to
subpoena, court order or similar legal process, or instituting and pursuing legal action.
11. Confidential Information. You agree to hold confidential, and not to disclose to any person, firm, corporation, partnership or agency, any trade secret
or Confidential Information (as defined below), gained in the course of your employment with the Company concerning the Company or any of its affiliates,
except if such disclosure is required by law or legal process. “Confidential Information” shall include information not generally available to the public, including
but not limited to financial affairs, business plans or strategies, marketing, product pricing information, operating policies and procedures, vendor information,
expenses, performance statistics, and information designated in writing as confidential by the Company during the course of your employment with the Company.
Confidential Information shall not be considered generally available to the public if revealed improperly to the public by you or others. You agree not to remove
any Confidential Information from the Company, not to request that others do so on your behalf and to return to the Company any Confidential Information
currently in your possession.
12. Return of Property. You agree that you will immediately return to the Company all property of the Company in your possession or subject to your
control, including without limitation any laptop computers, keys, credit cards, blackberry or other personal digital assistant devices, cellular telephones, reports
and files whether stored in hard copy or electronic format and whether copies or originals. You agree that you will not alter any of the Company’s records or
computer files in any way after your Separation Date.
13. Assignment; Binding Effect. This Agreement is assignable only by the Company (provided that no such assignment shall relieve the Company of its
obligations under this Agreement to you), shall inure to the benefit of the Company’s assigns, successors, affiliates, and Released Parties, and is binding on the
parties, their representatives, agents and assigns, and as to you, your spouse, heirs, legatees, administrators, and personal representatives, and shall inure to the
benefit of your spouse, estate, heirs, legatees, administrators, and personal representatives. Specifically, in the event of your death, your spouse will be entitled,
for the remainder of the Separation Pay Period, to medical insurance as set forth on Attachment A (all on the same terms and conditions applicable to the spouses
of other active employees and subject to the terms, including any modifications, of each applicable plan, policy, or program – including, but not limited to, loss of
such benefits and privileges in the event your spouse remarries), and your estate will be entitled to all remaining payments as if you were not deceased.
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14. Complete Agreement; Severability. This Agreement is the exclusive and complete agreement between you and the Company relating to the subject
matter of this Agreement. No amendment of this Agreement will be binding unless in writing and signed by you and the Company. The parties acknowledge and
agree that if any provision of this Agreement is found, held or deemed by a court of competent jurisdiction to be void, unlawful or unenforceable under any
controlling law, the rest of this Agreement will continue in full force and effect. Additionally, a court of competent jurisdiction is authorized to modify any portion
of this Agreement which is overbroad to make such portion enforceable.
15. Injunctive Relief, Fees and Expenses. If any legal action is brought to enforce the terms of this Agreement, the prevailing party will be entitled to
injunctive relief and its reasonable attorneys’ fees, costs and expenses from the other party, in addition to any other relief in law or in equity to which the
prevailing party is entitled.
16. Governing Law. THIS AGREEMENT SHALL BE DEEMED TO BE MADE IN THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, AND, TO THE EXTENT NOT
PREEMPTED BY FEDERAL LAW, THE VALIDITY, INTERPRETATION, AND PERFORMANCE OF THIS AGREEMENT IN ALL RESPECTS SHALL BE
GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF ILLINOIS WITHOUT REGARD TO ITS PRINCIPLES OF CONFLICTS OF LAW. THE JURISDICTION
AND VENUE FOR ANY DISPUTES ARISING UNDER, OR ANY ACTION BROUGHT TO ENFORCE (OR OTHERWISE RELATING TO), THIS
AGREEMENT WILL BE EXCLUSIVELY IN THE COURTS IN THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, COUNTY OF COOK, INCLUDING THE FEDERAL COURTS
LOCATED THEREIN (SHOULD FEDERAL JURISDICTION EXIST).
17. Section 409A Compliance. The payments and benefits under this Agreement are intended to comply with or be exempt from Section 409A of the
Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the interpretative guidance thereunder (“Section 409A”), including the exceptions for short-term deferrals,
separation pay arrangements, reimbursements, and in-kind distributions, and shall be administered accordingly. The Agreement shall be construed and interpreted
with such intent. If any provision of this Agreement needs to be revised to satisfy the requirements of Section 409A, then such provision shall be modified or
restricted to the extent and in the manner necessary to be in compliance with such requirements and any such modification will attempt to maintain the same
economic results as were intended under this Agreement. The Company cannot guarantee that the payments and benefits that may be paid or provided pursuant to
this Agreement will satisfy all applicable provisions of Section 409A. Each payment under this Agreement is intended to be treated as one of a series of separate
payment for purposes of Section 409A and Treasury Regulation § 1.409A-2(b)(2)(iii) (or any similar or successor provisions).
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*

*
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This Agreement is effective on November 1, 2009. You are hereby advised by the Company to consult with an attorney prior to signing this
Agreement.
EMPLOYEE

UAL CORPORATION

By: /s/ Paul R. Lovejoy
Paul R. Lovejoy

By:

/s/ Peter D. McDonald

Title:

Executive Vice President & Chief
Administrative Officer

UNITED AIR LINES, INC.
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By:

/s/ Marc L. Ugol

Title:

Senior Vice President – Human Resources

Paul R. Lovejoy
Attachment - A
Separation Agreement - Term Sheet
Name / Employee ID

Paul R. Lovejoy

Date of Birth / Age

January 30, 1955 / 54

Date of Employment

June 19, 2003

Separation Date

October 31, 2009

Years of Service

6yrs. , 3mos.

Separation Pay Period

12 months - 11/1/2009 – 10/31/2010

Separation Pay and Benefits:
Separation Pay (Severance Multiple times base pay and AIP at target)

12 x ($41,365 + $26,887) =$819,024 (paid semimonthly on the regular
payroll cycle during Separation Pay Period)

Medical/Dental Insurance

Eligible for participation at active employee rate through Separation Pay
Period. Eligible for 18 months of COBRA after term of Agreement.

Life Insurance-Company Paid Variable Universal Life

Company paid through Separation Pay Period and eligible to convert to
private policy subsequent to 10/31/2010.

Disability Insurance

No longer eligible after Severance Date

Executive Outplacement

United will provide executive outplacement consulting support, accordance
with standard terms of outplacement agreement For a Senior Vice President

Accrued Rights/Non-Severance:
Vacation Pay

Lump sum payment for the balance of 2009 unused vacation and 2010
vacation accrual of 133.33 hours.

Unused Personal Holidays

Forfeited

Long Term Incentive Compensation

Pursuant to terms of 2006 Management Employee Incentive Plan (MEIP
grants made from 2006 to 2008):
Forfeit all unvested stock options and unvested restricted stock shares for all
future tranches. Three months from Severance Date to exercise vested stock
options.
Pursuant to terms of Incentive Compensation Plan (ICP grants made in
2009): Immediate forfeiture of all unvested cash, stock options and restricted
stock units (RSUs).

Short Term Incentive Compensation

Not eligible for 2009 Award under the Annual Incentive Plan

401(k)

No longer eligible for participation after Separation Date.
Will receive payment for the “cash match” in early 2010 for 2009 eligible
earnings that are in excess of IRS contribution limits.
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Exhibit 10.18
Officer Benefits
UAL Corporation and United Air Lines, Inc.
Travel Benefits. Positive-space travel on United Airlines and United Express is provided to officers of UAL Corporation and United Airlines and their eligible
dependents and enrolled friends when applicable. Cash payments are made to federal and state tax authorities on behalf of each officer to cover the tax liability
arising from usage of these travel benefits. The travel benefit includes membership to United’s Red Carpet Club and enhanced status in United’s Mileage Plus
Program for the officer and their spouse/domestic partner.
Financial Advisory Services. Support for financial planning and tax services are provided to all officers of UAL and United. Each new officer receives
reimbursement of up to $9,000 per year for their first two years as a UAL or United officer. Each year’s allotment must be used in that calendar year. All work for
services provided in 2009 will be reimbursed/paid before March 15, 2010.
Cash Match Program. The Company offers a Cash Match Program to all Officers of UAL Corporation and United Air Lines, Inc. This Program is designed to
pay matching contributions to all officers in cash where, as a result of IRS limits, such matching contributions can not be made to the United Airlines
Management and Administrative 401(k) Plan. In order to be eligible to receive this payment, officers must contribute the maximum deferral amount to their
401(K) Plan.
Club Memberships. Payment is made by United for the cost of social and business club memberships for certain officers where there is a benefit to be realized
by the Company. The Company does not pay dues for clubs, which discriminate on the basis of race, sex, religion or national origin. Such memberships are
authorized by the Chairman of the Board of Directors consistent with Company policies.
Health & Welfare Benefits. United has made arrangements with certain local hospitals to provide Company paid annual physical examinations for officers. The
Company also reimburses officers for the cost of an annual medical examination if they obtain a physical outside of this program. All officers receive three times
their base salary in variable life insurance coverage from Paragon/MetLife Insurance. The premium is paid by United. Officers are eligible to contribute an
additional amount for coverage (from their own after-tax earnings), up to IRS limits, to leverage this program as a tax-advantaged investment option.
Company Cars & Parking. The Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer is entitled to the use of cars owned or leased by United. For 2009, the
Company did not own or lease any cars for the use of an individual executive, other than the Chief Executive Officer. Officers located at Headquarters, 77 W.
Wacker, Chicago, IL 60601, receive Company paid parking.

Exhibit 10.25

PERFORMANCE-BASED RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD NOTICE
Restricted Stock Unit Award Notice under the UAL Corporation 2008 Incentive Compensation Plan, dated as of «Grant_Month» «Grant_Day»,
«Grant_Year», between UAL Corporation, a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and «Grantee_First_Name» «Grantee_Last_Name».
This Restricted Stock Unit Award Notice (the “Award Notice”) sets forth the terms and conditions of an award of «RSUs» restricted stock units (the
“Award”) that are subject to the terms and conditions specified herein (“RSUs”) and that are granted to you under the UAL Corporation 2008 Incentive
Compensation Plan (the “Plan”). This award constitutes an unfunded and unsecured promise of the Company to deliver (or cause to be delivered to you), subject
to the terms of this Agreement, either a share of the Company’s Common Stock, $0.01 par value (a “Share”), or a cash payment, for each RSU as set forth in
Section 3 below.
SECTION 1. The Plan. This Award is made pursuant to the Plan, all the terms of which are hereby incorporated in this Award Notice. In the event of
any conflict between the terms of the Plan and the terms of this Award Notice, the terms of the Plan shall govern.
SECTION 2. Definitions. Capitalized terms used in this Award Notice that are not defined in this Award Notice have the meanings as used or defined
in the Plan. As used in this Award Notice, the following terms have the meanings set forth below:
“Performance Period” means the applicable period beginning on January 1 and ending on December 31.
“Vesting Date” means the date on which you become entitled to delivery of either Shares or cash in settlement of the RSUs subject to this Award
Notice, as provided in Section 3(a) of this Award Notice.
SECTION 3. Vesting and Delivery. (a) Vesting. (i) On each Vesting Date set forth below, you shall become entitled to either delivery of Shares or a
cash payment in settlement of the number of RSUs that corresponds to such Vesting Date, as specified in the chart below, provided that you remain actively
employed by the Company or an Affiliate on the relevant Vesting Date and, unless otherwise determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, the Company
achieves the Performance Goals (as defined in the Plan) for the applicable Performance Period. The Committee shall, in its sole discretion, determine the
Performance Goals for the applicable Performance Period by March 31 of such Performance Period. In addition, following the applicable Performance Period, the
Committee shall, in its sole discretion, determine whether the Performance Goals have been met.

Scheduled Vesting Date

Applicable
Performance
Period

Portion of
the Award
That Vests

Number of
RSUs That
Vest

«Vesting_Date_1»
«Vesting_Date_2»
«Vesting_Date_3»
(ii) In the event of your Termination of Employment by reason of death or Disability, you shall immediately become entitled to settlement of all
outstanding RSUs.
(iii) In the event of a Change of Control prior to your Termination of Employment, notwithstanding any provision of Section 8(a) of the Plan to the
contrary, you shall immediately become entitled to settlement of all outstanding RSUs.
(b) Delivery of Shares or Cash Pursuant to Settlement of RSUs. The Committee shall, in its sole discretion, determine whether the RSUs that are
scheduled to be settled on each Vesting Date will be settled in Shares or in cash. If the RSUs are settled in Shares, the Company shall deliver to you, on such
Vesting Date, one Share for each RSU that is scheduled to be settled on such date in accordance with the terms of this Award Notice. If the RSUs are settled in
cash, you shall receive a lump sum cash payment on such Vesting Date, in accordance with the terms of this Award Notice, equal to the closing price of the
Company’s Common Stock on the Nasdaq Global Select Market on the trading date immediately preceding the applicable Vesting Date, multiplied by the number
of RSUs that correspond to such date. Upon settlement, a number of RSUs equal to the number of shares of Common Stock represented thereby shall be
extinguished and such number of RSUs will no longer be considered to be held by you for any purpose.
SECTION 4. Forfeiture of RSUs. Unless the Committee determines otherwise, and except as otherwise provided in Section 3 of this Award Notice,
Section 8 of the Plan regarding Change of Control or Section 9(a) of the Plan regarding Termination of Employment as a result of death or Disability, if the
Vesting Date with respect to any RSUs awarded to you pursuant to this Award Notice has not occurred prior to the date of your Termination of Employment, your
rights with respect to such RSUs shall immediately terminate upon your Termination of Employment, and you will be entitled to no further payments or benefits
with respect thereto. For the avoidance of doubt, except as otherwise determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, if the Company fails to achieve the
applicable Performance Goals for the applicable Performance Period, you shall forfeit the RSUs that were scheduled to vest on the applicable Vesting Date.

SECTION 5. Voting Rights; Dividends. You do not have any of the rights of a stockholder with respect to the RSUs granted to you pursuant to this
Award Notice. Prior to the date on which Shares (if any) are delivered to you in settlement of RSUs pursuant to this Award Notice, you shall not be entitled to
exercise any voting rights or to receive any dividends declared or paid with respect to any Shares underlying such RSUs.
SECTION 6. Non-Transferability of RSUs. Unless otherwise provided by the Committee in its discretion and notwithstanding clause (ii) of
Section 10(a) of the Plan, prior to the date that they become vested, RSUs may not be sold, assigned, alienated, transferred, pledged, attached or otherwise
encumbered by you, otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution, and any such purported assignment, alienation, pledge, attachment, sale,
transfer or encumbrance shall be void and unenforceable against the Company, provided that the designation of a beneficiary shall not constitute an assignment,
alienation, pledge, attachment, sale, transfer or encumbrance.
SECTION 7. Withholding, Consents and Legends. (a) Withholding. The delivery of Shares or cash pursuant to Section 3(b) of this Award Notice is
conditioned on satisfaction of any applicable withholding taxes in accordance with Section 10(d) of the Plan. If the RSUs are settled in Shares, the Company will
withhold from the number of Shares otherwise deliverable to you pursuant to Section 3(b) a number of Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to such
withholding liability. If the RSUs are settled in cash, the Company will withhold from such cash payment an amount equal to such withholding liability. The
Company shall be authorized to take such actions as the Company may deem necessary (including, without limitation, in accordance with applicable law,
withholding amounts from any compensation or other amounts owing from the Company to you) to satisfy all obligations for the payment of such taxes.
(b) Consents. Your rights in respect of the RSUs are conditioned on the receipt to the full satisfaction of the Committee of any required consents that
the Committee may determine to be necessary or advisable (including, without limitation, your consenting to the Company’s supplying to any third-party
recordkeeper of the Plan such personal information as the Committee deems advisable to administer the Plan).
(c) Legends. The Company may affix to certificates for Shares (if any) issued pursuant to this Award Notice any legend that the Committee
determines to be necessary or advisable (including to reflect any restrictions to which you may be subject under any applicable securities laws). The Company
may advise the transfer agent to place a stop order against any legended Shares.
SECTION 8. Successors and Assigns of the Company. The terms and conditions of this Award Notice shall be binding upon and shall inure to the
benefit of the Company and its successors and assigns.
SECTION 9. Committee Discretion. The Committee shall have full and plenary discretion with respect to any actions to be taken or determinations
to be made in

connection with this Award Notice, and its determinations shall be final, binding and conclusive.
SECTION 10. Amendment of this Award Notice. The Committee may waive any conditions or rights under, amend any terms of, or alter, suspend,
discontinue, cancel or terminate this Award Notice prospectively or retroactively; provided, however, that, except as set forth in Section 10(e) of the Plan, any
such waiver, amendment, alteration, suspension, discontinuance, cancelation or termination that would materially and adversely impair your rights under this
Award Notice shall not to that extent be effective without your consent (it being understood, notwithstanding the foregoing proviso, that this Award Notice and
the RSUs shall be subject to the provisions of Section 7(c) of the Plan).

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Company has duly executed this Award Notice as of the date first written above.
UAL CORPORATION
by
Name: Glenn F. Tilton
Title: Chairman, President & CEO

Exhibit 10.26
Description of Compensation and Benefits for Directors
Cash Compensation of Non-employee Directors. Non-employee directors receive a $20,000 annual retainer, $1,000 per meeting attended, and $10,000 per year
for chairing certain Board committees (other than the Audit and Human Resources Committees). The Chair of the Audit Committee receives $20,000 per year, the
Chair of the Human Resources Committee receives $15,000 per year and the Lead Director receives $25,000 per year as a retainer fee.
Travel Benefits for Directors. Generally, directors, their spouses or enrolled friends and their dependent children/stepchildren are entitled to complimentary
positive space travel on United Airlines and United Express for pleasure or UAL business travel, and will be reimbursed annually for the income tax liability
incurred in using this benefit.
Enhanced Travel Benefit. In addition, each non-employee director is entitled to ten roundtrip first class tickets each year for complimentary positive space travel
that may be distributed to family and non-family members or donated to charity. Directors are not reimbursed for the income tax liability associated with this
benefit.
Nonprofit Grant Program. The Company will provide support to non-profit organizations to which a Board member makes a personal commitment in the
amount of $20,000 per year. In the case of each of the ALPA and IAM director, the Company will provide support to organizations to which the director or their
respective union contributes up to $20,000 per year in the aggregate.
Complimentary Cargo Carriage Policy for Directors. After one year of service on the Board, or currently an employee in good standing and having been
employed by United for at least one year, directors receive complimentary cargo carriage (excluding ground transportation) for personal goods on United
Airlines, for up to 2,500 pounds per year, and are reimbursed for the related income tax liability.
Stock Based Compensation of Non-employee Directors. Under the UAL Corporation 2006 Director Equity Incentive Plan, non-employee directors may receive
awards in the form of UAL common stock, restricted stock, stock options, stock appreciation rights and/or deferred stock units representing the right to receive
UAL stock in the future. In addition, the Plan permits non-employee directors to elect, for tax purposes, to defer receipt of compensation through deferred stock
units representing the right to receive UAL stock in the future.
Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance and Indemnification. The Company has a policy which provides liability insurance for directors and officers of
UAL and its subsidiaries. The Company also provides indemnification for directors as set forth in the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of UAL Corporation.

Exhibit 12.1
UAL Corporation and Subsidiary Companies
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
and Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividend Requirements
Successor

(In millions, except ratios)

2009

2008

2007

Earnings (losses):
Earnings (loss) before income taxes & adjustments for minority interest and
equity earnings (losses) in affiliates

$(671)

$(5,424)

$ 654

Add (deduct):
Fixed charges, from below
Distributed earnings of affiliates
Amortization of capitalized interest
Minority interest
Interest capitalized
Earnings (loss) as adjusted

911
2
3
(1)
(10)
$ 234

868
2
1
(2)
(20)
$(4,575)

938
3
1
(2)
(19)
$1,575

Fixed charges:
Interest expensed and capitalized and amortization of debt discounts and
issuance costs (a)
Portion of rental expense representative of the interest factor
Fixed charges, as above

$ 577
334
911

$

571
297
868

$ 704
234
938

3
871

18
$ 956

Preferred stock dividend requirements (pre-tax) (b)
Fixed charges including preferred stock dividends
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges and preferred dividend requirements
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
N/A

—
$ 911
(c)
N/A

$

(d)

1.68

(d)

1.65

Period from
February 1 to
December 31,
2006

Predecessor
Period from
January 1 to
January 31,
2006
2005

$

$ 22,846

$ (21,178)

1,069
4
—
(4)
(15)
1,083

63
—
1
—
—
$ 22,910

775
3
14
—
3
$ (20,383)

746
323
1,069

$

$

$

$

$

29

21
1,090
1.01
(e)

$

42
21
63
1
64

$

484
291
775
10
785

363.65

(d)

357.97

(d)

Amortization of debt discounts includes amortization of fresh-start valuation discounts.
Successor Company dividends were adjusted using the effective tax rate for each applicable year, except 2006. In 2006, preferred dividends were grossedup based on the Company’s effective tax rate only to the extent of the Company’s income tax provision for the period.
Earnings were inadequate to cover fixed charges by $677 million in 2009.
Earnings were inadequate to cover both fixed charges and fixed charges and preferred dividend requirements by $5.4 billion in 2008 and $21.2 billion in
2005.
Earnings were inadequate to cover combined fixed charges and preferred dividend requirements by $7 million in the 2006 Successor period.
Not applicable.

Exhibit 12.2
United Air Lines, Inc. and Subsidiary Companies
Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
and Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividend Requirements
Successor
Period from
February 1 to
December 31,
(In millions, except ratios)

2009

2008

2007

Earnings (losses):
Earnings (loss) before income taxes & adjustments for minority interest and
equity earnings (losses) in affiliates

$(647)

$(5,380)

$ 653

Add (deduct):
Fixed charges, from below
Distributed earnings of affiliates
Amortization of capitalized interest
Minority interest
Interest capitalized
Earnings (loss) as adjusted

911
2
3
(1)
(10)
$ 258

869
2
1
(2)
(20)
$(4,530)

938
3
1
(2)
(19)
$1,574

Fixed charges:
Interest expensed and capitalized and amortization of debt discounts and
issuance costs (a)
Portion of rental expense representative of the interest factor
Fixed charges, as above

$ 577
334
911

$

571
298
869

$ 703
235
938

3
872

18
$ 956

Preferred stock dividend requirements (pre-tax) (b)
Fixed charges including preferred stock dividends
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges and preferred dividend requirements
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
N/A

—
$ 911
(c)
N/A

$

Predecessor
Period from
January 1 to
January 31,

2006

$

$

$

$

2006

2005

$ 22,620

$ (21,038)

1,071
4
—
(4)
(15)
1,100

64
—
1
—
—
$ 22,685

786
3
14
—
3
$ (20,232)

747
324
1,071

$

$

44

29
1,100

$

42
22
64
—
64

(d)

1.68

1.03

354.45

(d)

1.65

1.00

N/A

$

495
291
786
—
786
(d)
N/A

Amortization of debt discounts includes amortization of fresh-start valuation discounts.
Successor Company dividends were adjusted using the effective tax rate for each applicable year, except 2006. In 2006, preferred dividends were grossedup based on the Company’s effective tax rate only to the extent of the Company’s income tax provision for the period.
Earnings were inadequate to cover fixed charges by $653 million and by $21.0 billion in 2005, respectively.
Earnings were inadequate to cover both fixed charges and fixed charges and preferred dividend requirements by $5.4 billion in 2008.
Not applicable.

Exhibit 21
UAL Corporation and
United Air Lines, Inc. Subsidiaries
(as of February 24, 2010)
Jurisdiction of Incorporation

UAL Corporation
(Wholly-owned subsidiaries):
Air Wis Services, Inc.
Four Star Insurance Company, Ltd.
UAL Benefits Management, Inc.
United Air Lines, Inc.

Delaware
Wisconsin
Bermuda
Delaware
Delaware

United Air Lines, Inc.
(Wholly-owned subsidiaries):
Covia LLC
Kion de Mexico, S.A. de C.V.
Mileage Plus, Inc.
Mileage Plus Holdings, LLC
United Aviation Fuels Corporation
United Cogen, Inc.
United Vacations, Inc.

Delaware
Mexico
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

Air Wis Services, Inc.
(Wholly-owned subsidiary):
Air Wisconsin, Inc.

Wisconsin

Air Wis Services, Inc. (999 shares) and United Air Lines, Inc. (1 share)
Domicile Management Services, Inc.

Delaware

Mileage Plus Holdings, LLC
(Wholly-owned subsidiary):
MPH I, Inc.

Delaware

MPH I, Inc.
(Wholly-owned subsidiary):
Mileage Plus Marketing, Inc.

Delaware

Covia LLC currently owns a 55.9949803% equity interest in the Galileo Japan Partnership, a Delaware general partnership.

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-158738, 333-151778, 333-150986, and 333-131434 on Form S-8 and
Registration Statement Nos. 333-155794 and 333-143865 on Form S-3 of our reports dated February 25, 2010, relating to the consolidated financial statements
and financial statement schedule of UAL Corporation (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and includes an explanatory paragraph relating to changes
in accounting for convertible debt and participating securities), and the effectiveness of UAL Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting, appearing in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K of UAL Corporation for the year ended December 31, 2009.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche, LLP
Chicago, Illinois
February 25, 2010

Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-155794 and 333-143865 on Form S-3 of our report dated February 25, 2010
relating to the consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule of United Air Lines, Inc. (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and
includes an explanatory paragraph relating to a change in accounting for convertible debt) for the year ended December 31, 2009, appearing in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K of United Air Lines, Inc.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche, LLP
Chicago, Illinois
February 25, 2010

Exhibit 31.1
Certification of the Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)
(Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
I, Glenn F. Tilton, certify that:
(1)

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2009 of UAL Corporation (the “Company”);

(2)

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

(3)

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

(4)

The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
Company and have:

(5)

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ Glenn F. Tilton
Glenn F. Tilton
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 25, 2010

Exhibit 31.2
Certification of the Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)
(Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
I, Kathryn A. Mikells, certify that:
(1)

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2009 of UAL Corporation (the “Company”);

(2)

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

(3)

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

(4)

The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
Company and have:

(5)

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ Kathryn A. Mikells
Kathryn A. Mikells
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
Date: February 25, 2010

Exhibit 31.3
Certification of the Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)
(Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
I, Glenn F. Tilton, certify that:
(1)

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2009 of United Air Lines, Inc. (the “Company”);

(2)

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

(3)

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

(4)

The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
Company and have:

(5)

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ Glenn F. Tilton
Glenn F. Tilton
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 25, 2010

Exhibit 31.4
Certification of the Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 78o(d)
(Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
I, Kathryn A. Mikells, certify that:
(1)

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2009 of United Air Lines, Inc. (the “Company”);

(2)

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

(3)

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

(4)

The Company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
Company and have:

(5)

(a)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure
that material information relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision,
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness
of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d)

Disclosed in this report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the Company’s most recent fiscal
quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The Company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
Company’s auditors and the audit committee of the Company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
(a)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely
to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b)

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ Kathryn A. Mikells
Kathryn A. Mikells
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
Date: February 25, 2010

Exhibit 32.1
Certification of UAL CORPORATION
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350
(Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
Each undersigned officer certifies that to the best of his knowledge based on a review of the annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2009 of UAL Corporation (the “Report”):
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of UAL Corporation.

Date: February 25, 2010
/s/ Glenn F. Tilton
Glenn F. Tilton
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Kathryn A. Mikells
Kathryn A. Mikells
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.2
Certification of United Air Lines, Inc.
Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350
(Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002)
Each undersigned officer certifies that to the best of his knowledge based on a review of the annual report on Form 10-K for the period ended
December 31, 2009 of United Air Lines, Inc. (the “Report”):
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of United Air Lines,
Inc.

Date: February 25, 2010
/s/ Glenn F. Tilton
Glenn F. Tilton
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
/s/ Kathryn A. Mikells
Kathryn A. Mikells
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

